36t Conaress, ) HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES. { Ex. Doo.
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AFRICAN SLAVE TRADE,

MESSAGE

THE PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED STATES,

TRANSMITTING,

In compliance with a resolution of the House, @ report from the Sec-
retary of Stale in reference to the African slave trade.

DECEMBER 6, 1860. —Laid upon the table, and ordered to be printed.

)

To the House of Representatives. ‘ ;
- In answer to the resolution of the House of Representatives of the

9th of April last, requesting information concerning the African slave
trade, I transmit a report from the Secretary of State, and the doc-

uments by which it was accompanied.
‘ JAMES BUCHANAN.

W asHiNagTON, December 5, 1860.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, December 5, 1860.

The Secretary of State, to whom was referred the resolution of the-
House of Representatives of the 9th of April last, requesting the
President to commuunicate to that body, ¢‘ copies of all communica-
tions and correspondence with foreign governments, and copies of all
correspondence with our naval officers and consuls on the west coast
of Africa relating to the subject of the African slave trade, with the
instructions given said officers and consuls, not heretofore sent to
either House of Congress; a copy of the instructions adopted by
Fngland and France for the government of their naval officers in
identifying the nationality of vessels suspected of being engaged in
the slave trade on the coast of Africa, and communicated to the gov-
ernment of the United States, with a request to unite with them in
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their adoption ; the number of slavers taken and sent to the United
States by our African squadron, specifying the number condemned in
our courts as slave traders, not heretofore communicated ; and the
number, if any, taken in ports of the United States, before sailing
for the coast of Africa, or after their return from said coast, specifying
the number condemned ; the instrictions given to officers of the United
States, in ports where slave traders are fitted out, in reference to the
prevention of the slave trade; also, in all cases when American
vessels have been captured, engaged in the slave trade, where said
vessels were built, in what port fitted out, and by whom fitted out;
also, if possible, the places of nativity and present residence of the
commanders, crews, and owners of the vessels so condemned ; and,
furthermore, the cost per annum, since the date of the Ashburton
treaty, of maintaining the African squadron, the number of slaves on
board captured vessels, and the cost of their support and return to
Africa; and also the opinion of the President whether any further
legislation is necessary to detect and seize vessels fitting for slave trade
voyages in ports of the United States, and for the punishment of per-
sons engaged therein: and any information in possession of the gov-
ernment which will tend to show the extent of the African slave trade,
the mode of carrying it on, and the best and most efficient means of
extinguishing it,”’ has the honor to lay before the President the
papers mentioned in the subjoined lists.
Respectfully submitted,
LEWIS CASS.

The PRrESIDENT of the United States.

List of papers accompanying the report of the Secrelary of Stale lo the
President, in answer to the vesolutions of the House of Representa-

tives of April 9, 1859.

PAPERS COMMUNICATED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF STATE.

Mr. McKeon to Mr, Marcy, with enclosures, May 2, 1855.

Mr, Hackley to Mr Marcy, May 8, 1855.

Mr. Hunter to Mr McKeon, May 17, 1855, ,

Mr. Joachimsen to Mr. Marcy, with enclosures, May 18, 1855,

Mr. Hunter to Mr. Joachimsen, May 13, 1855.

Mr. Hunter to Mr. Hackley, Nay 19, 1856.

Mr, Hunter to Mr. Hackley, June 7, 1865.

Mr. Robertson to Mr, Marcy, No. 296, with an accompaniment,
- December 20, 1855. ; >

Mr. Thomas to Mr. McKeon, January 14, 1856. ,

Mr, {igg‘)‘;&rtson to Mr. Marcy, No. 7, with enclosures, January 19,

Mr. Robertson to Mr. Marcy, No. 11, January 26, 1856.

Mr, Robertson to Mr, Marcy, No. 14, with enclosures, January 31,

1856.
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. Gillmer to Mr. Marcy, No. 30, February 1, 1856.
. Robertson to Mr., Marcy, No. 17 ) February 7, 1866.
. Gillmer to Mr. Marcy, No, 31, February 12, '1856.

. Thomas to Mr. lelmer, Aprll 16, 1856.
. Robertson to Mr. Marcy, No. 42 extract, with an enclosure,

April 25, 1856,
Robertson to Mr. Marcy, No. 46, extract, May 14, 1856.

. Robertson to Mr. Marcy, No. 50 extract, May 29 1856.
. Thomas to Mr. Dobbin, June 20 1866,

. Thomas to Mr., McKeon, June 20 1866.
. Marcy to Mr, Robertson, No. 66, 'with an enclosure, June 26,

18656.

. Savage to Mr. Marcy, No. 64, extract, August 10, 1856.
", Savage to Mr. Marcy, No. 66 extract, beptember, 3, 1856.
. Savage to Mr. Marcy, No. 67 extract, September 6, ’1856.
. Thomas to Mr, McKeon, September 20 1856.

. Robertson to Mr. Marcy, No. 71, September 30, 1866.

. Marcy to Mr. McKeon, October 3 1856,

. Blythe to Mr. Marcy, No. 86, December 6, 1856,

. Blythe to Mr, Marcy, No. 88 December 13 1856.

. Marey to Mr. Cushing, December 30, 1856.

. Hallett to Mr. Marcy, January 5, 1857

. Marcy to Mr. Hallett, January 7 1857.

. Willis to Mr, Marcy, extract, January 9, 1857.

. Cushing to Mr. Marcy, Bebruary 12, 1857.
. Pike to Mr. Cass, No, 9, with enclosures, March 12, 1857.

. Cass to Mr. McKeon, with an enclosure, March 27, 1857
. Hallett to Mr. Cass, March 31, 1857.

. Cass to Mr. Trousdale, No. 35 Aprtl 8, 1857.

. Cass to Mr. Gillmer, April 8, 1857.

. Cass to Mr, Trousdale, April 9 1857,

. Appleton to Mr. Woodbury, Apnl 15, 1857.

. Blythe to Mr. Cass, No. 24, April 24, 1857.

. Appleton to Mr. McKeon, Aprll 21, 1857.

. Appleton to Mr. McKenn, May 1, 1857,

Appleton to Mr. McKeon May 4, "1857.

Circular to Consular Officers, No. 3, May 29, 1857.

Cass to Mr. Cobb, May 30, 1857

Appleton to Mr. McKeon, "June 9, 1857.

Blythe to Mr. Cass, No. 44, with an enclosure, July 14, 1857,
Savage to Mr. Cass, No. 51, with an enclosure, Auguet7 1857,
bav&;ge to Mr. Case, No. 63 with an enclosure, October 13,
185

Trousdale to Mr. Cass, No. 87, extract, September 3, 1857.
Cass to Mr. Black, October 26, 1857.

Blythe to Mr. Appleton, November 26, 18517.

Willis to Mr. Cass, extracts, February 12, 1858.

Blythe to Mr. Appleton, No. 4, extract, March9 1858.

Lord Napier to Mr. Cass, with an accompammont Aprll 16, 1858.

Mr. Blythe to Mr, Appleton, No. 7, extract, May 8, 1858.

Mr.

Dallas to Mr. Cass, with enclosures, May 11, 1858.
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Lord Napier to Mr. Cass, May 16, 1858.
Mr. Dallas to Mr, Cass, June 1, 1858.
Mr, Bunch to Lord Malmesbury, June 1, 1858.
Mr. Cass to Mr. Cobb, with enclosures, June 3, 1858,
Mr. Cass to Mr Cobb ‘with an enclosure, June 3, 1858,
Mr. Appleton to Mr. Blytlxe, June 3, 1858,
Mr. Appleton to Mr. Blythe, June .} 1858. -
Mr, Dallas to Mr, Cass, with enclosures, June 4, 1858,
Lord Malmesbury to Lord Napier, June 4, 1859,
Mr. Peel to Mr. Stuart, extract, June b, 1858.
Mr. Peel to Mr. Stumt extract, Juno9 1868.
Mr. Cass to Mr, Dallas, with an enclosure, June 17, 1858,
M. Dallas to Mr. Cass, with ei:closures, June 18, 1858
Mr, Appleton to Mr. Savage, June 18, 1858. -
Mr. Savage to Mr. Appleton, No. 17, extlact June 29, 1858,
Mr. Dallas to Mr, Cass, with enclosures, June 18, ]858
Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, with enclosures, June 26, 1858,
Mr. Cass to Mr. Dallas, with an enclosure, June 29 1858.
Mr. Savage to Mr. Appleton No. 18, July 8, 1858,
Mr. Dallas to Mr, Cass, with enclosures, July 9, 1858.
Mr. Savage to Mr. Appleton, No. 19, with enclosures July 9, 1858,
Mr. Savage to Mr. Appleton, No. 2() with enclosures, July 9, 1868.
Mr. Savage to Mr. Appleton, No. 21 July 12, 1858.
Mr, Dallas to Mr. Cass, with enclosures, July 13, 1858.
Mr. Savage to Mr. Appleton, No. 23, July 14, 1858.
Mr. Cass to Mr. Cobb, July 15, 1858
Mr. Cass to Mr. Hlllyer, July 15 1858
Mr, Cass to Mr, Savage, July 16, 1858,
Mr. Cass to Mr, Dallas, with enclosurss, July 20, 1858.
Mr. Crawford to Lord Malmesbury, July 22, 1858.
Mr. Savage to Mr. Appleton, No. 24, with enclosures, July 25, 1858,
Mr, Appleton to Mr, Hillyer, July 28 1858.
Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, with an enclosule, July 30, 1858.
Mr. Dallas to Mr, Cass, with enclosures, July 30, 1858.
Mr. Appleton to Mr. Hillyer, August 16, 1858.
Mr., Appleton to Mr. Savage, August ]8 1858,
Mr. Appleton to Mr, Hillyer, August 18, 1858.
Mr. Savage to Mr. Cass, No. 28, with an cuclosure,August 24, 1858.
Mr, Dallas to Mr. Cass, extracf with an enclosure, Au«ust 27,
1858.
Mr. Cass to Mr. Dallas, September 6, 1858, ,
Lord Napier to Mr. Appleton, with an enclosure, September’] 1858.
Mr. Appleton to Mr, Savage, with an enclosure, September 7, 1858.
~Mr, Cass to Mr. Dallas, with an enclosure, September 10, 1858.
Mr. Appleton to Mr, Hillyer, September 11, 1858.
Mr. Savage to Mr. Appleton, No. 32, with enclosures, September
14, 1858.
Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, with enclosures, September 16, 1858.
Mr, Cass to Mr: Dallas, with enclosures, September 17 1858.
Mr. Savage to Mr. Appleton, No. 34, with enclosuxes, September
20, 1858.
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Mr, Savage to Mr. Appleton, No: 85, with enclosures, September
24, 1868,

Lord Napu,r to Mr, Cass, with enclosures, September 29, 1858.

Mr. Cass to Mr. Dallas, with an enclosure, October 4, 1858,

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, with an enclosure, October 8, 1858,

Mr. Savage to Mr, Appleton, No. 40, October 14, 18.)8

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, with an enclosure October 12, 1858.

Mr, Savage to Mr. Appleton with enclosmes, October’ 24, 1858.

Mr, Dallas to Mr. Cass, with an enclosure, October 28, 1858,

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, with enclosures, October 29, 1858,

Mr. Cass to Mr. Toucey, October 30, 1858.

Mr. Dallas to Mr Cass, with an enclosure, November 4, 1858.

Mr. Helm to Mr. Cass, No 48, extracts, with an onclosuro, Novem-
ber 15, 1868,

Mr. Cass to Mr. Dallas, with enclosures, November 18, 1858,

Mr. Van Dyke to Mr. Cass, December 3, 1858.

Mr. Cnss to Mr. Van Dyke, December 6 1868.

Mr. Hillyer to Mr. Appleton, December 7 ~1858.

Mr. Appleton to Mr. Van kae, December 9, 1858.

Mr. Flemming to Mr. Cass, December 9, 1858.

Mr. Appleton to Mr. I'lemming, December 15, 1858,

Mr. Appleton to Mr. Hillyer, December 15, 1858.

Mr. Appleton to Mr. Hillyer, December 18, 1858.

Mr. Appleton to Mr. Van Dyke, December 18 1858.

Mr, Miles to Mr. Cass, with an enclosure, Decembel 19, 1858.

Mr. Sedgwick to Mr, Hillyer, December —, 1858.

Mr. Appleton to Mr. Hillyer, Decermber 20 1858.

Mr. Hillyer to Mr. Appleton, December 21, 18358.

Mr. Hillyer to Mr. Appleton, December 21, 1858.

Mr. Cass to Mr. Miles, December 22, 1858. ~

Mr. Cass to Mr. Dallas, with enclosules, December 22, 1858,

Mr. Helm to Mr, Cass, No. 54, with enclosures, December 27, 1858,

Mr. Cass to Mr, Dallas, with an enclosure, December 28, 1858.

Mr. Cass to Mr. Black, January 8, 1859.

Mr. Pickett to Mr. Cass, January 20, 1859,

Mr. Appleton to Mr. Pickett, Junuary 22, 1859,

Mr. Willis to Mr, Cass, oxtracts, January 26, 1859.

Mr. Appleton to Mr. bedﬂwwk January 31, 1859,

Mr. Appleton to Mr. Helm January 31, 1859.

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, with an enclosule, February 4, 1859,

Mr. Helm to Mr., Appleton, February 28, 1859.

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, March 3, 1859.

Mr, Appleton to Mr. Sedgwick, March 8, 1859,

Mr. Helm to Mr. Cass, No. b, with enclosures, March 15, 1859.

Mr. Cass to Mr. Dallas, with enolosuree, March 18, 1859,

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, with enclosures, March 18 1859.

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, with enclosures, March 25, 1859.

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, with enclosures, April 22, 1859,

Mr, Willis to Mr. Cass, extracts, May 5, 1859,

Mr, Dallas to Mr. Cass, with enclosures, May 6, 1859,

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Oass, with an enclosure, May 6, 1859,
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Statement of British Minister, May 14, 1859.

Lord Lyons to Mr, Cass, May 23, 1859,

Lord Lyons to Mr. Cass, May 27, 1859.

Mr, Cass to Lord Lyons, June 2, 1859,

Lord Lyons to Mr. Cass, June 6, 1859.

Mr. Cass to Lord Lyons, June 7, 1859,

Mr. Helm to Mr, Cass, No. 23, with enclosures, June 24, 1859,

Mr. Cass to Mr. Black, June 30, 1859.

Commodore Wise to British Admiralty, with an enclosure, July 11,
18569. ,

Lord Lyons to Mr. Cass, July 15, 1859,

Mr. Black to Mr. Cass, July 26, 1859. ,

Memorandum from Lord Lyons, July 27, 1859,

Mr. Willis to Mr. Cass, extracts, July 29, 1859.

‘Mr. Morgan to Mr, Cass, with an enclosure, August 3, 1859.

Mr. Helm to Mr. Cass, No. 30, with enclosures, August 3, 1859,

Mr. Cass to Mr, Dallas, August 12, 1859.

Mr. Cass to Mr. Toucey, August 12, 1859,

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, with enclosures, September 1, 1859,

Mr. Toucey to Mr. Cass, with enclosures, September 12, 1859,

Mr. Dallas to Mr, Cass, with an enclosure, September 14, 1859,

Messrs. Webster to the President, September 80, 1859,

Mr. Savage to Mr. Appleton, No. 37, October 6, 1859,

Mr. Cass to Mr, Dallas, with enclosures, October 6, 1859.

Mr. Appleton to Messrs. Webster, October 7, 1859.

Memorandum from Lord Lyons, October 10, 1859,

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, October 31, 1859,

Mr. Willis to Mr. Cass, extract, November 19, 1859.

Lord Lyons to Mr. Cass, December 3, 1859,

Lord Lyons to Mr, Cass, with an enclosure, December 5, 1859.

Mr. Cass to Lord Lyons, December 8, 1859.

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, with an enclosure, December 19, 1859,

Mr. Appleton to Mr. Martin, Jannary 11, 1860.

Mr. Cass to Mr. Helm, January 28, 1860.

Mr. Martin to Mr. Appleton, February 11, 1860,

Lord Russell to Lord Lyons, February 6, 1860.

Mr. Helm to Mr. Cass, No. 4, February 17, 1860.

Memorandum from Lord Lyons, February 256, 1860.

Mr. Cass to Mr. Helm, 'ebruary 29, 1860.

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, March 1, 1860. ;

Mr. Helm to Mr. Cass, No. 10, March 12, 1860.

Mr. Helm to Mr. Cass, No. 11, extract, March 13, 1860.

Mr. Martin to Mr. Cass, March 13, 1860.

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, with enclosure, March 15, 1860.

Mr. Cass to Mr. Dallas, March 18, 1860,

Mr, Cass to Mr. Dallas, March 31, 1860

Mr, Cass to Lord Lyons, April 3, 1860.

Mr, Cass to Mr. Dallas, April 3, 1860.

Mr. Cass to Lord Lyons, April 5, 1860. :

Mr. Cass to Mr, Dallas, with enclosure, April 6, 1860,

Mr. Helm to Mr. Cass, No. 18, April 11, 1860,
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Black to Mr, Cass, May 3, 1860.

Lord Lyons to Mr, Oass, May 4 1860,
Lord Lyons to Mr. Cass, May 5, 1860.

Mr.
Mr,
Mr,
Mr.
Mr,
Mr.
Mr,

Appleton to Mr, Helm, May b, 1860,

Appleton to Mr, Toucey, May 8 1860.

Woodbury to Mr. Cass, May 10, 1860.

Cass to Lord Lyons, May 14, 1860

Helm to Mr. Cass, No. 26, with enclosures, May 16, 1860.
Cass to Mr, Dallas, May 17 1860.

Dallas to Mr, Cass, with enclosures, May 22, 1860,

Memorandum from Lord Lyons, May 26, 1860.

Mr,
Mr,
Mr.
Mr,
Mr,

Mr.

Mr.
Mr.
Mr.

Cass to Mr. Toucey, May 30, 1860.
Helm to Mr, Cass, No. 32, with enclosure, May 30, 1860,

Toucey to Mr. Cass, June 7 1860

Dallas to Mr. Cass, extract, with enclosures, June 14, 1860,
Dallas to Mr. Cass, extract with enclosure, Juns 18, ]860
Waring to Mr. Cass, No. 8, June 29, 1860,

Morse to Mr. Cass, July 1, 1860,

Martin to Mr. Cass, July 1 1860,

Trescot to Mr. Woodbury, July 2, 1860,

Lord Russell to Lord Lyons, July 11, 18()0

Mr,
Mr.,
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.

Mr,

Trescot to Mr. Woodbury, July 16 1860,

Dallas to Mr. Cass, with an enclosure, July 27, 1860.

Trescot to Mr. Dallas, August 6, 1860.

Trescot to Mr, Irvine, August 10 1860.

Trescot to Mr. Huckins, August 10 1860.

De Ronceray to Mr. Cass, with enclosme, August 22, 1860,
Savage to Mr. Cass, No. 43, with enclosures, Aulrust 23, 1860.
Jones to Mr. Cass, bcptcmbcr 5, 1860.

Savage to Mr. Oass, with an euclosure, September 8, 1860,

Lord Russell to Lord Lyons, September 10, 1860,
Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass, with enclosures, S(,ptembel 13, 1860.

Mr,
. Pleasants to Mr. Trescot, September 21, 1860,

. Smith to Mr. Cass, Oocobcr 1 1860,

. Trescot to Mr. Smith, October b, 1860,

. Phillips to Mr, Cass, October 6, '1860.

. Trescot to Mr. Savage, October 9 1860, e

. Trescot to Mr. Phillips, October 9 1860,

. Trescot to Mr. Helm, October 12, 1860,

. Trescot to Mr. bavage, Jctober 13 1860.

r, T'rescot to Mr. Phillips, October 13 1860.

. Irvine to Mr, Cass, October 16, ]860

. Helm to Mr. Cass, October 22, ]860

. Cass to Mr, Irvine, October 25 1860,

. Helm to Mr. Trescot, October 25 1860.

. Cass to Mr. Dallas, October 26, 1860

. Curtin to Mr. 'I'rescot, No. 69, with enclosure, October 27, 1860,
. Cass to Mr. Dallas, October 27 1860.

. Helm to Mr. Cass, No. 63, with _enclosures, October 31, 1860,

. Savage to Mr. Cass, with an enclosure, October 31, 1860.

Trescot to Mr. Hillyer, September 18, 1860.
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Cass to Mr. Toucey, November 12, 1860
Cass to Mr, Toucey, November 14 1860.
Toucey to Mr, Cass, November 19 1860.
Cass to Mr. Thompson, November 27, 1860.
Trescot to Mr. Hillyer, November 28, 1860,

Lord Lyons to Mr, Cass, November 30, 1860.

Mr. Cass to Mr, Cobb, December 3, 1860
Mr. Pleasants to Mr. Trescot December 3, 1860.
Mr, Cass to Lord Lyons, December 4, 1860.

Mr.
Mr,

PAPERS COMMUNICATED BY THE TREASURY DEPARTMENT.

Cobb to Mr.
Cobb to Mr.

. Cobb to Mr.
. Cobib to Mr,
. Cohb to Mr.
. Cobb to Mr.
. Cobb to Mr.
. Cobb to Mr.
. Cobb to Mr,
. Cobb to Mr.
. Cobb to Mr.
. Cobb to Mr.
. Cobb to Mr.
. Cobb to Mr.
. Cobb to Mr,
. Cobb to Mr,
. Cobb to Mr,
. Cobb to Mr,
. Cobb to Mr,
. Cobb to Mr,
. Cobb to Mr.
. Cobb to Mr,
. Cobb to Mr.
. Cobb to Mr.

Cass, with {wo enclosures, November 12, 1860,
Cuss, with enclosures, November 20, 1860.

List of enclosures.

Hatch, March 2, 1858.
Colcock, May 22, 1858.
‘Hatch, May 24, 1858.
Hatch, December 23, 1858.
Mather, January ]5 1869.
Austin, January 18, '1859.
Mather, January 18 18569.
Mather, January 19 1859.
Boston, February 8, 1859,
Cass, March‘14, 1859.
Hatch, March 21, 1859.
Hatch, March 21, 1859,
Hatch, April 6, 1859,
Ganahl, April 1() 1859,
Schell, October 2() 1859,
Faunce, November 2, 1859,
Schell, November 2, 1859,
Stuart January 10, 1860.
Thompson January 18, 1860.
Bache, January 1860.
Thompson, January 20, 1860.
Bache, January 21, 1860.

PAPERS COMMUNICATED BY THE NAVY DEPARTMENT.

Mr. Toucey to Mr, Cass, November 30, 1860.

Pagers accompanying communication of the Secretary of the Navy.

No. 1. Vessels captured on the coasts of Africa and Cuba.
No. 2. Commodore Crabbe to Secretary of the Navy, January 21,

1856.
1856.

Extract,

Copy.

No. 3. Commodore Crabbe to Secretary of the Navy, April 18,
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No. 4. Commodore Crabbe to Secrctary of the Navy, hebruary 14,
1857. Kxtract,
No. 5. Commander William MecBlair to Secretary of the Navy,
September 23, 1857. Copy.
No. 6. Blag-Ofﬁcer Conover to Secretary of the Navy, October 13,
1857. lixtract, and enclosures, “
No. 7. Flag-Officer Conover to Sceretary of the Navy, October 1Y,
1857, Copy, and enclosures,
No 8. Commander McBlair to the Secretary of the Navy, Decem-
ber 18, 1857. lixtract.
No. 9. IF lag-Officer Conover to the Secretary of the Navy, January
6, 1858. Extract.
No. 10, Necretary of the Navy to Flag-Officer Clonover, January
25, 1868,  Copy.
No. 11, bccretary of the Navy to Flag-Officer Conover, September
16, 1858. Copy, with enclosures.
No. 12. Flag-Officer Conover to the Sceretary of the Navy, Sep-

tember 8, 1858. Copy.
No. 13. I'lag-Officer Conover to the Secretary of the Navy, Janu-

ary 26, 1859, Extmct,‘with enclosures,
No. 14. IFlag-Officer Conover to the Seeretary of the Nuvy, March

12, 1859. lixtract, with enclosure.

No. 15. Fla r-()fﬁcer Conover to the Secretary of the Navy, March
24, 1859. Copv with enclosures. .

N. 16. Secretary of the Navy to flag-officer, April 11, 1859. Copy,
with enclosure, ,

No. 17. Secretary of the Navy to I'lag-Officer Inman, July 6, 1859,
Extracts.

No. 18. Flag-Officer Inman, to Secretary of the Navy, October 26,
1859, Copy, and enclosnres,

No. 19, I'lag-Officer Inman to Secretary of the Navy, November
21, 1859, Copy.

No. 20. Flag-Officer Inman to Secretary of the Navy, December
13, 1859. Copy, and enclosures.

No, 21. Flag-Officer Inman to Scecretary of the Navy, December
15, 1859.  Copy, and enclosures,

No. 22, IFlag-Officer Inman to Secretary of the Navy, January 13,

1860. lixtract. ,
No. 23. Flag-Officer Inman to Secrctmy of the Navy, IFebruary 4,

1860, Copy, and enclosures.

No. 24. Flag-Officer Inman to Secretary of the Navy, February 13,
186G0.  Cupy, and enclosures,

No. 25. Secretary of the Navy to Flag-Officer Inman, March 27,
1860.  Copy..

No. 26 Secretary of the Navy to Iflug-Officer Inman, April 1%,
1860. Copy. ;

No. 27. Secretary of the Navy to Flag-Officer Inman, May 19,
1860. Copy, and enclosures.

No. 28. I"lag-Officer Inman to Secretary of the Navy, Ju .
1860, Copy, and enclosure,
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No. 29. Secretary of the Navy to Flag-Officer Inman, July 23, 1860.

Copy, and enclosure,
Ne, 80. Flag-Officer Inmau to Secretary of the Navy, August 14,

1860, Extract.
No. 31. Flag-Officer Inman to Sccretary of the Navy, Augnst 22,

1860. Copy, and enclosure.
Ne, 32. Flag-Officer Inman to Secretary of the Navy, August 29,

1860. Copy.
Coast of Cuba,

No. 93. Secretary of the Navy to Lieutenant Commanding Craven,
September 23, 1859, Extracts,

No. 34. Secretarv of the Navy to Lieutenant Commanding Stanly,
September 24, 1859, Extract.

No. 35. Secretary of the Navy to Lieutenant Commanding Maflitt,

September 26, 1859. Extracts.
No. 36, Secretary of the Navy to Lieutenant Commanding Sartori,

Nuvunber 10, 1869. Extract.
No. 37. Licutenant Commanding Craven to Secretary of the Navy,

November 22, 1859, Copy.
No. 38, Secrctary of the Navy to Lieutenants Commanding Craven,

Stanley, Sartori, and Maffitt, December 9, 1859. Copy, and enclo-

sures, ‘
No. 39. Lieutenant Commanding Sartori to Secretary of the Navy,

December 15, 1859.  Copy.

No. 40. Lieutenant Commanding Sartori to Secretary of the Navy,
January 23, 1860. Extract,

No. 41, Secretary of the Navy to Licutenants commanding Craven

and Maffitt, January 25, 1860. Copy.
No. 42. Lieutenant Commanding Maffitt to Secretary of the Navy,

February 7, 1860.  Copy.
No. 43. Licutenant Commandirg Craven to Secretary of the Navy,

February 23, 1860. Copy.
No. 44. hecretary of the Navy to Iieutenant Commanding Sartori,

January 16, 1860. Copy.

No. 45. Lieutenant Commanding Sartori to qecrﬂtar‘) of the Navy,
February 25, 1860. Lxtracts.

No. 46. %cretary of the Navy to Lieutenant Commanding Sartori,

’March 8, 1860. Copy.
No. 47. Secretary of the Navy to Lieutenant Commanding Stanly,

January 26, 1860, Copy. ,
No. 48. Lieutenant Commanding Stanly to Secretary of the Navy,

February 10, 1860. Extract,
No. 49. Secretary of the Navy to Lieutenants Commanding Craven,

Maffitt, Stanly, and Sartori, March 6, 1860. Copy and enclosure,
No. 50, Lieutenant Commandmg Craven to Secretary of the Navy,
April 7, 1860, Copy.
No. 51. Secretary of the Navy to Lieutenant Commanding Craven,

April 18, 1860, Copy.
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No. 52. Lieutenant Commanding Craven to Secretary of the Navy,
May 3, 1860. Kxtract.

No. 53. Lieut¢nant Commanding Craven to Secretary of the Navy,
May Y, 1860. Copy.

No. b4. leutmant Commanding Stanly to Secretary of the Navy,
May 11, 1850. Copy.

No. 85. Lieutenant Commanding Craven to Secretary of the Navy,
May 13, 1860. Copy.

No, 6. Lieutenant Commanding Craven to Secretary of the Navy,
May 14, 1860. Copy.

No. 57 Secretary of the Navy to Lieutenants Commanding Stanly,
Sartori, Maffitt, and Craven, May 21, 1860. )‘opy

No. 68. Licutenant Commandmg Craven to Secretary of the Navy,
Juue 8, 1860. Copy.

No. 69. Sccretary of the Navy to Lieutenant Commanding Craven,

July 2, 1850. Copy. ~
No. 60. becretm y of the Navy to Lieutenants Maflitt, Sartori, and

Stanly, July 6, 1860, Copy.
No. 61. Lieutenant Commanding Maflitt to Secretary of the Navy,

May 23, 1860, Copy.
No. 62. Lieutenant Commanding Maffitt to Secretary of the Navy,

June 27, 1860. Copy.

No. 63. Lieutenant Commanding Stanly to Secretary of the Navy,
July ]O 1860. Extract.

No. 64. Lieutcnant Commanding Maffitt to Secretary of the Navy,
July 23, 1860. Copy.

No. 65. Licutenant Commanding Maffitt to Secr etary of the Navy,
July 23, 1860. Copy.

No. 66. Lieutenant Commanding Stanly to Secretary of the Navy,
July 28, 1860, XNxtract.

No. 67. Lieutenant Commanding Maffitt to Seoretary of the Navy,
August 14, 1860, Copy.

No. 68. becretary of the Navy to Lieutenants Commanding Maffitt,
Craven, Sartori, and Stanly, September 22, 1860. Copy and enclo-

sure.

PAPER COMMUNICATED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,

Mr. Thompson to Mr. Cass, November 30, 1860.
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PAPERS COMMUNICATED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF STATE, FROM 1855
TO 1860 INCLUSIVE.

Mr. McKeon to Mr. Marcy.

SournesN DistricT o NEw YORK,
U. 8. District Attorney’s Office, May 2, 1855.

Stk : Under date of the 26th October, 1854, you communicated to
me a copy of a despatch* of the 20th October, addressed to you by
the minister of her Britannic Majesty accredited to this government,
and of the documents which accompamed it.  You transmitted this
information to me to enable me to prevent Don José Egea from or-
ganizing a slave trade expedition from this port.

[ now huve the honor to transmit to you copies of a correspondence
of this office touching the case so referred to me. The copies are
marked from A to (&, both inclusive. The letter of the 11th Novem-
ber, 1854, to the collector of this port remains unanswered by him.

I have not been able to accomplish the purpose desired.

I am, sir, your obedient servant, ‘
JOHN McKEON,
U. 8. District Attorney.

My, McKeon (o Mr. Redfield.

SournerN Disrrict o New York,
U. 8. District Allorney’s Office, November 11, 1854.

Str: On the 23d October last I'had the honor to enciose to you, pri-
vately, a copy of a letter to me from Anthony Barclay, esq., her Bri-
tannic Majesty’s consul at this port, and of the despatch therein en-
closed, relative to a projected slave expedition from this port. My at-
tention was called to the same subject by the Hon. W. L. Marey, Secre-
tary of State, to whom I am now desirous of reporting for his official
action.  On the 24th October you wrote to me that you and the sur-
veyor wonld unite to detect and stop the whole proceeding. On the
Ist November I received a letter from the surveyor (a copy of which
is herewith enclosed) relative to the brig ¢ Horatio,” and on yester-
day, 10th inst., received from him a communication of which I also
hand you a copy. It is understood that the ¢‘Horatio’” has sailed, and
you will oblige me by reporting to me what measures were taken i
your depurtment in concert vith the surveyor.

It is not superfluous to udd that information has reached me which,
if true, shows the ¢ Horatio '’ to have left this port with foreign ﬂaga,

and all equipped for the slave trade.

Very respectiully, e 6,
MCK LY

U. 8. District At{orneJ

* Sco l*)\m ‘utive Document Nu IUa, IIouso of Reprcsullatwei, .ch Cungrcss, Ist session,
pp. 16 and 20.
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Surveyor’'s OFrIcE, New York, November 10, 1854,

Previous to 2d instant I directed officer Jos. E. Porter to go on
board the brig Horatio and exam ne her outward cargo and report to
me. The officer reported that he had endeavored to find the brig,
and had ascertained that she had sailed through Buttermilk Channel
either to sea or down the bay. 1 went to collector’s office and stated
the report to Mr, Odell, and also that the register of the vessel had
not been delivered from his office, as I was informed. He told me to
tell the registry clerk not to deliver it without further orders. Isaw
Mr. Brown and the registry clerk, and stated to them that the vessel
had left the city, and told them not to give her register until they
had ascertained where she was, and to notify me when I would send

an officer down to her. I have heard nothing about it since.
JOHN COCHRANE, Surveyor.

’

My, Benedict to Mr. McKeon,

Custom-Iouse, New York,
Surveyor's Office, November 1, 1854,

Sik: The brig foratio is about clearing for coast of Africa. She
was formerly owned by Lasala, and has been sold to Valequez or
Vasquez. I have sent an officer to examine her, who will repert to-

morrow morning.
For surveyor. J. 8. BENEDICT,
Deputy Surveyor.

My, Redfield to Mr. McKeon.

CustoM-Housz, NEw YoRK.
Collector’s Office, October 24, 1854.

Sir: Your note of yesierday enclosing a note of the British consul
of this city, with the copy of a letter to him trom Joseph J. Crawtord,
her Majesty’s consul general in Cuba, has this moment been received.
The letter of Mr. Crawford states that on the 28th ultimo, a certain
Don José Igea left Havana for New York, in order to purchase,
through the house of Lasala, No. 6 Broadway, a certain vessel for
the slave trade, &ec.

I have inyited the surveyor to unite with me to ¢ detect and stop”
the whole proceeding,”’ and make no doubt. that such steps will be
taken as to effect the object in view. We will endeavor to detail some
one to keep a look out for Igea, and also to watch the house of Lasala,

No. 6 Broadway.

Yours, very truly, N
"HEMAN J. REDFIELD,
Collector, .
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|Confidential.]

, SournerN District oF New YoRK,
United Stales District Attorney’s Qffice, October 23, 1854,

Stk : I transmit to you a copy of a communication transmitted to
me by her Britannic Majesty’s consul at this port, A. Barclay, esq.
Hoping that this information will enable you to detect and stop the

whole proceeding, I am, sir, very respectfully, .
JOHN MoKEON,

United States District Attorney.

H. J. Reoriewp, Esq.,
Collector, de.

Mr. Barclay to Mr. McKeon.

Britisn CoNSULATE,
New York, October 23, 1854,

Sir: I transmit to you herewith a copy of a despatoh received by
her Britannic Majesty’s minister at Washington (and forwarded to
me) from Havana, respecting an expedition for the slave trade which
appears to be in progress of execution at this port. ‘

I hope the information I convey to you will enable you to detect

and stop the whole proceeding.
Your obedient servant,
ANTH. BARCLAY.

Mr. Crawford to Mr. Crampton,

HaAvANA, October 11, 1854,

Sir: I hasten to give you the following information, which I have
just received from an undoubted source, relative to an expedition
which is being prepared for the slave trade to the coast of Africa.

On the 28th ultimo, a certain Don José Egea left this place for
New York in order to purchase, through the house of Lasala, No. 6
Broadway, a vessel, preferring the rig of a pilot boat or fore and aft
schooner, capable of bringing off 500 slaves from Africa to this island.
The vessel to be equipped, with water and all things necessary for the
slave trade, and so prepared to sail from New York, proceeding to a
place on the coast of Africa, in latitude 4° 52' south, and longitude
16° 11’ east of Greenwich, where the slaves are, and have been for
some time, ready to be put on board. I understand that just to lee-
ward of the point designated by the latitude and longitude ahove
mentioned, there is a light known as Black Point, and that our
cruigers are generally about ten miles distant. The Spanish captain,
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whose name is Ortaga, goes passenger from New York, and he is to
assume the command as soon as the negroes are on board and the
vessel is ready to set sail from the coast of Africa. -

The parties engaged in this adventure have been named to me, as well
as the place to which the vessel is to come for the purpose of landing
licr cargo; but these facts are of no interest in the object which I have
in view in this despatch. Almost all the slave expeditions for some
time past have been fitted out in the United States, chiefly at New
York, where there must be some establishment, ship or outfitting
builders’ or carpenters’ yard specially undertaking such business for
the slavers. I am aware that the United States government has been
directed to that circumstance, and that the vigilance ot the American
officers at Philadelphia and New York has been such as that the
masters of two slavers are at present under trial for slave trading, and
the vessels in both instances, although purchased elsewhere in the
United States, were fitted out and sailed from New York. I am,
therefore, confident that every assistance would be afforded for the
detection of the slaver about to be equipped by Don José Egea, and
I hope that you will be able to engage the energies of the proper
officers of the government for that purpose, who will know that it is
necessary to observe the greatest secrecy and discretion so as to trace
Mr. KEgea and watch his progress, in order to pounce upon the expe-
dition at the moment of its completion.

I have, &c.,
‘JOS. J. CRAWFORD,
Her Majesty’s Consul General in Cuba,
His Excellency Joun T. CraMpTON, ., dc., dc.

Mr. Hunter to Mr. McKeon.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, May 17, 1855,

Str: I enclose herewith a copy of a letter received this morning
from W. R. Hackley, United States district attorney for the southern
district of - I'lorida, of the date of the 8th instant, in relation to the
discovery of the brigantine ‘¢ Horatio, ’’ of New York, abandoned at
sea, and under such circumstan.es as to justify the suspicion that she
had been engaged in landing a curgo of slaves on the coast of Cuba,

I have to request your attention to the case, and am, sir, your obe-

dient servant,
W. HUNTER, Adssistant Secretary.

Joux McKEeon, Isq., United States Disirict Attorney,
Southern District of New York.
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Myr. Hackley to Mr. Marcy.

Key Wesr, Florida, May 8, 1855.

Sir: Upon the 24th of April a brigantine was brought into this
place which had becn found abandoned (by one of our pilot boats) insight
of Koy West light-house, and, from her condition and fittings, there
can be no doubt that she had landed a cargo of slaves upon the coast
of Cuba, and heen abandoned. The name on her stern had been painted
over with black paint, but the name can be read; it is ¢‘ Horatio, New
York.,”” There was algo an old log book found on board, a part of a
leaf of which I have, which reads ; brig Horatio, lay in Ponce, Porto
Rico, May 23, 1854, Kempten master. The wood found on board is
evidently North American wood. The beans are white American
beans ; the barrels are American, and I can have no doubt but that
the brig was fitted for the slave voyage in the waters of New York,
and possibly is still owned in the United States.

With great respect, &e., , _
. ; ‘WM. R. HACKLEY,
United States Attorney Southern District, I'lorida.

My, Joachimsen to Mr. Marcy.

SournerN Districr oF New York,
U. S. District Attorney’s Office, May 18, 1855.

Sir: In the absence of Mr. McKeon, who is officially engaged in
Philadelphia, I have the honor to acknowledge receipt of your com-
munication of the 17th instant, covering a copy of a letter to the
State Department, from Wm. R. Hackley, esq., United States district
attorney for the southern district of Florida, in relation to the
discovery of the brigantine ¢ Horatio,”’ of New York, abandoned at
sea, and nnder such circumstances as to justify the suspicion that she
‘had been engaged in landing a cargo of slaves upon the coast of Cuba,
and requesting Mr. McKeon’s attention to the case.

I have the honor to state that this is the case referred to in the
report, from this office to the honorable the Secretary of State, under
date of the 2d May instant; since which William Addison Meade, esq.,
United States district attorney for Maryland, has obliged Mr, McKeon
with the aflidavit of James McGuire, now in prison at Baltimore,
showing the illegal trade of the ¢ Horatio.”” This office then applied
to the collector of the port for copies of the ship’s documents, &c.,
and for other information, "

It would seem that Lasala & Co., about the 23d October last,
purchased the brig Horatio, and obtained a register. In a day or two
alter they sold the brig to one Velasquez, in whose name a new register
was granted. He cleared her as consignor, and William F. Martin, as
master, The clearance was granted on the 1st November, 1854. The
register was not delivered until the 4th November, 1854,

On the 16th instant Mr. McKeon obtained from George F. Betts,
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esq., United States commissioner, a warrant to apprehend Rudolph E,
Lasala, Estevan Velasquez, William F. Martin, Theodore A. Meyers,
and A. T. Reynolds, on a charge of having violated the 3d section of
the act of Congress approved April 20, 1818, (3d vol. St. at Large,
p. 161.)  On this warrant William F. Martin has been arrested, and
now is in custody. The other parties will be taken as soon as they
can be found, probably in the course of to-day or to-morrow.

In order to possess the department of the facts of the case as they
appear in this office, in addition to the matters contained in the report
of the 2d instant, I beg to enclose the following papers:

1. Copy of Captain McGuire’s statement, marked H.,

2. Copy of a letter from the district attorney to the collector, dated
May 10, 1856, marked I. ,

3. Copy of a letter from the collector to the district attorney, May
10, 18556, marked J.

4. Copy of a letter from same tq same, May 11, 1855, marked K.

The copies transmitted by the c8llector are required for use here,
which is the reason that theéy are not now sent. ,
5. Copy of a letter {from the district attorney to the collector, May
11, 1855, marked L.

6. Copy of a letter from the collector to the district attorney, May
12, 1856, marked M. )

7. Copy of a report from 8. P, Ingraham to the collector, May 11,
1865, marked N, ;

The further stepsin the case will be seasonably reported to the
State Department, ,

May I take the liberty to suggest to the department that it would
greatly aid this office to obtain, on the direction of the Secretary of
State, from the district attorney of Florida, sworn statements of the
parties within his reach, fully specifying the various points connected
with the finding of the brig, and in what condition found, &ec.

I have the honor, &ec. ; nE
P. T. JOACHIMSEN,
Acting United States District Attorney.

H.
Statement of Caplain McGuire relative to brigantine ** Horatio.”*

Captain James McGuire sworn, deposes and says: That he was in
New York in November last, thinks about the 3d, and was laboring;
under a severe case of diarrhea. About that time Captain Martin
sent for me, and I went to see him, and he asked me how I would like
to take a voyage to the craft ; told him I would see my doctor, and if
he thought it was best I would go. I saw the doctor, and he said he
thought it was the best thing I could do. Saturday, the 4th of No-
vember, he thinks, Martin went with me to some man in New York
and introduced me to him ; his name was Asayres, or some such name;

_ H. Ex, Doc. 7—2
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a Spaniard; Martin had engaged to go in this vessel in the first place,
but he backed out; the vessel was on the eve of sailing, but could not
find Martin, and then this Spaniard eventually agreed that I should
go in her., So deponent had his things taken on board late Saturday
evening, and sailed Sunday morning early. When the pilot was get-
ting her under way, the men came aboard, (Spaniards,) and I said to
Mr. Vasquez, who I did not know to be the owner then, what these
two men wanted ; he said he supposed they were sent on board as
passengers I examined her papers, and her voyage was to St. Paul’s
and a market ; it was all correct. Deponent had nothing to do with
her clearance ; Captain Martin had cleared her. We proceeded to
sea ; the mate was very drunk and abusive ; his name was Mark Pitt-
man, and the only American but deponent on board Was at sea
three or four days, the mate still continued drunk, till I got tired of
it, and I put him off duty, and ordered him out of the cabin ; he re-
fused to go at first, and then I put him out by force. He was off duty
while the vessel was under my cohimand  Got along very well until
we got near the Cape de Verds; then I observed a mutinous disposi-
tion among the men, the carpenter in particular. The carpenter went
down in the hold and embezzled some of the cargo without my orders;
[ had the hatches nailed down fore and aft, and forbid them being
taken off withont my orders. In the meantime, it being the rainy
season, the rain came pouring down, and I could not stand the deck;
Mr Vasquez came to me and said that Artezar and Nayulltetors, the
two Spaniards before spoken of, would stand the watches, which 1 was
thankful for. I called the men, and told them to obey Artezar and
Nayulltetors in any order they might give as if it was from me, as I
“could not come on deck on account of the rain. At the same time I
_told these men in bad weather to let me know previous to taking in

sail, that 1 might give my judgment, For a few days things went
on very quiet, until I observed the mutinous conduct of the carpenter
and mate, particularly, and I had no arms, not even a pistol. I con-
cluded I would go to the Cape de Verd islands and leave the vessel,
as, by this time, I had pretty nearly conceived what kind of a voyage
she was going on, and I wanted to get out of her. I told Mr, Vas-
quez 1 was going to leave him at the Cape de Verds, and he begged
me to remain, saying that he could not do without me ; that when we
got to the coast he would get me a passage to the States, or some
port-of Ciba, I remained tossing about in the neighborhood of the
north coast of Africa, and could not make the shore, there being a
strong headwind, I then stood to the southward and westward, and
in the meantine the fire-wood began to get short, and I thought to
run off Pernambuco and get the wood and some other necessaries ;
there I told Artezar about it ; he did not say yes or no; afterwards
said there was wood enough aboard, and he would not go to Pernam-
buco ; but if 1 had been well I would have made him. In the mean-
time he gave orders to the carpenter to cut away the fly-rail fore and
aft without my orders, which he did. The carpenter also commenced
taking off the fore hatch; I told him not to do it; I went att in the
cabiu, and while there the carpenter took it off and went in the hold
and took whatever he pleased, liquor or anything else ; took enough
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liquor to make himself drunk. When I found the hatch off, after T
had ordered him not to do it, he said the Spanish captain had ordered
him to take it off ; I asked him how many captains he thought there
wag on hoard ; said he did not know, but the Spanish captain treated
him well, and he would do what he told him, I perceived there was
a great intimacy subsisting between Pittman, the mate, Artezar, and
the carpenter. Things went on in this way for a few days, till I
found I was not consulted on any occasion, and part of the crew were
insolent and mutinous. He did not exactly take charge of the vessel
then, but he steered what course he pleased, and made and took in
sail when he pleased, without consulting me at all, but I kept the
reckoning of the ship. I got Mr. Vasquez to take the altitude, and
I marked the time in my berth. They got to 36° south, and then
this Spaniard tacked ship and ran iuto the southward and eastward
for the coast of Africa. The mornjng that we made the land I was
very sick, and took some medicine. I was sitting on my trunk when
the Spanish captain came down and abused me very much in Spanish,
and he told me he had bought the vessel now, and said he had the
whole control of her ; he then asked me for my papers; I told him I
should not give them up as long as I lived; if he wanted them, he
must look for them, and get them the best way he could ; and if he
found them, he would have to kill me before he could get them. He
then took my chronometer and charts without my consent, and stood
in for the coast; he passed St. Paul, and steered for Point Nayno; in
going there made a mistake, and came to anchor about fourteen or
fifteen miles to eastward of it. He made a signal, and a canoe came
off ; he then sent an express by a negro to the tactory at Point Nayno;
this was a Thursday night. The express came back on Iriday morn-
ing ; he lowered the poat down, took four men with him, and went
ashore ; remained there all day ; about half-past 10 o’clock at night
he commenced sending off the negroes from the shore in canoes to
the ves.éel, (the brig Horatio ;) there was, he thinks, 360 negroes
brought on board ; he then came off himself, and the man that sold
him the negroes and he had some scttlement on board in a great
hurry; the negro scller went ashorein his own canoe. I said to Velas-
quez, what is to be done with you and me? He said we would have to
go down to Cuba in the vessel ; we could not get ashore then, We
got under way and sailed for Cuba ; I was put in a corner of the
cabin, my state-room being knocked into pieces. Sometimes Mr, Vas-
quez would give me something to eat at 11 o’clock, and that was all
1 could get to eat until 8 or 9 o’clock at night, and the water I drank
I had to suck it with a tube out of the cask. Arrived at Cuba, made
a signal, and a pilot boat came off; the pilot took charge, and beat
her in in the night ; after she got in some distance came to an anchor,
and there was a bonfire made on shore, and the pilot came off again
and took all the captain’s things and as many negroes as he could
carry ; all the negroes were landed there. After the negroes were
landed, this Spanish captain came on board with armed men, and
ordered them to make sail. Mr. Velasquez asked what we should do,
and I said we might as well get out trom there as to be murdered

there, and in the meantime the Spanish captain slipped the cable,



20 AFRICAN SLAVE TRADE,

and we had to go to sea ; the vessel was then very leaky, and it was
very dark ; the day after we were at sea fell in with brig Horatio,
Captain Jordan, and arrived in Baltimore; all of us lft the bng
Horatio, except the mate, Pittman, who remained on board, and no
one else, and we came to Baltimore in the brig Hobart. The brig
Horatio discharged part of her cago at Nayno before takmg in the
slaves. Mr Vasquez is the apparent owner of the Horatio. Brown,

carpenter, now in Baltimore.

Taken before me this Sth day of May, 18565.
JOHN HANAN,

U. 8. Consul for St. Domingo.

1.
Mr, McKeon to My, Redfield.

SouTHeRN Disrrict oF NEW York,
U. 8. District Altorney’s Qfiice, May 10, 18556,

Sir: I have to request that you will have the kindness to send to
this office. in season to be used before the close of this day’s session
of the United States circuit court a duly certified copy of the ship’s
papers of the brig ¢ Horatio,”’ which sailed from this port for the
coast of Africa on or about the 10th of November last. The docu-

ments I require copies of are the following : .
1. The bill of sale of said brig by Messrs. Lasala & Co., and of all

indorsements thereon. .
Any mortgage that may have been taken on her.

The register issued to her on such transfer.

The register bond and oath of owner and captain.

The manifest of her cargo outward and oath,

The crew list, crew bond, and oath.

The Shlpplﬂ“ articles.

The bill of sale to Lasala & Co.

The register issued to them,

All these papers should be copied ver batim, with all indorsements,
private marks, initials, and figures and dates, as they appear on the
original documents.

I will also be obliged to you for your statement accompanying the
above papers, and specifying the time when the last register of said
brig Horatio was delivered from your office, and by whom and to
whom delivered.

I am, very respectfully,

O 00 =T oo O i Lo B,

JOHN McKEON,
U. 8. District Attorney.
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J.
My, Redfield to Mr. McKeon.
Cusrox-House, New York,
Collector’s Office, May 10, 1855,

Sir: Yours of this date, requesting certified copies of the papers of

the ‘¢ Horatio,”’ is received. el
In reply, I have to state that it will be impossible for me to furnish
the papers to-day, but you can have them at 11 o’clock to-morrow.

Yours, very respectfully, , ,
HEMAN J. REDFIELD, Collector.

K.
Mr. Heman J. Ltedfield to Mr, McKeon.

Cusron-House, NEw York,
Collector’s Office, May 11, 1855,

Sir: In accordance with the request contained in your_letter of
yesterday, I enclose herewith certified copies of all the original papers
of the brig ¢ Horatio’’ on file here.

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
HEMAN J. REDFIELD, Collector.

L.

My, McKeon to Mr. Redfield.

SoutnerN District oF NEw York,
U. 8. District Altorney’s Office, May 11, 1855.

Siz: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of yours of this
day, covering the papers requested of the brig ** Horatio.”’

In order to institute the necessary proceedings, it is necessary that
I should have the name of the clerk by whom, the name of the party
to whom, and the time when the register, in the name of Velasquez,
were delivered. This information I have before requested, but it
probably has escaped your attention. I have also to request a state-
ment of the name of the clerk by whom, the name of the party to
whom, and the time when the clearance of the ¢‘ Horatio’’ in Novem-
ber last were delivered at your office.

It also appears that there were no oath of the master and no collec-
tor’s certificate, and no notarial certificate of nationality of the ship’s
equipage on the crew list. Can you give me an explanation of this
cmission ? -
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Your early attention to this communication is respectfully solicited.
Your reply will have an important bearing on the proceedings which
I have in hand, and on those already instituted by the attorney of the
United States for the district of Maryland, respecting the violation of
the laws of the United States by the parties who cleared her and
navigated her, i

I am, very respectfully, ‘
JOHN McKEON,
U. S. District Atlorney.

M
My. Heman J. Redfield to Mr. McKeon.

CusroM-House, NEw York,
Oollector's Office, May 12, 1855.

S1r: I have to acknowledge the receipt of yours of yesterday rela-
tive to the brig ¢ Horatio,”” and in reply to state that the register of
said brig was made by Sidney P. Ingraham, in the name of Velasquez,
as sole owner ; and was delivered by him to the master on the 4th
November, 1855. ;

The clearance of-th brig was made by William H. Brown, on the
1st November, 1854, and was delivered by him to Theodore Meyers,
custom-house broker, ‘

I enclose you certified copies of the notarial certificate and of the
shipper’s and master’s manifest. I also enclose a statement of Mr,
Ingraham, relative to the oath on the crew list.

I am, very respectfully,
HEMAN J. REDFIELD,
Collector,

N.
Statement of S. P. Ingraham, enclosed in within letler.

Cusrox-House, Nw Yok,
Collector’s Office, May 11, 1855.

Sir : I made the register of the brig ¢“ Horatio’’ in the name of
Velasquez, as sole owner. It was delivered to the master on the 4th
November, 18564, by myself, in this office. ,

The oath of the master on the crew lists was taken on the 1st, and
went with the vessel. The certificate of the deputy collector was on
that, of which there is no copy, and we cannot say which one took the
oath., I know the master made the oath. I saw the certificate was
signed as taken before one of the deputy collectors,

Respectfully, your obedient servant, .
: S. P. INGRAHAM,
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My, Hunter to Mr. Joachimsen,

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, May 19, 1855,

Sir: I have to acknowledge the receipt of your communication of
yosterday, with its enclosures, and to state that I have requested Mr,
Hackley, United States district attorney at Key West, to transmit
directly to the United States district attorney, in New York city, the
affidavits respecting the ¢¢ Horatio,”” which, in the last paragraph of
your letter, you ask for,

I am, sir, your obedient servant, ;
W. HUNTER,

Assistant Secretary.

-

P. J. JoacurMsen, Esq.,
‘Acting District Attorney of the United States,
Southern District of New York.

Mr. Hunter to My, Haclley.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, May 19, 1855.

Stk : In acknowledging the receipt of the letter from this depart-
ment, which communicated a copy of yours of the 8th instant, re-
specting the ¢ Horatio,”” the district attorney for the southern district
of New York has suggested that it would greatly facilitate the pro-
ceedings of his office if you would obtain sworn statements of the
parties within your reach, ‘“fully specifying the various points con-
nected with the finding of the brig, and in what condition fourd, &c.”’

I"have assured that officer that you will promptly and directly com-
municate to him all the intelligence of the character specified which
you may be enabled to obtain.

I may remark to you that the district attorney of New York is
already possessed of many material fucts and valuable testimony bear-

ing upon the case.

I am, sir, your obedient servant, ;
W. HUNTER,

o Assistant Secrelary.
WiLuiam R, HackLey, Esq.,

United States District Attorney,
Southern District of I'lorida, Key West.
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Mr. Hunter to Mr. Hackley.

DEPARTMENT or STATE,
Washington, June 7, 1855.

Sir: I have to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 25th
ultimo, communicating information from Captain Skinner, respecting
the ¢¢ Horatio,’”” and have transmitted a copy of it to the district

attorney in New York.

I am, sir, your obedient servant, "
W. HUNTER,

Assistant Secrctary.

WiLnian R, ’HACKLEY, Esq., ,
United Slates District Altorney, Key West, Florida,

No. 296.
Mr, Robertson to Mr. Marcy.

CoNSULATE oF THE UNITED STA'PES,‘
Havana, December 20, 18556,

Sir: Annexed hereto I lay before you a copy of the communication
I addressed to the captain general on the 15th instant, on learning
that the sentence passed against the Americans, Winn and Chauncey,
had been confirmed. I deem it my duty to report that they have had
a lawyer to defend them, who, as I am informed, made a very able
defence. I would, however, exert myself in behalf of these my
unfortunate countrymen; and to-day made a personal appeal to his
excellency, and though I have not succeeded, at least thus far, in
obtaining a full pardon, I am happy to say that they are not to be
put in the chain-gang to work in the streets, but in the navy yard,
without chains and treated as other workmen, and, possibly, may be

allowed a small salary, ;
I have the honor to remain, sir, with much respect, your obedient

servant e
’ WM. H. ROBERTSON,
Acting Consul,

Hon. WiLLiaM I.. Maroy, !
Secretary of State of the United States, Washington.

0 L

CONSULATE 0F THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, December 15, 1855.

Most ExceELLENT SIR : I have this morning received from the American
prisoners in the jail, William Winn and Mark Chauncey, a note in-
forming me that their appeal to the royal audiencia for the revision of
the sentence that was passed against them, to wit, three years in the
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presidio, has proved of no avail, for the court have confirmed that
sentence, I cannot but deeply regret that such has been the sad result
of their trial, as they are both men having others dependent on their
labor for support, and, according to the affidavits lately received by
me, and which I have the honor to enclose herewith, also men of good
moral character, who, when they shipped upon the schooner Mary
Reed (the name that the schooner Esperanza had on her leaving New
York,) did so in the beliet that they were bound on a lawful voyage,

The audiencia having alrcady sentenced them, they are now, it I
am not in error, exclusively subjected to your excellency’s jurisdiction
as the superior executive officer and representative of the sovereign in
this island ; [ trust that, after an examination of the evidence now
laid before your excellency, you will feel disposed to exercise in their
favor some leniency, or what would be stili a greater boon, for the
sake of their dependent families, accord them a full pardon.

I have the honor to be, with great respect, your excellency’s obedient

servant :
’ WM. H. ROBERTSON,
Commercial Agent tn charge of the Consulate.

His Excellency Sor. D. Josii be Lo Concia,
(overnor, Captain General of Cuba, c.

My, Thomas to Mr. MecKeon.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, January 14, 1856,

Stk : TIn reply to your letter of the 12th instant to this department,
enclosing a subpeena for my attendance before the district conrt in the
case of the United States vs. Manuel Echuria, charged with fitting
out in the port of New York the schooner ¢¢ Mary Jane Peck’’ for the
slave trade, I have to state that I am wholly unacquainted with the
cage. You are misinformed in regard to any claim concerning this
vessel having come before the London commission ; no such claim was

presented,
I am, sir, your obedient servant,

J. H. THOMAS,
Assistant Secretary.
Joun McKeow, Esq.,
Attorney of the United Slales for the southern district of New York.



26 AFRICAN SLAVE TRADE.

No. 7.
[Exiract.]
Mr. Robertson to Mr. Marcy.

CoNSULATE oF THE UNITED STATES.
Havana, January 19, 1856,

Bmm: On the 20th ultimo (despatch No. 296) I reported to you
that the captain general had, at my earnest solicitation, consented to
lessen the penalty of three years in the presidio to which the Ameri-
cans, Winn and Chauncey, had been condemned by the superior court,
His excelleney himsell proposed to send them to the navy yard with-
out chaing, where they might be made useful aund probably receive a
small remuneration for their services. I at once communicated this
intelligence to the prisoners, who seemed to be gratified by the deci-
sion of hix excellency.  For three weeks I was waiting to hear of their
being in the navy yard, when, on the 9ili instant, | received a note
from Chauncey, of which I accompany herewith a copy, marked No. 1;
he was then en route he did not know where to, as he promised to write
again, I waited to hear from him, and on the 17th I received his
second letter, from the Isle of Pines. I sendyoua copy thereof, num-
bered two, I confess that T cannot reconcile this disposal of the pri-
soncrs with the promise of the captain general, but taking into con-
sideration that they are probably relieved from the chain-gang, and
will, ay they believe, havethe whole island for their prison, without
chains, with a chance of adding to their comforts by means of their
own lahor, 1 have deemed it most prudent to say nothing further to
his excellency on' the subject, |

1 shall send them the small amount remaining in my hands, and I
understand there is a subscription among the masters of vessels and
others that may further ameliorate their condition.

I have the honor to be, sir, respectfully, your obedient servant,

W. . ROBERTSON.

No. 1.
Mr. Chauncey to William I1. ]foberlson; esq., U. S. Consul.

ARrovo NARrANJo,
Tuesday evening, January 8, 1850.

DiAr Sie: We left the royal prison this morning and journeyed
thus fur, where we are to pass the night, and presuming you are igno-
rant of our destination as well as ourselves, I have thought proper to
address you,  Thus far we have been treated remarkably well, and, as
the expedition appears to be a secret one, and the instructions to the
guardia civil appear to be very lenient towards us, we cannot be other-
wise than sutisfied, Oue only trouble is, that we have but little money
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and no clothes with us, Nevertheless, presuming that all is for the
best for us, we must get along as well as we can. The instructions to
the guard are to conduct us as far as Batabano; from thence, they nor
we know more, Wae leave this guard-house at four o’clock to-mor-
row via Bejucal. I shall write you as soon as practicable.

Respectfully, &o., ;
: M. CHAUNCEY.

No. 2.

[}

Mr. Ohauncey to Colonel Robertson,

IsLA ve Pinos,
Tuesday, Janvwary 15, 1856,

Dear Sin: We arrived here on Sunday evening last from Batabano,
and are confined here together in the prison of the place, but, I pre-
sume, will be at large in a few days.  We knew nothing of our desti-
nation until we reached Batabano, but we have.every reason to be
satisficd with it thus far. IHere it is customary to confine the pri-
soners a few days, and then let them go at large about the island,
and seek their living the best way they can, which, I presume, is
attended with great difficulty, as it appears to be a miserably poor
place. The government, I believe, pays each prisoner about five dol-
~ lars a month for his support,

I should feel extremely obliged to you if you would remit to me what
money remains in your hands, of mine, except a half ounce, which you
will please pay to the order, &c., &c., &e.

With many thanks for the kind manner in which you have ever

acted towards us, I am, &e.,
M. CHAUNCEY.

No. 11.
Myr. Robertson to Ar. Marcy.

ConsuLATE oF THE UNITED STATES,

Havana, January 26, 1856.
~Sir: I am bound, again, to call your attention to the progress of
““Africanization,’”’ or rather the renewal of the African appreuticeship
scheme.  The expediente is now in preparation for the introduction of
from 70 to 100,000 African apprentices, by order of the home govern-
ment, and under the permission, sanction, and I may add, the patron-
age of the British government. I have learnt that the original por-
position was that each planter should be entitled to/double the number-
of apprentices to the slaves that he would liberate. The subject is
already creating much apprehension among those prudent reflecting
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minds thatarcin thesecret, therenewal ofthe scheme notbemg generally
known, The argument of the advocates of the measure is the want of
laborers, to securs a sufficient number of which for eight or ten years
is their object, and they are wholly regardless of the ultimate conse-
quences to the island. The high price of sugar and the equally high
price of labor are strong stimulants at this time, and account for the
cause of General Concha’s blindness to the numerous cargoes of Afri-
can negroes that are landing in various parts of the island. I am
authorized to say that every word above stated can be verified, I will
give you in another shape the name of my anthority, a gentleman
who has good opportunities for learning what is going on.

Ido not posjtively assert that the scheme will be carried out, as I
know {rom secret quarters that there is great opposition to it from
many persons here, particularly those who are now, and others to be,
engaged in the introduction of Chinese, a more dangerous and worse
population than the Africans; but there happens to be more money
made out of them than by bringing apprentices from Africa.

I have the honor to remain, sir, very respectfully, your obedient

servant,
WILLIAM H. ROBERTSON,
Acting Consul.

Hon. WiLrniam L. MAroy,
_ Secretary of State of the United States, Washington.

No. 14.
[Extract.]
AMr. Robertson to Mr., Marcy.

ConsuLATE oF THE UNITED STATES,
Havara, January 31, 1850,

Sir: Ibeg leave to call your special attention to an article upon Chi-
nese immigration, in the Diario de la Marina, of the 26th, already sent
to the dcpmtment ‘and to the article in the same Journal of this date,
(which I enclose herewith) in defence of African colonization. This
last article is attributed to the pen of a very wealthy and influential
planter, (from Old Spain,) and clearly shows that the subject is re-
newed, and is a matter of public discussion now, It is becoming an
excxtmg question to the planting interest with the prospect of high
prices for sugar for some time. The planters must have laborers, and
they will have them, let the sacrifice or consequences be what they
may. You will, no doubt, read the two articles alluded to with great
interest, * * *

I am, sir, respectfully, your obedient servant,
W. H. ROBERTSON.
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With Mr. Robertson’s Ne, 14, January 81, 1856.
[From the Diarfo de ln Marina, Junuary 31, 1856.]

The impartiality which has ever led us to open our columns to arti-
cles of a general interest, even when they do not entirely accord with
our ideas, lays us under the obligation of inserting the communication
of a respectable planter, with whose friendship we are favored, Its
object is to answer another article which we published a few days
ago. For our individual self all that we have to say is, that it is our
dearest wish that, in the full discussion to which the question is enti-
tled, no other considerations should be had than those which grow

out of the welfare of the country, to which personal interests and
biases should yield:

‘“ Public attention, in Havana, must have been directed to an arti-
cle which was published in the Prensa, of the 23d instant, and copied -
in the Diario de la Marina, on the 26th. Through this article may
be traced the eager desire of some men to make a defence of Asiatic
immigration, whilst they oppose and hamper the introduction of the
African race. ST

1 come forward, without any subterfuge, as an apologist for Afri-
can immigration. The champions of Asiatic colonization have already
set forth their reasons for the defence of their cause, or, more properly
speaking, for the success of their speculation. I shall adduce mine
with the moderation and seriousness which should characterize the
discussion of questions of so high an importance. The supreme gov-
ernment, in its better judgment, weighing in equal scales the general
welfare, and passing by the interested pretensions of the supporters of
both colonizations, will settle upon that which may be more accepta-
ble, and public opinion formed on this score, upon utilitarian princi-
ples, will express itself, more or less, in favor of this or that system ;
though, in my opinion, neither should be excluded from acceptance.
Previous to opening a defence of the introduction of Africans, I will
advert both to the praises lavished upon Asiatic immigration by its
supporters, and to the objections which they array against the African
gystem, ' 7

‘““In the great scarcity of hands, which prostrates Cuban agricul-
ture, I do not say, in order to supply the present deficiency, that said
Asiatics should not be resorted to ; but I do say thateven orang-oufangs
should be used were they susceptible of domestication. If, however,
it be certain that this pressing necessity fastens the said Chinese upon
the planters, at a cost by no means reasonable; it it be certain that
some of them, though not many, have professed themselves satisfied
with their lubor and deportment, it is no less certain that infinitely
greater is the number of those who are disgusted, although compelled
to bear with them, on account of their very necessities. I even knew
not a few of those planters who had desired to procure a greater num-
ber of those colonists, and have made application to that effect, who
have repented their wishes and discarded the idea, preferring to leave
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a portion of their crop wasting in the field, and to lose a considerable
number of boxes of sugar for want of an effective force.

““ The apologists for Asiatic colonization exert themselves to prove
also that the introduction of those individuals in the Island of Cuba
has produced no epidemic. I do not know on what ground they stand
to warrant the assertion, when it is notorious that, with the arrival of
every expedition which has taken place, since the year 1850, the
cholera has broken out in a greater or less degree of intensity. This
fact can be casily established by the agents of the depots at Chorrera,
and in the hulk anchored in the bay, as also by many a planter who
had the misfortune of losing, through those epidemics, as many useful
African hands as there were useless coolies introduced. The same
apologists of this race have been compelled to confess their vicious-
ness ; though, they say, they may be turned to account by proper
management. [ say that they are not only vicious, but that they are
corrtpt also.  Woe to the Island of Cuba should these new colonists,
supplying the decrease of the submissive and obedient Africans, even-
tually make up a population equal to that of the slaves at present
existing on its soil | The fatal consequences of such a state are so
readily conceived that I will not stop to enumerate them.,

‘It is also said that Guayana, Demerara, the Island of Mauritius,
and other pointg of the West Indies, introduce the Chinese in prefer-
ence to the African. And why s0? Because the African, left to his
own free will, unsubjected to any landlord, with no compulsion to labor,
save that of hunger, satisfies the wants of nature by one or two days’
work, spending the vest of the week in idleness and the dolce far
niente—the natural state of every man who has no education, wants,
or stimulants to work. I shall enter into more extended explanations
on this head when 1 take up the defence of African colonization.

¢ Another objection is, that the slaves, by the alternations of labor,
in common with others of their own color, possessing greater privi-
leges than they do, might eventually become demoralized. This un-
substantial objection may be easily dispelled by a mere consideration
of the many means of which the planter can dispose, both to engage
said colonists in special works, and, in the course of time, to intrust
certain estates to their exclusive cultivation. It might, at first, be
necessary that they should divide their labors with the slaves. A due
separation, however, in their cabins and their tasks, snch as has been
adopted in many places with the Chinese, would prevent all inconve-
nience, provided the overseers of plantations have sufficient tact and
prudence, to control the one and the other set of hands. To those
who belicve that the daily stipend paid to one set, yet denied to the
other, might breed discontent in the minds of the slaves, there is an
obvious answer in the fact that, even pursuing this course, the condi-
tion of the slave would be more favorable. The Coolies, receiving but
two dollars a month, whilst the other two dollars remain on_deposit,
for purposes to be hereafter mentioned, are not so advantaged as the
African slave, whose peculium is greater—being derived from the
patches of land granted to him by the master, for raising poultry,
hogs, and even for planting corn,

‘““Having already shown that nothing but the scarcity of hands
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could have warranted the introduction of coolies, who, by general
consent, are held to be a real and incvitable calamity; having disposed
of the few and ungrounded objections against African immigration, I
will now proceed with a fow reflections on the subject of the letter. I
do not belitve that there is a single individual, even among the
patrons of the Asiatics, who does not award the preference which, in
our climate, the Africans deserve, in every respect, so far as agricul-
tural labor is concerned ; for they alone, beneath the burning sun of
the tropics, can resist and even defy its intensity No one, also, can
deny their humility, submissiveness, endurance, and strength, though
suddenly transferred from their savage state to that of a civilization
approprinte to their nature and condition. Now, it even those who
have been smuggled here, violently torn trom their native soil, and
treated on board ship like bundles of goods, have readily subjected
themselves to labor and obsdience, living merrily and contentedly,
and giving proofs of uncommon faithfulness to their masters, what
may we not expect of those who might come in by voluntary engage-
ments, under a contract guaranteed by the government, and with an
assurance of the good treatment which they would receive, in sickness
or health, not to speak of the wages of four dollars a month, punctu-
ally paid ? I think that if this scheme, that I had occasion thoroughly
to examine, were carried into effect, without any let or hinderance,
the Island of Cuba would soon reach the height of prosperity. Nor -
are we to hold-in the slightest cousideration the fears of those who
apprehend that this African immigration would increase the number
of free negroes,  Should the scheme which T advocate be adopted, not
a single freedman of that origin would remain in the Island of Cuba,
With the expiration of each contract, cach individual should be fur-
nished with a passport for such point as he may select. This should
be rigorously adhered to, except in cases of re-engagement ; but, even
then, the new engagement should be made on the same conditions and
under the control of a patron, removing the possibility of the freed-
man’s being left to his own free will.

““ In another view of the case, it this scheme were adopted in all its
bearings, it would work immense advantages to the country, inde-
pendent of those which could be conferred by it npon national agri-
culture.  One of the objects of that scheme might be embraced in the
establishment of a bank of discount, for the benefit of planters, at a
low rate of interest and a long term of payment, in which the intro-
ducers of the Africaus should not take, for their contracts, a larger
share than that which the introducers of the Asiatics would take,
Let the advantages of the respective immigrations be compared; and
itis not to be presumed that the Island of Cuba contains a single
planter that does not prefer the African to the Asiatic system of colo-
nization; although he should have to pay for the former a little more
to establish the bank, of which I have spoken, he would be amply
compensated for the sacrifice which he might make on this score.

‘“As to the laziness, 80 much commented upon, of the African colo-
nists (apprentices) introduced into the British West Indies, it is easily
conceived how it grows out of the system adopted by the Iinglish gov-
erunient for the management of said colonization. "As that govern-
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ment has contracted so many compromises with the abolitionists of the
slave trade, it could not help following their wishes and complying
with their requirements, As these were .of an extreme character, it
was compelled to allow said apprentices full liberty to work whenever
they please. Hence their inertness is not to be affected, save, as I
have already mentioned, when aroused by the call of hunger, easily
satisfied, in the tropics, by the abundance of bananagand the variety of
farinaceous roots, which the negroes prefer to any other kind of food.

“Now, as the Africans should not be admitted in the Island of Cuba,
except under conditions gimilar to those imposed for the introduction
the Asiatics, securing to them menthly wages in compensation for a
defined labor carried on under the direct and reasonable control of a
landlord, there is no apprehension to be entertained from such lazi-
ness, as it is apparent that, with the precautions pointed out, and
even through the good examples of their companions of the same
color, there would not be one who would refuse the performance of
feasible work. This is a truth which none can gainsay.

‘“ Ag it is not my intention to forestall the judgment of either the
government or the public in a quection of so vital an importance, I
will confine myself to the few remarks which I have just made, and
reserve many others, which may be suggested, by an opportune occa-
sion, :
¢ Having thus defined my position in this matter, as well as that of
the advocates of Asiatic immigration, an impartial public cannot fail
to decide whose is the side of reason, which should ever prevail, on
every isolated pretension and every speculative object.

“The editor of the Diario de la Marina will, in conclusion, be
pleased to give insertion to this article in the columns of his paper,

and oblige, &e., &e. 7 ,
¢“ ONE INTERESTED IN AFRICAN COLONIZATION,

“ HAvANA, January 27, 1856,

No. 30.
My, Gillmer to Mr. Marcy.

CoNsuLATE oF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Bahia, February 1, 1856.

Sir: I have now to udvise that a schooner of 122 tons burden,
with the name ““Mary Ii. Smith,”’ of New Orleans, painted on her
stern, which left the wharfin Boston on the night of the 25th of Au-
gust, 1855, (owned by Vincent D. Cranotick,) in spite of the endeavors
of the collector of said port to detain her as a suspicious craft, des-
tined for the slave trade, has completely verified the suspicions then
attached to her. She was brought into this port on the 29th ultimo
a prize to the Brazilian brig-of-war ‘‘Olinda,” with over 370 slaves
on board, having been captured at the port of St. Mattheos in the
province of Espiritu Santo, to the south of this, From what I can
learn at present it would appear that several attempts had been made
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to land the slaves at different points on this coast, but, to the credit of
the Brazilian authoritics and people, were in every instance repelled.
The mortality of the slaves on board has been dreadful, and the sur-
vivors are represented ag little more than moving skeletons, :

This affair presents the most horrible and disgraceful features of
any which ever came under my observation, and it is aggravating to
think that a foveign scoundrel, covered with the mantle of an Amer-
ican citizen, should have had it in his power so to disgrace the flag of
our conntry. ; o v o

At present I have no further particulars to communicate, but have
informed Mr. Trousdale, minister at Rio, of the facts, for whatever
action he may think proper to adopt, or direct me to adopt in the
premises, ;

The president of this province has not yet informed me officially of
the case, but no doubt he will do so. In the meantime I can see no
tangible motive for interfering officially, as the vessel was captured
within Brazilian jurisdiction, and not on the high scas.

I have the honor to be, most respectfully, your obedient servant,

JOHN 8. GILLMER, Consul.

Hon. Wat. L. MArcy,

Secretary of State of the U. S., Washinglon.

My, Robertson to Mr. Marcy.

No. 17.] ConsuraTE or -THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, February 7, 1856,

Str @ T had the honor to receive, on the 31st, your despatch of 21st
ultimo.

On the 31st T received a communication, dated 28th ultimo, from
the captain general, embodying a copy of a letter addressed by his
excellency, through his political sccretary, to William Winn’s
brothers at New York, wherein they are informed that the captain
general of Cuba has no authority to remit penalties imposed by the
courts of justice ; that the utmost he can do is to suspend the penalty
of death in certain cases until the sovereign’s will be received, and
to remit one-third of the penalty after one-half of it has been under-
gone, provided such a course be justified by the good behavior of the
prisoner. Ilis excellency further gives to expect that, if Winn be-
haves well, that benefit will be extended to him. I presume that
Chauncey will be treated in the same manner, under like circum-
stances. The latter wrote, a few days since, from the Isle of Pines,
stating that both he and Winn were well treated, and allowed to move
freely, though still under the eye of a guard.

The discussion as to the respective merits of Chinese and African
immigration is going on in the public prints. See ¢ Prensa de la
Habana” of the 2d and 6th insts. T am assured, by reliable author-
ity, that the question of the propricty of permitting the introduction
of African apprentices was referred to the junta de fomento (board of

H. Ex. Doc. 7 3
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improvements) for their opinion, which board returned an advice un-
favorable to the scheme, .
I have the honor to be, sir, with high respect, your obedient ser-

vant,
W. H. ROBERTSON,

My, Gillmer to Mr. Marcy.

No. 31.] CoNSULATE oF TnE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Bahia, February 12, 1856,

Sir: Since my communication of 1st instant, copy of which is en-
closed, I received a note from Cranotick, the English and spelling
hardly to be understood, as follows:

«“Mr, GiLMoRg, ‘Unoid St. Consul :
“I been very glad sinz to-day no hospital of Bahia. Vy resp.
“BarsarLeo Prison, I'ebd. 6, 1850. «
“VINCENT D. CRANOTICK,
“Capp of Se Mary I, Smith, New Orleans.’”’

of which I took no notice.

The Africans were landed, and the following appeared in the news-
paper ““Diario da Bahia,’”’ of the 8th instant, relative to them:

[Translation.]

“Captured Africans.—We are informed by a competent person that
the mortality has risen to 106, including some who died on the water.
The Jarge number of deaths the past few days is not surprising, in
consequence of the breaking out of maculo and cholera, It is said
that the place of deposit chosen for these unhappy people is not good,
and probably not one will escape, seeing that the number of deaths
increase daily. Many have been sent to the hospital to die within a
few hours, and of those existing, it is believed few will escape, even
should the best measures be adopted.””

I also see by another paragraph in the newspaper that Cranotick is
an Austrian by birth, but a naturalized citizen of the United States,
and that he served some years service as chief officer in one of the
Brazilian steam packets running along this coast. The whole affair
seems to have originated in Rio de Janeiro, and it is reported that
five other vessels have been prepared for the traffic in a similar
manner to the schooner ¢““Mary I8, Smith,”’

The president of this province has not yet seen fit to apprise me,
ofticially, of the case. ‘ , o

"I have the honor to be, most respectfully, your obedient servant,

. JOHN 8. GILLMER, Consul.

Hon. W, L. Marcy,

Secretary of State of the United States, Washington.
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MMy, Thomas to Mr, Gillmer.

WasuisetoN, April 15, 1856,

Sik: Your despatches to No, 31, inclusive, have been received,

The acconnt given in Nos. 80 and 81 presents a rvevolting picture of
the condition of the slaves, 370 in number, attempted to be intro-
duced into Brazil on board of the schooner “Mary E. Smith,”’ of New
Orleans, which vessel, it appears, was captured at the Port of St.
Matheos, in the province of Hspiritu Santo, by the Brazilian brig-of-
war ‘‘Olinda,”” and taken into Bahia. It is greatly to be regretted
that the American flag continues to be used for the accomplishment of
the nefarions ends of persons engaged in this infamous traflic ; and it
behooves this government to exert all the means it can to bring to
trial any citizens of the United States who may be found thus violat-
ing the laws of their country. You are therefore requested, should
any legal proceedings be had in this case at Bahia in which devel-
opments shall be made tending to criminate persons in this country,
to communicate all such facts and evidence to this department as will
enable the government to proceed against them, agreeably to the acts
of Congress for the suppression of the African slave trade.

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
J. A. THOMAS,

Assistant Secretary,

Mr. Robertson to Blr. Marcy.
[ Bxtract ]

No. 42.] Consurare oF THE UNITED STATES,
- Havana, April 25, 18506.
Sir: I beg leave to enclose you herewith a circular (now in circula-
tion) to her Catholic Majesty, praying her consent to the admission
of immigration from Africa. The terms for the immigration are not
mentioned in the circular.

I am aware from conversations I have had with General Concha
since his return from his tour through the island, that he has become
more than ever sensible of the great importance of a greater increase
of hands for the development of the vast resources of this island, and
especially in the cultivation of sugar and tobaceo. IHence this circular,

* s * * * * * *

* * T have not had time to translate it, as it has just
been put into my hands, and it is now late at night, and the steamer
that will take this is to leave very early to-morrow morning.

I have the honor to be, sir, with great respect, your obedient servant,
WM. . ROBERTSON,
Acting Consul,
Hon. Wiriam L. Maroy,
Secretary of State of the United States, 1Washinglon.
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Memorial to the Queen.

Mapay: We, the planters and merchants of the Island of Cuba,
who subseribe this memorial in our names, and in those of mauy of
our friends and relations, whose momentary absence forbids than
joining in the act—not decming presumptuons to assume to speak for
every property holder of the country, saving a very few exceptions of
clashing interests—have the honor to approach the throne to enlist
your Majesty’s attention in behalf of a great scheme of African fmmi-
grafion, which, as we are informed, is soon ‘o be bronght before your
Majesty through the instrumentality of your eaptain general in thuse
your dominions—a scheme which hag been devised by one of the
wealthy proprietors in this island, who contributes most largely to
the resources of the state,  We allude to D, José Snares Argudin

This scheme heing based npon the principles laid down in the me-
morial which 1), Mariano Torrente, provincial and army intendent,
published in London in 1853, in both the Spanish and English lan-
guages, we cannot do less than support it with even our feeble efforts,
and earnestly, though humbly, beg your Majesty to vouchsafe to take
it into consideration. ,

We are aware, madam, beyond the shadow of a doubt, of the
favorable reception which it met at the hands of him who, at that
period, was your envoy at the British court, and through whose chaunel
several copies of it were submitted to your Majesty.  Equally aware
are we that mauny others were communieated to the ministers and
principal functionaries of that government, as also to the most influ-
ential wembers ot both houses, its author giving it, at the same tine,
the widest circulation, in order that, public opinion being previously
prepared, the exeeution of the scheme might find fewer difficulties in
its way, , o . .

The matter was made equally public in the United States, although
“gome of the papers of that conntry gave to said memorial, and that
not with the most friendly intentions, a construction widely different
from its true spirit. gratuitously and illogically supposing that ils
hidden ohject was the substitntion of a free for a slave population in
the Island of Cuba—an absurdity which challenges a name,

The government of yonr Majesty was also made aequainted with
the cager desires which the planters of Cuba have entertained, and
which they now more than ever ardently entertain, to see the estab-
lishment of African Immigration, surraunded by such solid guarantees
as it may please yonr Majesty to prescribe.  This knowledge your
government derived, not only from the memorial referred to, but also
from the efforts directly made by itg author, and from the individual
exertions of one of the most extensive rural proprictors of the country,
guch as is D. José Suarez Arvgudin, who took the first steps in this
measture, and signed the scheme already mentioned.

As the controlling reasons of expediency, and eveu of necessity,
are fully explained in the scheme and memorial both, we shall not,
madam, presume to trouble your Majesty with new practical illustra-
tions, which cannot but suggest themselves to your high and keen
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percoptions,  We will, therefore, confine ourselves to the expression
of our deep conviction that no race save the African is competent to
supply the deficiency of hands with equal chances of results favorable
to the prosperity of the island. Neither now nor in a remote fiiture
can even the most suspicious mind discover any motive for distrust or
fear in the introduction of colonists so submisive, so humble, and so
obedient, ag those individuals are and have ever been,  Their admis-
sion into Cuba has now become still more nrgent, since the cholera,
recurring ulmost every year, the small-pox, aud other diseases, which,
unfortunately, but too frequently invade our soil and ficreely attack
the population which is engaged in the labors of the ficld, go on tithing
and decreasing that population to such a degree that, with the rapid
decrense which it cannot but experience, and which the best efforts of
those interested, whether on the score of humanity or interest, must
fuil in checking, the wealth of this prosperous island will feel a cor-
responding decrease, nnless eflicacions and counteracting meuns be
promptly adopted: ;

Anoug those means, madam, none can be found hetter caleulated
for the end in view than the importation of Afvican colonists, experi-
ence having proved that the other races, including the white race,
have been far from realizing the beneficent intents of your govern-
ment, that had anthorized their introduction,

We, therefore, most humbly beg your Majesty that it may be
pleased to grant the permission which we solieit, for the introduction
into the Island of Cuba, by way of an experiment, of forty thousand
colonists from the coast of Alrica, as has been done with most sat-
isfuctory results in others of the Antilles, hoping that your Majesty
will order those terms and conditions which may suit her high pleasure
and concilinte md harmonize private interests, without giving rise to
complaints on the part of other nations; an end which, with the
antecedents already established, may be ecasily attained; for they
must have, in a great degree, removed the most formidable obstacles
which, at fivst sight, might have opposed the success ol s0 important
an undertaking. o

We appeal for this high favor, which may well be considered as
the sole anchor of our hope, and which, we doubt not, we shall find
in the gracious heart of your Majesty, ever disposged to protect and
advance national wealth, and especially the wealth of this privileged
soil and royal domain, generally held to be the brightest jewel in tho
crown of Castille, which so worthily encircles your Majesty’s brows.

Madam, at your Majesty’s royal feet,

Havana, April 24, 1856.

My, Robertson to Mr. Marcy.

No. 46.] CoxsurATE OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, May 14, 1856,
Sir: I have not as yet had it in my power to lay before you in full
the last scheme or plan for bringing Alrican apprentices to this island,
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but can now give you from the pen of one who has had access to the
doctiment, which comprises about ten sheets of paper, the following
synopsis and comments.  The gentleman referred to is well known to
you, and, in cvery respect, worthy of credence, o

“The petition of José Suares Argndin addressed to the local gov-
ernment ot General Concha, in order to supply labor from Africa for
the culture of cane, is being fostered beyond expectation.

. “The petitioner confidently states that the British premier was
convinced some years ago that the system could, without injustice,
draw from Africa 40,000 civilized Africaus, capable of appreciating
the consequence of their engagements, and that everything could be
arranged in a manner satisfactory to those opposed to the slave trade,

“In developing its items we notice that the local governments of
Africa are considered a proper channel to convey a considerable por-
tion of the apprentices’ wages to their familics. In the meantime,
and apparently for this pious end, about one half of the same is with-
held and deliberately applied to the establishment of a bank for the
special benefit of planters, to whom advances will be made on long
credit and at low rates of interest,

¢ Seiior Argudin modestly proposes himself as a fit character to
monopolize the importation of apprentices, on account (he says) of his
peculiar knowledge of African matters, probably derived from his
former share in the slave traflic,

“In o curious sct of by-laws, intended, it seems, to blind British
agents, it issolemnly forbidden to buy these apprentices fromsordid spee-
ulators or lerocious chicfs. This injunction and a few Spanish agents
scattered over a vast extent of African coast are the principal guaran-
tees against abuses,

““The apprentices introduced would be bonnd for ten years, and
would cost the planter $170 each, from which sum $34 would be
appliced to banking or other objects by the importer, unless he should
experience losses ; apprentices sick on landing, or who become so
afterwards, are not remunerated, The full wages of each apprentice
to be four dollars per month ; of this they would receive two dollars,
and the rest would be payable at the expiration of the ten years.

‘““The petitioner discourages the introduction of women, but the
offspring of such as should be imported would be bound to accept
similar contracts at the age of eighteen years, or be forced away {rom
the country, ’

““These items of Argudin’s scheme are not all made public. The
planters at large are only told that the labor they want is forth-
coming, and are therefore encouraged to subscribe the petition which
is now handed about, as may be read in the Diario de la Marina, of
May 13, 4. e., yesterday.”’

It is known that the document-in question has been laid before the
“Junta de lomento,”” which has made a report against the scheme
proposed therein, Also before the .dudiencia, and it now remains
with the University, This institution, it is believed, will also report
against it, hence the circular to procure a large number of signatures
to counteract the reports of the various corporations to which it has
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been referred, I am assured that the collection of signatures is in
progress with considerable success, o

For my })m't I would have no hesitation in asserting that the real
object of the plan is a license to the slave trade.  All cargoes that
may be met at sea by English or Spanish cruisers would be appren-
tices—of these, there would be but few—all others would be slaves
and sold ag such,

I have the honor to remain your obedient servant, _
‘W. H. ROBERTSON.

My, Robertson to Mr. Marcy.
|Bxtract,]

No. 50.] - ConsuLaTr OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, May 29, 18506.

Information has been brought to me this morning that the petition
to the Queen of Spain praying for permission to import African ap-
prentices has obtained already a large number of signatures, the
number of apprentices subseribed for exceeding 80,000, The peti-
tion is soon to be sent to Spain under the especial sanction and recom-
mendation of General Concha.

I have the honor to be, sir, with high respect, your obedient servant.

W. H. ROBERTSON.

Mr. Thomas to Mr., Dobbin.,

DEPARTMENT OF STATE
(] . ’ ()
Washington, June 20, 1850.

Sir: T have the honor to inform you that this department has been
advised by Mr. John (. Willis; the United States commercial agent
at St. Paul de Loando, that ¢“ the slave trade is still carried on to some
extent by vessels sailing from New York, notwithstanding a large part
of the lnglish squadron are on this part of the coast all the time.”’
The commercial agent adds: ““If the United States government wish
to put a stop to the trade they must give such instructions to their
gquadron as will keep them on this part of the coast. The only
United States vessels seen here for the past twelve months are the
“ Dolphin,” ¢ Jamestown,’ and ¢ 8t. Louis,” ncither of which remained
here only (except for) a few days, as they said they must go to Port
Praya for provisions, I have previously endeavored to call the atten-
tion of the government to the want of United States vessels on this
part of the coast to protect our commerce here and at Amtriz, and
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have informed the department that a depot of provisions could easily,

and at small cost, be arranged here,”’
1 am, sir, your obedient servant,
J. A, THOMAS,
Assistant Secretary.

Hon, Joun C. Dopnin,
Secretary of the Navy.

My, Thomas to Mr. MeKeon.

DEPARTMENT oF STATE,
Washington, June 20, 1856.

Sie: Tt is stated in a communication, No. 11, addressed to this de-
partment by John G. Willis, esq., United States commercial agent
at St Paul de Loando, that the slave trade is still carried on by ves-
sels sailing from New York.

An extract from the despatch is herewith enclosed, and also a copy
of a letter addressed by Mr. A, A. Silva to the commander of the
Unitod States ship ¢“St. Louis,”” in which certain statements are made
in regard to a vessel which sailed from New York and was captured
on the African coast by one of the Portuguese squadron, and subse-
quently condemned as a slaver. It is to be hoped that the informa-
tion which is thus furnished may be found useful, in connexion with
such as may be in your own possession, in bringing to justice individ-
uals in New York, who, as theve is reason to believe, are engaged in
the African slave trade,

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
J. A, THOMAS,
; Assistant Secretary.
Joux McKrown, Esq.,
United Stales District Atlorney, New York,

Mr. Dobertson to Mr. Marcy.

No. 56.] ConsurAte or T UNITED STATES,
Havana, June 26, 1850,
Sik : T have the honor to draw your attention to the IHavana Official
(tazette of the 24th instant, (herewith enclosed,) on the first page of
which you will see a circular of the captain general to the various
licutenant governors of the island on the subject of registration of
slaves. A translation of that document I accompany with this. You
will find also in said Jfaper two semi-yearly returns of slaves regis-
tered last year, that is, of slaves for whom tickets or certificates were
issucd ; and as a law requires that all slaves shall be registered and cer-
tificates obtained for them, it is to be presumed that the two statements
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(especially the one for the second half year) profess to give the num-
ber of sluves existing in Cuba in 1855, .

According to those statements there were at the termination of the
first six months 374,806 slaves of all ages, of whom 226,059 were
males, and 148,747 were females, owned by 45,263 proprietors,

The proportion of males and females in the towns, as appears in
said statement, being :

Malos, Females,
Able bodied, upwards of 12 years and under 60... 24,155 28,280
Disabled, upwards of 12 years and under 60....... T 429
Under 12 years...... P PTPPI 1 (1111 7,600

()Ver (;()-0l1-1001-0¢-; noooonb{.'«.oo:u..-onn....otoocnq:-u..;- 1’206 .',?:;:3

33,140 87,551

The proportion in the country upon plantations was as follows:
y 1

: Males. Females,

Able bodied, upwards of 12 and under 60............ 146,731 75,546

Disabled, upwards of 12 and under 60............... 1,650 927

Under T2 years.oov i, 33,870 30,048

Over 60,.uvuiienviiniiiiiiiiiniiicn e, 10,7762 4,875
/

192,919 111,196

Ifor the certificates or tickets of registration issned in those six
months, the government recovered the following amounts:

Cities and towns,

First class at $1 each, 52,435 slaves..ooviivivenniiiiivennn,  §52,435 00
Scecond class at 12} cents each, 18,256 slaves............. 2,282 00

54,717 00

Plantations,
IFirst class only 12} cents each, 304,115 slaves........... 38,014 37}

Totnl """" RN R B R N N RN N N N R N N N N N N N N Y RN NN !)2’731 87%

~According to the returns for the last six months of 1855, the num-
ber of slaves in the island decreased 8,243, notwithstanding births and
importations, to wit: total number 366,663 of all ages, of whom
218,565 were males and 147,998 were females, owned by 49,136 pro-
prictors. The preportion of males and females being—

In cities and towns.

R ‘ ‘ Males, Females.
Able bodied, upwards of 12 years and under 60... 22,616 26,661
Disabled, upwards ot 12 years and under 60......... 967 475

Under 12 years..cooovvsivienneenviininniionnnnenen. 1,083 7,976
Over 60...cvs coviiiiinii i e, 1,021 1,117

r——

31,687 36,128
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Upon plantations.

Males. Femnles.
Able bodied, over 12 years and under 60............ 140,946 75,269
Disabled, over 12 years and under 60......ooovineee. 1,257 627
Under 12 D) ¥ T S 34,150 31,633
10,5625 4,341

OVGI' GO-cqounc!onol'ilooolltooottto $0 0000000 0000t bosthndoN

186,878 111,870

Tor the tickets or certificates issued, the government collected the
following sums:
Cities and towns,

First class at §1 each, 49,177 BIAVES...cvrverevrerrerneeens $49,177 00
Second class at 121 cents each, 18,638 slaves............. 2,329 75
Plantations.

One class only, 12} cents cach, 298,748 slaves............ 7,343 50
Total .......ccovvee R bieiieerenarirenns 38,850 25

92,731 37}

Add amount re('ovelcd in 1st cluss, six months.....cives

Grand total for the year....... Cereeiasiereserresereas 181 581 621

which, added to-the aggregate levied for tickets to emancipados, free
neqr oe.s' Clinese, and Yucalanese, it will be perceived that cédulas are
a lespectablc source of revenue to the government,

Very little reliance can be placed, however, on those statetnents;
it is notorious that a large number of negroes upon plantations are
concealed with or without the connivance of the local authorities, Of
this Gereral Concha seems to be well aware ; hence his strict instruc-
tions in the circular, Hisexcellency appears likewise to be susplmous
that there are large numbers of tickets out for negroes that do not
exist, and which were obtained to prepare for future 1mp01tat10ns from
Afvica. 1 have, some time since, advised you of the sales of newly im-
ported Africans, with their cédulas and fees de bautismo (certificates of
baptisin ;) to this statement the captain general’s words give a quasi
conﬁrmatlon v

General Concha appears to be quite anxious to put down the slave
trade. IHerctofore, 1 do not think that his efforts have wholly met
with success, hereafter, the decrease in the number of hands will
raise their price, and the avarice of the traflickers will drive them to
bring cargoes in spite of all risks. Tf' the new scheme for importing
Afriean appruxtlceq is_approved of by the home government, as it is
said to be by the British government, then there would be no fear of
Cuba being short of laborers—both of the class of slaves and that of
apprentlces.

I have the honor to remain, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
W, H., ROBERTSON.
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[ Translation.

Circular from the governor general of Cuba to the various lieutenant
governors of the island.

OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR, CAPTAIN GENERAL, SUPERINTENDENT GENERAL,
DELEGATE OF TILI; RXCIEQUUR, OF THLE BYER FAITHIFUL ISLAND OF OUBA,~—~
GOVERNMENT SECRETARY’S OFFICE.

I call your attention to the tickets or certificates ( cédulas ) of regis-
tration of slaves, to the end that there be accompanied to your returns
the necessary information and remarks that will enable proper deduc-
tions to be drawn from them,

One of the most important cases that you must make clear with
your explanations is, that of the remarkable difference between the
total or partial result from one half-year to another, or from year to
year, inasmuch as to estimate the same properly it is convenient
to know from what source that difference proceeds; if it is the effect
of some special cause of mortality ; if' industry has assumed some new
directions; where the slaves that occasioned the inerease proceeded
from ; and other analogous circumstances. It is likewise important
to know, as nearly as powlble, what is the proportion betwixt males
and females in cach town, or in each plantation, on an average ; what
is the mean and approumate number of children of the two sc\cs,
the proportion of each sex in the same town or estate; and other
elements conducing to estimate and calculate the movement of this
slave population,

And, lastly, you must explain and determine, with the precmon and
data that you may be able, all and each one of the deductions which
these documents may be used for under their statistical aspect. You
will be particular to state whether you believe that in the register
are included all the negroes of your district ; and, if such be not the
case, make a calculatlon or estimate of such as shall have been con-
cealed, specifying, as nearly as you may, the ages and sexes, and
explaining the means that the parties mterested avail themselves of
for such concéalment, and how those means may be {rustrated. You
must also fix your consideration upon the possibility and modes em-
ployed ; that the tickets or certificates represent a number of slaves
not existing, to prepare the introduction of bozal negroes, and defeat
the action 01 authority, on prosecuting the same. All with the char-
acter of an official report, independently of what, in eash special case,
may be, or have been determined, for purposes appertaining to the
administration of justice.

All these observations you will make, on forwarding the siatement
for the half year that will terminate with this. month, taking, as a
point of comparison, those of the two half-ycarly returns of the last

year,
God preserve you many years,

CONCHA.
Havaxa, June 19, 1836, -
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Mr. Savage to Mr. Marey.

No. 64.] Consurare or rie UNrTen StATES,
Havana, dugust 10, 1856.
SIR: . kS %k K Bt e $ S

But the most important of the reports is, should it prove true, that
the Spanish mail steamer, which arrived from Cadiz on the 6th mstant

brought the assent of the government at Madrid to the proposition: of

Don José Suarez Argudin, for the introduction of 40,000 African ap-

prentices. It is udded that the British government h‘we given their

sanction to the scheme, under the conditions that .s]avmy must be
abolished within the next forty-four years, and that the vessels and
persons to be engaged in the expeditions for bringing the apprentices
shall be lO"‘lStGI‘Gd ‘at the British consulate. Mr. Crawl ord, the Drit-
ish consul frencra] declares the report to be wholly untrue,

I have been informed besides, that a person named Jngelhardt, who
has been for some tine an assistant physician at one of the marine
hospitals of this port, had been engaged by Argudin to go as sur-
geon to the first expedition. I am inclined to believe that the whole
repm't is premature, but will be on the lookout for any correct infor-
mation on the subject, and report it. Don Mariano Torriente, who
was the master-spirit of the scheme for introducing African (11,)[n'cntlceu
in Cuba, died in this city some few days ago. * *

Some da)s since I received a letter (latul 20th ultimo, from Winn
and Chauncey, the Americans confined in the Isle of l’mc,s mlmmmg
me that they had ten days before left the authorities, and that owing
to the orders of the local authority they had not succeeded in leaving
the isle, and their means were exhausted,  Whether they were re-
captured or finally escaped I am ignorant at present, but expect to

learn in a few days.
I have the honor to remain, sir, with great respect, your obedient

servant,
THOS. bAVAGIu, Vice-Consul.

Hon. W L, Marcry,
Secretary of State of the United Slates, TWashington.

Mr. Sovage, vice-consul, to Mr, William L. Marcy.

[Extract.}
No. 66.] Coxsurats or TE UNITED STATES,
Havana, September 3, 18506,
* * * * In my No. 64 (August 10) T advised

you that I had received a letter from Winn and Chauncey, the
American prisoners at the Isle of Pines, informing me that they had
escaped from the authorities and were concealed until an opportunity
should offer to leave the island. I have since received a communica-
tion from a person residing there, dated August 20, to the cifect that
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a month and a half had elapsed since the prisoners left the au-
thoritics, and he had heard no tidings about them since the 22d of
July, which induced him tobelieve that they had succeeded in effect-
ing their escape from the isle, '

L am, siv, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

THOS., SAVAGE.,

My, Savage lo Mr. Marey.

[Extract.]
No. 67.] ConsurnaTe or T UNITED STATES,
- Havana, September 6, 1856,

St [ regret having to report to you that the Americans, William
Winn and Mark Chauncey, who made their escape from the authori-
ties ab the Isle of Pines, after wandering through the isle for forty-
three days without finding the means to put to sea, were retaken and
brought to this city, where they arrvived night before last, they are
now confined in the jail with light chains to their legs, and, so far,
have been kindly treated, 1 presume they will be set to work at stone
cutting.

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

THOMAS SAVAGE.

3

My, Thomas to Mr. McKeon.

[Private.)

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washinglon, September 20, 1856,

Drar Sie: I transmit a copy ol a memorandum relative to the man-
ner in which the African slave trade is prosecuted from New York.
The authenticity of its statements may be relied upon, and the facts
may be fonnd usefiil in conducting prosecutions and in leading to the
detection of thture offenders.

Very truly yours,
J. A. TIIOMAS, Assistant Secrelary.
ITon, Joux McKkow,

United Stales Attorney, New York.

My, Robertson, acting consul, {o Mr, Marcy.

No. TL.] CoxstrArh oF TiE UNITED STATES,
1avana, September 30, 1856,
Ste: In a conversation recently held with General Concha on the
subject of the slave trade, he assured me that there had not been five
hundred negroes broyght from Africa into the island the past year,
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and that all thie reports to the contrary were untrue. I presume the
general had reference to the number officially reported to him, I
would not doubt for a moment that the general believes what he
‘asseris; but the great diserepancy between his statement and the re-
ports of those who seem to have watchod and investigated the subject
with intelligenco is very great, the assertion of tho latter exceeding
25,000. I suppose the ofticial report must be the one relied upon,

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedienf, servant,
W. H. ROBERTSON,

My, Marcy to Mr, McKeon.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, October 3, 1856,

Sir: I enclose with this an abstract of documents, &ec., received
from our consul at Bahia, Brazil, at this department, in relation to
the violation of the United States laws against the slave trade, I
think it will aid you in your efforts to detect the offenders in and
about New York. , ‘

Mr. Figaniere, the Portuguese consul general at New York, has
been suspended by his government, but his restoration will be claimed
if his complicity in the business cannot be established.
~ The papers I send you show his dealing with those engaged in the
traffic, but they do not establish his connexion in the crime. He is
under suspicion, and must expect that his conduct should be closely
scrutinized. He ought to be willing to enter into any explanations
which may be required of him,

I desire to be fair and just to him, but if implicated I hope he will
be detected.

Yours truly,
W. L. MARCY.

Joun McKreon, Esq.,

United States Attorney, New York.

Mr. Blythe, consul, to Mr. Marcy.

No. 86.] ConsurATE or THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, December 6, 1850.

~Sir: The object of .this despatch is merely to inform you that on
the 2d instant a Spanish ship called the ‘‘ Emigrante,”’ of 448 tons,
arrived from Macao, vie Manila and St. Helena, with 320 Chinese
coolies, having, during the passage of 230 days, lost about 80 coolies,
if I have been correctly informed.

I understand that a certain proposition has been laid before the
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captain general to bring here, as apprentices, natives of the Spanish
islands of Annobon and Fernando Po, ¢‘ as one of the means, and the
most efficient one, to civilize the inhabitants of those islands.”’
Whether this proposition will be deemed worthy of consideration is
not known, The journal ¢ La Prensa de la Habana,”’ of this morn-
ing, containg a leader on this subject.

1 have the Lionor to be, sir, very respectfnlly, your obedient servant,
A. K. BLYTHE,

United States Consul.

Mr, Blythe, consul, to Mr, Marcy.

No. 88.] CoNsuLATE oF TiE UNITED STATES,
Havana, December 13, 1856.

Str: In my communication No. 86 I had the honor to inform you
of a certain proposition made to the government of this island by a
person named Don Anselmo M. Meana, one of the objects of which is
to.bring natives of the Spanish African possessions in the Gulf of
Gtuinea (Iernando Po, Annobon, and Corisco) to Cuba as apprentices
for eight years. ,

The whole scheme has appeared in the journal ¢ La Prensa de la
Habana,”’ of the 11th and 12th instant, with editorial remarks against
it. It is believed that the proposition will not be acceded to by the
supreme government at Madrid, and that, even if it were so, that part
relating to the importation of apprentices could not be accomplished
to any extent, the population of those islands being quite small, much
disinclined to labor, and such as would not be induced by any consid-
eration to leave their country.

The project appears to be not worthy of much consideration ; but I
have drawn your attention to it, deeming it my duty to keep the de-
partment advised of all that transpires on the important subject of
laborers upon this island,

The numbers of the ‘“Prensa’’ containing the scheme above men-
tioned will be enclosed herewith. I do not, owing to the great length
of the documents, accompany translations, which may be forwarded
at a future day, should the proposition obtain a favorable hearing
from the Spanish government.

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
A. K. BLYTHI,

United States Consul.
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My, Marcy to Mr. CQushing.

- DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, December 30, 1856,

Stk : T have the honor to enclose herewith, for your consideration,
~a copy of two despatches, Nos, 89 and 90, received from the United

States consul at Havana ; the original enclosure, being a copy of testi-
mony in the case of the disappearance of John Brown, steward of the
bark ¢¢ George D. Smouse,”’ of Boston, on the passage from Mobile
to Havana, is alsc transmitted,

The consul, Mr, Blythe, desires to be instructed as to what amount
of evidence, in such cases, is necessary to authorize a consular officer,
in similar cases, to arrest an individual and send him to the-United
States for trial ; whether the same force of testimony only is required
ag would justify a magistrate in holding to bail in ordinary cases,

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
W. L. MARCY.

Hon. C. Cusming,
Attorney Generdl,

Mr. Hallett to Mr. Marcy.

Orrice oF UNITED STATES ATTORNEY,
Massachusetts District, Boston, Jan. 5, 1857,

Sir: In August, 1856, the schooner ¢ Mary E. Smith,”’ De Cran-
otick, master, was fitted out for the slave trade, in Boston, and es-
caped the warrants I'issued against her, by the imbecility of one of
the revenue cutter officers. She went direct to Africa, took her cargo
of slaves, and was captured by the Brazilian government., The su-
percargo was tried at Bahia, (the captain dying in prison,) and a full
report of that trial, I'learn, was made to your department by the
United States consul. Among the papers found on board were sev-
eral original letters of Manuel Bazilio da Cunha Reis, a partner of
Tiganiere, Reis & Co., of New York, which disclosed the fact of his
one-third ownership of thie ¢ Mary Ii. Smith,”” and of his having given
her despatchi from Boston. I have a hold of this Da Reis, and suf-
ficient evidence here to prove the whole transaction, except his own-
ership and the dispatch he sent from here.  Will you please forward
to me copies of all that relates to Da Cunha Reis in this transaction,
and take measures to obtain from the Brazilian government the orig-
inals in his writing, or bearing his signature.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
B. I, HALLETT,
United States Attorney.
Hon. W. I.. Marcy,
Secrelary of Stale.
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Mr. Maroy to Mr. Hallett,

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Waslington, January 7, 1857,

Sz In reply to your letter of the 5th instant, received this morn-
ing, I enclose herewith the original despatch, dated July 18, 1856, with
the accompanying papers, a list of which is annexed, received at this
department from John 8. Gillmer, United States consul at Bahia, re-
specting the trial at that place of the supercargo of the schooner
¢ Mary E. Smith,”” Cranotick master, which vessel was fitted out
for the slave trade in Boston, sailed for Africa, took in a cargo of
slaves, and was captured by the Brazilian government,.

By articie 2 of the law of Brazil of June b5, 1854, the Brazilian
citizen, wherever he may reside, is to be punished with the penalties
of dn attempt to import slaves. They are importers who are master,
mate or supercargo of a slaver, who gave or received the freight or
vessel destined for the traffic, who are interested in the business, and
who furnish funds for it, or give assistance or favor to it,

On the trial of Vianna and others of the said schooner ‘‘ Mary E.
Smith,’’ with 384 slaves on board, it was proved by the testimony of
Cranotick, the captain, and others, and by the letters of Manuel Basi-
lia da Cunha Reis to Joad José Vianna, the supercargo, (found guilty
and condemned,) to Carvallo & Rocha, of Rio, and Augusto F'. de Alme-
ida, that the sald Da Cunha Reis procured and superintended the fit-
ting out of the ¢‘ Mary E. Smith’’ as a slaver, engaged her captain,
Cranotick, and owned one-third part in her, and at least one-third
part of the slave cargo—Vianna, the supercargo, and Correia being
the other owners. Vianna was taken on the vessel and punished ;
Da Cunha Reis and Correia were denounced as criminals, (reos pro-
nunciados,) but being absent then escaped punishment, but are sub-
ject to it as above mentioned ; if by extradition or otherwise, they come
within the jurisdiction of the court having cognizance of the matter.

Da Cunha Reis, some time ago, barely escaped the consequences of
a charge of being implicated in the fitting out of the ‘“Altira,”’
slaver, and was under bonds as a witness in another case, when he
was discovered in the attempt to escape on board the ¢ Panchita’’ to
the coast of Africa, which vessel was lately seized on suspicion in New
York harbor. _ '

Consul Gillmer suggests that upon the authenticated copies of doc-
uments received in evidence on the trial of Vianna in the Brazilian
court, forwarded with his despatch of the 18th of July, (herein en-
closed) the United States district attorney may recover from the sureties
the amount of the forfeited bonds touching the register of the schooner
“Mary E. Smith,”” and that Andrew Wilson, the mate of the said
schooner, who left her on the coast of Africa, can doubtless, if found,
give most important testimony as relates to the vessel, and also to Da
Cunha Reis, ‘ ;

I also enclose you a copy of a letter addressed to the United States
district attorney at New York on the 3d of October last,* transmit-

* See this letter in its chronological order.

H. Ex, Doc. {——4



50 AFRICAN SLAVE TRADE.

ting an abstract of the documents received from Mr. Gtillmer relat-
ing to this case, ; ,

I will thank you, as soor as you have read the enclosed papers, and
taken sucn extracts from them as you need, to return them to this
department ;* and if you will, at the same time, send a particular
description of the original papers used in the trial at Bahia, which it
might be necessary for you to have, immediate steps will be taken to
procure them from the Brazilian government.

. I am, sir, your obedient servant,
W. L. MARCY.

List of papers enclosed.

Mr. Gillmer to Mr. Marcy, No. 35, dated 18th July, 1856, with five
accompaniments, viz : '

No, 1. Authenticated documents respecting the slaver ‘¢ Mary E.
Smith.’”’ Bahia, July 10, 18586,

No. 2. Translation of interrogatory of Vincent D. Cranotick, mas-
ter of said slaver, and sentence of the auditor of marine. Bahia,
July 18, 1856.

No. 3. Authenticated copies of sundry letters respecting the said
slaver. Bahia, July 15, 1856.

No. 4. Translation of copies of sundry letters on same subject. Ba-
hia, July 18, 1856.

No. 5. Authenticated copy of letter of Ladislan Percira Pinto, scri-
vener of the auditory of marine, same subject. Bahia, July 18, 1856.

And onc newspaper, ¢ Corrieo Mercantil,”’ of June 10, 1856,

Myr. Willis to Mr. Marcy.
(Extract.]

-U. 8. CoMMERCIAL AGENCY,
Loando, Junuary 9, 1857.

SIR * * * * % * * *

The slave trade on this coast is now flourishing. It is said that

five vessels bave lately left with slaves. The Congo river and its

neighborhood have been the headquarters, and American gold is now

quite plenty there, having been brought in these vessels which clear

from New York-—some for Cape de Verde and some for Loando, but
which seldom come here,

Among the suspected vessels are the ¢ Spirit of 1776,”" ¢“ Globe,’’

‘“ Reindeer,”” and ‘‘N. Haun.”” Some correspondence and papers

were found at Benguela some time since, such as account sales, &c.,

* Not returned.
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&ec., of shipments of slaves, which caused a number of persons living
there to abscond, It is now said that two of them took passage in

the schooner *“ Flying liagle,”’ bound to New York.
* * x - ok * * * *

Very respectlhlly, your obedient servant,
JOHN G. WILLIS.

Hon. WiLriaym L, Maroy,
Secretary of State, U. S. 4.

Mr. Cushing to Mr. Marcy.

ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFIOE,
February 12, 1857,

Stk: Your communication of the 30th of December, enclosing a
letter from Mr. Blythe, consul of the United States in Havana, sub-
mits a question as to the amount of evidence on which a consul in a
foreign port is authorized to arvost a person, and send him to the
United States for trial; which question, it is plain, extends to the
broader inquiry of the power and the duty of a consul in regard to
crimes committed within his jurisdiction by citizens of the United
States. ;

We may omit from the inquiry the case of consuls in China and
Turkey, who, by statute, exercise judicial authority respecting the
acts of Americans in those countries.—(Act of August 11, 1848.)

Consuls in tho Barbary States are invested by treaty with judicial
authority., But that authority has not been expressly affirmed by
statute.  And although Iigypt certainly, and perhaps Tunis and
Tripoli, may be regarded as dependencies of Turkey, and so compre-
hended by the'statute, yet so much cannot be said of Morocco, Muscat,
Japan, nor of sundry other countries out of the pale of international
law of Christendom. ‘

‘Leaving these countries to be spoken of in the sequel, my first
object will be to consider the criminal jurisdiction of consuls in the
countries of Christendom—-that is, their general criminal authority.

Mr. Blythe refers, not without reason, to the absence of any satis-
factory information on this point. There is nothing explicit regarding
it in any act of Congress. Indeed, the only provision of possible refer-
ence to it is & phrase in one of the acts making it the duty of consuls.
to ““discountenance insubordination by every means within their
power’’—meaning, of course, insubordination among seamen on board
merchant ships of the United States, ,

We are thus remitted to tho general rules of our own public law
and of that of nations, including treaties, for the desired information.

Consuls are not by our law judges; or, to use the languange of Mr.
Justice Ware, ““no portion of the judicial power of the United States
is conferred on consuls,”’—(The William Harris, Ware’s Rep., pp.
367,879.) In so far asthey determine the civil controversies of their
countrymen, they do it only as arbiters ; and in criminal matters their
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au’lth()rity is one of police only, not of judicial decision.—(Kent's Com.,
vol 1, p. 42. ,

Tl]i:sI policZa authority, indeed, goes no further than detention of an
accused person, or at most the examination of the case to sec whether
there be cause of detention. And even then it applies only to matters
ocourring on shipboard, for the local jurisdiction is complete as to
things occurring on shore. In such matters the consul may intervene
voluntarily, and sometimes he should do so officially, in the interest
of his countrymen. But he cannot exercise jurisdiction. The question
of his jurisdiction regarding criminal acts occurring on shipboard is
all, therefore, which it is profitable here to consider,

As to such acts, it is obvious, in the first place, that the power of
the consul cannot be greater than the power of his country. Hence,
éhe preliminary question is of the penal scope of the laws of the United
States, ;

That is defined by statute, It comprehends piracy wherever com-
mitted,  The pirate is hostig humant generis, and triable in any country.

Beyond this, it comprehends acts dono *‘upon the high seas, or in
any river, haven, basin, or bay, out of the jurisdiction of any particular
State.”’—(Act of April 30, 1790, sec. 8.) ~ All such acts committed by
Americans are of the jurisdiction of the courts of the United States,
and may come before a consul in some form requiring action or direc-
tion an his part. Thus, if' u critie be committed on the high seas, the
master may detain the party for trial ; on touching at a port the party
may apply to the consul for discharge ; and it may be the duty of the
consul either to grant or refuse the discharge; and in the latter case
he may have occasion to call on the local authorities to aid in detaining
the party, or in providing to send himn home for trial, And the same
series of incidents may occur in regard to acts happening on shipboard
while the ship is actually in a foreign port, but not falling within the
local jurisdiction.—(See opinion of September 6, 1856.)

The power of the consul is to refuse to discharge, or at most to
detain, or call on the master or 1he local authorities or a man-of-war
of his country to detain, a person so charged with crime.

The new ‘¢ consular regulations’’ say that ¢“if a citizen of the
United States be charged with a criminal offence alleged to have been
committed at sea, on board of an American vessel, (or on such vessel
in port under such circumstances as give jurisdiction to the courts of
the United States,) it will be the duty of the consular officer to require
that the individual so accused be delivered to him to be sent home for
trial.”’—(Nos. 384, 386.) All that is but defention, by or at the
instance of the consul, for the purpose of trial in the United States.

But, in order to determine whether he shall detain or require deten-
tion, the consul must inquire into, and in some sense judge and decide,
the question of culpability, That is true.

In what manner and by what rule shall he inquire and judge? I
think he must of necessity inquire in the usual way—that is, by
hearing testimony, not as a judicial officer to be sure, but as consul.
As to judgment—thatis, deciding whether to detain or not to detain—
he must have large discretion. 1 agree with Mr. Blythe in thinking
that he need not detain upon such mere suspicion of guilt as would
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justify an examining magistrate in holding to bail within the United
States, There is no judge at hand to supervise the propriety of such
detention by writ of habeas corpus, or to admit to bail on motion.
The consul, in order to induce him to detain, may well require stronger
probable cause of belief in guilt than an examining magistrate. He
may do this in the interest of the party. And he may do it in the
interest of the government, which must defray the expenses of the
getention and custody of the party and of his conveyance to the United
tates.

If a crime be committed on board of an American vessel on the high
seas, the ascertainment of it, and the security of the person of the
assumed criminal, belong, in the first instance, to the master. He is
the legal superior of all on board, and has a quasi-magisterial authority
to maintain order, repress crimes, and provide for their ultimate pun-
ishment by law,

The received text-books, and the occasional adjudications touching
this point, do but imperfectly exhibit the true extent and nature of the
master’s authority in this respect, in consequence of the subject having
been too generally considered from the single point of view of the degree
of power of the master in the repression or summary punishment of
insubordination on the part of seamen. In secking to measure the
degree and quality of his coercive power in this respect, they have
adopted the dictum of Casaregis, to the effect that he has no jurisdie-
tion over the crew, but only a sort of economic authority or discipiine,
like that of a parent over his childrén, schoolmaster over his scholars,
and lord over his slaves or servants.—(lisc., 136, No. 14.) DBut
every one sees that we have here analogy only, and that analogy con-
fined to the single fact of the chastisement of a seaman—and analogy,
even there, which in some respects goes too far, and in others not far
enough.—(Perkins’s Abbott on Shipping, p. 234, note.) Accordingly,
when the case in hand has appeared to be one of excess of authority,
courts are prone to deny that his power is coextensive with the
paternal power.—(Bangs vs. Little, Ware’s Rep., p 506.) Then,
again, if the case be one of justifiable severity by the master, the court
has to look beyond the range of a father’s or schoolmaster’s power for
his justification.— (United States vs. Hunt, ii Story’s R., p. 120.)
So-that one learned judge, while properly denying to the master any
Jjudicial authority, and saying that he is no prefectus morum, qnotes,
in the next breath, for approbation, the saying that he has the power
of discipline pro corrigenda male morata vita., And another learned
judge, with similar doubts as to the supposition of the master’s authority
being militaryin any sort, yet concedes that it is *‘of a peculiarcharacter,
and drawn from the usages and customs and necessities of the maritime
naval service.”” In all these speculations, the courts appear to have
disregarded that most necessary of all necessities, the police authority
of the master, as illusirated in the condition of things on board of a
ship engaged in the transportation of passengers, and especially emi-
grants in large bodies. In such ships, it becomes plain that the master
is neither a parent nor a pedagogue, but the only possible present rep-
resentative of the public authority of his country.

Our law books commonly quote from the notabilia of Roccus a
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dictum on this point, which Roccus himself quotes from D. Juan de
Hevia Bolanos, to wit, the statement that ¢ the master of the ship has
power to confine offenders in the veseel, even though they are not
mariners, for the purpose of delivering them up to the competent
authority of the territory or district nearest to the place where the
offence was committed. Or he may confine them in the port where
the ship is to be unladen, in order to have them punished.’”’— (Inger-
soll’s Roceus, p. 21.) And this all admit to be good law,

The dictum itself is founded by Bolanos on the text of the Partidas,.—
(Part 6, tit. 8 and 9.) The proposition in Bolanos is stronger than
it appears in Roccus ; for the former says that the master may arrest
any delinquent aunque sea clerigo—that is, not amenable to the secular
jurisdiction.—(Curia Filipica, lib. iii, ¢. 4) And Dominguez, in
commenting on this passage, refers to numerous authors who have
discussed and settled the power of the master in this respect.—(Illus-
tracion a la Curia Filipica, tom. ii, p. 110.) ,

And it may happen that the power of the master will, by force of the
same circumstances, devolve on the mate; as if the master become in-
sane, or shall himself commit a crime of aggravated character.—(1bid.)

Now, the authority of the consul in the premises necessarily follows
from that of the master. For if the offence be committed in port, or
80 soon as the ship arrives in port, it becomes the duty of the consul,
by express provision of statute, to reccive and hear the complaints of
the ship’s company.—(Act of July 20, 1840, sec. 16.) And, on the
other hand, it is the right of the master, in such circumstances, to
demand the assistance ot the consul, who is to advise, aid, and, if need
be, direct the master as to the further detention of the party as a
criminal, and his immediate transmission to his country. - These things
the consul does officially, in the exercise of hig authority, (not judicial,)
and as the local ministerial agent of the United States,

If the offence be committed in port, and the local authorities do not
take jurisdiction, then also the consul is to advise and aid the master
in the disposition of the party, in order to his transmission io the
United States for trial, ,

In neither case does the consul possess any criminal jurisdiction.
His obligations and his powers go no further than to inquire, in order
to decide, what his duty is in the given case ; to take evidence of the
facts ; to collect and see to the preservation of documents and material
proofs; to draw up a statement of the facts, to be reported to his govern-
ment; and, if in his judgment the facts require it, to see to the further
detention of the party, and his transportation in custody to the United
States.—(Consular regulations, Nos. 308-315.)

These particulars of the duty of consuls are not expressly defined
by statute. But they belong to the very function of consuls by the
law of nations, and by the practice of Christendom.—(De Clercq et
De Vallat, Guide Pratique, pp. 366, 366.) And in thus detaining
criminals, the consul does not usurp any judicial authority. He has
no judicial authority, His acts are ministerial only, such as any min-
isterial officer may lawfnlly perform, and which he pertorms of course,
as the only ministerial officer of competent authority at hand invested

with general powers as such,
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Nay, in the absence of a magistrate, any private person may
arrest a criminal for the purpose of taking him before a magistrate.—
(ii Hawk. P. C., ch, 12.) And to this question it is quite immate-
rial how far off the magistrato may be. The maritime jurisdiction of
the courts of the United States is independent of space. It is just as
perfect in the remotest seas of Europe or Asia as it is in sight of the
harbor of Boston or New York. ‘

The foregoing remarks apply more especially to the case of consuls
in the governments of Christendom having treaty relations with the
United States. Those of China and Turkey stand on their peculiar
footing. As to those in other countries, it were to be wished that some
legislative provision existed, defining their powers. While in those
other countries our consuls have no power to judge, on the other hand
we cannot recognize the local jurisdiction as we do in Europe and
America, or in Asiatic or African countries dependent on Europe.
To the ports, at least, of those other coungries it would seem that the
criminal jurisdiction of the federal courts extends, Crimes committed
on board our ships in such ports are not committed within the juris-
diction of any State recognized by us as such. And parties commit-
ting crimes there, on shipboard, may, in my opinion, be detained by
the consular agent for remission to the United States.

I am, very respectfully,
C. CUSHING.

Hon., W. L. Marcy,
Secretary of State.

My, Pike to Mr. Cass.

No. 9.] CoNSULATE 0% THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Qffice of -Oporto, March 12, 1857.

Str: A circumstance has recently transpired here which I consider
my duty to communicate to your department, as it might be of some
importance in detecting persons who are now fitting out vesselsin ports
of the United States for the purpose of engaging in the slave trade.

I have suspicions that many persons engaged in this illegal trade
are connected with merchants doing business in this city. ,

.. On the 31st of May, 1856, a small topsail schooner, of clipper build,
named the “ Locomotora,’’ entered the river Duro, with the Portu-
guese flag flying at her masthead. She reported herself at the cus-
tom-house of Oporto as having left New York in the beginning of
May with part of a cargo of logwood, (about 40 tons,) which was
shipped by D. Gouvea Leal, and consigned to Bernardo José Machado,
of this city. In the papers attached to her manifest Antonio Roiz
Vieira was stated to be t{w owner, the master’s name was Joad da
Cunha Ferreira, and u crew of six men, all suspicious characters.
Soon after her arrival it was reported that she was an American ves-
sel, and that it was the intention of the consignee to place her in the

slave trade. -
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I immediately made a careful inquiry, and found that she had been
purchased in New York, and that on her arrival the captain had pre-
sented the necessary documents, furnished by the Portuguese consul
in New York city, and that a new register had been granted by the
Portuguese government., Still, from information received by the
authorities ot the place, they saw fit to detain the vessel in this port
till the 30th of December last, when she was released, and cleared for
London, via Setubal, in hallast, under the command of a Portuguese
called Souza. It is said that after she passed the bar of Oporto she
steered in the direction of Setubal, the place of her destination, but
that she afterwards returned, and passed the Oporto bar, and lay to
opfosite a small town on the seaboard, called Leca, where an indi-
vidual, supposed to be a Frenchman, was put on board of her, and,
after showing the crew (seven in number) instructions, which he said
he had received from the consignee of the schooner, declared that thence-
forward he was captain, and that they were to cbey him; it was then
determined that they should sail for ‘¢ Povoa de Varzim '’ to take in
provisions, and then make for the coast of Africa to carry on the slave
trade. The captain intimated to the crew his intentions of resisting
this Frenchman, but after a fruitless resistance they were obliged to
yield, as he appeared armed, and threatened with instant death who-
ever refused to obey him. A storm, however, arose, and the schooner
could not go to *‘Povoa de Varzim,’’ and in the meantime part of the
crew arose against the stranger, killed him, and threw him overboard,
and then steered the vessel for Setubal. In a short time the schooner
arrived at Setubal, and was examined by the authorities, but nothing
was found in her to justify the suspicions about her, The captain,
however, showed signs of disquietude, and gave contradictory answers
about the schooner and his voyage. After a few days some of the
sailors deserted or were sent away by the captain; it appears that
these men were the murderers of the Frenchman, and in place of them
other sailors from Setubal were taken on board. The ballast she had
on board was taken out, and she was searched a second time, but still
nothing was found to justify the suspicions about her. She then took
in a cargo of salt and rice for Oporto. Her captain and part of the
crew have been ordered into custody, and have been examined. It is
said they were ordered into custody by reason of the revelations which
the deserted sailors made when they left the schooner. She still re-
mains guarded by Portuguese troops, and it appears that the captain
has made some important revelations I have written to the United
States vice-consul at Setubal to furnish ime with the particulars on the
subject, as it is reported that the captain has given the names of many
parties, naturalized Portuguese citizens and others residing in the
United States, who are said to be concerned in this vessel. I have
been informed that she is really owned by Barboza, merchant,
doing business in New York city, and that this gentleman is in part-
nership with persons in this city of Oporto. Soon atter her detention
in this port by the authorities, two seamen who were discharged from
her applied to me for assistance, and one of them presented an Ameri-
can protection which did not agree with the description of his person.
Upon questioning these men closely, they confessed to me that they
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had resided a long time in the State of Louisiana, and that one was
a Frenchman, and the other a Swede by birth, and that the protection
which had been presented had been purchased of a discharged sailor
in Baltimore. I immediately refused them assistance, and retained
the protection, and sent the men away. I herewith send you copies
of this document, No, 1, also a protection from the Irench consul of
this place, No. 2, which the man, in his hurry to get away, left with
.me., So soon as I receive further information relative to the ¢¢ Loco-
motora,”’ I shall communicate it to your department.

I have the honor to be, sir, your obedient servant,
NICHOLAS PIKE,

Consul United States of America.

Hon. SECRETARY OF STATE,
Washington, D. C.

No. 1.
No. 84.] Protection.

I, A. Jeffrey, deputy collector of the district and port of Norfolk
and Portsmouth, in the State of Virginia, do hereby certity that
Andrew Wilson, an American seaman, aged 23 years, of the height
of five feet six inches, of a dark complexion, black hair, hazel eyes,
born in the city of New Orleans, State of Louisiana, has this day
produced to me proof, in the manner directed in the act entitled *‘ An
act for the relief and protection of American seamen ;”’ and pursuant
to said act I do hereby certify that the said Andrew Wilson is a citi-
zen of the United States of America.

In witness whereof, I have hereunto set my hand and seal of office

this 3d day of March, one thousand eight hundred and fitty-

(L. s.] BIX
' A. JEFFREY,
Deputy Oollector.”

No. 2.

ConsvrAT DE FRrANCE, A PorTo,
Porto, le 27 Octobre, 1856.

Bon pour embarquer le nommé André Vissali, marin Francais né en-

corse.
CAVEL
[sEAL.] Le Consul de France.
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Mr, Cass to Mr., McKeon,

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, March 217, 18517.

Sir: I transmit a cop{'of a niemorandum and of certain official
papers yesterday left with me by Lord Napier, her Britannic Majesty’s
minister to this government, from which it appears that strong sus-
picions, at least, may be entertained that the brigantine, ‘¢ N, Hand,"’
which sailed from New York, in June last, with a cargo of provisions,
ostensibly for the relief of the sufferers from famine at the Cape de
Verde islands, subsequently repaired to the coast of Africa and took on
board a cargo of slaves. 1f you should be of the opinion that these
documents afford sufficient ground for proceedings against the owner
of that vessel or other parties upon a charge of violating the laws
against the African slave trade, you will take that course.

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
LEWIS CASS.

JouN McKxon, Esq.,
Attorney of the United States
Jor the southern district of New York.

Memorandum left by Lord Napier, March 26, 1857.

By registry at the custom-house at New York, the N. Hand, at the
date of her voyage, June 9, 1856, was owned by George W. Rosevelt,
shipwright, of that city. A portion of her cargo destined for the
relief of the suffering population of the Cape de Verde islands was
shipped on behalf of the Corn Exchange Co., of New York, by Mr.
Peter Rice. Another portion wasshipped by Joan C. Abrea, Figanere,
and Figanere, Reise £ Co.

The vessel has not returned to New York. A strong appeal on
behalf of the Cape de Verde people was made by the Portuguese consul,
and the alleged participation of that functionary in the slave trade
prompts the suspicion that he was concealing a nefarions design under

the cloak of a charitable office.

Mr. Hallett to Mr. Coss

Orrice or THE UNITED STATES ATTORNKY,
Massachusetts District, March 31, 1857.

Sir: At the present term of the district court of the United States
for this district an indictment has been found against M. B. da Canha
Reis, for having fitted out, at the port of Boston, August 25, 1855, the
American schooner ‘“ Mary 18, Smith,’”” for the purpose of employing
her in the slave trade. This vessel sailed direct from Boston (having
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evaded the officers sent to arrest her) to the coast of Africa, where she
receivod her cargo of slaves and proceeded to Brazil, She was there
captured, and by the process=of the judicial authorities at Bahia the
supercargo, Joad José Vianna, who sailed in her from Boston, with
her crew and others implicated, were tried and most justly condemned
and sentenced by the tribunals under the very stringent laws of the
Brazilian empire against the slave trade. . ;

Her master, Vincent D. Cranotick, having been first interrogated
and implicated the offenders; died in prison at Bahia. These judicial
proceedings were transmitted to the Department ot State at Washing-
ton, by copies verified at Bahia, July 18, 1856, by W. 8. Gillmer,
United States consul there, from which it appears that among other
original papers found on board of the ¢ Mary K. Smith,”” or in the
possession of' the master or supercargo, were four letters, indiented as
follows in the consular copies: I

One marked I', dated Loando, April 21, 1855, signed Guilherme
José da Silvia Cornein, addressed to Mr. Joad José Vianna.

One marked A, dated New York, September 18, 1855, signed M. B.
da Cunha Reis, addressed to Messry, Carvalho & Rosha.

One marked B, dated New York, October 2, 1855, from the same to
the same. & o

One marked C, dated New York, October 2, 1855, signed M. B. da
Cunha Reis, addressed to Mr. José Augusto Ferreira de Almeida,

One marked D, dated New York, October 2, 1855, sigued M. B. da
Cunha Reis, addressed to Messrs, Carvalho & Rosha, Rio de Janeiro.

I have to request that you will cause to be addressed to the tribunal
at Bahia, or the proper officers of the Brazilian empire, through the
American consul at Bahia, or by such agency as may be most appro-
priate, a request that, in order to enable the courts of the United
States to bring to justice the principal offender, M. B. da Cunha Reis,
the originals of the above-described letters be taken from the archives
or files of the court at Bahia, and be transmitted to you to be used in
the trial of Da Cunha Reis, under the indictment here found against
him. ' .

To designate these letters more specifically, I herewith enclose a
copy of each, and request that copies of said letters may be transmitted
to Bahin in your despatch. ‘

The friendly disposition of the Brazilian government to co-operate
with the United States in the punishment of these offenders is emi-
nently shown in the promptness and vigor with which the prosecutions
-relating to the ¢ Mary . Smith,”” and all concerned in her illegal
voyage, were conducted. And to that end, you will please commu-
nicate, with the request for the transmission of the original papers,
the fact that, in a criminal process in the United States courts, no
capias, however verified, nor depositions, can be used against the
party as evidence to go to the jury. The actual signature of M. B,
da Cunha Reis must be produced in court to insure conviction, and no
substitute can be oﬂ'ere({ in evidence. His handwriting and the em-
ploymeut of the vessel can be proved here, it-the original letters are
transmitted, and after being used for that purposs they can be restored
to the authorities at Bahia, if desired,
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It is very desirable that these originals should be received here as
speedily as is possible, it being necessary to detain witnesses here, who
are in tho custody of the court, to testify to the employment of the
¢“Mary 15, Smith,”” in taking her cargo of slaves from the coast of
Africa.

With high respect, your obedient servant,
B. F. HALLETT,
United States Atlorney.

ITon. Liwrs Cass, '

Secretary of State.

Mr, Cass to Mr. Trousdale.

No. 35.] DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, April 8, 1857.

Stk : I transmit herewith a copy of a letter from the United States
district attorney for the district of Massachusetts, B I'. Hallett, esq.,
of the 31st ultimo, requesting the aid of the department in procuring
from the judiciul tribunal at Bahia the originals of certain papers
which are carefully described by Mr. Hallett, and which are necessary
for the proper prosecution of Da Cunha Reis, now under indictment
and awaiting trinl for having fitted out at the port of Boston, in
August, 1855, the American schooner ¢ Mary . Smith,”” for the
purpose of employing her in the slave trade.

In order that no possible mistake may be made as to the identical
papers referred to, Mr, Hallett has taken the precaution tosend hither
copies of those papers, transcripts of which are herewith furnished.
You will perceive, also, how strennously Mr, Hallett insists upon the
absolute necessity of having the original document in order to insure
a conviction, stating that no authentication, however formal, will
supply the place of the originals, ,

You will please to lay this request at once before the Brazilian gov-
ernment, and solicit, in the name of the government of the United
States, the prompt and favorable aid of the proper anthorities in
carrying out the desired arrangement; for, having manitested such
laudable energy as she has done in prosecuting before her own courts
some of the partics involved in this very case, it is not doubted that
Brazil will promote, by all lawful means, the conviction of others who
have violated her own laws and those of the United States for the
suppression of the infamous traffic in slaves.

You may propose to the government to give a receipt, over your
official seal und signature, for the papers, and you may pledge the
faith of the government for their nafe return to the Brazilian govern-
ment unless they should be lost by the casualties of the sea in their
trausit from shore to shore. It is suggested, in anticipation of any
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proposed objection to relinquishing the original documents, that as
they have subserved their legitimate purpose in Brazil, authenticated
copies placed on the files there would preserve the integrity of the
judicial records, without obstructing the due course of justice in this
quarter by declining to comply with the foregoing request.
I am, sir, your obedient servant,
LEWIS CASS.

WiLLram TrouspALe, lsq.,
e, , &e., de.

AMr. Cass to Mr. Gillmer.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, April 8, 18567.

Sir: Herewith 1 transmit a copy of a despatch of this date, ad-
dressed to our minister at Rio de Janeiro, and covering a copy of a
communication of the 318t ultimo from B. F. Hallett, esq., district
attorney of the United States for the district of Massachusetts, in
relation to the procuring trom the proper authorities of certain original
documents which are indispensable to the prosecution of Da Cunha
Reis, on the charge of having fitted out the American schooner ‘¢ Mary
Ii. Smith’’ for the slave trade. A copy of Mr. Hallett’s letter is also
enclosed herewith, »

Asit is possible that, upon receiving the application of Mr. Trous-
dale for the delivery of the documents adverted to, the imperial gov-
ernment may decline to interfere with the local tribunals ot the pro-
vince, and may, indeed, refer the request to those tribunals for their
spontaneous action in the premises, the subject is thus directly brought
to your cognizance in order that no time may be unnecessarily lost by
w contingency which may be provided for.

You will be pleased, thercfore, to communicate with the local tribu-
nal haviug jurisdiction in the premises, for the purpose of learning
whether it possesses competent authority to surrender the documents
without awaiting the permission or direction of’ the imperial govern-
ment.  If such authority be claimed, you will pursue the same line of
conduct with the local tribunal which has been laid down for Mr,
Trousdale’s guidance in submitting the proposition to the imperial
government, If, on the contrary, the principal tribunal be unable to
proceed without permission from the capital, you might suggest that
time would be saved by having the anthenticated copies of the pupers
taken, in anticipation of a favorable decision of the imperial govern-
ment ; 8o that, when that decision arrives at Bahia, the copies may be
immediately substituted for the originals, and the latter be forwarded
at once to the United States, you giving the receipt and pledge (if
they will be accepted) which Mr. Trousdale has been authorized to
give; otherwise forwarding the object in view by your personal influ-
ence and attention in all proper modes.
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In this connexion, I take pleasure in expressing to you the satisfac-
tion experienced by the department in remarking the zeal and intelli-
gence which have characterized your oflicial conduct and correspond-
ence during the prosecution of the affair of the Mary K. Smith"
before the Brazilian authorities, and with this department,

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
LEWIS CASS.

Mr. Cass to My, Trousdale.

No. 36.] DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, April 9, 1857,

Sir: Referring to my despatch of yesterday, I have to acquaint you
that a copy of that communication has been sent to John S, Gillmer,
esq., United States consul at Bahia.

It has been thought not improbable that, in reply to the request
which you are instructed in yesterday’s despatch to make, the Brauzil-
ian government may decline to interfere in an affair which may be
regarded as appertaining, exclusively to the jurisdiction of the local
tribunal, and that consequently you may be referred to that tribunal
for its determination in the premises.

Anticipating such a contingency, Mr. Gillmer has been directed to
apply to the court at Bahia for the purpose of learniug whether it has
authority to deliver up the papers in question, witheut the permission
or order of the imperial government. If that right may be exerecised,
Mr. Gillmer is instructed to receive and receipt for the papers, in the
manner indicated to you ; and by this course much time may be saved.
Should this plan not receive the favorable consideration ot the local
tribunal, Mr. Gillmer will, under his instructions, do all in his power
to promote the attainment of the same object, under your application
to the imperial government,

1 am, sir, your obedient servant,

LEWIS CASS.
Wirriam TrouspaLe, sq., de., dc., de.

Mr. Appleton to Mr., Woodbury.

DEPARTMENT oF STATE,
Washington, April 15, 1857,

Sir: A copy of the letter addressed to this department on the 31st
ultimo by your predecessor, B. I'. Haltett, esq., has been sent to the
United States minister at Rio de Janeiro, and to the United States
consul at Bahia, with urgent instructions relative to procuring from
the proper authorities, and sending to this department, certain origi-
nal papers which Mr. Hallett particularly designated as indispensable
to the prosecution of M. B. da Cunha Reis, now under indictment for
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having fitted out at the port of Boston, in August, 18565, the Ameri-
can schooner ‘¢ Mary I, Smith’’ for the purpose of employing her in
the slave trade. You will be informed of the issue of the instructions
given to theso officers as soon as the departinent hears from them.

A copy having been sent to the United States minister at Rio de
Janeiro, I return, herein, the translation of the papers above referred
to, received with Mr. Hallett’s letter, in order that it may be placed
with the documents which accompanied the letter addressed to him on
the Tth of January last.*

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
JOHON APPLETON,
Assistant Secretary.

Myr. Blythe to Mr. Cass.

No, 24, CoNsuLATE GENERAL OF THE UNTTED STATES
. " )
Havana, April 24, 1857,

Sie ;I take the liberty to call your especial and irnmediate attention
to the act of March 2, 1803, authorizing sales of American vessels to
American citizens in foreign ports, and granting to such vessels, after
transfer of ownership, the benefits of vessels of the United States under
certain provisions. It is apparent to me that by a defect or omission
in this law the flag of' the United States may be invoked to give pro-
tection to an unlawful traffic.

You are awarce that by statutory provisions all American vessels,
in order to be ~ntitled to the use of our flag, must be registered ; one
of the prerequisites of registration is a bond from the owners that
she will not violate the laws of the United Rtates.

Where a vessel hag couformed to the laws, obtained her register,
sails to a foreign port, and is there gold to an American owner, the
law to which I refer still gives her the protection of’ government.

The sale being legal, does not the obligation of the original owners
for her lawful conduct cease upon the transfer of property ?

The register is not taken from such a vessel, but with the bill of
sale and sea letter (the latter farnished by the consul) she again goes
to sea under her new owners.

The sea letter is given to her to enable her to reach a port in the
United States, where she is required to give up her register and sca
letter, and in other respects to conform to the laws,

But from the time she thus leaves the foreign port, or rather from
the time of the transfer of ownership, she is without bonds, and can
go where she pleases, subject only to the risks of detection and cap-
ture.  Tho consul at the port where such a sale is effected, should
certainly have the power to exact a bond requiriug. such_yvoessel to
report herself' at a port in the United States without delay ; otherwise,

* See the letter in its chronological order.
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during the time of her exemption from the penalties of a bond, she
may abuse the flag of the United States,

My attention has been drawn to this matter by recent sales of that
character here. 1 know of no positive abuse of the privilege allowed
by the before-mentioned act of Congress, but there are many rumors
extant of slave trading; and, without -any information that would
justify me to act, I fear that the act referred to has been or will be
used as an auxiliary to vessels in reaching the coast of Africa. -

I have given a construction of the law of 1803, which appears to me
correct. I, however, very much desire information on that subject.
I believe there is no other act of Congress on the subject of the sale of
American vessels in foreign ports; but the very heavy pressure of
office business at this season of the year is such as to preclude me
from a thorough examination of the matter. If there iz anything
else upon it, I would be pleased to be referred to it.

The course I have pursued in permitting the register to remain
with the vessel, after sule, is clearly indicated in forms Nos. 92 and
101, appended to the regulations prescribed by the FPresident for
consular officers,

An early reply to this communication will much oblige me.

I have the honor to be, sir, with the highest respect, your obedient

servant,
A. K. BLYTHE,
Consul General.

Hon. Lewis Cass,
Secretary of Slate, of the United States, Washington.

“FORM No. 92.
¢« Consul's certificate given o master when ship's register is relained enfire in the consulate,

“ ConsULATE oF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AT
¢

H
e ey 18

‘1, the undersigned, consul, &c , &c., do hereby certify that the — , of , Was
sold at this port on the ~ day of , unto s & citizen of tho United
States, and that ——— late master, has this day duly received tho crew list and
shipping articles of the said ship.

*“ [ further certify that the registor of the said ship, deposited by tho said master, has been
retained in this consulate,

“ Given, &ec.

P

“FORM No. 100.

*t Application of a citizen of the Unilted States for a sea leller.

. e 18—,

3 "JS T}
“U. 8. Consulat
“Sir: The undersignoed, a citizon of the United States of America, residing in
State of » temporarily sojourning in y having this day purchased the American
ship y Of ———, of the burden of tons, respectfully solicits the requisite sca
letter and papers identifying the undersigned as the owner, and that will enablo the said ship
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to romain under and woar the flag of the United States of Amoriea. Said sea loltor and
papers will bo required until such time as tho said ship may arrive within the jurisdiction of
o colloctor of tho ctistoms of the said United States, authorized to roceive the samo, and to
issvo in liou thereof a now register or such papers granted by the laws of the United States
to tho owners of American vessels purchased in foreign countries by citizens of the United
States of Amorica.

“ Respectfully, your obedient servant,

1L U ——
'

- ‘*“ FORM No. 10].

“ Sea letler,

“To all to whom these papers shall come or may concern, greeting.

‘“ Know yo, that whereas the — , of , of the burden of
tho bill of sale and register hereto annoxed, was duly sold at this port on the day of
y at public auction, for account of whom it may concern, unto , 4 citizen
of the United States, ho being the highest bidder therefor. And whereas tho said -
, desiring that the said — shall remuin under and continuc to wear the American
flag until her roturn to a port in the United States, where may be obtained a new register or
such other papers as are usually granted to American vossels purchased by citizens thercof
in foreign countries: :

‘“ Now, therefore, in consideration of the foregoing premises, this sailing letter is granted,
with permission to the said s whereof is master, and proceed hence to
, » and there procure such register or papers, in accordance with the laws regu-
lating tho registering of vessels purchased by citizons of the United States, as uforesaid.

“This sailing letter to bo used for tho purposes above described only, and to be delivered
to the collector of customs where the said vessel shall first arrive in the said United States.

“ Given under my hand and the seal of the consulate of the United States at , Lthis
{1 s day of -y A, D. 18—, ’

tons, describet in

e =

, Consul.”’

Ay, Appleton to Mr. McKeon,

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington May 1, 1857.
Sm: I transmit herewith for your information a copy of a de-
spateh,* together with a copy of the enclosures by which it was ac-
companied, dated March 12, which has been received from the United
States consul at Oporto, in relation to the employment in the slave
trade of vessels fitted out at ports in the United States.

I am, sir, your obedient servant, ,
JOHN APPLETON,

Assistant Secretary.

Joun McKroxn, Isq., ‘
©U. 8. District Altcrney, New York.

¥ See despatch No 9, dated March 12, 1857, of Mr DPike to ¥i.. Cass, page 53

H. Ex. Doc. T——=5
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Mr, Appleton to My, McKeon.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington May 4, 1867,

Sir : I beg leave to apprise you of the arrvival at Salem, Massachu-
setts, of Mr, John G, Willis, the United States commercial agent at
St. Paul de Loando, an extract from one of whose despatches was
gent to you by this department on the 27th ultimo. Should you de-
sire any information touching the slave trade on that coast, he will,
if requested, visit New York for the purpose of conferring with you

on the subject.
I am, sir, your obedient servant,

JOHN APPLETON,
, Assistant Secretary.
Joun McKron, Esq.,

U. 8. District Attorney, New York,

My, Cass to consular officers.
CIRCULAR No, 3.

DEPARTMENT oF STATE,
Waslington, May 29, 1857.

1 transmit herewith for your information and guidance a printed
copy of an opinion of the Attorney General of the United States, dated
February 12, 1857,* touching the power and duty of a cousul in re-
gard to crimes committed within his jurisdiction by citizens of the
United States.

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
LEWIS CASS.

The CoNSULAR OFFICERS oF THE UNITED STATES,

Mr, Cass to Mr. Cobb.

DEPARTMENT oF StATE,
Washington, May 30, 1857,

Sir : I have the honor to transmit for your perusal a despatch (No.
24) of the consul general at Havana, in which some judicious sugges-
tions are presented concerning the need of further provisions of law
or treasury regulations to prevent the abuse of the American flag,
and the participation by American built vessels in an unlawful traffic
subsequent to their sale in one foreign port, and their delivery to the
purchasers in another and distant port.

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
- LEWIS CASS.

* See this opinion at page 51 ; Mr. Cushing to Mr, Marcy, February 12, 1857,
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My, Appleton to My, McKeon.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, June 9, 1857.

Orr : Information from a credible source has reached this depart-
ment"that about twelve vesscls are fitted out every year at New York
for the African slave trade. It is further represented that cach ves-
sel registers from one hundred and fitty to two hundred and fifty tons;
costs, when ready for sea, about eight thousand dollars ; ships, onan
average, six hundred slaves on the coast of Africa, and that at least
one-sixth of these die on the voyage.

This department is well aware of the ability and zeal which have
characterized your efforts towards preventing and punishing infrac-
tions of the laws upon this subject. If, however, the information
adverted to should be correct, some further measures would seem to be
necessary to deter offenders, I will consequently thank you for any
suggestions which may occur to you upon the subject,

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
JOHN APPLETON,
Assistant Secretary.
Joun McKEeon, Esq.,
Attorney of the United States
Jor the Southern District of New York.

Mr. Blythe to Mr. Cass.

No. 44.] CoNSULATE GGENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, July 14, 1857,

Sir: I have the honor to transmit herewith a copy of a circular
(and translation thereof) of the governor general of this island upon

the subject of the slave trade. ' o
Trom the character of the orders contained therein, it would seem

that the captain general is determined to adopt very rigid measures to
suppress that illegal traffic. _
With great respect, sir, your obedient servant,
A. K. BLYTHE,
Consul General.

Hon, Lrwrs Cass,
Secretary of State of the United States, Washington.
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OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR, OAPTAIN GENERAL, AND SUPERINTENDENT DELE-
GATE OF THE EXCHEQUER OF THE EVER FAITHFUL ISLAND OF CUBA,~—
GOVERNMENT SECRETARY'S OFFICE,

His excellency the governor, captain general, has ordained for gen-
eral information that the following circular be published in the official
gazetto ; the exact fulfilment of which has been re-enjoined on the
governors and lieutenant governors of the island under date of the

6th of June last :
CIRCULAR,

Various and repeated measures have been adopted by this govern-
ment to put down the slave trade. and though it is considerably
diminished, it has not yet been possible to attain its complete extinc-
tion. , ;

The government has information that new expeditions are expected,
organized principally out of the island, and it is disposed to prevent
their being landed by all means ; but convinced that in many instances
it is not possible to sncceed because the parties interested in the traffic
escape the vigilance of the authorities, I think the moment has arrived
to appeal to more efficient measures, The continuation of the slave
trade is a perpetual source of corruption and immorality, and as preju-
dicial to the credit of the government as to the tranquillity of these
inhabitants,

The non-suppression of the slave trade injures the slave property of
the island, the basis and foundation of her wealth and prosperity.
And withont molesting or disturbing the owners of slaves in their
property, the government still has the power to adopt certain measures,
which, though grave, are preventive of the evil. The laws of the Indies,
governors, captain generals, to banish from the island those who
endanger the peace of the land, and those who take part in African
expeditions coming without doubt within the scope of this law, the
authorities’ right to apply the alove -mentioned measure is also un-
doubted. It is true that in the greatest part of cases there is no legal
proof of their participation in the offence, nor even of its having been
perpetrated ; but it is no less true that the measure contained in the
laws aforesaid has the character of governmental, and that for the ap-
plication thereof the legal proofs required {for imposing penalties by
virtue of judicial proceeding are for this reason unnecessary. In view
of these considerations, I have decreed the following :

Arr. 1. The governors and lieutenant governors, immediately that
they, by the inditia that generally precede, shall obtain information that
preparations are being made for the disembarcation of an expedition of
slaves, shall proceed in fulfilment of the circular, dated Tth of this
month, to banish from their districts all persons that they may deem
conniving at it, and shall issue to them passports for the places which
they (the parties) may select, provided that in the designated points
the governors do not apprehend any danger of those parties continuing
engaged in the slave trade. ;

Axrr, 2, If the disembarcation should be effected, they shall send to
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this capital, at the disposal of this superior government, the parties
who may appear to have taken part therein, or concealed on their
estates the bozal negroes introduced, in order that after the proper
process they may be hanished from the island.

Axrt. 3. The governors and lieutenant governors are authorized to
employ the public forces, and incur the expenditure that they may
deem indispensable, for the suppression of the slave trade. The
amount of such expenditures will be reimbursed to them by this gov-
ernment upon the presentation of the accounts therefor, which are to
be rendered at the end of each month,

CONCHA.

Havana, May 2, 1857,
The secretary pro-tem,
Mrcurr SUAREZ,

To the LIUTENANT GOVERNOR Of — .

Mr. Savage to Mr, Cass.

No. 51.] CoNSULATE GGENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, August 7, 1857.

Sm: I transmit herewith copies of two communications addressed
by this office to the collector of customg in New Orleans.

The two men, George Williams and Edmund Bennett, therein
mentioned, have been in jail several days, and will go in the first
steamer to New Orleans. Mr Blythe, previous to his departure,
directed me to have these men secured and sent to that port, as they
acknowledged that they belonged to the brig William D. Miller.
Their evidence as given to me establishes that the vessel sailed from
this port cleared for Montevideo; when at some distance from this
port it was discovered that some eight or nine Spaniards were on board,
and that a certain Manuel Abarroa, who appeared on th- brig’s
papers ‘as a seaman, was a master; that this person, and ancthor of
the Spaniards who acted as mate, had the control of the vessel except
when in the neighborhood of men-of-war or of other vessels, then
Captain Ford, the American master, acted commander, and Abarroa
appeared as a common sailor; that they proceeded to Africa, and
during the voyage, as well as on the coast, the William D. Miller was
visited by several British men-of-war, and constantly used the Ameri-
can colors and papers until the slaves were taken on board, after which
no flag was ever hoisted ; the two men further testify that six days
after leaving the coast with 470 slaves for Cuba, Abarroa, the Spanish
captain, died, and from that time the Spanish mate and Captain Ford
had together the management of the vessel ; that after a passage of
about 31 days they arrived at Sagua la Chica, o place between Cardenas
and Sagua la Grande, where the slaves were safely landed by means
of a schooner, after which the William D. Miller was taken to sea,
scuttled, and sunk. .

The length of the depositions prevents me from transmitting here-
with a copy. Should you wish me to send one to the department,
your directions would meet with a prompt compliance on my part.
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A day or two after the date of Mr. Blythe’s letter to the colleotor
I heard that Captain Ford was still here. I have not, however, been
able to learn anything further in regard to him, and presume ho hag

found his way out of the island.
The slave trade, it is reported, has been carried on quite briskly

during the present year. I hear of three cargoes having been safely
landed a few days ago in the neighborhood of Sagua la Grande, for
which the governor of tho place has been removed.

A number of American vessels have been trausferred here, and sailed
under American colors with sea letters issued by this consulate ; every
one of them is suspected of having gone to Africa for slaves, instead
of proceeding to the ports of the United States expressed in their sea
letters. I enclose a list of such vessels, as well as of such others as
were not transferred, but are likewise reported as having gone to
Atrica.

No evidence has ever reached this office to justify any action on the

art of the consul to discover whether the vessels in question were
really fitted out for the slave trade.

I take the liberty of referring you to Mr. Blythe’s despatch No.
24, dated 24th April last, upon the subject of sales of American vessels
to Amerlcan citizens in forelo'n ports ; and have the honor to remain,
sir, with high respect, your ‘most obedient servant,

THOMAS bAVAGE, Vice-Consul.

Hon. Lewis CAss,
Secretary of State of the United States, Washington.

My, Blythe to Mr. Halch.

ConsurATE GENERAL orF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, July 22, 1857,

Str: I received in due time your official letter, dated April 11, and
wrote immediately to all of the American consuls on the 1sltmd
directing them to give the matter about which you desired information
their special attentlon and communicate to me the result. I have
received answers from most of them, saying they have heard nothing
of the William Clark, and that they would be on the alert, and report
to me without delay any advices that might reach them. The above
is my excuse for the delay in replying to you. You further ask me
to furnish you with any particulars I may obtain in reference to the
landllng of "cargoes of slaves on this island from any other American
vessels

I have learned, from undoubted sources, that the brig William D.
Miller, of your p01t landed, a few days ago, a cargo of “alaves in the
nelghbmhood of Cardenas, and was shortly afterwards taken out to
sea, scuttled, and burnt, The number of negroes landed from her, I
understand, was 412) four hundred and twelve. I presume she was,
of course, under the usual bond, for she came from New Orleans, and
wag not transferred here; she was cleared at this office on the 3d of
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March last for Montevideo, but went direct to the coast of Africa. I
would advise immediate proceedings on the bond, as I will send you,
by the brig Margaret A. Stevens, to sail to-morrow morning for your
port, two witnesses who were with her on her entire voyage, and who
saw her destoyed ; she was formerly commanded by Captain Roberts,
who resigned the command here on the 26th of February. Richard
Ford, the former chief mate, was made master by me with the sanction
of her consignees. The names of the two witnesses I send are Fdward
Bennelt and George Williams, There were two other American seamen,
named Thomas Cook and Thomas Bennett, and two Spaniards called
Agustin Larrea and Manuel Abarroa. Her commander, I understand,
has gone to Philadelphia. \

It is rumored that many vessels bearing the American flag have
gone from this island to engage in the slave trade. I have no doubt
of the truth of the rumor, but find it exceedingly difficult to get hold
of tangible and legitimate evidence, -

You will please command me at any time and in any manner I
may be enabled to serve you.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
A. X. BLYTHE,
Consul General,
on. T, H. HAtcH,
Colleclor of Customs, Port and District of New Orleans.

Mr. Savage to-Mr. Halch,

CoNSULATE GFENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, August 6, 1857,

Sir: Referring to the official letter addressed to you on the 22d
ultimo by Mr Consul General Blythe, I now inform you that the two
seamen, George Williams and Edmund Bennett, of the brig Wm, D.
Miller, (who hud agreed with Mr. Blythe to proceed to New Orleans
in the schooner M.” A, Stevens, and backed out,) were, a few days
after, lodged in jail by my order, are there now, and will be placed
on board of the United States mail steamship Philadelphia, to sail
hence for your port on the 8th or 9th instant, the commander of which
will have dircctions to deliver them to the authovities of the United
States. You will, of course, know what steps to take to secure them.

Enclosed herewith you will find a copy of the affidavits given by
the two men before me.

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
THOMAS SAVAGE,
Vice-Consul, in charge of the Consulate General.
Hon, 1. H. HaTcw,
Oollector of Oustoms, New Orleans.
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List of vessels iransferred at Havana in 1857,

Burk Minnetonka, of New York, 2831 8ths tons; transferred on the
30th March to Frederick A. Drinkwater, of Portland, Maine. Cleared
3d of April, commanded by H. W. Mallery, with sea letter for Boston;
7 men ; laden with rum and stores, ; ,

Schooner Joseph H. Record, of Newport, Rhode Island, 109§%ths
tons ; transferred 20th April to F. A. Drinkwater. Cleared May 6th,
with rum and stores, under sea letter for Boston; commanded by Henry
P. Williams, with 6 men, , ;

Brig R. B. Lawton, of Newport, Rhode Island, 1985%ths tons;
transferred 21st April to ¥'. A. Drinkwater. Cleared 16th May, laden
with rum and stores, under sea letter for Boston ; commanded by
Greorge B. Stirling, her former mate ; crew, 6 men.

Schooner Abbott Devereux, of Savannah, 1137-1ths tons; transfer-
red 26th April to Thomas A. Myers, of Philadelphia. Cleared 9th of
May, laden with rum and stores, under sea letter for Savannah; com-
manded by the caid Myers; crew, 4 men. ,

Brig Telegraph, of Charleston, South Carolina, 1855 4ths tons; trans-
ferred 9th of July to Joseph A. ISllis, of New Orleans. Cleared 27th of
July, with sea letter for Boston, under command of A. L. Baptista, a
naturalized American citizen, of which he produced evidence, and res-
ident of Baltimore ; laden with rum, rice, sugar, &c.; crew, T men,

Schooner Niagara, of Wilmington, 174§3ths tons; sold 23d July
to . A. Drinkwater, who has asked for a sca letter for Boston ; she
is still in port, ,

Brig Braman, of New York, 185 !7ths tons ; sold 24th of July to
said Drinkwater. Cleared 18th of August, with sea letter for Boston;
with cargo of rum and stores ; commanded by William Smith ; crew,
7 men, the same persons that brought her{rom New York. Captain
Smith was the mate of the brig previous to the transfer.

Mr. Frederick A. Drinkwater, the purchaser of the Minnetoka, J.
H. Record, R, B. Lawton, Niagara, and Braman, is a well-known
American shipmaster from Portland ; he has been in Havana a few

months ; is still here,

List of American vessels not transferred, reported to have gone to Africa
: after sluves.

Schooner James Buchanan, of Bristol, Pennsylvania, 1422 %ths tons;
owned by Albert De Groot and others. De Groot was the master, who
had a power from the other owners to sell her ; he left a power of at-
torney to I'rancis D, Newcomb, of Havana, to sell her, but the con-
sulate has no knowledge of her having been sold. Captain De Groot
went home to Bristol, Pennsylvania ; the vessel cleared with rum and
stores for Boston on the 23d of June, under command of her former
mate, John Duncan, ’ ;

Bark Clara B. Williams, of New Orleans, 33114ths tons; Seth
Briggs master, and 9 men; cleared 3d of Junc for Callao, with rum,
sugar, cigars, tobacco scraps, hogshead shooks, &c.
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Brig Windward, of New Orleans, 1773%ths tons, Charles Rauch,
master, arrived here 3d of July with an assorted cargo from New Or-
leans; cleared 13th of July with same cargo for St. Paul.

THOS, SAVAGE,
United States Vice-Consul,

Havana, August ', 1857.

Mr. Trousdale to MMr. Cass.
| Extract.]

No. 87.] Leaatron or e UNITED STATES,
Rio de Janeiro, September 3, 1857,

Sir: I have the honor to enclose herewith the five oviginal Ietters
indicated in your despatch No. 36, of the 8th April last, and a copy
of the note which accompanied them. You will learn from a perusal
of the note that the letters, when no longer nceded in the United
States, are to be returned to the office of the secrctacy of state for
foreign affairs of the Brazilian government, to be used on the trial of
other offenders, in this empire, should they hereafter be arrested.
The letters are nambered, 158, 159, 161, 163, 332, and the covy of
the note which accompanied them is marked A 87. I also enclose
a copy of my note acknowledging the receipt, marked B 87.
* * * s S Tk * *

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
W. TROUSDALE,

Hon. Lewrs Cass,
Seeretary of State of the United States.

Mr. Savage to Mr. Cass.

No. 63.] Consurati GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, Oclober 13, 1857.

Siz: It having been reported to me on the 17th ultimo thet a ves-
sel, said to be American, had been captured, with negroes on board,
by a Spanish war schooner in the neighborhood of Cardenas, and
taken into that port, I wrote to the consul at Matanzas, requesting
him to procure for me all the information he could from the consular
agent at the first-named place.

You will find herewith enclosed a copy of Mr Garesché’s reply.
No further information having reached me from that consul, I again
addressed him upon the subject on the 24th ultimo. My last letter
remaing unanswered. ln the meantime the vessel, a bark, was
brought into Havana under Spanish colors, with the crew and negroes.
The crew are lodged in the public jail to undergo a trial, and the
negroes are retained by the government for public service in the
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capacity of emancipados, The number taken was only threo hundred
and eighty-threo, of whom several have died of smallpox,  No portion
of the cargo had been landed previous to the capture.

Tho vessel is the bark Paez, formerly of Phlludelphm, from which
port she used to trade with Venezuela, but, from information given
me l)y her captain it appears that she had been sold, and that a
register was issued to her in New York, on or about the 20th March
Inst. in the name of Frances M, (,Imqo a woman residing in New
York. 'The captain has informed me that ho was employed as master
by Russell & Vining, shipping merchants of New York, and residing
in Brooklyn.

After the bark’s arrival here, no communication having reached me
from the captain, I called at the jail on the 8th instant, “when he de-
livered me a letter, (of which a copy is enclosed, marked A; ;) after
reading which, I dvsned him to furnish me a full statement of all
that oceurred on the Paez, from her departure from New York to the
time of her capture, which he did, and a copy thereof is accompanied
hereto, marked B, The captain, (named George W. Palmer, a native
of btumlord Conncecticut, and xwed about thlrty-ﬁve years,) assured
me besides that the crew, who have the reason to be dissatisfied with
the Spaniard who, as he al]egeq, deprived him of the command, testi-
fied on board the war schooner that he, Palmer, had had nothmcr to
do with the taking of mnegroes on bom'd and ho entertains the
belief, based upon certain assurances deemed reliable by him, that he
will soon be released.

On the day after my interview with Captain Palmer T addressed a
communication to the captain general, laying before him a copy of
Captain Palmer’s statement, and requestnw his excellency to furnish
me such information beann«r upon the affair in question as he could.
I transmit herewith a copy of that commuaication, to which no reply
has been given as yet. I enclose, likewise, a copy translation of the
certificate ¢ given to Captain Palmer by the commanding officer of the
war schooner that captured the Paez.

In the absence of evidence other than the captain’s assertions, I
have deemed it proper to be very cautious to advance nothing in open-
ing a corrmpondence with the cnptmu general upon such a delicate
qubwct 1 must, of' course, await his excellency’s reply before I can
say any thing further

Tt is reported that the authorities intend to destroy the vessel, «
required by law; but I presume if it is made evident that Captam
Palmer was actuallv deprived of his command, and that his vessel
was eugaged in the slave trade against his will, she should be returned
to her owner, unless it is proved that such owner allowed her to be
used for that purpose, and the Spanish captain and crew dealt with
as pirates. ;

The slave trade has been going on very bnsk]y It is believed that
a considerable number of Africans have been smuggled into this har-
bor ; & short time since a cargo was landed during the night at the
place called ‘“ La Punta,”’ just outside of the city wall and in view
of three forts, the Punta gate, and the public jail, at 'all of which
guards of soldiers are stationed ; a few of the negroes only were dis-
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covered and taken ; several persons are under arrest, charged with
implication or connivance with thoe traffic. v

Referring to the list of vessels transmitted with my despateh No. 51,
I have to state that it is generally believed here that the Minnetonka
safely landed a cargo of negroes from Africa, and -afterwards pro-
ceeded to Yucatan, from whence she intended to make another voyage
to Africa. v

The Abbott Devereux, it appears, was captured on tho coast of
Africa by a British war steamer called the Teazer; her osténsible
owner and master, Thomas . Myers, arrived here a fow days ago
from Teneriffe; he handed me the certificate of the United States
consul at that port, which I accompany, and desired me to furnish
him a document to cnable him to leave this island; 1 granted his
request, and he took passage ‘in the American brig R. M. Charlton,
that sailed this morning for Savannah,

Of the ¢¢ Telegraph,”” I have heard that she went to Africa, not
intended to bring slaves to Cuba, but to establish a factory there, and
to be employed on that coast in connexion with the slave traflic.

Information has been given me that the ¢ Clara B. Williams’’ hasg
been seen hovering about the coast of Cuba for an opportunity to land
slaves, and had been chased away by a Spanish man-of-war, In con-
versation a few days since with a person connected with the house
which despatched that vessel in this port, he assured me that news
had been received of her arrival at Callao, and of her being loading
for Cadiz. - '

No tidings of any kind have reached me respecting the other vessels
mentioned 1n the list, and no more Americau vessels have been sold
here since. ,

Mr. Frederick A. Drinkwater, in whose name were cleared the
Minnetonka, J. H. Record, R. B, Lawton, Niagara, and Braman, is
believed to be in New York.

i« * * * * * * * *

I have the honor to be, sir, with high respect, '

THOMAS SAVAGE,
Vice-Consul,

Hon. Lrwis Cass,

Secretary of Stale of the United Slates, Washington.

ConsuLaTE OF THE UNITED STATES,
Canary Islands.

On the 10th of September, 1857, personally appeared before me
Thomas Myers, and declared on oath that he is an American citizen,
and late master of the American schooner Devereux, wrecked on the
coast of Africa, when he lost his ships papers and all his personal
cffects, and arrived at this port on the first instant passenger on board
the English steam packet ‘‘Gambia ;’’ and that having applied to
the local authorities for a permit to embark for Havana, on his way
to the United States, they refused granting him the necessary pass-
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port without a certificate from this consulate of he being such as he
represents himself to be. v
An act whereof being of me required, I hereunto affix my signature

[L. 8] and seal of office, at Santa Cruz, Teneriffe, ut supra.
CHARLES LE BRUN,
Acting Consul.

CASE OF THE BARK PAEZ.

Slatement of facts of moment in relation to the bark “Paez’’ from the
time of my assumimg command of her to the time of capture by th:
Sparish war steamer ¢ Cristina.’’

The command, (which is my first) of the ¢¢ Paez’’ was offered to me
about one week previous to sailing, and, after one or two days, accepted
by me. The stevedore’s men were already at work on board; she was
chartercd by Messrs. Russell & Vining, shipping merchants of New
York, and loaded with lumber, rice, wheelbarrows, &c., &c.; her bal-
last was water.. The bills of lading (now in possession of the Spanish
authorities) show her cargo for St. Thomas, (W. 1.,) and Sombrero
island for o guano voyage; and in case of not procuring the guano, I
was to proceed to Porto Rico, or obey such iustructions as Messrs,
James & Phillips, of St. Thomas, to whom I was consigned, might
give, | I |
Upon this voyage I took command of the. bark, and no other, as none
wag named to me. My crew was shipped in the regular way (by ship-
ping masters in Peck slip) that all crews are shipped in American
vessels, and I named no other voyage to the men than what the ship-
ping articles under which they were shipped are headed for; told them
of no ofher captain than myself. (The shipping articles, together with
the crew list, register, and various other papers, are in possession of the
Spanish authorities, to whom I delivered them.) ‘

The Spanish man or pilot, who deprived me of the command, was
to be the pilot for the Sombrero keys, as I was told he knew all about
them. He was not put upon the articles, because I did not think it neces-
sary, as he was nothing but pilot, no more than any other. The
‘¢ Paez’’ cleared at the custom-house in New York on the second of
April, and 1 sailed the same afternoon at about two o’clock from the
wharf in tow of a steamboat; one of the charterers accompanied me to
see me off.  On arrival on board the vessel I asked if all hands were
on board, as I had left orders for all to be on board at 12 o’clock.

I found all present except the mate, who was shipped under the
name of Rufus Jones, and who, the ship-keeper told me, had gone to
get the pilot on board, as he did not know the way. After pro-
ceeding down the bay, and the Narrows being passed, say two miles,
the pilot came on board in a steamboat with his baggage, some five
boxes. I afterwards learned that four of the boxes contained medi-
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cines, and the other, a large one, contained a boiler and stove con-
nected, After being on board some five or ten minutes he handed me a
letter which I did not read at the time, as the vessel required my
attention, she bemg under way, but put it in my pocket to read at lei-
sure, supposing it nothing of great importance; at the moment a strong
breeze was blowmg from NW. I did not go below for some hours
after, say eight o’clock in the evening, and when I went to my room
I found my baggage had been removed to a room in the cabin; the
pilot’s baggage was in the room, but I said nothing, thinking that in
the morning [ would arrange ‘matters. When morning came, and
having read the letter, instead of my arranging matters, I found that
they had been arranged for me. The letter is now in the hands of the
Spanish officers, and “bears the signature ¢ J. A, Cubinda’ or Cabindo,
or some such name; it was in Lnghsh, and the handwriting is un-
known to me. Upon my giving an order I was told that the Spaniard
was captain, and that I was nobody so far as the control of the vessel
was concerned. I told the pllot my destination was 5. Thomas, West
Indies; he answered, the St. Thomas that I was going to was in
Afnca, I roplied, no.

Jones, the mate, was the interpreter on nearly every occasion. The
name was undoubtedly an assumed one; he is a Portuguese.

I found myselfsurrounded by forelgners (Portuguese and Spariards,)
and the control of my vessel taken trom me; and not knowing or un-
derstanding their langnage, who was my frlend or whom to trust I
kept silent, hoping that some circumstance mwht again place me in
command as time went on. Frequently there was trouble among them;
the men were called aft several times to settle their squabblcq. I do
not know how many tiines they and myself were told that the Spanish
pilot was captain, and that his orders were to be obeyed, as he was not
only captain but owner and cverything, and which they acknowl-
edged on all occasions. Jones was his l'lght hand man,

About three weeks after the vessel left New York they eomwenced
getting the cargo on deck, and throwing overboard such as was not
requlred for the deck and stores. So matters went on, and I, finding
all hope gone of again cominanding, destroyed my flag by cutting and
teuring it in such a manner that it could not be used, and placed
it in my bag; the flag I have delivered to the Spanish uuthorltles
there was another old broken flag, the Union of which I cut out and
threw overboard. The vessel proceeded; nothing worthy of being
mentioned occurred until the 318t of Jul), when she arrived on the
coast of Africa, at a place marked by some large mango trees, lat, 6°
45’ S.: the trees are in a grove; the place was called in the letter
brought to me by the Spanish captain Mango Grande; 1 have never
seen the name on any chart or book or geography; hero a white flag
was hoisted at the foremast head, and was answered on shore by a
white flag with a dark or black cross from corner to coruer; there is
no port that I know of nearer than Rio Congo.

The Spanish captain went on shore, and in the evening or about
sunset came off with a boat load of negroes; some four bouts were em-
ployed in bringing off the negroes, two of which boats were large; the
hoats were manned by negroes belonging to the coast. The bpamsh
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captain brought also two Portuguese men; one worked as & seaman,
the other did nothing more than go about the deck, look at the
negroes, and amuse himself as best he could; he was a sort of negro
doctor. 1 saw only two white men from the shore beside the passen-
gers, to one of whom the captain sold one of the bark’s boats and got
two negroes for it, so one of the crew told me. I think there were
some 567 or 576 negroes brought on board, as near as I could learn
from the men. The captain would fell me nothing; neither could I
obtain information in regard to consignees, or where the negroes were
to be landed, further than it would be in Cuba,

The captain and passengers may have owned a portion of the ne-
groes, but I do not know for certain. I have been told that the cap-
tain had some besides the two he got for the boat. The sawme evening
we sailed away from the coast; we were not seen or spoken to from the
time we left New York up to this time by any vessel of war,

Nothing occurred until, I think, the 12th of August at ten o’clock
at night, when in latitude 3° 45’ south and longitude 15° 00’ wess, or
thereabouts, a brig came up from astern (she had not been seen but
a few minutes previous) and hailed the bark three times, and I, from
necessity, answered the question, saying we were from St. Thomas
by dircction of the captain who was near me with some four or five
other men. The captain directed me to say bound to New York, but
I said to Baltimore ;

By the brig’s manacuvres I should judge she was a war vessel ; it
being dark I could not see her well, After speaking us she left
without asking the bark’s name or nationality, and steered to the
northward, The bark proceeded on and was not again spoken until
September 14, when at the Cay de Cadiz (Cuba) she was boarded by
two boats from her Catholic Majesty’s schooner ¢‘Cristina,’’ and taken
as a prize. She had the same white flag at the foremast head that
sne had on the coast of Africa. I saw no signal from shore, but from
a sloop I saw a man wave a hat, to go out as I suppose, but the cap-
tain would not. - 3

As soon as I could make myself understood I requested to be taken
from the bark, which the commander of the schooner promptly did.
I handed my papers to the commander ; they had not been seen or out
of my possession from the time I received them in New York. I also
gave the commanding officer of the schooner all the information that
I could, through an 1mperfect interpreter, to obtain the paper that I
knew the Spanish captuin had. I have since endeavored to give all the
information to the officers of the government that I possessed, and will
continue to afford every facility that is in my power. I have no
friends to shield or interests at stake to keep silent. ‘

When the bark was taken I suppose she had on board from 380 to
400 negroes ; the balance died during the passage. A number have
since died, but I do not know how many., I was on board the
schooner. -

While on board the bark during the voyage, I did nothing of

choice, except as self-preservation,
Since leaving the African coast the captain has not been very kind
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to his men, He had got his cargo, and there was no retreat when at
sea with such a cargo, let a man suffer what he may.
I think I have given here and elsewhere all the material facts.
GEORGE W. PALMER.
Havana Jam, October 8, 1867,

My, Cass to Mr. Black.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, October 26, 1857,

Sik: I have the honor to transmit herewith, for your information,
and in order that the requisite instructions may be given to the United
States attorneys at New York, Philadelphia, Portland, and New
Orleans, for the prosecution of certain persons alleged to be concerned
in the slave trade, & copy of two despatches, Nos. 51 and 63, with
their respective enclosures, which have been reccived from Thomas
Savage, the consular officer residing at Havana, in charge of the
United States consulate general of Cuba,

I am, sir, your obedient servant,

LEWIS CASS.

Mr. Blythe (o MMr. Appleton.

ConsuLATE (AENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, November 26, 1857,
SIr : Since the last communication from this office upon the subject,
three additional American vessels have been captured on the coast of
Cuba, and brought into this port, with slaves from the coast of Africa
on board—the Zephyr, of Baltimore, the Vesta and Petrel, of Boston.
When the two first above mentioned were captured, the crews made
their escape. The crew of the last, consisting, as I understand,
wholly of foreigners, were brought in the vessel, and are now in
prison. , . ‘
These vessels, I presume, still ostensibly belong to American citizens.
Their names have been rendered somewhat indistinct by an effort to
efface them, but those given above are, I think, correct.

With much respect, your obedient servant,
A. K. BLYTHE,

Consul General.

Hon, JouN APpPLETON,
Assistant Secretary of State, Washington.
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Mr. Willis to Mr, Cass.
[Kxtracts.]

SaneM, Mass., February 12, 1858.

S[R ¢ K # * kK * * *

The slave trade has been of late carried on to a great extent on the
southwest coast of Africa by vessels sailing from ports in the United
States and Havana, some of which are owned by Portuguese living in
New York, who, throngh some ship-brokers, manage to elude the
vigilance of the United States authorities in that city.

This system interferes very much with those engaged in legal trade,
ag they, in order to make a good appearance at the custom-house,
have a regular cargo, which, when the vessel arrives on the coast, is
forced on the market at any price. ; '

The Iinglish commanders of government vessels on the coast have,
in many instances, taken great liberties with American vessels, and
the presence of one or more United States vessels is very important,
both for legal and illegal trade. The weather on the southwest coast
is always good, and the harbor of Loando is very fine. Good water
and provisions of all kinds can always be procured there at much
cheaper rates than elsewhere on the coast.

* * * * * * # *
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
JOHN G, WILLIS,
U. 8. Com’l Agent, St. LPaul de Loando.

My, Blythe to Mr. Appleton.
[Extract.)

No. 4.] CoNSULATE GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, March Y, 1868.

* % * % In my despatch No. 24, of the 24th April, 1857, I
called the attention of the department to the threatened abuse of the
flag of our country, growing out of what I deemed the imperfect act
of March 2, 1803, in relation to the sale of American vessels to Amer-
ican purchusers in foreign ports. I then stated, ‘I fear that the act
referred to has been or will be used as an auxiliary to vessels in reach-
ing the coast of Africa.’”” My apprehensions have been proved to have
been well founded. I am now convinced that nearly if not every ves-
sel 80 sold at this port has gone to the coast of Africa. Several -of
them have certaiuly returned to this island with cargoes of negroes.
The same gystem of sale and purchaseof American vessels at this port
is still carried on. In most, if not in all, cases [ am convinced that
foreigners are the bona fide purchasers, but it is utterly impossible,
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with the time and opportunities T have for investigation, to reach the
fact officially. I therefore again suggest that the consul, under such
circumstances, shall be clothed with authority to demand a heavy
bond, or that the act be entirely repealed.  The latter course of legis-
lation would be productive of no serious injury and but little incon-
venience to American citizens abroad who desire to become bona fide
purchasers, * * * * * * *
With much respect, &c,
A. K. BLYTHE,

Consul General,

Hon. Jonn Arrretoy,
Assistant Seerctary of Slate of the United States, Washinglon,

Lord Napier to (eneral Cass.

Hrr Brrranyic Masesry’s TisgaTion,
Washington, April 16, 1858,

S T have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your note of
the 10th instant, relative to the prosceution of the African slave trade
under the fraudulent assumption of the American flag, and respecting
the course adopted by her Majesty’s government and the DBritish
cruisers in the vepression of this nefarious traflic,

Your remarks will be transmitted for the consideration of her
Majesty’s government. ,

With reference to the “Touis McLane,”” to which you have par-
ticularly alluded, I learn from the correspondence forwarded to her
Majesty’s legation that this vessel was detnined by her Majesty’s ship
¢ Alecto,”” on the ground that her papers were imperfect or fraudu-
lent, and under the conviction that she was not justly entitled to the
protection of the flag which she had adopted, being deficient in various
particulars requisite to confer a character of nationality. 4

The suspicions of the commander of the ‘¢ Alecto” were immediately
justified by the conduct of the master of the slaver. He threw his
papers and colors overboard, and surrendered himself as a lawful
prize, making declaration that he was engaged in the slave trade, as
appears by the document bearing his signature, of which a copy is
enclosed herewith, o

The name of the vessel was verbally conveyed to Commander Hunt
previous to her detention. She is stated to have been a schooner
of 176 tons burden, American measurement, It may not be easy
now to obtain an accurate report of the defect in her papers, as the
latter have perished by the act of the master, but I will lose no time
~in making a communication of your wishes on this subjsct to her
Majesty’s government, in order that the proceedings of the federal

H. BEx. Doc. T——G6
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authoritics at New Orleans may be conducted with all the informa-

tion we are enabled to supply.
I have the honor to be, with the highest consideration, sir, your

most obedient servant,
NAPIIR.,

Hon. Lewis Cass, de., de., de.

Ocroser 15, 1857.

Sir: Having forfeited the right to the protection of any flag, and
the schooner under my command (whose name [ refuse to divulge)
being fully equipped for the slave trade, and when boarded by your
boat quite ready for the embarkation of six hundred slaves, I dcliver
her up as a lawful prize, and request you will land me, without my
crew, as near the Congo as convenient to you.

I am, &ec.,
J. W, BUCKLEY.
Commander J. Huxr,
Her Majesty’s Ship ¢ Alecto.”’

My, Blythe to Mr. Appleton.

[Yixtract.]
No. 7.] CoNSULATE (IENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,

Havana, May 8, 1858,

I have hitherto apprised the department of my conviction that our
flag is'sometimes prostituted for the purposes of the slave traffic. But
the evil is certainly not so great as to yield to its exigency the great
principle of international law for which we have so strenuously con-
tended. If it is determined to remedy the evil, let it be done by a
sacrifice of money rather than of honor. If our merchant marine is
to be subjected to such surveillance, is it not better to send our own
national vessels, at any cost, to perform the act. It is known to the
world that we have always contended for the freedom of the seas, and
have insisted that the flag of an independent nation, borne by a vessel,
shall give her immunity against stoppage or annoyance for purposes
of visitation or search, When snch is the principle announced by us,
it can but be matter of mortification to all who feel an interest in our
flag to sce the principle violated constantly, almost in sight of our
own shores. :

I ain, sir, your obedient servant, ‘
' A. K. BLYTHE.

Hon, Jonn APPLETON, }
Assistant Secretary of Stale of the Uniled States, Washington.
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Mr, Dallas to Mr, Cass,

No. 102.] Lraarron or 1 UNITED STATES,
London, May 11, 1858,

Sm: With my No. 95, of the 24th of March last, I transmitted «
copy of the letter I had addressed to the Iiarl of Malmesbury, stating
the claim of Mr. John A, Machado to be compensated for injuries and
losses arising out of the seizure and detention of his ship ¢ Thomas
Watson,”” while trading on the coast of Africa, by Commander Rob-
son, of Her Majesty’s ship ¢ Bloothound.”” The answer to this com-
munication came from the foreign office on the 8th instant, and is
hereto annexed, in copy, together with my acknowledgement of its
receipt,

I did not look for so early or so frank and favorable a notice of this
claim; for, though substantially it be well founded and just, I had not
received, and could not thercfore submit to this government more
. than a general or conjectural estimate of damage. That Lord Malmes-
bury should advert to this deficiency in the case of Mr. Machado is
natural enough ; while certainly the modes he suggests for supplying
it, and scttling on a preeise amount as the remuneration to be paid,
ara unexceptionably candid and fair, ,

Mr, Machado will, I presume, be furnished by your direction with a
copy of the correspondence ; and he can then appiise the department
to which of the proposed methods, it to either—consular examination
or arbitration—he would prefer the point submitted. The British Con-
sul at New York, Mr. Archibald, may be known to him. That gen-
tleman is here held in highly honorable estimation; and, for my own
part, I should deem an assessment more likely to be justly, if not lib-
erally, made by him than through arbitration. Of this, however, I
suppose Mr. Machado will be permitted to be the exclusive judge.
On your determining to adopt one or the other course, it will doubt-
less seem to you as expedient to define as clearly as possible the single
object of the examination, and to limit the time within which the re-
sult should be reported. g

I have the honor to be, sir, your most obedient servant,

: G. M. DALLAS.

Hon. Lewis Cass,

Secretary of State.

Foreran Orrice, May 6, 1856,

The undersigned, her Majesty’s principal secretary of state for for-
eign aflairs, hus the honor to acknowledge the receipt of the note
addressed to him on the 22d of March last, by Mr. Dallas, envoy ex-
traordinary and minister plenipotentinry from the United States at
this court, relative to the claim of parties interested in the American
ship ¢¢ Thomas Watson,’’ to compensation for losses sustained by them,
owing to the seizure of that ship by Commander Robson, of her Ma-
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jesty’s ship ¢ Bloodhound,” who sent her for adjudication to Sicrra
Leone, on_a charge of dctammw a colored British subject, with the
view of selling him as a slave,

The undumgned before entering into the question of the claim to
compensation, must necessarily express his belief that Mr, Dallag can-
not have been made acquainted with the conrse which was pursted by
her Majesty’s governmcut on first ]e:unmg from their own authorities
the proceedings of Commander Robson in this case; and he will,
therefore, just mention that Commander Robson’s conduct was no
only wholly disapproved, but her Majesty’s minister at Washiugton
was instructed, so long ago as November last, to inform the govern-
ment of the United States that the proceulm% of Commander Rob-
son were disavowed by her Majesty’s government, who tendered to
the American government the expression of their regret, and also
immediately punished Commander Robson by (leprlvmfr him of his
command,

Mr. Dallas will thus see that no time was lost by her Majesty’s gov-
ernment in spontaneously making such amends as was fairly due from
one government to another; and her Majesty’s government cannot
doubt that the government of the United States will have justly ap-
preciated the communication which Lord Nupier was instructed to
make,

With regard to compensation to the parties interested, her l\IﬁJesty 8
govclmneub heving had occasion themselves to consider their officers
i the wronyg, must necessarily admit that some compons(uwa is due,
and the only question which can therefore arise is the amount to be
paid.

The undersigned observes that the total sum claimed is eighty
thousand dollars, namely, sixty thousand dollars on account ot the
owner of the ship, and twenty thousand on account of his agent. No
opportunity, however, has been afforded to her Majesty’s government
by the claimants of Jll(ltrlrlg whether these sums can Jllbt])’ be said to
represent the proper amount of compensatlon, as neither vouchers,
certificates, nor data, are annexed to the claim, which the undersiguned
is led to consider excessive, particularly as the ship appears to have
reached her destination (New York) without serious damage or dete-
Tioration.

Her Majesty’s government, however, bcmrr desnous that this matter
shduld be promptly and nmlcab]y ﬂdJllthd “will instruct her Majesty’s
consul at New York to mvesngato any statement which the owners of
the ¢ Thomas Watson’” may think proper to put before him, and, if
possible, to come to an understanding thereupon with the parties

interested ; but, if this course should not Jead to a satisfactory settle-

ment, her MaJcsty s government would be disposed to consider that
the amount of compensation might fairly be left to arbitration, and
would be prepared to agree to the terms of such arbitration, if the
government of the United States should concur in this course,

The undersigned has the honor to renew to Mr. Dallas the assurance

of his highest consideration. ¥
MALMESBURY.
G. M. Darvas, Esq., de., de., de.
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Lzgarox or Tiie UNITED SraTES,
London, May 10, 1858,

The undersignel, envoy extraordinary and minister plenipotentiary
of the United States, has the honor to acknowledge the receipt of the
communication which the Ilarl of Malmesbury, her Majesty’s princi-
pal secretary of state for foreign affairs, has addressed to him, under
date of the Gth instant, in reply to his note of the 22d of March last,
wherein he advanced a claim on behalf of certain citizens of the
United States, to be compensated for Tosses arising out of the seizure
and detention of the ship ¢ Thomas Watson,”’ by Commander Robson,
of her Majesty’s ship ‘¢ Bloodhound.” ;

The undersigned derives great satisfaction from the assurance given
by his lordship of the prompt disavowal, heretofore made by her Ma-
jesty’s government, of Commodore Robson’s proceeding.

T'he undersigned will forthwith transmit his lordship’s letter to the
Department of State, at Washington ; not doubting that the sugges-
tions it contains respecting the manner of ascertaining, as near as
may be, the amount of compensation justly payable to the claimants,
will be considered with the high respect to which they are entitled.

The undersigned has the honor to renew to the Barl of Malmesbury

the assurance of his highest consideration.
G. M. DALLAS.

Lord Napier to dr. Cass.

Her Brreannio Masesry’s LrcatioN,
Washington, May 16, 1858.

Str: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of
the 14th instant, conveying an account of the circumstances which are
alleged to have attended the boarding of the American vessel ““N, B,
Borden,’” by her Majesty’s sloop ‘“Styx.”” I have transmitted copies
of your communication to her Majesty’s government and to the com-
mander-in-chief of her Majesty’s forces on the West India station.

I have the honor to be, with the highest consideration, sir, your
most obedient, humble servant.

NAPIER,
Hon. Lewis Cass, dec., de., de.
My, Dallas to Mr, Cass.
No. 104.] Lpaariox or tHE UNITED STATES,

London, June 1, 1858,

~Sir: On last Friday evening, the 28th ultimo, I received your Nos,

102 and 103, and yesterday your No, 104 reached me.
The nature of No. 103 induced me immediately to request an inter-
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Yiew with Tord Malmesbury., On the next day, Saturday, I was ap-
prised by note that his lordship would be happy to reccive me at his pri-
vate residence in Whitehall Gardens, on Monday, at 12 0’clock. The
stecamer Turopa arrived on Sunday, bringing the unanimous adoption
of Mr. Seward’s resolution by the Senate, an increased list of outrages,
and a concord of editorial cxasperation. I went at the hour desig-
nated, found his Jordship alone, and entered, without any sort of
preface, upon the object of my visit, which was not confined to a mere
iteration in the case of the Cortez of what I have repeatedly written.

I told him I had asked for the interview that I might invoke his
gpecial attention to the excited condition of the public mind in the
United States, provoked by sudden and seemingly systematized as-
saults made upon our commerce by British cruisers off Cuba, in the
Mexican Gulf, and upon the western coast of Africa, and that I had
not waited the slow process of correspondence, because I was desirous
to communicate to the President, without losing the opportunity of
the steamship on Wednesday, whatever the sentiments of' this gov-
ernment might be at this critical juncture.

I reminded his lordship that for the last twenty years the American
ministers at this court had been charged with earnest remonstrances
against the rash and presumptuous manner in which the officers of
her Majesty’s navy were in the habit of treating the national flag of
our country, by boarding, searching, and seizing our vessels, under
pretence of their being engaged in the traflic for slaves, and of break-
ing up, by menaces, detentions, and violence, the lawful voyages of
our traders. Several of these cases had been presented by myself to
the British government. Disavowals had followed upon disavowals.
The offenders had been reprimanded, removed from their respective
commands, or otherwise punished. Iresh instructions or regulations
had issued from the admiralty, and yet the same process of arrest,
search, seizure and capture, was constantly repeating.

The mischiet would seem almost inveterate. It certainly called for
something more stringent and decisive than the measures heretofore
adopted. The President could entertain no doubt of the disposition
of her Majesty’s government to cause the practice of detaining and
searching American vessels to be discontinued; and as evidence of
that confidence, I would frankly read to him the despatch on the com-
municated case from Washington, that of the Cortez, and would place
in his hands copies of the consular report and of the affidavits annexed
to it I did both, and added, that the circumstances connected with
the capture of the Cortez doubtless required time for satisfactory in-
vestigation, but that I trusted his lordship would recognize the expe-
diency of putting it in my power to transmit, without delay, to the
American government the written sentiment of the British cabinet on
the general topics. ~ ;

Lord Malmesbury appeared impressed by the view presented, and
by the urgency, perhaps, of my manner. I apprised him that the
“Times’’ of the morning, which he had not seen, contained notices
of further outrages on our vessels and of the action of the Senate, and
I ventured on reading to him an apt paragraph in a private letter, writ-
ten to me by an eminent gentleman of Boston known to him, descrip-
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tive of the universal and strong excitement produced by these naval
outrages, T'hese references were, of course, as I observed, unofficial,
but they had a tendency to show his lordship that a prompt proceed-
ing by his government could not fail to be opportunc and salutary.

Iis lordship said that the subject wasg one extremely difficult to
manage; that, within the last three weeks, orders devised by Sir John
Packington, had issued from the admiralty, strictly enjoining upon
their naval officers the execution of their duties with care, civility,
and forbearance ; that he would inquire particularly as to pre-existing
orders or incidents whence may have arisen the sudden and simulta-
neous activity smong the British cruisers on the West India station;
that her Majesty’s government were sincerely anxious to maintain
undisturbed the existing friendly relations between the two countries,
and would do everything in their power for that purpose; and that
he would address to me a note before to-morrow afternoon, which I
might transmit at once to Washington.

But, asked his lordship, as we all know that the flag of the United
States is fraudulently resorted to by the traders of other conntries, in
order to screen their pursuit of slave traflic, how can we verify its
genuineness except by at least visit and inspection of papers?  If any
other mode, less vexatious and irritating, less liable to abuse, of
eflecting the object can be contrived, it would certainly be cheerfully
adopted. ,

I remarked that, as far as respected the naval co-operation against
the slave trade on the western coast of Africa, the absolute immunity
of American vessels from any sort of interference, except from Amer-
ican oflicers, was expressly stipulated by the treaty of 1842; that
this stipulation had been over and over again irregularly departed
from ; and that it was obviously much better, on a pretension of mari-
time police, that whenever the American flag was hoisted, American
serutiny alone should be resorted to; and if that was impossible, owing
to the absence of our force, it was better that a physical obstacle in
the way of executing a given policy should be submitted to rather
than incur the hazard of violating international compacts, and of
embroiling two great nations who had relations and interests at stake
compared with which this particular movement of philanthropic re-
form was as nothing. The privilege to stop, visit, and search our
ships on the high seas for any purpose whatever, he was aware to be
inadmissible by the almost unanimous sentiment of the American
government and people. Lord Malmesbury must also recollect that
in consequence of the devices resorted to by the officers of the British
cruisers, the security which ought to result from the possession of
genuine documents had been frustrated ; that the law of the United
States punishing the traffic as piracy with death, the American cap-
tain, if at all conscious that suspicious appearances of any sort might
be detected about his vessel or her cargo, was easily terrified or cor-
rupted into the destruction of his papers. This last was distinctly
the case of the Cortez, and similar ones had preceded it.

I hope to transmit the note promised by Lord Malmesbury, even

‘though it should reach me at a late hour. While waiting for it let
me briefly say that the news from America has produced considerable
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stir. In the Commons last night a question was put to the ministry
by our radical and intelligent friend ‘Mr. W. 8. Lindsey, of Tyne-
mouth, concerning the search of our vesgels, the answer to which was
postponed till this evening. Mr. Richard Cobden has called at the
legation twice in obvious anxicty. In the money article in to-day’s
“Times’” it is said, ““advices from Washington as to the feeling
manilested against our operations at Cuba for the suppression of the
slave trade are not of a sutisfactory character;’’ and the Morning
Post containg a labored article of the {rue Palmerstonian spirit, ad-
mitting the difficulty, but asserting a disposition to cut right through
it in the sacred cause of anti slavery, * * * *
I have the honor to be, sir, your most obedient servant,

“G. M. DALLAS.
Hon, Lewis Cass, Scerctary of Stale. ~

Consul Bunch to the Farl of Malmesbury.?
[lExtract.]

Bririsit CoNSULATE,
Charleston, June 1, 1858.

I have the honor to report to your lordship that there sailed {rom
this port, a short time since, a schdoner called the ¢‘Lidia Gibbs,”’ com-
manded and owned by a person named Watson, ostensibly on a voyage
to the West Indies, in the trade between which and this port Watson
has been engaged upwards of twenty years. Until now, however, he
has never had a vessel of his own, but has sailed in the employ of
Mr. Chapman, a merchant of this port. o .

At the time of the vessel’s departure no particular suspicions were
entertained that she was about to engage in an illicit traffic, but I have
subsequently been informed that she arrived in the Havana, where
she was sold to persons unknown for the sum of $12,000, (her whole
cost, when new, having been $7,000;) and that she has proceeded, -
under the command of Watson, to the coast of Africa, manned by a
crew of Americans, and beyond a doubt under the original American
papers. v . ; :

The owner himself, I regret to say, is a Scotchman, but natural-
ized in the United States. He is to receive $6,000 for the voyage,
whether successful or not ; $6,000 more it he escape detection, and in
addition a certain number of the slaves actually landed in Cuba for
his own share, . o

The schooner is said to be very fast indeed, having been built for
great speed and furnished with every appliance for insuring it. She
18 of about 114 tons burden and of northern build. :
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My, Cass lo My, Cobb.

DEPARTMENT OF Srare,
Washington, June 3, 1858,

Sir: Referring to my communication addressed to you on the 30th
of May, 1857, transmitting a despatch, No. 24, reccived from A, K.
Blythe, the United States consul general at IHavana, in which some
judicions suggestions were made concerning the need of further pro-
visions of law or of treasury regulations to prevent the abuse of the
American flag, and the participation by American huilt vessels in an
unlawful traflic subsequent to their sale in one forcign port, and their
delivery to the purchasers in another and distant one, I now enclose
for your information, on the same subject, an extract from a despateh,
No. 4,* received from Consul General Blythe, in which he states that
his apprehensions had been realized in relation to the imperfection of
the act of March 2, 1803. He states that necarly it not every vessel
sold at Havana had gone to the coast of Africa, and several of them
returned with cargoes of slaves. He suggests that the consul should
be clothed with authority to demand a heavy bond in cascs of the sale
of vessels under the circumstances set forth by him, or that the act to
which he refers be entirely repealed.

I am, sir, your obedient servant,

LEWIS CASS,

Myr. Blythe to Mr, Cass.
[Extract.]

Havawa, May 17, 1858.

I believe I have more than once called the attention of the depart-
ment to the abuse of our flag, and its prostitution to nefarious pur-
poses, by means of the act of Congress of 1803, authorizing the sale of
American vessels to American purchasers in foreign ports, and con-
tinuing certain privileges with such vessels., I am thoroughly con-
vinced that the act as it now exists is productive of more evil than
good, and, if it cannot be properly modified, would certainly recom-
mend its repeal.

My, Cass to Mr. Cobb.
DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, June 3, 1858,

Stk : I have the honor to transmit herewith, for your information,
two extracts from a despatch of Consul General Blythe, dated May

% See Consul Blythe, despatch No. 4, p 80,
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17, 1858 respecting the abuse of the American flag, and alleged
frauds on the revenue of the United States in the 1mportatlon of

cigars. S
I am, sir, your obedient servant,

LEWIS CASS.

[Bxtract,]

ConNsULATE (FENERAL oF Thi UNITED STATES,
Havana, Moy 17, 1858.

That which I deem of primary importance is the condition of sea-
men overtaken by disease 1n this port. The voice of humanity cries
earnestly in this matter, It would extend this letter to too great
Iength were I to attempt now an exposition of a plan of relief as I
once purposed. Something must be done by our government, or we
will continue, as we have done, to suffer serious injury in the loss of
very many ot that class of our people who are indispensable to our com-
mercial prosperity, and be derelict in a high moral duty. I trans-
mit herewith suggestions on the subject hastlly made by an experi-
enced American physician of this place, and without indorsing the
views therein set forth in all particulars, would commend them to
your consideration,

As connected with the above by kindred ties, I again ask that the
government make a strenuous eflort to obtain the pnvnle% of Pro-
test&nt wox.shxp in the island, or, at least, in the city of Havana, I
have, in another despatch, squcsted that such permission is prob-
ably more desirable to be obtained for this place than any other,
Great numbers of our people come here during the winter—a large
proportion of whom are invalids—niany with fatal diseases which
terminate their lives. -

Hon., Jonn AprrLeToN,

Assistant Secretary of State, Washinglon.

[Extract.]
Havana, May 17, 1858,

Another abuse presents itself constantly to my view in my present
position, and I would feel that I had been greatly remiss in duty in
failing to have brmwhb it to the notice of the government were I not
convmced that it is not ignorant thereon. I have reference to the
frauds almost universally pmctlced upon our revenue in the article of
cngars. I am sure that out of the immense number of affidavits to
invoices of this article ninety-nine out of every hundred are false.
The evil in this matter is not confined -alone to frauds upon the cus-
toms, but nearly all American merchants have been driven out of the
trade. It is now nearly entirely monopolized in most of our ports by
unprincipled foreigners, who only think they have done a creditable
thing when they have defrauded the revenue by means of perjury and
otherwise, I confess, however, I have no remedy to suggest, and in
this isolated article the grievance is so grea$, and an efficient remedy
so difficult, that T am very nearly convinced that a departure from the

usually Just ad valorem system is advisable,
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DMy, Applelon lo Mr. Blythe.

DEPARTMENT or STATE,
Washington, June 3, 1858,

Sir: I have to inform you that extracts from your despatch, dated
May 17, 1858, respecting the participation by American vessels in the
slave trude, and also relating to alleged frauds on the revenue of the
United States in the importation of cigars, have been sent to the Sec-
retary of the Treasury. Iixtracts from your despatehies relating to
expenditures for sick and destitite American scamen, the unhenlthy
location of the hospitals in which they are confined, an.| mortality
therein, have been transmitted to the chairman of the Committee on
COnnnerce ot the Ilouse of Representatives, with a view to further
legislation on the subject,

I am, sir, your obedient servant,

Mr. Appleton to Mr. Blythe.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, June 3, 1858,

Smi: T transmit herewith, for your information, a printed copy of
Senate executive document, No, 59, 35th Con(n‘ess, 1st session, con-
cerning the recent search or seizure of American vessels by foreign
armed cruisers in the Gulf of Mexico. Among the papers trans-
mitted to the Senate you will find copies of your despatches Nos. 6
and 7, with the enclosures accompanying them. Your proceedings
in the case of the Cortez, and promptitude in pwsentm«r the facts to the
department, are cordmlly approved.

Your despatch, No. 24, respecting the sale of Amencan vessels ub
Havana, and their participation in the slave trade, and suggesting
further legislation on the subject, was referred to the Secretary of the
Treasmy on the 3d of May, 1857 ; and an extract from your No. 4, of
1858, on the same subject, has this day been transmitted to the same

‘ dwm tment,

1 am, sir, your obedient servant, ,
JOIN APPLETON,

Assislant Secretary.

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass.

No. 106.] LraatioN oF THE UNITED STATES,
London, June 4, 1858.

SIR My No. 104 had to bo sent on the 1st instant thhout the ex-
pected communication from the Earl of Malinesbury. That note
reached the legation at about 9 o’clock, some hours after the despatch
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bag had gone. I annex a copy of it and also a copy of-my latter con-
veying t» his lordship a copy of your No. 103,

The Vanderbilt brought me yesterday your No. 106, and in trans-
mitting to Lord Malmeqburv the additional evidence concerning the
“Cortez,"” sent by that despnt(,h I thought the opportunity a good
one to express my apprchumnn as to the unsatisfactory character of
his note of the 1st instant.  Whether it will induce him to do some-
thing more at this critical moment, or whether he will tranquilly
wait for a specially authorized reply, ' cannot say. I annex a copy,

In the meantime the publication in the nowspapers of your letters to
me, Nos. 105 and 106, the Iatter before T had received it, has created
much anxicety, It is quite evident that the many and suddon ag-
gressions upon our vessels are not results of mere personal indiscre-
tlon, but spring from naval instructions, which were probably un-
known to the present govcrnment here. - Rather lame interpellations
and answers have been made in the House of Commons. Tho Timey
of yesterday containg an cditorial article not altogether m)u(hmous,
for it concludes by suggesting the 1n0\1)ediency “of prolonging the
effort to enforce ph!lanthmpy apon those who reject it.  The Post of
this morning reaches more directly an abandonment of the right of
search rather than o contest with us. A firm and composed attitude
may turn the crisis which their violenco has produced o the attain-
ment of our object, I have the assurance of the leading men among
the radicals that they are averse to this system of meddlmg with' the
rights and business of others with a view to carry out any favorite
policy.

The three fresh cases to which my attention and prompt action were
called by your No. 106, namely, that of the brig 4. 4. Chapman,
pursued and fired at by the “Forward;’’ that of the schooner Mobile,
chased, fired into, and boarded by the War steamer “Styx,”” and that
of the slnp Topic Bird, fired into and searched by the steamer ““Jus-
per,”’ together with the extraordinary overhauling given to numerous
American vessels in Sagua'la Grande, will coustntutc the matter of
anotlier communication to Luul Mdlmesbury without loss of' time,

I have the honor to be, sir, your most obedient servant,
G. M. DALLAS.

Hon. Lewrs CASS,
Secretary of Stale.

Foretex OFrice, June 1, 1858,

Sir: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of
yesterday, enclosing a copy of a despatch from the Secretary of State
of the United Statcs, and referring to various documents annexed to
it, complmnm(r of the detention and search of certain American vessels
by British cruisers, and statmg that while the government of the
United States is determined to use all proper exertions for the suppres-
sion of the slave trade, it is not less desirous that the just immunity
of the vessels of the United States upon the ocean should be preserved.
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I can assure you, sir, in reply, that her Majesty’s government are
as anxions as the government of United States to prevent such ocenr-
rences a8 those to which General Cass alludes in his despatch ; but
the difficulties by which the question is beset are mainly oceasioned
by the practice of vessels engaged in the slave trade making use of
the flag of the United Statts to cover their nefarious enterprises,

Her Majesty’s government arc persuaded that the government of
the United States view this practice with the utmost indignation, and
1 do not therefore hesitate to request you, sir, in pointing ont the
difficulties to your government, to add that her Majesty’s government
wonld re¢joice it the government of the United States could suggest
any means by which such an objectionable practice should be put a
stop to. :

In the meanwhile, however, the board of admiralty have enjoined
the British naval commanders to carry out this duty in regard to the
suppression of the slave trade on which they are employed, in & manner
as little calculated as possible to give occasion to complaints such as
those made by General Cass ; and those injunctions will be repeated
and more specifically addressed to the commanders of the British
cruisers off Cuba.

And as regards the particnlar case of the ¢ Cortez,”’ to which the
papers which you left with me yesterday refer, I will lose no time in
transmitting those papers to the board of admiralty, in order that
the circumstances therein set forth may be strictly investigated.,

I have the honor to be, with the highest consideration, sir, your

most obedient, humble servant,
MALMIESBURY.

(Georar M. Darnnas, Esq., de., de., de.

LikaaTION or TiE UNITED STATES,
London, June 3, 1858,

My Lorp: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your
lordship’s letter of the 1st instant, unfortunately too late in the even-
ing of that day for immediate transmission to the government of the
United States. , o -

At the interview with which I was honored by your lordship on that
morning, I felt it my duty to recapitulate, summarily and with entire
frankuess, the circumstances which impelled me to waive the dilatory
form of written communication, in favor of prompt verbal representa-
tions ; circumstances, as I conceived, giving to the actual relations of
our two countries an unusunal it not a critical gravity, |

Your lordship obliged me by an attentive hearing.  While abstain-
ing from repeating the detailed counsiderations then urged, it will be
permitted me to say that the despatch received from the Department
of State, numbered 103, and dated the 12th of May, 1858, (and of
which I subsequently furnished, agreeably to your lordship’s desire,
a copy,) was read ; and I left in the hands of your lordship copies of
the consular report, and affidavits connected with the particular case
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of aggresion made by the officers of her Majesty’s screw gun-boat
“« Forward *’ upon the American ship ¢‘ Cortez.”” Having yesterday,
by the steamer ¢ Vanderbilt,”’ received from Washington a further
consular report, with threc other depositions, more fully and prwmely
exposing the character of that outrage, I beg leave to submit copies
of the same.,

Your lordship’s note of the 1st instant will, of course, be forwarded
to Washington without loss of time; but under the clear and con-
sistent posntmn heretofore, and for many years, taken by my govern-
ment, uniformly aseerted in instructions to my predecessors and myself,
and 5tead1]y on every appropriate occasion stated in the correspon-
dence of this Jegation, in regard to any exercise of an alleged right to
stop, detain, visit, or scarch the merchant vessels of the United btates,
nuvwatnur under the natiounl flag the highway of nations in a time
of peace, I feel myself bound in candor to say in advance, and with a
faint hope that it may not be absolutely unavailing, that the contents
of your lordship’s note are not likely to assunge the deep feeling excited
among my countrymen by a series of abrupt ‘and violent assaults upon
their commerce, and not likely to prove satisfactory to the American
Executive,

By the fraudulent prostltuhon of their flag to cover a trade which,
as respects their own citizens, they have snxluected to the penalties of
piracy, the United States arc treated with a licentious insolence to
which all nations are equally liable, happily, however, only from the
recklessly criminal.  To resent, :md if possible, to punish and prevent
that insolence, is a duty excluslvely incumbent upon their own self-
respect ; and their exertions to effect that object in every legitimate
way, are constant, unwearied, and sincere.  But can it be pretended
for & moment that the wrongs thus inflicted by conspirators und out-
laws should constitute a motive for the American government to yield
their equality among nations, to forego their acknowled«red rights
under the laws of nations, to suchct. voluntarlly their commerce to a
foreign maritime police, and so surrender their flag to the double
indignity of misuse by the wicked and challenge by the strong ?

The President cannot doubt the solicitude of “her Majesty’s govern-
ment to preserve ummpanul the irlen(ll) relations of the two coun-
tries; but he will, I fear, perceive in your lordship’s note no features
more promising “to the future than those which for the last twenty
years have proved unhappily, ineffective.  He has expressed an
“earnest desire,’”’ at a moment of almost universal excitement among
his countl)men ‘that the practice of detaining and searching Ameri-
can vessels should be ““discontinued,;’” but he has failed to obtain from
your lordship more than the assurance of fresh instructions from the
board of admiralty to British naval commanders that the ‘““duty in
regard to the suppresmm of the slave trade’’ should be carried out, not
by ¢ discontinuing "’ the practice so deeply painful to the Amencml
government and people, but ¢“in a manner as litle calculated as pos-
sible to ¢ give occasion to such complaints as those made by General Cuss,”
Your lordship, in whose just and liberal sentimentsunlimited reliance
is placed, will, I am sure, pardon me for suggesting that this answer



AFRICAN SLAVE TRADE 0h

T e e . A e . L -
may probably be appreciated as offering a palliative only for trespasses
whose ¢“discontinuance’’ is not promised ?

Renewing to your lordship the assurance of my highest consideration,
I have the honor to be your most obedient servant,

G. M. DALLAS.

Lord Malmesbury to Lord Napier.

ForeraNy Orrice, June 4, 1858,

Mz Lorp: I have received your lordship’s despatch, No, 17 of this
series, of the 11th ultimo, transmitting copies of a note and its en-
clostires, addressed to you by General Cnss, complaining of the pro-
ceedings of the commander of her Majesty’s ship ““Styx,”” in bringing
to and boarding the American merchant vessel ¢ N. B. Borden,’’ off
the coast of Cuba, and in reply I have to instruct your lordship to
state to the American minister that inquiries will be immediately
made respecting the oceurrence of which his excellency complains.

Althongh it is notorious that the American colors are often hoisted
by vessels which have no right to bear them, and whose agsumption
of that nationality can only be detected by due investigation, her
Majesty’s government would regret if the attempt to put an end to
such a frandulent adoption of the American flag should entail incon-
venience on those who are entitled to carry it, or cause loss or annoyance
to those who are engaged in legitimate trade. ;

The verification of the flag by the production of a ship’s papers
would scarcely appear to lie open to any such objection, and in such
an opinion the American government must be considered to coincide,
as it appears from the report of the commander of the United States
ship ‘““Dale,”’ to the commander-in-chief of the American naval forces
on the coast of Africa, communicated to the Scnate by the President,
in answer to their resolution of the 19th of January, 1858, that the
right of visit for the purpose of verifying the flag is one which they
have themselves asserted and enforced. _

And you will inform his excellency that the commanders of British
cruisers, who, in the execution of their duty, may have to ascertain
the right of merchant vessels to hoist particular colors, are most strictly
enjoined to perform that duty with all due courtesy and consideration.

Mr. Dallas has laid before me some papers, being aflidavits made
before United States consuls, upon these subjects, and he does not ap-
pear satisfied that I have not, at once, made some positive declaration
with respect to the charges therein contained, and to the future action
of her Majesty’s government.
~ You will explain to General Cass that, as we have only received
these ex parfe depositions, her Majesty’s government must, in common
justice, first await the result of the investigation which they have in-
structed the proper authorities to make on these unfortunate occur-
rences, and that her Majesty’s government, ever anxious to aintain
the most friendly relations with the United States, will always adhere
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strictly to international law, and to the terms of their treaties with
that state, and visit with their displeasure any public officer who

ventures to infringe them,

I am, with great truth and regard, &c., -
MALMESBURY.

You will read this to General Cass, and leave his excellency a copy.
M.

The Lorp NaArier, de., &e., de.,

W A
Commander Deel to Vice-Admiral Sir Houston Slewart.
{Extract.]

~ ¢“ BuzzARD,’’ AT SEA,
Lat. 23° 12 N., Long. 80° &' W., June 5, 1858,

On the afternoon of the 2d of May, on my way to Lobos cay, for the
purpose of lauding there materials for erecting a light-house, I observed
alarge vessel lying just inside the white water, and supposing the vessel
to be on shore, I immediately bore up for the purpose of rendering assist-
ance, had it been required.  On closing the vessel I hoisted colors and
anchored near her, distant about four hundred yards, she being from two
to three miles outside any cay, and at a very unsafe and exposed anchor-
age. The vessel having hoisted no colors, I sent a boat on board to
ask the master if he would hoist them; he, in a most insolent manner,
refused. The officer then returned to the ¢ Buzzard'’ and reported to
me what had occurred, I then went on board the vessel myself,
accompanied by Mr. Akaster, master, when the refusal 1o hoist colors
was still persisted in, and I was told by the master of the merchant
ship that ““if I wanted to see them I had better go aft and see them
on the deck.”” This I, of course, declined doivg. I then said: ¢“As1
see no Spanish flag on any cay, nor any Spanish authority to whom I
can report you, I consider it my duty to make you hoist your colors;’”’
which, after a great deal of demurring, was done, She proved to be
the ¢ Clarendon,’’ of New York.

Commander Peel to Sir Houston Stewart,
[Extract.]

HEeRr MaJESTY’S STEAMER ‘¢ Buzzanp,”’
‘ June 9, 1858,

The ship ¢ Clarendon’’ was in no port whatever ; the officer never
proceeded to the cabin or went off the quarter-deck. Ie did not com-
mand, but civilly asked for the colors to be hoisted ; the papers were
never asked for. The ‘“Buzzard’’ never fired either blank or shot near
or at the ¢“Clarendon,”” Captain B., as he is called in the paper, never
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asked me to go into the cabin, and no officer of the ¢ Buzzard’ ever
moved an inch abaft the mainmast. I had no pistol, nor any arms
besides my sword, which I never attempted to draw. No force was
used,-nor did any foremast-man of the ¢Buzzard’ ever go on board

the said ghip.”’

Mr. Cass to Mr. Dallas.

No. 114.] DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, June 17, 1858,

Str : T herewith transmit to you for your information the copy of a
communication of the 9th instant, addressed to this department by
the vice-consul general of the United States at Havana, touching the
late British aggressions upon our commerce in that quarter.

I also enclose herewith a copy of the resolution which passed the
Senate on the 16th instant, respecting the pretensnon of the British
government to search the vessels of the United St ales upon the ocean
in time of peace, for any purpose whatever. They met the unanimous
concurrence of that high body, and express the universal sentiment of
the American people.  The immunity of their merchant vessels upon
the high scas will be steadily maintained by the United States under
all cncnmstances, as an attribute of their soverurrnty never to be
abandoned, whatever sacrifices its protection may require.

I am, sir, respectfully, your obedient servant,
. ; LEWIS CASS.

Grorae M. DaLnas, Esq.,

&e., de., de.

[The consular despatch referred to is to be found in its chronological
order. ]

Mr, Dallas to Mr. Cass,

[Ext.*?cts‘]

No. 111.] LEcATION OF TiE UNITED STATES,
London, June 18, 1838,

Str: The note and annexes of which I herewith transmit copies
were received by me late last evening from the Earl of Malmesbury.
They apply to the case of the schooner ¢ Cortez,”” searched and scized
on the 16th of April last, on the north coast of' Cuba, by Licutenant
Commanding Henry Davxes of the British gunboat ¢ Forwmd > who
is believed to have also chased and fired at the American brig €A A,
Chapman’’ on the 9th of Apl‘ll and to the proceedings of Commander
Vesey, of the ship ¢ Styx,”” supposed to have been the officer who

H. Ex. Doc. 7 7
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repeated]v fired at, overhauled, and boarded the American schooner
¢ Mobile,”” 'Howes master, as ghe was coasting, heavily laden with
cotton, from Mobile to New York.

These documents, instead of confuhng, would seem to confess a zeal
of British maritime police for the suppression of the slave trade, which
broke entirely through every consideration attnched to the nationality
of the flag or the vessel. You will observe that Commodore Kellett,
writing to the admiralty from the ¢ Imaum,’” at Jamaica, on the-26th
of May, 1858, says that the Havana newspapers quebtmnu(l the legality
of the seizure of the ‘¢ Cortez ;”’ ¢ but,”” adds the commodore, *¢ the
advertisements show that she was fully equippul for the slave trade ;’ ;
a fact which be doubtless conceived, according to his orders, to justify
the capture, no matter what flag or what papers she carried.

Commander Vesey, whose solicitude to vindicate his own course of
action weaves together all sorts of plots, rumors, and anticipations,
and who even goes so far as to insinuate, what he admits that he can-
not undertake to prove, ‘‘something discreditable to Lieutenant

Almy,”” frankly states, ‘¢ we are obliged to bring to many vessels of
that nation, (thc United States.) otherwise our cruising would be more
than uaclesq » and ‘“the masters of American merchant ships are
refusing even to hoist their colors;’’ ¢¢] always insist on its being
done—fmng blank cartridge to enforce it, and in cases where I have
reason to suspect the vessel I examine her papers.”’  Here is exposed
and vaunted the insufferable practice, in contempt of American rights,
whose discontinuance has been demanded and finally agreed upon.

These documents, it appears to me, can only bear upon the question
of the amount of redress to which those may " be entitled who have
suffered under an admlttedlv false interpretation and violent breach
of international law. And in this respect exclusively you will allow
me to remark that of the four cases recently transmitted to me, the
“ Cortez,’”” the “A. A. Chapman,” the ‘Tropic Bird,”’ and the
‘“ Mobile,” one only, that of thc ‘Cortez, " bears features of aggra-
vation in the representations of the claimants, while the three others
passed off, with insult, it may be, but with little or no injury to per-
son or property The report of the United States consul at Havana
suggests that it is competent to himself personally to.establish the
existence and authenticity of the American papers of the ¢¢ Cortez,’
If that be so, then it would be well that his statement to that point,
with all just particularity, should take the form ot solemn and positive
affidavit,

[ notice in the newspapers received at this legation from the United
States allegations that as many as thirty or tlnrty ~five aggressive
outrages upon our commerce by British cruisers have accurr ed within
the last two months on the Cuban coast and in the Gulf of Mexico, [
presume that the great body of these cases are being the suh](,cts of
inquiry, and that, when detailed circumstances of fact and i injury are
ascertained, you will instruct me to present them to the British gov-
ernment. * * * * * * *

The speech of the Bishop of Oxford, in the House of Lords last
night,on presenting a Jamaica petition, to which I attentively listencd,
gave the Earl of Malmesbury another opportunity to recur to tho
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relations with the United States, and his remarks were more exact
and explanatory than those made on the 8th instant, T send you a
slip report, cut from the ¢“Times’’ of this morning. Ior once the
““law officers of the crown’’ have upheld the American interpretation
of international law,

I have the honor to be, sir, your most obedient servant,
G. M. DALLAS.

Hon. Lewis Cass,
Secretary of Stale.

ForeraN Orrick, June 17, 1858,

Sir: With reference to the letter which I had the honor to address
to you on the 7th instant, I now beg leave to transmit to you the
accompanying copies of letters from Commodore Kellett and Lieu-
tenant Davies, which have been communicated to me by the board of
admiralty, relative to the capture of the schooner ¢¢ Cortez’’ by her
Majesty’s gunboat ‘¢ Forward.”’

1 also beg leave to enclose an extract of a letter from the commander
of her Majesty’s ship ‘“Styx,”’ reporting his proceedings on the coasts
of Cuba, and containing information respecting the Cuban slave trade,
and the use which is made ot the American flag to carry on this

traffic. o
I have the honor to be, with the highest consideration, sir, your

most obedient, humble servant,
MALMESBURY.
G. M. Dawuas, Esq, de., de.

No. 21.

¢“Imaun,’”’ (at Jamaica,)
May 26, 1858.

Sir: I have the honor to transmit herewith, for the information of
my lords commissioners of the admiralty, copy of a letter from Lieu-
tenant Henry Davies, commanding her Majesty’s gunboat “‘Forward,’’
detailing the circumstances of the capture of the schooner ‘¢ Cortez ’’
off the north coast of Cuba on the 16th April, and to acquaint you
that the said schooner was condemned in the vice admiralty court at
Jamaica on the 14th instant, being fully equipped for the slave trade.

By the Havana papers, there appears to be some question as to the
legality ot the seizure of this vessel ; but, by the advertisements
enclosed, their lordships will see that she was fully equipped for the
slave trade.

I have, &c. ,
T HY. KELLETT,

Commodore.
The SECRETARY fo the Admiralty.
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H. M. GunnoAT ¢“ ForwARrD,”’
Lort Royal, May 26, 1858.

Str: I have the honor to report that, when cruising off the Havana
on the 16th of April,at 5 a. m. I mghtcd a topsail schooner, about six
miles on the lee-quarter, standing towards us.

I continued on the same course until she neared us, to three miles
on the lec-beam, when I kept away and got up steam. During this
time the schooncr made sail, m'm(Luvred altered course h‘equently
and was so suspicious in appearance that I determined upon boardmg
her, After a chase of one hour and a half, I hoisted the English
colors and fired a blank gun-—chase showed American colors, “and
hove to.

She proved to be the ¢ Cortes,’”” from Iavana, Upon boarding
her, a person represented himself as the master, and showed me some
papers, which 1 considered to be irregular ; but he refused to deliver
them into my hands. The crew rushed and hauled the flag, and
destroyed the papers. I then, as previously, informed them that I
intended to take them to an Amu'lcan man-of-war, when they all
denied their being of any nation, also the existence of any papers.

The papers that had been shown to me were observed to have been
thrown into the sea by Daniel Wakeham, and could not be recovered,
No papers were found during the search for them, which immediately
occurred, therefore [ detained her. -On searching the vessel, I found
her tully equipped for the slave trade, :

The nature of the papers could not be ascer tained, as the person
representing himself to be the master would not give me more than
a glance at them before destroying them, No one would acknowledge
to be the master after detention. ,

I then put Mr. Rowlett, second master of her Majesty’s steamer
““ Iorward,”’ on board, with a crew, and sent hier for adjudication to

Jamaica.

I have, &c. ;
S : HENRY DAVIES,

Licutenant Commandiny.
Commodore Krnnerr, C. B., Jamaica.

May 25, 1858,

For sale by pubhc auction, at*the wharl of ’\Iesqrb. De Pars, Alber-
gas & Mitchell, on Friday, May 28, instant, at 10 o’clock, the scver(ml
articles un(h,rmentlone(l being the. cur;zo of the rchooner ¢ Ul)l'tu,
nation unknown, secized by her Majesty’s steamer ¢ Forward,”’ and
condemned by the vice admiralty court for having been eng: 1ge«l in

the slave trade :

78 quarter-casks and G
40 hogsheads of rum, and ; In bond, for exportation only.

2 barrels of sugar,



AFRICAN SLAVE TRADE, 101

1 hogshead and three quarter- 1 box vermicelli,
casks red wine, 7 barrels beef.
1 octave wino. 6 barrels pork.
2 octaves vinegar. _ b muskets,
70 barrels rice, 1 bag bullets,
51 barrels red rice, 33 tin buokctq.
2 barrels and 12 bags peas. 6 wooden buckets.
3 sacks salt. 1 barrel herrings.
T kegs lard. 1 box sago.
3 bags tobacco. 1 box medicines.
2 ba«rs corn, 1 keg nails.
1 bag sarsaparilla, 1 iron boiler and frame com-
1 bag wooden spoons, plete.
5 drums codfish. 98 water casks.
3 barrels wheat flonr, I lot firewood.
“T0 boxes salad oil. 3,091 feet lumber,

Terms of sale: A deposit of :£25 per cent., to be forfeited in case
of non-completion of the contract, and payment of the balance within
six days of purchase previous to removal.

HENRY MAXWELL HALL,
Marshal of the Vice ddmiralty Court of Jamaica.

Extract of « lelter from Commander Vesey, of her Majesty’s steamer
“Styx,”’ dated Havana, May T, 1858.

On the 27th of April I had the honor of writing by ¢ Forward’’ to
inform you that I had taken the ¢ Buzzard” ander. my orders. 1 have
since seen Commander Peel, and find that he will not have finished
at Liobos before the 20th of this month, as the vessel with stores had
not arrived from England.

After that date the ¢ Buzzard”” will ernise between Bahia Honda
and Cape Antonio, and I have directed Commander Peel to purchase
sufficient bread at Matanzas to last out his other provisions.

In this island the slave trade is being carried on with the greatest
activity, the large price given for slaves. (from $1,500 to $2 ,000) offer-
ing every inducement to sk capital.  Numbers of vessels are fitting
at ,Hav ana, and I believe, also, thut there are many at Sagua, Cardes
nas, and the other small ports. In Havana one company alone owns
fifteen vessels: the scho(mer “Cortes,”” taken; bn«rantme ““ Mary
Blizabeth,”” bark ¢¢ Venus,”” brigantine ¢¢St. Andr(,w " a fore-and-
aft schoouer, and a black bark with skysail yards, bomg among the
number. L ;

They employ an American called A. T. Smalley to purchase their
vessels at New York, and I expect him down soon with orie.  On his
arrival another American is put in as master, and clears for Anna-
bona, on the coast, with passengers and cargo.
~The sealed lctter custom-house cleamncc, and charter party are in
the same hundwrltmg and are forged. 'I'he passengers are the
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Spnnlsh ‘captain and crew, who only look after the slaves, as the
Americans navigate the vessel. The cargo is for slaves, the ground
tier being water casks, and the upper generally antmrdlente. This
is the plun with this company, and I dare say the others pursue one
somewhat similar. Single slavers are never fitted out, the risk being
too great; but they calculate on great profits by running one clear
out of a certain number. Mr. Cabayas, the shlpclmnd]cr, supplies
all slavers ﬁttmg out at Havana, and officers gom(r to that place
ought to be on their guard. against him, as he is always seeking to
obtain information=about the cruisers. Iast Regla iy the fitting
ground at Havana.

Slavers, when leaving Havana, stand right over to Key West, and
then work up along the Ilorida reefs, keeping close into the white
water till they get to Carysfort reef, when they consider themselves
safe ; they then pass round the Matinilla reef into the Atlantic. As
far as I can learn, homeward-bound slavers have a landing place
named each side of the island, that they may take advantzum of cir-
cumstances. )

These places vary, but slaves are generally landed at the cast and
west ends, among the keys in the old Bahama channel. The most
favorite p]ace is between the Isle of Pines and Cape Autonio, Cortez
bay in particular. The ““St. Andrew,”” coming home in about two
months with a cargo of 600, will land either at Sierra Morena, on
the north side, or between blquanea bay and Cape Antonio.

This vessel left Havana the same morning as the Brunswick, The
United States steamer ““ Fulton’ went out at the same time, and kept
between the *“Brunswick”” and ‘“8t. Andrew,” (which vessel was
under American colors.)

I cannot undertake to prove that Licutenant Almy knew what the
¢ St. Andrew’’ was.

On the 12th and 16th of last month two vessels landed slaves at
Ortegoza, near Bahisa Honda, the civil guard helping to dispose of the
cargo. On the 27th a ship offered $40,000 to the authorities at Bahia
Honda for permission to land, which was refused. An abandoned
schooner has also drifted on shore, having evidently had slaves on
board, and a vessel arrived yesterday havmg landed her cargo.
These cases have Dbeen represented to the captain general by her
Majesty’s consul general, and are now under investigation.

I have now some important information to COI’llII]IlIllCthb to you, and
whilst doing so, beg 10 say that, though I fully believe it myself, yet
I may have been deceived, and’ thercfore would caution any officer
against acting upon it too hastxly, as the consequences of a mistake
would be most serious.  The information is as follows :

In about a 1ortmght a steamer of about six hundred horse-power,
will leave a port in the (Gulf, and come into Havana, under Mexican
colors; her name is the (xarmlquu (?) At Havana Licutenant Hardy
will takc command, and she will leave the harbor under Mexican
colors, but when outside will hoist an American ensign and broad
pennant, having her men dressed in white, and passing as an American

man-of-war. _ ’
This man Hardy is said to be a desperate character, and to have for-
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merly commanded the United States ship ¢ Preble.”” He was cashiered
during the Mexican war for having called out one of fhe American
generals, and has a commission signed by President Polk, IHis comn-
mission is either false or void, but he walks about at Havana wearing
an American uniform, and apparently has plenty of money.

I shall use every endeavor to fall in with this vessel and capture
her, but as she may escape, I think that informmation ought to be sent
to her Majesty’s cruisers on the west coast of Africa, I cannot find out to
what port she is going, but from the line to the Congo is the most
likely ground for her to take.

This scheme is so bold as almost to appear incredible; but slaves
must be had in Cuba, and I told you, sir, before, that at Ilavana I
had stood by a slaver whose flying-boom was poiuting to the custom-
house door, ‘

That vessel was the ¢“ Cortes,”” taken by the ¢ Forward,” on
information furnished by me to Lieutenant Davies.

As most of the slavers, regarding whom we have information, run
under American colors, we are obliged to bring to many vessels of
that nation, otherwise our cruising would be more than useless. This
has given great offence to the American press; and on the strength of
their leading articles the masters of American merchant ships are
refusing even to hoist their colors to us, declaring that we have no
right to make them do so. 1 always insist on its being done, fring
blank cartridge to enforce it; and in cases where I have reason to
suspect the vessel, T examiune her papers, always offering to note it in
the log.  This is always rcfused ; the master declaring that he will
report us, and generally most abusive language is used to the board-
ing officer.

You will perceive, sir, that these circumstances place the comman-

ders of her Majesty’s cruisers in a most delicate position.
- I may conclude by stating my belief that in six months all slavers
will be running under American colors, and I enclose a list of those
suspected, to prove that what I say is well founded. I have just re-
ceived a communication from her Majesty’s consul general, informing
me that the - ptain general of Cuba has remonstrated against the pin-
nace of he  Majesty’s ship ¢¢ Buzzard’’ going into Sagua harbor and
examining, vessels in Spanish waters.  Also, that a Spanish war
steamer is about to start immediately for that place,

I shall send Commander Peel instructions to withdraw his boat

immediately.
List of vessels suspecled of being engaged in the slave trade.

Brigantine Maria Tubon, of Bucksport; American; red streak, green
house on deck abaft; fitting at Rio Sagua. v

Brigantine Mary Lilizabeth ; American; has sailel; black, with red
streak; brown house abaft; deep; captain American; has four Spanish
passengers; papers forged in the same handwriting. ;

Bark Venus; Anrerican; painted ports; captain a Dutchman; has
a sealed letter with name of vessel, and directed to Annabona ; has
about 30 persons, four of them Spanish passengers with passports ;
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sealed letter and custom-house clearance, also charter-party in rame
handwriting forged ; crew ought to be mustered. Captain has been in
California chain gang.

Schooner Baltimore ; fore-and-aft rig, with a house abaft ; Ameri-
can; black; with a red’ streak; captain a tall American.

Bl'wantme St, Andrew ; Amerlcan cexpected in about two months,

Burl\ with skysail des, black und rakish,

Schooner Blooming Youth; forc-and-aft rig; American; black, with
yellow streak. -

Brigantine W illiam Montague ; American; 167 tons.

'l‘op.szul schooner Brownsville ; Americnn; trunk house abaft; very
rakish,

Polacca brig ; Dlack mastheads, red streak, probably Spanish colors,

Bark Mack with red streak.

Schooner Cmtc/,, taken; had American colors.

[Extract from the London Times of June 18, 1858.]

The Earl of Malmesbury said that their lordships had heard the
observations addressed to the Ilouse by the Right Reverend Prelate,
with hereditary eloquence and hereditary feelm« on a subject always
interesting to this country, and he wished he could say that the sub-
Jject excited equal interest in other countries. IHe regretted, however,
to say that they were not aided as they might wish to be on this sub-
jeet by other nations, and this was one of the great difficulties with
‘which they had to contend. [Hear, hear. ] With the greatest Justlce
the Right Reverend Prelate laid unmitigated blame on the Spanish
gover nment for a long course of breach of tre aty and of cruelties to
the African natives. If all the despatches written by British govern-
ments to Spain on this subject were woven together, he believed they
would reach from this country to Cuba itself. All the British ad-
ministrations, one alter another, had done their best to induce Spain to
do its duty, and all had smnally failed, Spain had opposed what was
the most difficult opposition to 0\'cloomo-—~passwc resistance ; and it
wasg not without very great risk of rupture with other countries that
the British government had sometimes cndeavored to take measures
which appeared to those countries stronger than ought to be taken.
The Right Reverend Prelate must recollcct that the foreign minister
~of this country could not act entirely on his own foellst, for this
matter involved complications, and also much risk of offence to other
countrics which were not impressed so strongly as this country on ‘this
subject, in respect to which other nations had descended into a sort of
relaxation of feeling. He alluded to the system of slavery itself,
He did not demur to the doctrines laid down by the noble and learned
lord, but as the noble and learned lord had stated that there was a
difference between the right of search and visit, he must say that the
United States positively, categoncall;, and constantly had refused to
admit the distinction, and the doctrine laid down by the United States
was adopted by other countries. Not long ago he endeavored to ob-
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tain from all civilized countrleq some agreement by which British offi-
cers might know ex ctly how far they counld go in cases of strony sus-
picion, and be protected by the agreement. “Heo was antlmpnted by
the I? rench government, which lnid down this law, that in time of
peace no French ship should e detained, or searched, or boarded, but
that certain forms should be goune thmucrh without dctmmn«v the
vessel, which, to a certain degree, might enable the nationality of the
ship to be ascertnmed, and her 1‘mht to th(, flag she carried.  Ile had
no reason to conceal what he had done since recent events. He had
admitted the international law as laid down by the American minister
for foreign affairs, though not, of course, without being fortified by
the opinions of the law officers of the crown ; but, huvmrr admitted
that, he had put it as strongly as possible to the American govern-
mcnt that when it was once known that the American flag covered
the cargo, every pirate and slaver on the face of the sea would carry
the American flag; and that instead of the honor of the country benw
vindicated, that very fact must bring dishonor on the American n.mon,
if an obstinate adherence to its prescnt declarations were persisted in,

and the American flag would be prostituted to the worst purposes,

[Hear, hear.] He had urged that it was necessary in these civilized
times that there should be, if not a right by international law, some
agreement among the maritime states as to how far their officers
mwht go to venfy the nationality of vessels and the legality of their
ﬂnos “He earnestly hoped, from the language he had nsed and from
conversations he had had with the American minister in this country,

and also from perusing the able paper dvawn up by General Cuss on
this point, that a chan"e of this kind might be agreed upon with the
United States, so that by instructions given to naval officers the flag
of the country mlght be verified without the risk of offence. Of course,
their loxdthpq would not require him to go more into detail as to the
great practical difficulties in the way of ‘the suppression of the slave
trade ; but he thought a mistake had been committed in zsonrhmr our
squadron to the Cuban waters, instend of keeping it on the African
coast. He was told that at the beginning of the Russian war the
slave trade was very nearly e\tuwulshod but during that war a great
portion of the squadron was withdrawn from the const of Africa and
the slave trade made great progress. It has always been the pohoy
of this and other Duropean states to support Spain in defending the
Island of Cuba against any hostile invasion, but he did not hesitate to
say in his place in Parliament that if bpmn continued to show such
an utter want of principle and such base ingratitude to this country,
indifference would be exchanged for amity, and instead of taking her
part we should leave her to suffer whatever consequences might ensue,

[Hear, hear.] The statement of his noble and learned friend as to
what had taken place on the coast of Liberia was very nearly accurate,

It appeared that a French ship was laden with a number ot Africans
who were called emigrants, but were to be no more than slaves.  'T'hey

were shackled and mzmac]cd and when the captain was gone on shonc
they rose and killed every Frenchman on board, e:\cvpb one. An
English vessel having heard of the disaster, chased the slaver, and she
unmedmtely gave herself up, the persons on board expressing the
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greatest joy and pleasure at falling in with an I nglish ship. The
French captain, who had been fullowm(r in his b(m,t took ponsession
of her, as far as the command went, The French ofhcer on the station
claimcd the ship and took her out of the Liberian port. It appeared
as a matter of law that we were not justified in tukmg this slaver in
Liberian waters without an order issued by the Liberian government,
s0 that the quairel as it now stood was between the Liberian and
French governments, and her Majesty’s government would have
nothing to say in the matter. He believed tlmt wag a correct account
of what had been done.  He believed the state of the law was as he
had described, aund her ] \In;ebty s present government as her Majesty’s
Inte gover mnent were using every opportunity to protest to the I'rench
government against a line of(,(mdu(,t which, though it affected to be a
system’ of emigration, could only be called in the language of truth
the rencwal of the slnvg trade, [Cheers.]

The Farl of Carlisle rose to express his great satisfaction that this
paramotint subject had been brought under “heir lordships’ attention.
He called it paramount, because “there was no other great question
remaining so caleulated to excite the sympathy and interest of the
whole world, He had had an opportunity of sceing some of the
effecty ot importing negroes into the Island of Cuba, and in his opin-
ion it was to the eternal disgrace of the Spanish government that such

a system had been so long carvied ou in that beautiful island. [Hear,
hear.] No oune would shrink more than he would from saying any-
thing which would complicate or imbitter our relations with the
American government, IHe knew that even such a purpose as the
suppression of the slave trade must be carried on with some reference
to changing circumstances and condltlons, and he felt convinced that,
in the interest of suppression, strict care should be taken that we did
not exceed the limits of our well-defined rights, or encroach on the

~Tights and prerogatives of others, Still, he folt bound to express his
opinion that the (,uuntrym(,n of Clarkson, VVllb(,rtome, and Brougham
had already done so much for the suppression of the slave tmde they
would uever consent to a disgracetul retreat or retrograde course upon

this great qucstloru [Cheers. ]

My, Appleton lo Mr. Sevage.

! DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, June 18, 18«)8.

Sti: 1 transmit herewith an extract from a despatch,* dated June
1, 1858, addressed by the DBritish consul at Charleston to Lord
Malmesbury, and cmmnumcaled to this department by Lord Napier,
respecting the ¢ Liddia (rlbbs which vessel sailed from the above-
nawed port, a short time since, ostensibly on a voyage to the West
Indies, was subsequently sold at IHavana, and proceeded thence to the

2 The enclosure referred to appears in chronological order in this correspondence,
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coast of Africa, and, as it is alleged, manned by a crew of Americans;
and, as it is reported, under the original American papers.

You are requested to furnish this department with all the informa-
tion which you may be able to obtain in regard to this vessel, and the
allegations which have been made against her commander,

Should it appear, after due investigation, that there is ‘‘ probable
cause ol belief’’ that the statements of the British consul are correct,
you will lose no time in taking such steps as may be necessary in the
premises, ; -

You are referred, for your instruction and guidance, to the opinion
of the Attorney General, dated I'ebruary 12, 1857, which is herewith
transmitted,

1 am, sir, your obedient servant, y
‘ JOIIN APPLETON,
~ Assistant Seeretary.,
Tiomas Savacy, Isq.,
Uniled States Vice-Consul General, Havana.,

My, Dallas to Mr. Cass.

No. 113.] LreaTioN or TiE UNITED STATES,
- London, June 26, 1858,

Str: I have the honor to transmit the copy of a letter, and its an-
nexces, wddressed to nie by her Majesty’s principal secretary of state
for foreign affairs, and reccived late last evening. ,

This commuunication is designed to urge upon the government of
the United States the adoption of certain suggestions represented to
have been made by Mr, Blythe,.our consul at Havana, to your depart-
ment, and subsequently relerred to in a conversation he held with the
British consul general.  Lord Malmesbury characterizes these sugges-
tions ‘¢ as striking at the root of the Cuban slave trade,”” and requests
me ‘¢ to reeall attention to them, earuestly hoping that, by carrying
them out, the government of the United States will give a sabstantial
proof of their desire to put a stop to the Cuban slave trade.””  Lord
Malmesbury’s note to me is founded upon a despatch, of the 8th
instant, from Lord Napier, of which he furnished a copy.

Without further knowledge than these papers impart of the course,
on this subject, pursued at the department, and of the views there
cntertained, I restrict myself, while torwarding the documents, to one
or two remarks which have occurred to my own mind.

1. The stipulations of the Webster-Ashburton treaty of 1842 must,
of course, in good faith be vigorously fulfilled. They are limited,
however, to the maintenance of a squadron of eighty guns on the
coast of Africa, and to making all becoming representations and re-
monstrances for the close of such slave markets as are allowed to exist
in the dominions of other powers, and by which the suppression of
the slave trade is rendered impracticable.
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2. If the United States steadily, on their part, execute the terms of
this conventional arrangement, can they reasonably be called upon to
go further? They never have aﬂ"ccted, and do not now aflect, to feel
any national hostility to the permanent form of cmnpnlsory negro
labor ; it is the slave trade only which their Constitution 1mp]|ed1y
(-ondcmns, and their legi islation punishes as piracy. Is there not
something savoring of intrusion or encroachment when, notwithatand-
ing what they have done, and notwithstanding the nolomety of their
domestic sentiments and differences upon this toplc they are persist-
ently pressed by a government claiming to be the van of universal
aholmmmm, to advance another M(-p? Is it considerate or respect-
ful to invite them to pick away, bit by bit, the foundation of their
federal Union ?

3. The powers with which the American government are asked to
clothe their consul at Havana are extensive, delicate, and new. They
are to be exercised over the transfers of pnvntc pmperty and in the
visitation of vesscls. Ile has never before pessessed or practiced
them.  They can searcely be reconciled with the freedom and sensi-
tiveness o commerce. At all events, in view of the course heretofore
pursued, in fixing, enlarging, or abridging the duties and powers of
our counstls, it may be doubted whether tlw) can consistently be con-
ferred without legislation,

I have the honor to be, sir, your most obedient servant,

: G. M. ])ALLAS.
Hon, Lewis Cass,
Secretary of Stale,

IForerey Orrice ,June 24, 1858,

Sir: T have the honor to transmit to you the accompanying copy of
a dvsputoh which I have received from Lowd Napier, her Majesty’s
minister at Washington, enclosing an extract of a private letter ad-
dressed to his lordship by her Mn|(-sty s consul general in Cuba,

It will he seen from these papers that Mr. ]’lytho the United States
consul at Havana, has represented in the strongest terms to the Depart-
ment of State at Washington the oh)r'chmmbl(, practices of American
citizens in connexion with the Cuban slave trade, and that he has
suggested measures calenlated to correet the evils attending {he fraudu-
lent tr ansfer of Ameriean vessels to Cuban slave traders: und further,
that he has demanded anthority to visit all ships under the United
States flag suspected of heing engaced in the slave trade.

But you will see, also, from what pm\e(l at the conversation between
her Majesty’s minister and General Cass, that no steps have been
taken for giving effect to the sugeestions of Mr. Blythe, or to furnish
him with the uuthonty which Tie asked for, of inspecting American
vessels,

The subject, however, is one of so much importance, as striking at
the root of thc Cuban slave trade, that I request you will be good
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enouglh to recall the attention of your government to the communi-
cations of Mr. Blythe, and that yon will express the carnest hope of
her Majesty’s government that the government of the United States
will give a substantial proof of their desire to put u stop to the Cuban
slave trade, by furnishing their consular authorities in Cuba with the
power necessary to enable them to prevent vessels that may have been
fraudulently transferred to the slave traders from leaving the ports of
thut island with their American papers and under American colors,
and also to enable them to deal with American vessels that may be
suspected of being about to engage in the slave trade.

I have the honor to be, with the highest consideration, sir, your

most obedient, humble servant, 7
MALMESBURY.

G. M. Davas, BEsq., e., de., de.

WasnHiNagron, June 8, 18568,

My Lorp: I have thought it right to communicate verbally to the
Seeretary of State the enclosed extract of a private letter from her
Majesty’s consul general at Cuba, in which he refers to a statement of
the lnte United States consul in that island. V

Mr. Blythe aflirms to Mr. Crawford that he had represented in the
strongest terms to the Department of State the objectionable practices
ol American citizens in connexion with the slave trade, and that he
had suggested measures calculated to correet the evils attending the
fraudulent transfer of American vessels in Cuba, demanding at the
same time authority to visit all ships under the United States flas
suspected of being about to engage in the piratical traffic.

To neither of these applications had he received any answer.  General
Cass was under the impression that no such remarks had been addressed
to him, but, on consulting the Assistant Sceretary of State, Mr. Apple-
ton stated he believed that the representations of the consul in regard
to the transfer of ships at Caba had been referred, without any result,
however, to the Attorney Geueral, and in reference to the power of
inspeeting vessels nothing had been done, General Cass being under
the impression that the American consul had authority, in conjnnetion,
at least, with the local police, to visit suspected vessels of his country
in Spanish ports,

I have, &e., "
: NAPIER.

The Barn or Manyessury, e., dc., de.

Eatracls from a letter from Consul Crawford lo Lord Napier.
Havawa, May 22, 1858.

““ Consul Blythe, (of the United States,) who has just left this, in-
formed me that he had in the strongest manner represented these
objectionable practices of his countrymen to his government, 1le had
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asked that American vessels sold here should not be allowed to retain
their American registers, but should be obliged to give bond to the
consul’s satisfaction, even if sold here to an American citizen; that
leaving Cuba under a sailing letter, they should proceed to a port in
the United States to be registered de novo.

““He also aked for authority to visit all American vessels which he
might have reason to suspect as being about to engage in slave trading
whilst in port and previous to their putting to sea; but to neither of
these applications did he receive any answer, and so he had no au-
thority to interfere with or hinder the abuse of the American flag by
its being devoted to the purposes of slave trading, which he saw was
going on to an almost unlimited extent.”’

Mr, Cass to Mr. Dallas.

‘No. 116.] DEPARTMENT oF STATE,
Washington, June 29, 1858,

Sir : Referring to your despatch No. 102, of the 11th ultimo, I

herewith transmit to you, for your information, the copy of a letter of

the 23 instant, addressed to this department by John A. Machado,

esq., of New York, relative to his claim against the British govern-

ment in the cases of the “I'homas Watson’” and the ““Mary Varney,”’

I am, sir, respectfully, your obedient servant, .

; LEWIS CASS.
Grorar M. Danras, Esq., dec., de., de.

My, Machado to Mr. Cass.

New York, Juve 23, 1858.

Str: T have had the honor to receive the note of the 26th of May,
with which you have been good enough to enclose to me copies of the
correspondence between the minister of the United States at London
and the principal secretary of state for fureign affuirs of the British
government, respecting my claim against that government in the case
of the **Thomas Watson.”” ,

The DBritish secretary, in his note of the Gth of May, with great
~candor, admits the justice of the claim for compensation, leaving only
the question of amount to be determined. He proposes either a rei-
erence of the matter to the British consul at New York or to arbi-
tration, very properly observing that hér Majesty’s government cannot
judge of the sum properly due, for the want of vouchers, &c, ;

I do not think 1t would be just to refer my interests in the matter
to the British consul at New York, because his inclinations would
doubtless be on the side of his own government; nor do I think an
arbitration in the first instance necessary. ,

My desire is to furnish in as short a time as possible to the United
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States minister at Tondon, to be transmitted through the Department
of State, vouchers proving the actual logses 1 have sustained by reason
of the seizure and detention of the ““Thomas Watson,”’ and, in addi-
tion thereto, prove that, in consequence thereof, my lawful business
was broken up and my ruin produced. ~These facts will present the
claim ns appealing both to the bare, naked justice of the government
of her Britannic Mujesty, and also to its equity. The facts will be
made so imanifest that it is my belief that the minister of the United
States and the secretary of her Majesty’s government will have but
little difliculty in determining the amount which I ought to receive.
If, however, those distinguished gentlemen, after considering the
vouchers, &c., which I propose to lay before them, should fuil to agree
upon the amount of compensation or indemnity which I ought to re-
ceive, then I should have no objection to them calling in a disinter-
ested third party, and I would respectfully suggest as such party
Johunson Bates, esq., of London, a gentleman ot high standing and
integrity, who was arbitrator or umpire on the adjustment of claims
between the United States and Great Britain in 1853,

No mention is made in the correspondence of my claim in the case
of the bark “Mary Varney.”” I propose at the same time that 1 fur-
nish vouchers, &c., in the case of the “Thomas Watson’’ to transmit
also vouchers, &c., in that case, and it would be very gratifying to me
it both cases might be considered at the same time, and that the
course snggested in the cage of the ““Thomas Watson’ might also be
pursted in that of the ‘‘Mary Varney.”

I have the honor to be, with high respect, your obedient, servant,

J. A. MACHADO,

II n, Ligwrs Cass, .
Seeretary of Slate, Le., Le., de.

Mr. Savage to Mr. Appleton.
[Extract.]

No. 17.] CoxsuLATE (FENERAL oF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, June 29, 1858,
* * * * * The case of the bark ‘‘Paez”

(see my despatch No. 63, October 13, 1857) has terminated in the ac-
quittal of Captain Gceorge W, Palmer without costs. The Spanish
aptain was sentenced to six years in the chain gang and the payment
of one half of the costs of the trial ; the crew to four years in the
chain gang, and the other half of the costs. The vessel condemned
to be destroyed, but was purchased for the uses of the Spanish navy.
Captain Palmer has left for New York, and on arrival will present
himself to the United States district attorney.
I have the honor, &c.,
THOMAS SAVAGE,
Vice-Consul General.

Hon. Jony ArprLETON,
Assistant Secretary of State of the U, S., Washington.
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Ay, Savage to Mr. Applelon.

[ Extract. |

No. 18.] ' CoNsuLATE GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, July 8, 1858,
* * * * * * #* * X

bmce the date of my last despatch two American vessels have sailed
from this port for Africa: the ketch Brothers, of Charleston, James
Gage master, and the bark Lyra, of New York, purchased here by
said James Gage, and commanded by William C. Dickey, ‘Whatever
suspicion I might entertain in respect to the ‘ Brothers,’’ and o the
“object of her voya(re—aud I must say it was strong—I could not,
however, for want of evidence, prevent her from proceedmg to sea.
Nevertheless, I notified Captam U. P. Levy, who, with the United
States ship ¢“ Macedonian,”” was off the harbor, of my suspicions, that
he might overhaul the vessel outside.

The ¢ Lyra’’ had a sea letter to proceced direct to ey West, there
to procure a register and other nccessary papers, I called the atten-
tion of the commandmg officers of the *“ Plymouth ’’ and ¢‘Arctic,”’
in order that they should watch the bark, and sce that she actually
went to Key West,

The ‘ Water Witch’’ was here yesterday.

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
THOS. bAVACxE,

Vice-Consul General,

1on. JouN APPLETON,
Assistant Secretary qf State of the United States, Washinglon.,

Ar, Dallas to Mr. Cass.

[ Extract. ]
No. 115.] Lraarion or THE UNITED STATES,
London, July 9, 1858,
SIR" * .k k * * sk * *

I send also the cop) “of a letter from the Isarl of Malmesbury, of the
Tth instant, covering the decree of the vice-admiralty court ot Jamaica,
wndemmng the schooner ¢ Cortez”’ as lawful prize to her Majesty’s
cunboat ““Torward” for being engaged in the slave trade. It
deserves remark that the captme took place on the 15th of April—
the condemnation on the 14th of May—u reasenably rapid proceeding.

I have the honor, &e.,
G. M. DALLAS.

Hon. Lewis Cass,
Secretary of Slate,
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ForereN OFFICE, July 7, 1858.

Sir: With reference to the letter which I had the honor to address
to you on the 17th ultimo, I now beg leave to transmit to you a copy
of the sentence pronounced in the vice admiralty court of Jamaica,
in the case of the schooner ¢ Cortez,”’ captured by her Majesty’s gun-

boat ‘¢ Forward.”’ ;
I have the honor to be, with the highest consideration, sir, your

most obedient, humble servant,
MALMESBURY.,
G. M. Darnas, Esq., dc., de., de.

In the Vice Admiralty Court of Jamaica.

At a court holden at the town of Saint Iago de la Vega, in the
Island of Jamaica, on Friday, the fourteenth day of May, in the year of
our Lord, one thousand eight hundred and fifty-cight, before the wor-
shipful Bryan HEdwards, esq., judge and commissary of the vice ad-
miralty court of Jamaica, lawfully constituted and appointed.

Our sovereign lady the Queen against the schooner or vessel called
the ¢ Cortez,”’ nation unknown, her tackle apparel and furniture,
and the cargoladen therein, taken and seized by Henry Davies, esq.,.
lieutenant and commander of her Majesty’s steam. gunboat ¢¢ For-
ward,”’ ; ~
In pain of purties cited not appearing, Heslop, attorney general,
referred to the monition heretofore brought in duly executed, and also
to the affidavit of Jabez Henry William Rowlett, second master of and
belonging to her Majesty’s steam gunboat ‘‘ Forward,”’ heretofore
exhibited and remaining in the registry of this court, and to the ap-
plication of Henry Kellett, esq., C. B., the commodore and senior na-
val officer at the time on this station, of date the 12th day of May,
1858, also remaining in the said registry. ;

The judge, at his petition, having heard the said affidavit read on
his motion, as counsel on behalf of her Majesty by interlocutory de~
cree, pronounced the said schooner or vessel ¢ Cortez,’”’ nation un-
known, her tackle, apparel and furniture, and the cargo laden therein,
to have been, at the time of the seizure thereof, equipped for and en-
gaged in the slave trade, and employed in the illegal transport of ne-
groes or others for the purpose of consigning them to slavery, and as
such, by virtue of the statute or statutes in such case made and pro-
vided, or otherwise subject and liable to forfeiture and condemnation
to our sovereign lady the Queen, her heirs and successors, and con-
demned the said schooner or vessel ¢ Cortez,’’ nation unknown, her
tackle, apparel and furniture, and the cargo laden therein, and brought
to Jamaica accordingly. , \ o ,

And further, pronounced that the said cargo should be sold, and that
the said schooner or vessel should be broken up and be entirely demol-
ished, and that the materials thereof should be sold in separate parts,

H. Ex. Doc, 7—S8
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ag in and by law in such case made and prov1ded on or after the first
day of July, in the year of our Lord 1858, unless, in the meantxmo,
the said schooner or vessel shall be taken into her Majesty’s service,
upon payment of such sum as the lords commissioners ot the admiralty
shall deem a proper price for the same, there being at present on this
station no officer authorized to determine whether the said schoonér or
vessel will or will not be required for her Majesty’s service.

True copy : 5 DUFI‘ o8]
L. S.
Legistrar Vice Admeralty Com*t Jamaica,

Mr. Savage to Mr. Appleton.

No. 19.] CoNSUTATE (FENERAL or Tie UNITED STATES,
: Havana, July 9, 1858.

- Sir: The documents herewith enclosed, to wit: copy of affidavits of
three seamen respecting the brig C. Perkms of New York, and copies
of correspondence between this office and the captain general of Cuba
and the captain of the port of Havana, will explain my s official conduct
towards the brig above named.

A register was issued by the custom-house of New York to the brig
C. Perkins, of that port, on the 28th day of September, 1857 ; (xeorge
Brown, of the city of New York, appearing as sole owner and as mas-
ter. No certificate appears indorsed or attached to her register show-
ing any change of commander. Her description is as follows :  Built
at Canwaboro’ , South Cerolina, in 1854 ; length, 99 feet ; breadth,
24 feet 8 inches; depth, 8 feet 1 1nch, tonnage, 17634 ths tons,
square stern ; no galleries, and a Dbillet-head. T undusmnd how-
ever, that she has a figure-head—the figure of a man with a black
coat, The register now in my possession bears all the cvidence of
being a genuine document,.

She sailed from this port on or about the 26th of November , 1857
cleared ostensibly for St. Thomas, laden with.rum, and it (Lppears,
from the evidence I have obtamed that she proceedcd to Africa and
engaged in the slave trade.

As to the shipping articles and crew list of the vessel, the following
are the names appearing thereupon :

George Brown, master.

-J. S. Downing, mate, of New York.

Gabriel Domingoes, cook and steward, New Orleans.

G. W. Gordon, 2d mate, New York.

Charles Mc[{enney, seaman, Massachusetts.

Johin Wilson, seaman, New York, .

Charles W, Paul seaman New Jersey.

Charles Coffin, seaman, Maine.

William Jones seaman, New Orleans,

Thomas Brown seaman, New York. “ ‘

Very little or no reliance is to be placed on the names or descrip-
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tions, for it is notorious that the grecater portion of our secamen are
shipped under spurious protectio:s. v .

"There is a certificate attached to the articles by this consulate, bear-
ing my own signature, showing that the man appearing under the
name of Charles W. Paul died in Havana on the 5th of November,
185%7. On the crew list there is one certificate signed George Danes,
United States consular agent at Sisal, Yucatan, that George Brown,
(I presume the person who appeared under that name,) master of the
C. Perkins, bad presented himself at the agency, reporting the sea-
men Wilson, Coffin, and Brown, to have deserted there. Then, again,
on the articles appear the names of Domingo Novell, Joseph M. Iras-
torza, Juan Simon, and Manuel Mascras, (all Spanish,) shipped betore
Rafael ’reciat, acting United States consul at Campeche, as scamen,
on the 15th and 17th of May. These are all the changes appearing on
the brig’s shipping papers. ‘

It was my intention, if the captain general did not object to my
seizing and sending to the United States the brig C. Perkins, to have
asked the commander of one of our cruisers for an officer and some men
to convey her to Key West, to which place the three witnesses, Mar-
tinez, Fucitto, and Majo, had consented to go. I am now endeavoring
to induce them to go to New York at the expense of the United States,
in order to enable the government to prosecute the parties who stood
as sureties for the issuing of the brig’s register and shipping papers.
The witnesses do not seem inclined to go there. If I cannot succeed
in this, I must send them to New Orleans, where the authorities may,
if need be, secure them and send ghem to New-York.

The captain general, at an interview upon the affair of the C. Per-
kins, assured me of his determination to punish the parties concerned
in having imported slaves by that vessel.

The operation of raising the hull is going on, and there is every
reason to believe that it will prove successful. | ‘

I hope my course in this matter will meet the approval of the de-
partment, and that the imperfections of this despatch will be over-
looked. I have been in the office since six o’clock a. m. to-day, work-
ing, without one moment of rest, and it is now about ten p. m. I am
quite exhausted in mind and body. ; v

I have the honor to be, sir, very respectfully, your obed’t servant,

THOMAS SAVAGE.
Vice-Consul General,

Hon, Joux ArrLETON,
Assistant Secretarg of State of the United Slates, Washington.

N. B.—I find I have omitted to mention the cargo that the brig C.
Perkins cleared with at the Havana custom-house on the 3d instant.
It consisted in: 120 pipes of rum, (tafia;) 8 half' and 2 quarter pipes
(tafia ;) 110 sacks of rice ; 50 boxes and 10 baskets preserved fruits ; 25
barrels pork; 25 barrels lard ; 25 barrels dry wine ; 25 barrels alco-
hol ; 20 kegs butter ; 14 demijohns of gin ; 30 hams; 4 boxes refined
sugar ; 12 boxes paper cigars ; and stores of various kinds,

Your obedient servant, :
: THOMAS SAVAGE,
Vict-Consul General,
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CoNsULATE GENERAL oF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Island of Cuba.

On the day of the date hereof, before me, Thomas Savage, vice-
consul general of the United btates of America, residing at Havana,
personally appeared a seaman, calling himself Luis de Mayo, and, to
identify his person, produced to me a landing ermit issued to him by
the governor of Havana, purporting that the said Luis de Mayo
arrived in this port of Havana on the 6th of May last from Vera Cruz.
Baid appearer, being by me sworn to tell the truth, solemnly declared
as follows, to wit: I am a Neapolitan. I embarked on board the
steamer ¢ Mexico,”” at Sisal, as a passenger for Havana. 1 went to
Sisal in an American vessel, the same one in which Francisco Mar-
tinez, now present, came with me, and Antonio Fucitto, and others,
from Af'rlca I first joined the said vessel (a hermaphrodite brig) in
Havana, on the night of the 25th November last, and on the morning
of the 26th we went to sea. [ understood I was going to St. Thomas,
but instead of St. Thomas she went to the coast of Africa. We put
into the island of Annabon to take fresh water ; remained there two
days, and then went to the coast. The voyage from Havana to the
coast occupied two months and twenty days. On arrival there two
of the persons who went with us in the vessel landed. One of them
was named Agustin Loretto, the other was known on board as Mos-
quito ; he was s Portuguese. This last named remained on the coast ;
the other man returned on board, and is now in Havana, After
landing these two persons on the® coast the vessel put to sea, and
cruised about seventcen days ; at the expiration of which, again came
to the same place on the coast, where a cargo of negroes, cons1st1ng of
533, were put on board. This was on the st or 2d day of March of
the present year. After the negroes were on board we put to sea,
and in about forty or forty-two days arrived off Cayo Sal, where a
signal was hoisted ; there three men came on board. Four days after-
wards a sloop came with provisions for the brig. She carried away
the best negroes of the lot, some 150 or 160. One of the owners of
the expedition was among the three persons that came on board.
About three days after a schooner came and carried away the balance
of the negroes. When the three men had come on board at Cayo
Sal, our brig came in sight of the Moro, of Havana, where two of
them left her in a boat to Havana; the other remained on board.
Then we proceeded down the coast of Cuba, abreast of Mariel, The
transhipment of the negroes was made there. The American captain
who commanded the brw from Havana to Africa, and from thence to
Cuba, left the brig in the schooner with the last batch of negroes.
Then another American captain, who had come in her as passenger
from the place where the negroes were shipped, took charge of the
vessel, and carried her, with us, to Sisal. There the American mate,
who was called on board, Mr. Downs, myself, Antonio I'ucitto, Fran-
cisco Martinez, and six ’others went ashore. Fucltto, myself, and
Martinez paid our own passages from Sisal to Havana in-the steamer
Mexico. Francisco Martinez, now present, joined the brig at the
place where the negroes were shipped in Africa, and he was the cook
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for the negroes on the passage. When the negroes had been tran-
shipped, I was paid on board the brig twenty ounces by a Spaniard
called Don Pancho. I have not seen him in Havana, but know where
he lives. I have been several times to his house tc try to see him,
but was invariably told he was not in. I am informed the brig is
now in Havana. I have not seen her here, but have seen her present

master almost every day. I saw him yesterday afternoon.
LUIS DE MAYO.

In witness whereof, the said appearer hereto subscribes his name;
and I, said vice-consul general, hereunto set my hand and affix

[L. 5.] the seal of my office, at Havana, the 5th day of July, A. D.
1858,
THOS. SAVAGE.

CoNSULATE (YENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, July 7, 1858.
I do hereby certify that the copy of three affidavits appearing on
the three preceding pages of this sheet, and on the two sheets hereto
annexed, 18 a true and correct copy of the originals on file in this con-

sulate,
Given under my hand and official seal, at Havana, on the day and

year above written, ;
THOS. SAVAGE,
Commercial Agent in charge of the Consulate General.

CoNSULATE GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Island of Cuba,

On the day of the date hereof, before me, Thomas Savage, vice-con-
sul general of the United States of America, residing at Havana, per-
sonally came and appeared a seaman who gave his name to be Antonio
Fucitto; and the said person, being by me sworn according to law,
solemnly declared as follows, to wit: I am a native of Naples. Icame
here on the 6th of May in the steamer ¢“ Mexico’’ (a Spanish vessel)
from Sisal. I came to Sisal in a hermaphrodite brig, under American
colors, called the C. Perkins, I joined the said brig at Havana, and
sailed on or about the 26th of November, 1857. I did not sign any
shipping articles. I went in the capacity of sailor before the mast.
The brig proceeded direct trom Havana to Africa, although her cap-
tain had told me in Havana that she was going to St. Thomas. On
arrival at a place on the coast of Africa, name unknown to me, two
persons who had gone in her from Havana went on shore. The vessel
put to sea again, and some seventeen days after returned to the same
place on the coast of Africa, when a cargo of negroes was taken on
board ; about one day and a half was occupied in taking the negroes
in, when she went to sea and came to the coast of Cuba, where the
negroes were transferred to two small vessels (a schooner and a sloop.)
The American muster who commanded the C. Perkins from Havana
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to Africa, and back to Cuba, left her with the negroes and transferred
himself to the schooner ; then another American captain, who is now
here in Havana in charge of the brig, who had been made prisoner on
the coast of Africa, and who came on board the brig at the place where
the negroes were taken in on the coast, took command (after the de-
parture of the former master,) and the vessel was taken to Sisal where
myself and eight other men were sent ashore, Francisco Martinez,
who is now present, came on hoard the brig in Africa, and cooked for
the negroes on the passage; he was discharged with me at Sisal. I
was paid twenty Spanish doubloons for my services. This payment
was made to myself and the rest of the crew on board the brig C,
Perkins, on the night when the negroes had all been sent ashore, by a
person called Don Pancho, who came on board with the money. The
captain now in charge of the brig had himself three negroes on board,
whom he sold for forty doubloons free of freight to Pancho,

ANTONIO '32 FUOCITTO.

mark,

Witness to his mark,
J. P. C. TuoMpsoN.

In witngss whereof, the said appearer hereto subscribes his name ;
and I, the said vice-consul general, hereunto set my hand and
[L. s8] affix the seal of my office, at Havana, the fifth day of July,

A. D. 1858.
THOS. SAVAGE.

CoNSULATE GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Island of Cuba.

On the day of the date hereof, before me, Thomas Savage, vice-con-
sul general of the United States of America, residing at Havana,
personally came and appeared Francisco Martinez, a Portuguese, who,
being by me sworn according to law, solemnly declared as follows, to
wit: I have been now in Havana about two months and a half or
nearly three months. I came in the Spanish steamer Mexico from
Sisal, and there left the American brig C. Perkins. I went in the
said brig C. Perkins to Sisal. I joined her in Longo Bongo, on the
coast of Africa, about twenty miles to the leeward of Loango. She
then had on board five hundred and thirty-three slaves. We left
Longo Bongo about four months and a half ago for Cuba. On arrival
off Mariel the negroes were transferred to a schooner and a sloop which
were to take them ashore, I cooked for the negroes all the passage
from Africa. The master of the brig was then George Brown, an
Englishman by birth ; he left her and went off with the negroes. The
person now in command of the vessel came as passenger in the brig
trom the coast of Africa. After the negroes were sent away the present
master, or person having now charge of her, took command of the brig
to take her to Sisal. On arrival there the crew and myself (excepting
the American portion of the crew) left the brig. The person now in
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charge of the C. Perkins was ashore in Longo Bongo, his vessel hav-
ing been captured by a British cruiser, and he had come from the
Congo. He weut on board the C. Perkins the same morning with me,
The vessel sails under American colors, but I am certain she is not
owned by Americans; and I believe her owner is Don Francisco Du-
rafiez, who has a provision store next to the bakery in the Plaza San
Francisco, in Havana; at any rate he was tlie person that paid off
the crew, and paid me ten ounces as a remuneration for my services
as cook on the passage for the negroes,
. his .
FRANCISCO x MARTINEZ.

mark.

In witness whereof, the said appearer hereto subsoribes his name ;
. and I, the said vice-consul general, hereunto set my hand
[L.s.] and affix the seal of my office, at Havana, this 3d day of July,

A. D, 1858. ;
THOS. SAVAGE,

Commander Hartstene, United States navy, commanding United
States steamer ‘“ Arctic’’ was present at the taking of the foregoing,
and saw the witness make his mark, said witness having positively

asserted that he could not write.
THOS. SAVAGE,

[Iranslation.]
ROYAT, PRETORIAL AUDIENCIA OF HAVANA (SUPERIOR COURT OF J UDICATURE, )

Don Joaquin Gussitier, clerk (secretary) of the ‘¢ Real Audiencia
Pretorial,”’ etc.

I hereby certify that the ¢ Oidor*’ (one of the justices) Don Fran-
cisco Duran y Cuervo, commissioned by his excellency the governor
president to institute summarial proceedings in order to ascertain if
the American brig C. Perkins was bound, prepared, and ready to go
to the coast of Africa upon a voyage after bozal negroes, has been
pleased to ordain, in a decree dated yesterday, that by a first edict and
summons be cited, called, and summoned Don Francisco Durafiona
(alias) Cafia Brava, Mr, Geeorge Brown, master of the said Perkins,
and Jaime, called the Catalan, her second mate, to the end that within
nine days after the date of the last advertisement they shall present
themselves in the royal jail of this court, and clear themselves of the
culpability resulting against them in said cause, boing certain aund
sure that they will be heard and justice administered to them if they
“should do so; otherwise, they will be declared rebellious and contuma-
cious, and as having incurred the penalties of the law.

And for the publication thereof in three consecutive numbers of the
Official Gazette, I issue these presents by order of said Oidor.

Havana, August 3, 1858, o
JOAQUIN GUSSINER.
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*[Translation,]
OFFICE OF THE ADMINISTRATOR GENERAL OF ROYAL MARITIME REVENUES.

To-morrow, twenty-eighth instant, at 6 o’clock a. m., you will
please proceed to unload the American brig Perkins, so far as neces-
sary to ascertain all the goods on board, and to compare them with
the permits of embarcation issued from the custom-house. You will
first draw a statement of the actual condition of the ship and of such
goods as are lying on deck, and then discharge all such goods that
caunot remain on board, either on account of their nature or of their
preventing from ascertaining the balance of cargo still on board. The
goods thus discharged shall be taken to the mercantile depot, should
it be possible to have them received therein ; those that are excluded
from the depot by regulations shall be brought where you will deem
it most proper for the conservation and keeping thereof, until the
survey ot the vessel is closed, when they shall be taken aboard. I
have appointed officer Manuel Gastelumendi to assist you in the dis-
charge of these duties, and, on his part, the commander of the revenue
guards will appoint a deputy belonging to that corps. You shall
have, besides, at your disposal an overseer with his gang for unloading
the goods and taking them to the depot. I have only to add that the
commercial agent now in charge of the United States consulate gen-
eral wishes to be present at said operations. Therefore you shall not
commence the same until he arrives at the place where the vessel is
hauled to. God preserve you many years.

Havana, July 27, 1858. ,
BONIFACIO CORTEZ,
Senior Inspector of Wharves and Harbor.

In the ever-faithful city of Havana, on the 28th of July, 1858, by
virtue of the communication from-the administrator general of mari-
time revenucs, at the head thereof, the persons therein named being
assembled, viz: Don Ignacio Alvarez y Urrutia, inspector of wharves,
warchouses, and harbor ; Don Pedro Castellanos, a licutenant of the
revenue guards; and Don Manuel Gastelumendi, an officer of the
custom-house, with the presence of Thomas Savage, esq., the charge
of the United States consular general, we went on board the American
brig C. Perkins, which has been hauled ; the consignee thereof wishing
neither to be present to this act, nor having appointed anybody to
represent-him, This operation was commenced. And we found that
the vessel has no hatchways; she had on deck two pipes and four
half pipes, empty ; one half-lighter load of wood ; her sails and other
riggings of the vessel all in disorder ; the cabin broken ; also part of
the beds and panels; with a leakage of the provisions that were
therein turned into mud. And there being more than ten inches of
water, we ordered the vessel to be unloaded, in order that we might
be able to ascertain the effects in the hold, where all the goods belong-
ing to the provisions were lying in a state of putrefaction; and for



AFRICAN SLAVE TRADE, 121

this reason, and it being now rather late, this operation was put off,
and the persons composing this commission signed. ,
IGNACIO ALVAREZ Y URRUTIA.
THOMAS SAVAGE.
PEDRO CASTELLANOS.
MANUEL GASTELUMENDI.

On the twenty-ninth of the same month and year the persons
appvinted on this commission and the chargé of the United States
consulate general being assembled, and being accompanied by health
officer Don Francisco de Orta, the provisions on bourd were ascer-
tained ; and said officer set aside the following as ipjurious to the
public health, on account of their state of putrefaction, ordering them
to be thrown overboard, which was ve‘x"iﬁedl with the knowledge of the
captain of the port, consisting in the following effects :

4 barrels of potatoes ; 21 barrels of corn flour ; 4 barrels of wheat
flour ; 1 sack of wheat flour; 1 barrel of onions; 10 barrels of fish ;
8 barrels of meat; 1 barrel, which had contained tar, empty; 1 barrel
butter; 1 sack picadura—tobacco scraps; 1 sack rice; 2 boxes for
sugar, empty ; 1 barrel biscuits. ,

Which operation lasted until after four o’clock p. m.; when this act
was suspended, to be continued the following day, and we signed.

IGNACIO ALVAREZ Y URRUTIA.
DON FRANCISCO I. DE ORTA.
THOMAS SAVAGE.,

PEDRO CASTELLANOS.

MANUEL GASTELUMENDI.

On the thirtieth of the same month and year, and in the presence of
the persons appointed, it was proceeded to the reckoning of the effects
in the hold and deck, and which were the following : _

68 pipes of sweet water ; 18 half pipes of sweet water ; 3 half pipes
of aguardiente (rum ;) 6 half pipes red wine; 1 pipe red wine; 13
barrels of beef, which seem to be good; 1 cask, with plates and tin
jugs; 1 quarter cask of lard; 1 large caboose and its caldron; 151
pine boards, with 3,566 feet; 20 scantlings, pine, with 755 feet.

On deck.—14 - pipes, empty; 4 halt pipes, empty ; and effects cor-
responding and belonging to the rigging of' the vessel, ;

As the effects that remain on board are such that cannot be admitted
in the deposit, I think it more proper to leave thom in the vessel until
you have resolved otherwise. I call your attention most particularly
to the bad condition of the vessel, which is leaking very much, and if
there be not persons to unload her, she must founder ; wherefore this
act was concluded, and the commissioners signed.

Havaxa, July 30, 1858. S o
IGNACIO ALVAREZ Y URRUTIA.
THOMAS SAVAGE.
PEDRO CASTELLANOS.
MANUEL GASTELUMENDI,
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From the proceedings instituted upon the detention of a loaded hoat
which the resguardo found lying alongside the vessel in the night of
the 5th to 6th instant, results, besides, that said boat contained the
following effects, which the administrator declared to be confiscated
by decree of the 10th: 1st, 26 sacks beans; 2d, 3 sacks of rice; 3d,

4 boxes codfish.

Nole of the efiecls of the cargo and stores which were embarked by the
American brig O. Perkins, and with which she was cleared on the 3d

nslant,

Policy No. 1.—120 pipes cane rum.

Policy No, 2, of mess room.—2 quintals smoked fish; 2 hoxes of
raisins ; 2 sacks salt; 4 boxes vermicelli; 6 boxes rice; 1 half pipeof
cane rum (aguardiente de cafia ;) 2 kegs lard; 3 jugs of oil ; 24 strings

of onions ; 6 strings of garlic; 16 quintals of oil. ‘
" Policy No. 3.—8 half pipes cane rum ; 2 (uarter pipes canc rum ;
110 sacks of rice ; ‘50 boxes and 10 baskets of dried fruits; 25 barrels
pork ; 25 barrels lard ; 256 —— double refined rum (aleohol ;) 20 keys
of butter; 14 demijohns of gin; 30 hams (Westphalia ;) 4 boxes
refinéd white sugar; 12 boxes cigars, with 1,200 small boxes; 25
barrels dry wine. '

From the comparison of the effects mentioned in said policies and
the cargo which wag in the vessel on the 29th and 30th and that found
in the boat detected alongside thereof in the night of the 5Hth to Gth,
results— ;

1st, That all the effects that were in the boat consisted of 26 sacks
of beans, 3 sacks of rice, and 4 boxes of codfish were taken on board
without permit from the custom-house, and therefore were legally
confiscated. , B

2d. That the following articles found on board, and which were not
included in the permits of embarcation, were also fraudulently em-
barked, and must be declared to be confiscated: 151 pine boards, with
3,655 feet ; 20 pine scantlings, with 7565 feet ; 58 pipes sweet water ;
18 halt pipes sweet water ; 14 pipes, empty ; 4 half pipes, empty ; 1
large caboose, with its boiler ; 1 cask, with plates and tin jugs; 1
barrel biscuits’; 1 sack picadura; 1 barrel of tar; 10 barrels of fish ;
1 sack of flour ; 4 sacks of Spain flour ; 21 sacks of corn; 4 barrels
potatoes ; and, , - _ e

3d. That the following articles are missing, viz: 120 pipes cane
rum of a 25 arrobas; 2 quintals of codfish; 4 boxes vermicelli; 2
boxes of raisins; 114 sacks of rice; 6 halt pipes aguardiente; 2-
quarter pipes aguardiente; 2 sacks of salt ; 3 jugs of oil ; ( strings
of garlic’; 16 quintals of biscuits; 50 boxes and baskets of dry fruits;
4 barrels beef; 28 barrels lard; i8 barrels dry wine; 25 barrels
aguardiente (refined ;) 20 kegs of butter ; 14 demijohnus of gin; 30
hams (Westphalia ;) 2 boxes of sugar; 12 boxes paper cigars, with
1,200 small boxes. ‘ ,

Such is the result of the acts of discharge of the American brig C.
Perkins, and of the proceedings on the clearance of the same brig,
which have been before us for the purpose of making the comparison



AFRICAN SLAVE TRADE. 128

referred to in the first paragraph of the official letter from the almin-
istration general of maritime revenues, wherewith these progceedings
commenced, ,
Havaxa, August 3, 1858. St e ,
IGNACIO ALVAREZ Y URRUTIA.
PEDRO CASTELLANOS.
MANUEL GASTELUMENDI.

It is a faithful copy from the original existing in this oflice, and
which I attest as contador general of maritime revenues,

Havana, Adugust 3, 1858. ,
MANUEL MA. CARBAJAL.

Correct. Xy
CORTEZ
Don Manuel Maria Carbajal, a knight of the Spanish royal order
of Charles the Third, honorary intendant of provinee, and contador
general of maritime revenues, by her Majesty’s appointment: I certify,
fikewise, that the original expediente of this vessel has been trans-
mitted to the intendancy general of the army and exchequer, with
the following communication:

Administration General of the Maritime Revenues:

I transmit to your lordship the original expedi nte of the discharge
and examination of the effects on board the American brig C. Perkins,
to compare them with the permits of embarcation issued from this
custom-house, and therein your lordship will see all the effects on
board the vessel ; those that were not found on board, according to the
policies made by the custom-house and fulfilled by the resguardo
those that were embarked frandulently, and those contained in the
boat detained by the resguardo on the night the vessel was foundered.

These last articles, an account whereot I opportunely gave yonr
lordship, were declared confiscated, and I, the undersigned adminis-
trator, do hereby make to your lordship a similar declaration respecting
the articles found on board, and which were not mentioned in the per-
mits alluded to, as they were embarked frandulently, or, which is the
same, without permit from the custom-house. ;

This being admitted, you may, if you deem it proper, hand over
the annexed original despatch to the judge of the cause instituted,
with the object of ascertaining the object of said American brig C.
Perking’s voyage, there remaining in this administration general a
duly legalized copy granted by the office of the exchequer.

God preserve you many years,

Havana, August 3, 1858. ,
BONIFACIO CORTEZ,
Senior Inspector Gencral of the Army and Royal Exchequer.

MANUEL MARIA CARBAJAL.

Correct,
CORTEZ.
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CoNSULATE GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, July 5, 1858,

Most JEXCELLENT Sm: I have become possessed of evidence that the
brig ¢ C. Perkins,” an American vessel, now lying in this port has
violated the laws of the United States to snch an extent that it is my
duty to scize her, and send her to a port of the United States, It is
my intention to do so, provided your excellency does not find in the
act any infringement of the Spanish jurisdiction.

I beg of your excellency the favor to give me an early reply to this
communication ; and have the honor to be, with great respect, your

excellency’s most obedient servant,
"THOMAS SAVAGE,

Jommercial Agent, in charge of the Consulate General,

His Ixcellency Sor Don Josii DE LA CoNcHA,
(overnor, Captain General of the Island of Cuba, ¢e.

[LRteply.]

OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR, CAPTAIN GENERALj &C., OF THE ISLAND OF CUBA,

In the moment I receivel your communication, dated yesterday,
asking my consent for the seizure and sending to the United States
the American brig C. Perkins for violation of the laws of your
country, I gave an “order that the captain of the port should not per-
mit the departure of the said vessel in the event of her being de-
spatched ; but, to resolve upon a matter of such importance, I in-
tended to ask you to communicate to me the antecedents upon which
you founded that determination, when I received the report that the
brig Perkins had sunk this morning. Such an occurrence, and the
information that the Perkins was destined for the slave trade, render
it necessary that the authorities of this place make a formal investi-
gation of all the facts and their antecedents. And thercfore I will
be obliged to you to be pleased to communicate to me as early as pos-
sible all that you know of them, and furnish me a copy of the state-
ments or declarations that must be in your possession to have taken
the resolution which you stated in your official letter of yesterday.

Jod preserve you many years.

Havaxna, July 6, 1858, e
JOSE Dii LA CONCHA.

TroMAS SavAcE, Esq.,
Commercial Agent, in charge of the Consulate General
of the United States.

[Urgent.]

CapraINcy or THE Porr.

In thm moment the moorer of vessels in this port has brought me

the following report :
“The brig of the United States, ¢ C. Perkins,” which was at anchor

to the east of Regla, has sunk.’’
And I have the honor of communicating it to you for your informa-
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tion,and to the end that you may be pleased to order what is convenient
to the captain of the sald vessel to proceed with all despatch to put

afloat the sunken hull,
God preserve you many years.

HAVANA, July 6, at 6 o’clock a. m., 1858.
RAFAEL TAVERN.

The Consur. ({ENERAL oF THE UNITED STATES,

CoNSULATE GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, July 6, 1858.

Most Excrnuent Sir: I have received your excellency’s communica-
tion of this date respecting the affair of the brig C. Perkins, and have
the honor to say, in answer: The attempt made last night to dis-
charge the brig’s cargo, which, if I am correctly tnformed, was de-
tected by the custom-house guards, and the subsequent sinking of the
vessel, followed by the disappearance of all the persons belonging to
the crew, thus rendering it very suspicious that she way intentionally
sunk, give to the authorities of the island the right of making an in-
vestigation into all the circumstances connected with her, more espe-
cinlly as your cxcellency says information had reached you that she
was fitted out for the slave trade. I therefore acknowledge prece-
dence on the part of your government in dealing with the brig accord-
ing to law, and will cheerfully accede to the request your excellency
made to me to furnish you all the data in my possession bearing upon
the case. : ;

I deem it a duty, however, to state to your excellency that the
evidence 1 have consists of affidavits voluntarily given me by three
seamen, under a solemn promise on my part that no harm should be-
fall them in consequence thereof. This involves a point of honor, and
thercfore I cannot violate my promise.

I entertain the conviction that your excellency will appreciate my
rosition, and have no hesitation whatever in giving me the assurance
that if [ disclose the names of the witnesses in the three depositions
above alluded to, no harm, prejudice, penalty, or punishment whatso-

ever shall befall the said witnesses. w:
I have the honor to be, with great respect, your excellency’s obe-

dient servant,
THOMAS SAVAGE,
Commercial Agent, in charge of the Consulate (Feneral.

His Excellency Sor Don Josg pe LA Coniica.
Governor, Captain General ¢f the Island of Cuba, de.

[Confidential.]

OFFICE OF GOVERNOR, CAPTAIN GENERAL, &C., OF THE ISLAND OF CUBA,~—
GOVERNMENT SECRETARY’S OFFICE. |
Being informed by your communication of yesterday’s date of the

manner in which you obtained the data relative to the brig Perkins,
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and of the promise you made to three seamen, who spontaneously
related to you the facts, that no harm or prejudice should befall them,
you considering it as a case of honor to expect that, on my part, none
ghall be caiised to them on making use of all that you may communi-
cate upon the subject, you may manifest to me the antecedents, and
what has been declared in your consulate general, without mentioning
the names of those seamen, ‘
God preserve you many years,
Havana, July 7, 1858. )
: JOSIY DE LLA CONCHA.

Tromas Savaar, Esq.,
Commercial Agent, in charge of the Consulate General
of the United Slates.

Under date of July 7 wrote to the captain of the port, answering
his note of the 6th, that the affair of the brig C. Perkins had passed
into the hands of the Spanish authorities ; but that I had made a con-
tract with Mr. Charles Tyng agent of underwritere, to raise the
vessel anil do the needful for $500 ; that none of the brig’s crew had
made their appearance at the consulate, and that the consulate hoped
he had already commenced proceedings to discover who had been the
authors of the eriminal act of sinking the vessel, &e.

CoNSULATE GENERAL OF 1 UNITED STATES 0F AMERICA,
Havana, July 8, 1858.

Most Excenuent Sir: Complying with your excellency’s wishes, ag
communicated in your letters of the 6th and 7th instant, I will
proceed to relate all the facts that have come to my knowledge in
respect to the brig C. Perkiuns, o

The first report that particulavly drew my attention to the vessel
wag, that her commander had discharged and sent away his crew, or a
portion thercof, without the intervention of this consulate ; and that
he had on board a number of men of all nations whom he intended
to pass under the names appearing in the brig’s roll or crew list and
shipping articles. As this, if" estnblished, would be a violation of the
laws both of the United States and of the island, when the captain
applied to this office for his clearance on Saturday forenoon I caused
him to e notified of the information I had received, which he declared
was devoid of foundation, Ile wus assured, however, that the matter
should be cleared up before the consulate would despatch the vessel ;
lre wasg also told to bring his custom-house clearance. Shortly after-
wards a seaman was brought to my oflfice to corroborate the report
about the crew. He commenced by telling me that the brig C. Perkins
had brought a cargo of slaves from Africa to this island a few months
since. Upon hearing this, I asked the man if he would give me under
onth a full statement of what he knew respecting that vessel. He
answered that he would do so, and say nothing but truth, provided I
solemunly promised no harm should befall him in consequence of this
voluntary act on his part, to which I assented.
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He then, being put on oath, declared that he joined the brig in
Longo Bongo, (Africa,) about 20 miles to leeward of Loango; that
she had 533 slaves on board ; that they sailed from that place about
four months and a half ago for Cuba, and on arrival abreast of Mariel
the negroes were transferred to a schooner and a sloop, which took
them away ; that the master of the brig from Africa to Cuba was
named George Brown, an KEnglishman by birth; that this captain
went off with the schooner which conveyed the larger portion of the
negrocs, and the person here in command of the brig came as a
passenger in her from Africa; and after the negroes had been sent
away he took the command and carried the vessel to a port in Yucatan,
where the witness, the chief mate, and eight men (not belonging to
her regular crew) left her ; that after the transhipment of the negroes
the crew were paid en board the brig C. Perkins, each seaman receiving
twenty Spanish ounces, and he, the witness, ten ounces. e further
declared that the person here in charge of the brig was on shore in
Longo Bongo, where he had come trom the Congo river, his own
vessel having been captured there by a DBritish cruiser ; that the C.
Perking, though sailing under American colors, was not, as he, witness,
belicved, owned by Americans ; he believed her to be owned by Don
Francisco Durafiez or Durafion, a person having a provision store next
to a bakery in the Plaza de £ I'rancisco ot” Havana ; that at any
rate he, the said Don Francisco, was the person that paid off the crew
on board the Perkins, ‘

Owing to a previous knowledge of the man not entirely favorable
to his character, I was not disposed to place implicit confidence on his
statements, still, his narrative appearing to be a straight one, I
determined to be cautious in my conduct towards the brig. "herefore,
when the captain presented himself again on Saturday afternoon; I
notified him the vessel could not be permitted to go to sea until the
mutter had been cleared up to my entire satisfaction. The cuptain’s
manuner and hesitancy tended to excite greater suspicion, he said;
nevertheless, he expected to be able to satisfy me that everything was
in order.

On Monday morning I learned that two other men who had been
in the C. Perking from Havana to Africa, and back to Cuba, were in
this city, I succeeded in inducing them to come to my office, give
me their statements, under oath, of all they knew respecting the
Perkins, and even prevailed upon them, as well as the first witness,
to place themselves at my disposal to send them to the United States
as witnesses for the prosecution in the event that I should send the
vessel there. , ; T ;

The statements of these two men were fuller than the first witness’s, ,
and confirmed all that he had testified ; among other things, they said
that they had proceeded from Havana in the vessel, believing her to
be bound to St. Thomas ; that the voyage fromn Havana to the coast
of Africa was performed in two months and twenty days, including
two days passed at Annabon ; the negroes were put on board the 1st
or 2d of March, one and a half day occupied in this operation, and
in 40 or 42 days arrived at Cayo Sal, where three .persons cume on
board, one of them the owner of the expedition, whom they knew as
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Don Pancho,; and that the captam here appearing as the master of
the O, Perkins had three negroes that he sold to Don Pancho for forty
doubloons free of freight.

In this state of the matter I addressed to your excellency my com-
munication of the 5th instant. But previous to my doing so some
things occurred that are worthy of being mentioned.

On Sunday evening a person, whose name is unknown to me, called
at my house and gave me to understand that he was connected with
the parties that loaded the C. Perkins for the voyage she was about
to undertake. He endeavored to persuade me that the vessel was all
in order, and exprossed a hope that I should not delay her in port,
as this would be highly pre]udlcxal to their interests. 1 assured him
I had no desire to cause 1nJ11ry ‘to the interests of any one, but I had
my duty to perform without fear or favor, and consequently that I
required evidence to show where the vessel had been to , and what she
had been doing from the 27th of November, when she left this port,
cleared ostensibly for St. Thomas, and exacted the 1dent1ﬁcat10n of
the person appearing as master of the vessel, assuring him, at the
same time, that I should look for the evidence within a narrow circle,
and would admit none in any way extraneous. He desired to see me
the next morning at my house; I said my office was the only place
where he could speak to me on the subject. The next morning he
called on me, when I opened the conversation, saying I could have no
reason to chnn% my determination, He 1ephed that the captain
was somewhat unwell, and that the evidence required by me would be
forthcoming on the same day. He then bowed to me, placing in my
hand what had all the appearance of a sealed letter, addressed ¢ Sr,
Secretario Consul interim de los Estados Unidos—Presente,”” and
which he desired me to read, as it related to the matter of our conversa-
tion. I opened the letter and discovered it to be a blank sheot of
paper covering a note of the ‘“ Banco Espafiol’’ for $1,000, clearly
intended as a bnb(, to induce me to act contrary to the dictates of
duty. The man had in the meantime disappeared, and though I ran
down in pursuit, could not find him. I therefore sent to the house
of Don Joaquin Lequerica. The result was a visit from this Mr,
Lequerica, who professed to disclaim any parblclpatlon in the others
conduct, and went on expressing his expectation that the brig’s affair
would be satisfactorily arranged. But as I had all the evidence I
requned to act unhe%ltatmtrly I explicitly told him I should not
permit the vessel to proceed to sea. That same afternoon I had the
honor of writing to your excellency, stating my wish to seize the
brig and send ber to the United States, if such an act on my part was
not deemed a violation of the Spanish Junsdxctlon, which I, of course,
was anxious to respect.

Your excellency is informed of what followed, I have reference to
the attempt made to discharge the cargo durmg the night, and the
sinking of the vessel on the morning of the 6th instant. I have con-
cluded to apply a portion of the bank note of $1,000 in putting the
brig afloat again. This operation will cost about $500 as per contract
made with Mr. Charles Tyng with the knowledge of the captain of
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the port. The balance I do not wish to keep. Your excellency will
be so good as to say what dispusition is to be made of' it.
~None of the crew have thus far-been found, all have disappeared.
I enclose to your excellency authenticated copies of the brig’s
register, crew list, and shipping articles. The clearance document,
issued to the vessel by the Havana custom-house on the 3d instant, I
may have to use in making my report to my government, and in the
belief that you can casily, if need be, obtain copies from the custom-:
house, I will retain the originals.

I am, very respectfully, your excellency’s most obedient gervant,
THOMAS SAVAGE,

Commercial Agent in charge of the Consulate General,

His Ixcellency Sor. DN. Jost: b A Conciia,
Glovernor, Caplain General of lhe Island of Cuba, Ee.

My, Savage to Mr. Appleton

No. 20 ] ConsuraTE GENERAL OF TiiE UNITED STATES,
Havana, July 9, 1858,

Sir: As a temporary answer to your despatch of the 18th ultimo,
concerning the ILydia Gibbg, which, with its enclosures, [ had the
honor to receive this morning, I enclose herewith a copy from the
ship’s daily journal of this office of the entry and clearance.

No information ever reached this consulate that the vessel referred
to was sold here. I have a distinct recollection of Captain Watson
having assured me that she had not been sold, and that he was going
to Annobon, under a charter party, upon a lawful trading voyage,
Whether this was a false assertion on the master’s part I am not able
to say at present. Nothing ever reached the office that she was to
undertake a voyage for slave trading, though 1 must confess that I
entertained at the time, and still do entertain, a suspicion that such was
really the object of her voyage. But this was and is a mere suspicion,
arising simply from the {act of her being about to proceed to Africa,

I have carelully perused your despatch, the British consul’s letter
to Lord Malmesbury, and the Attorney General’s opinion, and will
lose no time in using every exertion to discover whether the said
schooner did really sail upon an intended nnlawful voyage. The re-
sult of my investigation will be communicated without delay to you,
and in the contingeney you allude to will carry out your directions.

With great respect, sir, your obedient servant,
THOMAS SAVAGE,
Vice-Consul General,

Hon. Jonx Arrrrton, :
dssist, Sceretary of State of the United States, Washinglon.

H. Ex, Doc, 7—9
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Copy of entry of clearance of the schooner Lydia Gibbs, of Charleston.

1853—No. 93.

Schooner Lydia Gibbs, of Charleston, 11432 tons, Thomas Watson,

master. ;
January 30.—Arrived January 30, 1858, from Charleston.

When built................. 1851,

Where built........... .....Patchogue.
OwWner......coovserensnensens. Thomas Watson,
Cargo inward....oveveenees 142 tierces of rice.

48 half tierces of rice.
%3 bags of rice.
200 barrels of potatoes.
68 empty hogsheads,
Value $1,200.
Cargo outward............. 149 casks of rum,
THOOMAS WATSON, Master.
R. C. WELLING, Mate.

No second mate, and six men.

February 24.—Captain reported that Joseph Williams (cook) de-
serted last night, order of arrest issued. , ' ,
Muarch 9,—~Thomas Watson, master, R, C. Welling, mate, John
Barber, Richard Nash, James Anderson, John Donaher, and John
Russell, seamen, this day signed new articles, the voyage of the vessel
being changed. The vessel going to Annobon, and from thence to a
port of discharge in the United States or to a port in the West Indies.
March 9.—Cleared for Annobon, (coast of Africa.)

M. Savage to AMr. Appleton.

No. 21.] CoNsuLATE GENERAL oF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, July 12, 1858,

Sir: T avail myself of the departure of the United States steamer
‘¢ Arctic,’”’ for Washington, to address you a few lines. Since my de-
spatch No. 20,1 have discovered the persons that belonged to the brig C.
Perkins, and taken them to the captain of this port, the officer charged
with the investigation of the circumstances that led to the sivking of
that vessel. All the evidence thus far tends to show that she
.was sunk by order of the vessel’s owner, a Spaniard, by the name of
Durafion; a notorious slave trader, The witnesses have testified that
the brig was scuttled by his order, and that ke made two holes him-
self. I believe I have even succeeded in finding where the brig’s boats
(that had disappeared) were concealed.

I regret to ray that I cannot now give you further information re-
specting the Lydia Gibbs, but hope to do so by the first mail leaving
this place, say, the 23d instant,.
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I believe T shall have it in my power to send two witnesses to New
York by the bark Albertina, (to sail 15th instant,) to enable the gov-
ernment to prosecute the bonds of the brig 0. Perkins,

The captain general, to whom I notified the appreciation in which
his measures for the protection of American vessels in the waters of
Oub(elx are held by the government, expressed himself highly gra-
tified, ‘ -
I know officially that Commodore Kellett, commanding the British
squadron in the Gulf,of Mexico, has given orders ‘‘to cease visiting and
interfering with American vessels.”” The British war vessels will be
removed from this station. The Jasseur, British gun-boat, employed
in the suppression of the slave trade on the south side of the island,
sailed hence for Tampico day before yesterday.

The ‘¢ Jamestown’’ and ‘¢ Constellation’’ were off the port yester-
day. The ¢ Saratoga’’ was boarded about eight days since by the
master of an American vessel that arrived here yesterday, on the Ba-
hama banks., In haste.

With great respect, sir, your obedient servant,
THOMAS SAVAGE,
Vice-Consul General,
Hon. JouN AppLETON.
Assist, Secretary of Stale of the United Slates, Washington.
¥

Ar. Dallas to Mr. Cass.

No. 116.] LrcaTioN oF THE UNITED STATES,
London, July 13, 1858,

Sir: I have the honor to transmit the copy of a letter addressed by
me to her Majesty’s principal secretary of state for foreign affairs, re-
specting the additional and various cases of illegal intermeddling with
the commerce of the United States, the doctimentary evidence of which
accompanied your No. 113 of the 12th of June, 1858.

In none of these complaints are the circumstances of private injury
or loss so marked as to call for special indemnity, nor do the masters ™
of the vessels intimate a claim, or expectation to receive it. Yet I
have not thought myself at liberty expressly to yield the pursuit of indi-
vidual redress, but on the contrary, by a short phrase in the conclud-
ing part of my note, have retained the right to ‘‘reparation.”’ In
the treatment of Captain Bartlett, of the ship Clarendon, by the offi-
cers of the Buzzard, there was a grossness of insolence and menaco,
thrice repeated, which would justity ‘‘smart money;’’ though judging
from the manly spirit which he exhibited in successfully repelling the
outrage he would probably regard it with indifference.

This communication to Lord Malmesbury was kept on hand some
days, under the supposition that, in answering my No. 108, which
conveyed the ¢ minute’’ of the interview between his lordship and
myself, you might express views on the general subject which it would
be desirable to incorporate. But several steamers having arrived
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without a despatch from the department, I thought it prudent to with-

hold no longer.
I have the honor to be, sir, your most obedient servant,
J. M. DALLAS

Hon, Lrwis Cass, -
Secretary of Stale.

Mr. Dallas to the Larl of Malmesbury.

LroarioN oF THE UNITED STATES,
London, July T, 1858.

My Lorp: In further illustration of the course pursued by the
officers in her Majesty’s naval service on the western coast of Africa,
off the coasts and even in the harbors of Cuba, and in the Gulf of
Mexico, in illegally bringing to, firing at, boarding, visiting, search-
ing, and detaining the merchant vessels of the United States, ay men-
tioned in my letter of the 6th of June last, I have the honor to trans-
mit herewith to your lordship copies of fourtcen docunfents sent to
me from the Department of State at Washington.

Thesapapers disclose the circumstances of a large number of cases,
additional to those heretofore submitted by me to her Majesty’s gov-
ernment, and detail with clearness, in the form of positive aﬂ‘idawtq,
the leading particulars of that ﬂtmordmary transaction in Sagua la
Grande, which T expressed a disinclination to press upon the atten-
tion of your lordship without fuller information.

I restrict myselt upon the present occasion to placing these doc-
uments in the power of yourlordship, with the following rapid ¢enume-
ration of the features of each occurrence.

1. T'he schooner *¢ Hanover,”” Captain A. W, Eayrs, sailed from
New York on the 7th duy of Aufrnqt 1857, to trade along the coast
of Aftica for palm oil, On hcprember 17, with American ﬂzw flying,
ordered to heave-to by a Dritish war steamel, boarded, papers de-
manded, men bid-aft and the roll called. On Kebruary 17, 1858,
overhanled by another cruiser, again boarded and examined. On
February 19, 1858, boarded by an armed boat from the steamer
¢ Hecelay”’ rurlstcr (lemanded ‘pronounced fraudulent, schooner ex-
amined. On March 7, again boarded from “Heola ;" oblwed to show
papers, and crew called aft and examined. On March 8, again
boarded from the steamer ¢ T'riton,”” same proceedings repeated and
to frighten the captain, it was (al;ely represented that an American
man-of -war was close at hand.

The schooner ¢ 1. .117[]»37' Captain George Booth, left New
Yoﬂ\ on December 11, 1857, for Rio Hacha. On February 21, 1858,
loft Rio 1lacha for New York with return cargo of wouod, hldLS and
coffee.  Off Cape St. Nicholas Mole, on February 26, overhauled by a
British steamer; a gun fired, boarded and qnosbmned, puapers de-
manded and extracts made fr ot them ; schooner’s log-book required,
and memoranda made in it, Dctentlon an hour and a half,
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8. The brig *‘ Elizabeth Walts,” Captain F. G, Ellis, sailed fiom
New York March 20, 1858, for Havana. On April 7, her bows crossed
by the three-masted steam propeller ¢ Forward,”” which fired a gun ;
flag not hoisted because halyards broken; questioned why she did not
hoist her flag? At evening steamer agnin; questioned why she
showed flashes of light? Ordered to hewve-to, boarded, papers de-
manded and examined ; naturalization papers required, and refused ;
log-book asked for, produced, and memoranda made in it, which both
captain and mate refused to sign.

4, Thelbark ¢ Blmwood,”’ Cuptain F. Kendall, left Sagua la Grande
on 8th April, 18568 ; chased for five hours by steamer ¢¢ Buzzard,”’
which fired five or six times at her with loaded cannon; hove-to and
boarded, questioned, and detained an hour. v

5. ZL'he brig ** New Iira,”’ Captain W. Walker, sailed from Phila-
delphia on 10th March, 1858, for Demarara. Sailed thence for Havana
on the 14th April.  On 23d or 24th April spdken by a boat from the
“Styx.”” Said he was not taken for a slaver. On 18th May a steamer
fired three guns. No attention paid to the firing. Course kept, and
reached New York on 26th May,

6. Ship *“John and Albert,”” Captain H. Crowell. About twelve
miles oft the coast of Cuba, followed, and fired at repeatedly, by an
armed steamer.  Overhauled and brought-to. Boarded and papers
demanded and examined,

7. Bark ¢ William H, Chandler,”” Captain Albert Gage. At anchor
in Sagua la Grande. On Sunday, the 2d of May, 1358, boarded by a
British officer from on board of an armed boat having a crew of twelve
men, Papers demanded and examined.

8, Brig “F. C. O Brien,”’ Captain Edward Watts. At anchor in
Sagua la Grande. On Sunday, 2d May, boarded, questioned, and
papers demanded, as in foregoing case.

9. Ship ““Clarendon,”’ Captain J. K. Bartlett. At anchor in Sagua
la Grande. Boarded from the British war steamer ¢ Buzzard,’” an-
chored near her. Papers demanded and questions put. T'he master
replied that he was within the jurisdiction of Spain, and-vepelled the
officer’s right. Obedience required but declined. Officer retired,
but retarned soon after, accompanied by his commander, both armed.
Papers again demanded and again refused. Threatened with being
taken, himself and crew prisoners, and his vessel a prize. The Brit-
ish officers-again departed, but again returned in about two hours;
this time with two large and two small boats, manned by some eighty
armed men.,  Same demands formally repeated, with threats of order-
ing guard on bourd. Master resolute. Some of the boats’ erew called,
when master said no stranger should command on board of his vessel,
and threatened to shoot the first who came on board without his per-
mission. ‘I'he British officers then left, with menuces of future
action. ;

10. Bark ¢ John Howe,”’ Captain Cyrus A. Nichols, at anchor in
Sagua la Grande.  On Sunday, May 2, boarded by a British officer,
who came alongside in a boat manned by a crew of sometwelve men.
Papers demanded and examined, and questioned.

11. Brig ¢* 8. Thurston,”’ Captain Augustus Lampher. Anchored
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in Sagua la (Jrande. Boarded on May 2 by a British officer, who
came in a boat manned with some twelve men. Ship’s papers de-
manded, and inquiries put, .

12, Brig ¢ Mianus,”’ Captain William Purkis, le(t Norfolk on the
13th alarch, for Kingston, Jamaica. Went thence to Black river,
Took in a cargo of logwood, and sailed for New York on May 10. On
May 20, in latitude 24° 19, longitude 80° 4(/, brought-to by a gun
fired from the ¢“ Styx.”’ Boarded by an officer, who came alongside in a
boat manned with seven or eight men. *Questioned. The British
officer said he was looking out for slavers. The master thought he
could hardly have taken him for otie, as he had a cargo of logwood,

iled two feet above the rail, and looked like anything but a slaver.,

e answered ¢ No; but our orders are to board the whole of you.”’

13, The brig ¢ Abram,’’ Captain Thomay G, Revans, left New York
on the 16th March, 1858, for Curacon. Sailed thence for Rio Hacha
on April 14, and, after stopping at other places, proceeded back to
New York on May 15. On May 24, off Sambie Key, I'lorida, boarded
from the ¢“Styx,”” which ran down alongside, Papers demanded,
questions put, replies noted, and an extract taken from clearanco.

14, The ship ¢ Reliance,”’ Captain Samuel Foss. On May 24,
18568, sailing between Salt Key Bank and Cuba, overhauled by a
British armed steamer, which fired a gun.  Boarded by anofficer and
boat’s crew. Questioned. The officer said he was cruising there all
the time, and had boarded every vessel that came along, He looked
down the hatchways to find what the cargo was.

Referring, for the correction of any omission or mistake decmed at
all material in the foregoing sketches, to the affidavits themselves, I
do not suppose that they can be read by your lordship without ingpir-
ing a strong sense of the dangerous tendency of the proceedings they
narrate. No nation asserting an equal sovereignty with other nations,
conscious of her independence and her rights, could witness with
peaceful acquiescénce acts so ruinous to the security of her commerce
and contemptuous to her flag. It is not my purpose to exaggerate
these offensive aggressions.  On the contrary, while stating them for
the reparation which they may be deemed entitled to receive, it is a
source of' much gratification to know that the amicable relations of
our two countries are saved from their repetition by the discontinuance
of a practice frankly conceded to be incompatible with public law.

Begging your lordship to accept the assurance of 'my highest con-
sideration, 1 have the honor to be your most obedient servant,

, G. M. DALLAS.

The right honorable the FARL oF MALMESBURY,

dc., de., de.
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My, Savage to Mr. Appleton,

No. 23.] CoNSULATE GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, July 14, 1858,

Sir: The bark ‘¢ Albertina’’ will convey to New York, sailing
to-morrow morning, two witnesses, named Francisco Martinez and
Antonio Fucitto, in tho case of the brig €, Perkinsg To induce them
to go to New York I have had to furnish them a passage, which will
cost the United States fifteen dollars each, and allow them $1 50
cach from the dates on which they gave their affidavits to me (say, 3d
and Gth instants) to the day on which they shall be notified that their
services are no longer required.

I have written to the United States attorney for the southern dis-
trict of New York the main facts of the case, enclosing him copics of
the affidavits, but he may possibly want something more, which you
can furnish him, as the early departure of the Albertina to-morrow
will preveat me trom sending him, o

I have requested Captain Barton, of the Albertina, (a trustworthy
man,) to tarn the two witnesses to the United States revenue cutter
of New York, and the commanding officer of this vessel to receive and
hold them, subject to the district attorney. ; . ‘

Very respectfully, sir, your obedient servant, ,
THOS. SAVAGE,
Vice-Uonsul General.

Hon. Jonn ArprLETON, ;

Assistant Secretary of State of the United States, Washington.

Mr. Cass to Mr. Cobb,

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, July 15, 1858,

Sir: I have the honor to transmit herewith, for your information,
extracts from a despatch (No. 18) received here to-day from the United
States vice-consul general at Havana, relative to the ketch Brothers,
of Chatleston, and the bark Lyra, of New York, which vessels have
recently sailed, under suspicious circumstances, from [Havana for the
coast of Africa,

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
LEWIS CASS.
Hont. Howgrr Cons,

Secretary of the Treasury.

My, Cass to Mr. Hillyer.

'DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, July 16, 1858,

Sir: I transmit herewith; for your information, and in order that
the requisite instructions may begiven tothe United Statesdistrict attor-
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neys in New York and Charleston, respectively, should the circum-
stances be such as to justify it, extract from a despatch, No. 18, re-
ceived from the United States vice-consul general at Havana, rolative
to the departure from that port for the coast of Africa, under suspicious
circumstances, of the ketch Brothers, of Charleston, and the bark Lyra.

I am, siv, your obedient servant, ‘
R LEWIS CASS.

Mr, Cass to Mr. Savage.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, July 16, 1858.

Sir: Your despatches, numbered 18, 19 and 20, with their respect-
ive enclosures, have been received. Iixtracts from your No. 18 have
been sent, respectively, to the Secretary and the Solicitor of the Treas-
ury Department,

In compliance with your request, some stationery has been sent to
you, for official use in the office of the consulate general,

The department has been gratified to receive your prompt replies
to its despatches, and to perceive the industry and efficiency which
you bring to the discharge of the important and laborious duties of
the office of the consulate general, ;

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
~ LEWIS CASS,
Taomas Savaak, Esq.,
U. 8. Vice-Consul General, Havana.

Mr, Cass to Mr. Dallas.

No. 120.] DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washinglon, July 20, 1858.

Str: The papers of which a copy is herewith enclosed were trans-
mitted to this department through Arthur W, Austin, esq., the col-
lector of the customs at Boston, Massachusetts, by Messrs, Mlis &
Cobb of that city. They relate to the seizure and detention of the
Amcrican brig ‘¢ Caroline,”” Gibbs, master, by her Britannic Maj-
esty’s steam sloop ¢ Alecto,’” off the Rio Numnes, in May last. You
are instructed to bring the circumstances to the notice of” the British
government, and to found thercon a demand of redress for the out-
rages and damage suffered through these unjustifiable acts.

I am, sir, respectfully, your obedient servant,
LEWIS CASS.

Greorae M. DaLras, Esq., de., de., de.
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My, Austin to Mr, Cass.

Bosron, June 22, 1858,

Str: 1 transmit a letter from Messrs. Lllis & Cobb, in relation to
outra«rcs committed by the commander of,the Fnglish steamer ¢Alec-
to,”” near Nierra Lieone,

Their communication and the protest will f’nlly set forth the nature
of the outrage. I understand from Messrs, Iillis & Cobb that they
have letters from their captain and supercargo, which can be forth-
coming it wanted.

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
ARTHUR W. AUSTIN , Collector.

Hon. Lewrs Cass, ‘

Secrelary of Stale, Washington.

Messrs, Illlis & Cobb to Mr, Cass.

Bosron, June 21, 1858.

Drar Sir: By the English mail, Just arrived, we have received
letters from Captain (nl)h«;, of our brig ¢ Curoline,” informing us
that the said vessel had been seized by the British war steam sloop
¢ Alecto,”” detained against the captain’s will, searched, and finally
towed to the port of Sierra Leone.

For full information concermn«r this unwarrantalle aggression, we
beg to refer yon to the accompanying protest, noted by Captain Gibbs,
also consular certificate relating to papers of our vessel,  Tho ¢ Caro-
line”’ was fitted out for a trarlmw voyage to the west coast of Africa
and islands adjacent, and it was all important for onr interests that
she shonld proceed according to our letter of instructions to the
supercargo, touching first at Mntncong. You will readily see that
this interruption will cause us materinl loss, completely frustrating
the plans for the voyage, compelling Mr. Pults to dispose of his cargo,
and purchase homeward freights of' the merchants in Sierra Leone,
We will not, however, at this time enter f: ly into details concerning
the disastrous cffects of this seiznre, but simply assure you that they
can be tully shown when necessary, in ovder to obtain nu)mpen% for
our considerablo loss, The outward cargo of the ¢¢ Caroline,”” without
addition of freights and other expenses, was valued here at $20,:188 40,

Trusting to our government to see that we ave reimbursed for our
consideruble losses by this outrage upon commerce, we remain, very

respectiully, your most obedient servants,
ELLIS & COBB.

Hon, Lewis Cass, Washinglon, D. C.
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Bradford Gibbs, master of the brig ‘¢ Caroline,’’ of Boston, in the
United States of America, of the burden of one hundred and seventy-
two tons, or thereabouts, the said vessel having been seized and
taken possession of by her Majesty’s steamship ¢ Alecto,”” Com-
mander Hunt, off the Rio Nunez, and from thence bronght and
anchored off this port of Sierra Leone, notes his protest against the
proceedings to which the said brig has been subjected, agninst the
commander of the ¢ Alecto,”’” and all others whom it may concern, to
be hereafter extended.

Done at Frectown, Sierra Leone, this 12th day of May, 1858,

M. SMITH,
Notary I’ublic.

Noted and done by me.

BRADIFORD GIBBS.

I, Maguus Smith, of I'reetown, in the colony of Sierra Leone, notary
publie, duly admitted and sworn, do hereby certify that the foregoing
is & true and faithful copy of a certain noting or entry of a protest
made with me on the day and by the party therein mentioned.

In witness whercof, 1 have herennto set my hand and affixed my
notarial seal this fourteenth day of' May, in the year of our

L8] Lord one thousand eight hundred and fifty-eight.
M. SMITH,
Notary LPublic.

By this public instrument of protest, be it known unto all whom it
may concern, that on the fourteenth day of May, in the year of our
Lord one thousand eight hundred and fifty-eight, before me, Magnus
Smith, of Frectown, in the colony of Sierra Leone, notary public,
duly admitted and sworn, personally came and appeared Bradford
Gibbs, master of the brig ¢ Caroline,”” of Boston, in the United States
of America, who said and declared, as he doth by these presents say
and dcclure, as follows, that is to say : That the said brig left Boston
aforesaid, on the fourth of April last, laden with a full cargo of such
articles of merchandise as are usually taken for purposes of legitimate
commerce to the west coast of Africa, whither she was bound, this
appearer being then, as now, master of the said brig, and she having
on board also u supercargo, viz: Mr, Horace Tufts, a person who has
long been engaged in the legitimate commerce of the said coast, where
he ig, in consequence, generally well known, That the said brig, after
leaving Boston, made the best of her way on her intended voyage,
and, in the prosecution of the same, was, on Saturday, the 8th day of
May, instant, oft' the Rio Nunes, (not, however, having yet sighted the
- land,) when, in the afternoon, a vessel was seen ahead of her at some
distance off, That the courses the two vessels steered luy towards
each other, and in no great length of time they werce alongside of
each other, when the said vessel so scen, as aforesaid, proved to be the
British stcamship-of-war ¢ Alecto,”” That when near enough the
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said brig was hailed from the said steamer and ordered to heave-to,
That the said brig had, at the time, the United States flag flying at
her main-masthead, having hoisted it (an ensign) when about three
miles distant from the said steamer, and it was kept flying all the
while the said brig and the said steamer were in company with each
other, both night and day. That a boat then came from the said
steamer with an officer and crew, by whom the said brig was boarded,
That, after getting on board the said brig, the said officer, in answer
to questions he put, was informed from whence the said brig had ¢ome,
as aforesaid, and where she was bound to, namely, Matacong, and by
his desire the said brig’s papers were also produced to him, aud ho
inspected the same, viz: her register, her clearance from the custom-
house at Boston, her bill of health, her crew list, and her articles,
with others not necessary to be particularized. That the saild officer,
after exanmining the said papers, and also examining what was ou the
said brig's deck, desired to know whether he could look into her hold,
and was told by the np})earcr that he might look into it from the
after cabin and the fore hatch, and he accordingly examined the »aid
brig’s hold from those parts. That the appearer was indneed to con-
sent to this, (thinking that further trouble might thereby be avoided,)
as these parts of the said brig were easily accessible, but was not
willing that the main hatch should be opened, as that could not be
done without disturbing the deck-load. the said vessel being deeply
laden not only with a full cargo under hatches, but with a deck load
besides. That the boat with part of her crew was, after some time,
sent back to the said steamer with a message that the said brig’s
papers appeared to be all right, but that she had a suspicious cargo,
That the boat in a short time came from the said steamer again with
her commander, who then boarded the said brig himsclf. That the
said brig’s papers (the same already mentioned) were then inspected
by the said commander also. That after o while the said commander
ordered the appearer into the boat with his papers, and took him and
them on board the said steamer, where the said papers underwent
another examination, That after they were thus examined, the said
commander asserted that they were false papers, and told the appearer
that he had better let them swim, and he also told the appearer that
he had better let the American ensign swim, which the said com-
mander pointed to as it was flying on board the said brig—this,
respecting the flag, was said just as the appearer was leaving the
the said steamer, That the appearer and his papers, after some time,
were sent back to the said brig. 'T'hat, when on board the said brig,
the appearer was asked if he was willing that the main hatches should
be opened, in answer to which he said that he was not willing that-
they should, and refused to give his consent thereto. That the said
steamer’s pcople who were on board the said brig, and in the boat
alongside her (amounting to some ten or twelve well armed men in
the whole) were then ordered by their officer to clear the deck load off
the main hatch and break it open, which order was carried into ¢ffect,
and part ot the cargo of the said brig was taken out of her maiun hold
and placed on the deck, and the main hold searched and examined,
That all this wus done entirely by the people of the said steamer,



140 AFRIOAN SLAVE TRADE.

who, also, after the search had been completed, replaced the cargo and
put the hatches on again. That while this was going on, and until
the end of that day, the said brig was kept lying to, with the said
steamer under her lee, but towards evening she was put in charge of
a prize officer and crew from the ¢ Alecto,”’ with directions to follow
the said steamer, That the appearer had before been told by the
commander of the ¢“ Alecto’’ that he should take the said brig to
Sierra Leone, and the said steamer now steered towards that place,
and the said brig was kept by the prize-officer and crew following her
during the night. That the said brig was, during the whole of that
night, entirely in the charge and possession of the said prize officer
and crew, and ro continued until, after her arrival off Cape Sierra
Leone, she was given up, they alone working and sailing her as they
chose, the appearer and her own crew being entirely superseded and
set aside.  That, at about 9 o’clock the next moruing, (that of Sunday,
the 9th of May,) the said steamer came alongside the said brig and
took her in tow and towed her towards Sierra Leone, till about 11
o’clock at night, when she was brought to anchor, this being done en-
tirely by the prize ofticer and crew,  That about half past 6 o’clock the
next morning (that of Monday, the 10th of May,) two officers came
on board thesuid brig from the “ Alecto.”” That,shortly after coming,
one of these oflicers said to the appearer that he had come on board
for the last time, to give him a chance to let that ensign swim, point-
ing to the American ensign at the masthead of the said brig. That
the appearer thanked him for his advice, but declined adopting it.
That one or hoth of the said officers also required the papers of the
said hrig to be produced again, and when that had been done, they
mustered her officers and crew, by her crew list, after which they, or
one of them, sealed up the papers, and gave them to the appearer in
that state, forbidding him to open them till they should be given to
the Awerican consul, That at about 8 o’clock that morning the
anchor of the said brig was hove up by the prize crew, and she was
by them got under way and again taken in tow by the said steamer
and towed towards Sierra Leone, till about 9 o’clock in the evening,
when she was again brought to anchor_by the prize crew off Cape
Sierra Leone.  That at about 10 o’clock the next morning (that of
Tuesday, the 11th of May,) a boat which had left the < Alecto’” for
Freetown returned to her, soon after which the commander of the
said steamer came on board the said brig and ordered the prize mester
and crew to go on board the said stenmer, which they did.  That the
said commander, afterwards, stated to the appearer that he had been
advised to give up the said brig, and offered to tow her to Sicrra Leone
or Matacong, whichever the appearer desired, but that if that was
“declined he should leave her.  That, in answer to this, the appearer
stated that he had no request to make ; and the said commander after-
wards, us he had stated, left the said brig. That the appearer, being
now at liberty to take such course as he thought necessary, proceeded
in the boat of the said brig to I'reetown, and shortly after arriving
there cansed a protest to be noted against the proceedings to which
the said brig had been subjected, (a copy of which noting is i*ereunto
prefixed,) and on the same day caused the commander of the said
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steamer to be served with a notification, of which the following is a

copy :
Iregtown, Sterra Leone, May 12, 1858,

Sir ¢ You baving unlawfully seized and captured the United States
brig ¢ Caroline,”” under my command, off the Rio Nunez, put on
board of hor an armed prize crew and master, and sent her from

“thence under their charge to Sierra Leone, out of the course of her
destined voyage, and at a distance from the place to which she was
bound, I hereby beg to notify you that yon will find yourself held re-
sponsible for the conduct you have thus pursued towards a vessel
which had done nothing which could give you any right to interfere
with her, or anything whatever in the least wrong ; but was simply
engaged in that legitimate commerce which her owners for a consid-
erable time, and her supercargo for many years, had carried on on
the coast of Aftrica, and which it is the object of al! nations and per-
sons who wish well to Africa to encourage, as necessary to the extine-
tion of the slave trade and the promotion of civilization,

The damage resulting from the interruption of the vessel’s voyage
will necessarily be considerable, and you may be assured that this.
will not be quietly submitted to, but that satisfaction will be sought
for this individual injury as well as for the breach you have com-
mitted of international law.

I am, sir, your most obedient humble servant, ,

BRADFORD GIBBS.

The ComMaNDER of H. B. M. stecamship-of-war ¢ Al=clo,”’

That on the next day (that of the 13th of May) the appearer re-
ceived a reply from the said commander, a copy of which is as fol-
lows :

Her Masesty’s steaM snoor ““Aricro,’’
Sierra Leone, May 1, 1858,

SIR : Iinclosed on'the back of this is your letter to me ; to prevent
any alteration of which I retain the original.

The statements of your letter are false, which I have the signed
testimony of myself and officers to prove ; your consular agent at this
place having released yon without cither searching you or going on
board your vessel, or even looking at your papers, has eutively freed
me from all responsibility ; and as you have now had sulficient time
to destroy all eriminal matter that your vessel might have contained,
besides what was seen, and also rearrange your papers, I therefore
leave you in his hands, ; o

In conclusion, I beg to add, that being towed 1o this place at your
own request, against calms and contrary winds, (and thus giving you
a laugh at the Britishers, a remark you often made,) aud thus en-
abling you to be two wecks carlier in the market, and within fifty
miles of the port that you afterwards said yon would like to go to,
and to which you were offered a tow, ought to have made you more

grateful,
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All further correspondence on this subject must be addressed by

you to my commander in-chief,

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
JAMES HUNT, Commander.

Mr. BRADFORD Gr]BBS, who did represent himself to be the master

of the brig ¢ Caroline.””
Nation at present unknown.

And the appearer, in regard to the said reply, said and declared
that the several matters asscrced or insinuated therein are by no
means to be taken to be the truth, but, on the contrary, are for the
most part very untrue, although it is perhaps hardly necessary, di-
rectly, to state that to be the case, as the said matters are for the
most part: shown to be untrue by the said reply itself. That the as-
gertion or insinuation, for instance, that there was any criminal mat-
ter whatever on board the said brig is wholly untrue. That the as-
sertion or insinuation as to the said brig’s papers being arranged or
rearranged, so far as the same 1mphes anything improper, is also
wholly untxue ; that the said brig’s papers are not only genuine, but
their genuineness can be ascertained at the public offices in the United
States, at which the business to which they relate was transacted.
That the assertion or 1nsmuat10n as to the said brig’s being towed to
Sierrra Leone, at the appearer’s ‘‘own request,’’ is also whnlly untrue,
and is shown to be so by other parts of the said reply. Thus the pas-
sage immediately following the said assertion or insinuation, ¢¢ thus
giving you a laugh at the Britishers, a remark you often made,”’
mvolves a contradlctlon to it,.though this vulgar statement is in itself
also untrue, since the appearer never made any such remark, The
passatw, howcver, which most stronﬂ'ly gshows the untruth of this
assertion or insinuation is that which imports that the said brig was
“‘released’’ by her consular agent. What she was released from was
the possession or custody which had been taken of her by the
¢ Alccto.””  That the assertion or insinuation contained in the pas-
sage, ¢ thus enabling you to be two weeks earlier in the market,”’
is also untrue. That it is true that having been brought to Sierra
Leone against their will and contrary to their views, and fearing g that
those views may not now admit of being carried out, it has becn en-
deavored, since the release of the said bxlg, to dlspose of her cargo ab
Sierra Lu)m,, but the said brie was not intended to come to Slerrd.
Leone, nor her cargo to be dxhpo~ed of there; and it is only in con-
sequence of what was intended in those respects having been frus-
trated by the said brig’s seizure by the ‘“Alecto,”’that the said cargo
has been endeavored t;o be disposed of. That the passage alluded to,
however, is not unimportant since it involves an admission of the
said l)ng s eargo being one for a legitimate mmkc That the usser-
tion or insinuation conveyed in the exprc%lons ¢“ the port to which
you afterwards said you would like to go,”’ if it means that the ap-
pearer did not, from the first, state that the said brig was bound to
Matacong, is also untr ue, the appearer having from the first, and al-
ways said, she was bound to that port. That the assertion or insin-
uation in the address of the said reply, as to the said brig’s “nation
being unknown,’’ is also untrue, the nation of the said brig havmv from
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the beginning been evinced by her flag and papers, as has been
already stated ; the untruth of this assertion or insinuation is more-
over shown by another part of the said reply, that, namely, which
speaks of her ‘‘release,’”’ the commander of the ¢‘Alecto,’’ there speak-
ing of aud treating the United States consular agent at Sicrra Lieone
as being the consular agent of the nation of the said brig. That the
assertion or insinuation in the address of the said reply, as though
the appearer only ‘¢ represented ’’ himself to the master of the said
brig, but was not her genuine master, i3 also untrue, the appearer
being the genuine master, and the fact that he is so appearing upon
the papers, and being - easily ascertainable by reference to the public
offices in the United States, in which such matters have to be made
to appear, And the aforesaid conduct and proceedings adopted to-
wards the said brig ‘“ Cavoline’’ being, as the appearer alleges, alto-
- gether unlawful and unwarrantable, he, the appearer, doth hereby
protest against the same, and against the commander of the said
British steam sloop-of-war ‘¢ Alecto,”” and all concerned in the said
proceedings and conduct, and all who are or ought to be responsible

for the same.

Done and protested before me, the notary aforesaid, at I'rectown,
in the colony of Sierra Leone. In testimony whereof, I have here-
unto set my hand and affixed my notarial seal, the day and year first

above written, ,
[L. s.] 3. SMITH,
Notary Public,

I, Bradford Gibbs, the appearer above named, do solemnly and
sincercly declare that the foregoing statement is correct, and contains
a true acconnt of the facts and circumstances; and T make this solemn
declaration, conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by
virtue of the provisions of an act made and passed in the sixth year ot
the reign of his late Majesty King William the fourth, intituled *“An
act to repeal an act of the present session of parliament, intituled An
act for the more effectual abolition of oaths and affirmations taken
and made in various departments ot the state, and to substitute decla-
rations in lieu thereof, and for the more entire suppression of volun-
tary and extra-judicial oaths and affidavits, and to make other
provisions for the abolition of unnecessary oaths.’’

BRADFORD GIBBS.

Declared this nineteenth day of May, 1858, before me,
M. SMITH, Notary Public.

I, John E. Taylor, do hereby certify that the following documents,
viz: register, clearance, crew list, and shipping articles of the brig
‘““Caroline,” of Boston, were this day exhibited before me by Bradford
Gibbs, master of said vessel, sealed by the commander of the *“ Alecto,”’
and that I examined the snme, and believe them to be correct, accord-
ing to the laws of the United States. -

Given under my hand aud seal of office this 12th day of May, 1858,

[sAL.] JOHN E. TAYLOR,
' United States Consul.
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Consul Crawford to Lord Malmesbury.

Havana, July 22, 1858,

My Logp: I have the honor of reporting to your lordship that the
bark ¢* Liyra,”” which sailed from this port about ten days ago, under
American colors, to be employed in the slave trade, put into Key
West, where she has been seized by the collector of customs, as a
slaver,

The master is said to have abandoned the ¢‘ Lyra,”” and made his
escape, carrying with him the money, (said to have been $30,000,)
put on board here for the purchase of her cargo of negroes.

The brigantine ““ A, C. Perkins,”” which was sunk in this harbor,
under the circumstances described in my last number of this series,
has been raised and is hauled in to the wharf, undergoing investiga-
tion by the Spanish authorities in combination with the American
pro-consul. o

Information having reached the brigadier governor of Havana, Don
José Ignacio Iichavarria, that the American brig ¢ Nancy,”” of 219
tons, was tnking in her equipments, and was about to be despatched
to be employed in the slave trade, said vessel was seized in the night
between the 16th and 17th instants, it is said, in the moment of ker
having part of her slave fittings put on board. The crew found in
the vessel have been imprisoned, and the affair is undergoing investi-
gation by the Spanish authorities,

A certain Mr. Gerediaga, who has been extensively engaged in the
glave trade at this place for some time past, has also been placed in
confinement by these authorities. : ;

My, Consul Torbes, of Santiago de Cuba, reports the sailing from
that port of the brig ¢ Juliet,”” under American colors, the 25th ulti-
mo, bound for the coast of Africa, to be employed in the slave trade,
She took 180 puncheons of water muarked Ste. Maria, 150 barrels of
biscuit, 50 barrels pork, and 50 bags of rice, in the way of provisions,
but was cleared as having a cargo of sugar and-rum for Macuo,

Mr. V. Consul D’Costa, of date the Tth instant, reports the sailing
of the Amecrican brig ‘¢ Rufus Soulé,” from Matauzus, as to be em-
ployed in the slave trade, and this information has been confirmed
by the former master of that vessel, a British subject, citizen of the
United States, who left her when sold at Matanzas, and gave me notice
of hig suspicions upon his arrival here. ;

The American tore-and-aft rigged schooner ¢ Castor,”” about 263
tons, arrived at this port a few days ago, from New York. She is, I
hear, for sale, and being admirably adapted for the slave trade, I pre-
sume she will be bought and sent to the coast of Africa, to supply the
place of some of those which have been captured.

I have, &e., ' ;
JOS. T. CRAWIORD,
Consul General in Cuba,
The IBArL or Manyussury, de., de., de.
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M? Savage to Mr. Applelon,

No. 24.] CoNsurLATE GENBERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
' Havana, July 25, 1858,

Sir: The mail steamer from New York arrived yesterday afternoon,
and brought me a bag from the department containing stationery for
this office, but no despatches. ‘

In the mattor of the schooner ¢ Lydia Gibbs,”’ I have made dili-
gent inquiries to agcertain if sho was actually fitted out for and pro-
ceeded to Africa on a slaving voyage. It is currently reported and
believed that such was the objeet of the voyage, but I can find no
evidence to establish the fact. DBy sonie means it became known that
I was endeavoring to discover what T could respecting the vessel, when
her charter-party and bill of lading were anonymously sent to me.
I enclose you these two documents, numbered 1 and 2, which to all
appearances bear the signature of Thomas Watson, the master  The
person (Juan Campa) appearing as charterer, is entirely unknown
to me, and I can find no one to give me any account of him,

The brig ‘¢ C. Perking’* was raised, pumped out, and is now lying
at the wharf; she will probably be discharged to-niorrow or the next
day. There is no doubt whatever that she was going for slaves, as
independent of other things there is sufficient evidence on board to
prove the fact, The Spaniard, Duraflon, said to be her owner is, I am
told, in prison. I accompany herewith copies of two letters numbered
3 and 4, (not previously sent,) that have passed between the captain
general and myself relative to this affair.

I now proceed to call your particular attention to the voluminous
correspondence that I have had with Flag-Officer McIntosh, the gover-
nor ot Havana and other officials, and Captain John Williams, upon
the case of the brig *“ Nancy,’’ of New Orleans, detained by the aun-
thorities here, and her cargo discharged by order of the same, on an
accusation (among other charges) of being fitting out for the slave
trade in connexion with a Spaniard residing in this city named Don
Ramon Guerediaga, who has been, since the 17th instant, confined in
a fort and debarred all communication with his friends.

This is such a complicated affair, involving violations of the laws
both of the United States and Spain, that I have been at a loss to
conceive how I could have adopted a different course and objected to
the confinement of the captain and crew of the brig, or refused my co-
operation, to & certain extent, with the authorities in their endeavors
to investigate whether the ¢ Naucy ’’ was really being fitted out for
that unlawtul traflic; when the authorities-gave me the assurance
that they possessed evidence of such being the object of her intended
voyage, and that a very important part of the evidence was to be
found on board. IHad the authorities not instituted proccedings in
respect to the alleged violations of their own laws, and simply, but
in positive terms, communicated to me that the ¢ Nancy’’ was going
for slaves, and assured me of their having the evidence to prove their
assertion, it would have been my duty, if I am not in error, to secure
in prison the person of the captain and crew in order to prevent their

H, Ex. Doc, 7-——-10
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escape ; then look into the nature of tho evidence, and if found suffi-
cient, scize the vessel and send her with the crew to the United States
to be there dealt with according to law,

As the matter now stands, I cannot say how it will terminate, I
will not lose sight of it; and in the same manner as I have not
hitherto neglected to bring forward all the captain has alleged in be-
half' of himself and crew, nor to do anything to ameliorate their con-
dition while the caso is pending, I will not fail to insist upon the
investigation being brought to a close with all desputeh ; and in the
event of the accused being put on trial, that they shall be allowed all
the facilities for defence they are entitled to under the treaty between
the United States and Spain, even though the greater portion of the’
crew cannot, as I believe, produce proof of being American citizens.

The charter-party of the ¢ Nancy’’ was exhibited to me on board.
by Captain Williams, When I get it I will send you a copy thereof.
I'rom the tenor of it one would suppose it to be for a lawful voyage.
I presume it will stand good if the evidénce produced be not strong
enough to show:that the document was intended as a blind, this being
a trick repeatedly resorted to by slavers, The enclosures relating to
this affair are numbered b to 24 inclusive.

The other papers also enclosed, and numbered 25, 26, 27, and 28,
relate to tho bark ¢ Lyra’’ seized Dy the authorities at Key West.
In a former communication I mentioned thix vessel, my suspicions
that sho was bound for Africa to engage in the slave trade, and the
measures that had been adopted to insure her going to Key West.

Owing to the very many lengthy documents I have had to copy,
besides attending to the current business of my office, I have been
unable, this time, to follow the instructions of the department in regad
to the manner in which documents should be forwarded. The steamer’s
mail closes at 6 a. m, to-day, and as there will be no other steamer for
the United States before the 8th proximo, I deemed it best to lose no
time in laying the papers before the department. I crave your leniency,
and without advancing it as anything meritorious, I beg leave to say
that this despatch is being closed at 8 o’clock this morning, and that
I have been in the office the whole night.

My ecflorts in detecting aund putting a stop, in this place, to the
prostitution of the American flag for purposes ot' slave trading, have
created a considerable excitement and hostility to me among a certain
clags of persons here. I understand that some abusive letters have
been sent on to be published in certain journals of the United States,
with the view of raising a clamor against me. This cannot and will
not deter me frem performing my whole duty without fear or favor.
1 trust the President, the department, and the respectable portion of
the community, who hold their country’s interest and honor at heart,
will believe in the rectitude of my purpose. I have acted according
to the best of my judgement, and trust that the department will give
me instructions ; that if my course should not entirely meet its ap-
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proval, it will inform me where I have erred, in order to reotify, if
possible, any mistakes I may have made, N s
I have the honor to be, sir, with great respect, your obedient servant,
THOMAS SAVAGE,
Vice- Consul General,
Hon. JonN APrpLETON,
Assistant Secretary of Slate
of the United States, Washington.

No. 1.

=~ Charter-party.

It is thiy day mutually understood and agreed upon between —-
in hehalf of the owners of the American schooner Lydia Gibbs, of
123 tons, whereof Thomas Watson is master, now lying in the port of
Havana, on the first part, and Juan Campa, merchant, on the second
part, as follows: That the said vessel being tight, staiinch, strong,
and in every respect fitted for the intended voyage, Captain T, Watson
shall receive on board said vessel a full and complete cargo, to consist
of such goods or merchandise as the charterers may see proper to put
in her, which shall not exceed what she can reasonably stow and carry,
over and above her tackle, apparel, provisions, and room sufficient for
the accommodation of the officers and crew, and which cargo the said
parties of the second part hereby agree to furnish at Havana.

The said vessel being so laden, Captain T. Watson shall, with all
possible despatch, make sail for the port of Annabon and a market, or
s0 near thereunto as she may safely get, and on his arrival at the port

_of discharge make a true and faithful delivery of the cargo according
to custom and the bills of lading.

In consideration whercof, freight shall be paid on unloading and
right delivery of the cargo at the rate of twelve thousand dollars, as
follows : eight thousand dollars to be paid in cash at Havana before
the departure of the vessel, and four thousand on her return to a port
in Cuba.

The lay days shall bo as follows: fifteen running days; after the
expiration of which time, demurrage shall be paid at the rate of $25
per day as it may become due.

The cargo shall be taken in and discharged according to custom of
the respective ports of loading and discharging at the expense of
charterers, /

The vessel shall be consigned at Annabon to the order of the said
merchants, paying no commissions. ——

It i3 further understood and agreed upon, that on arrival and
delivery of cargo at Annabon, she will take in a cargo of goods and
merchandise and thence proceed to a port in Cuba. v

And for the due performance of the several articles of this agreement,
the respective parties do hereby bind themselves, each unto the other,
n the penal sum of one thousand dollars: restraint of rulers, the
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acts of God, fire and all and every of the dangers of the seas, rivors,
and navigation of whatever nature and kind, always excepted.

In testimony whereof;, the respective parties have hereunto set their
hands, in the city of Havana, this 24th duy of IFebruary, in the year
onc¢ thousand eight hundred and filty-cight,

Witnesy to the signature.

TIIOMAS WATSON.

No, 2.
Bl of Lading.

Shipped,'in good order and well conditioned, by J. Campa, on
board the American schooner called the Liydia Gibbs, whercof Watson
is master for the present voyage, now lying in the port of Havana,
and bound for Annabon. "Tosay: one hundred and fifty pipes of
rum, being marked and numbered as in the margin, and are to be
delivered in the like good order and condition,at the aforesaid port
of Annabon, (the dangers of the seas only excepted,) unto order, or
to assigns, lie or they paying freight for the said , with pri-
mage and average accustomed. In witness whereof, the master or
purser of the said vessel hath affirmed to two bills of lading, of this
tenor and date, one of" which being accomplished, the other to stand
void.

Dated, Iavana, the 8th day of March, 1858.
THOMAS WATSON.,

No. 3.

Coxsunate GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
- davana, July 19, 1858,
Mosr Iixerniest S @ I have the honor to inform your excellency
that the brig ¢ C. Perking”’ is already afloat, the holes in her bow
stopped up, and all the water in her has been pumped out,  Shs will
be talken, probably to-morrow, to anchor at some place in the harbor
in decp water, where her cargo may be taken out.  Should your ex-
cellency deem it proper to have her discharged, in order to ascertain
fully the nature of her eargo, such a course will meet with my co-ope-
1ation, I would request your excellency to let me know when the
discharge will be commenced, as I wish to be present at the forma-
tion of the inventory,
With great respect, your excellency’s very obedient servant,
THOMAS SAVAGE,
Commercial Agenl in charge of the Consulale Gencral.
His Iixeellency Sor Don Josi bi A Coxecnia,
Governor, Captain General of the Island of Cuba,
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No. 4.
[Translation.)

GOVERNMENT, CAPTAIN GENERATSHIP, AND DELEGATED SUPERINTENDANCY OF
TREASURY O THE EVER FAITHFUL ISLAND OF CUBA,  GOVERNMENT OFFICE,

[SEAL. ]

Before receiving your communication announcing to me that the
American brig ¢ C. Perknis’’ was afloat, I yesterday notified the in-
tendant general to verify the actual cargo of said vessel by a compari-
son with the statements exhibited to obtain her clearance, and to con-
duct the proceedings with suitable diligence, and invite you to wit-
ness the operation. |

Such are the wishes you also express in offering your co-operation ;
and it is probable that from moment to moment you may receive the
seasonable notice from the treasury authorities,

(tod preserve you many years,

HavaNa, July 20, 1858, i
JOSE DIE LA CONCHA.
The CoMMBRCIAL AGENT

In charge of the Consulate General of the Uniled Slales,

No. 5.
[ Translation.]

[SEAL. ] PrErFEcTURE oF TTavaNa,
Havana, July 18, 1858,

The suspicions which were entertained that the Ameriean brig
“Nancy '’ was preparing in this port to proceed to the coast of Africa
in search of a cargo of wild negroes being confirmed, it hbecomes neces-
sary, in conformity to the orders which have been communicated to
me, to proceed to imprison the captain and all the crew of said ves-
sel ; and, in order that she may not be abandoned; and that some one
may be intrusted with her custody and preservation, I address myself
to you, hoping you will be pleased to tell me whether you can desig-
nate & perdon in whom you confide, who, with some seamen, may
take charge of said brig before her captain and crew leave her.

God preserve you many years,

JOSE TGNO. DE ECITAVARRIA.

Col. Troxas Savaar, Commercial Ayent, ;

In charge of the business of the U. S. Consulate at this place,
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No. 8.

CoNSULATE (GENERAL OF TIE UNITED STATES,
- Havana, July 18, 1858.

Sir: In view of what you said to me, in your official letter of this
date, with reference to the brig Nancy, whose master and crew are to
be arrested for infraction of the laws, I hasten to state that I am not
at present able to find intelligent and responsible séafaring men un-
engaged, to place in charge of the said vessel. For this reason I take
the liberty to propose that his excellency the commandant general of
marine be requested to furnish a warrant officer and a sufficient num-
ber of men to take care of the ‘“ Nancy,’’ and that the delivery to the
officer of all that may be on board, be effected with the requisite for-
malities. , .

I am willing, on my part, to be present and authorize the forma-
tion of the inventory and the delivery of the vessel and her appur-
tenances, as soon as you shall bo pleased to give e the requisite
notice.

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant, }
THOS. SAVAGE,
In charge of the Consulate General,

Sor Brigadier Don Josis IaNAcIo b FCHAVARRIA,
Governor of Havana, de., &o., de.

No. 1.

[T'ranslation.]

[sEAL.] ' Prerecrure or HavaNa,
Havana, July 18, 1858.

His excellency the general commandant of marine, to whom I made
a suitable representation in consequence of yonr communication of
this date, relative to the American brig ¢¢ Nancy,’’ has appointed the
sea officer whose name is expressed on the margin [Don Scbastian
Gonzales] to go, with the suitable number of seamen, and take charge
of the said vessel and her appurtenances.

Which I make known to you in order that, with this knowledge,
and inasmuch as the delivery has to be effected nnder inventory, yon
may be pleased to witness and authorize said act, as in a writing of
this date you state that you are ready to do so.

On the delivery being terminated, the captain and crew will re-
main in charge of' the commissioner of the 2d district, with whom I
have communicated concerning the arrest,

God preserve you many years, ,

JOSI IGNO, DE LECHAVARRIA.
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No. 8.

CoxsuLATE GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, July 19, 1858.

Sir: Complying with the request contained in your official letter
of to-day, I have the honor to nccompany a document showing all that
can be ascertained from the brig ¢“ Nuncy’s’’ crew list and shipping
articles, including various remarks pertinent to the subject.

I beg leave to draw your attention, in this letter, to one of the sub-
jects of the conversation that took place at thoe interview I had the
honor to hold with you this day. 1 refer to the state of ingommuni-
cation in which the captain and men of the *“ Nancy'’ are held, 1
hope that the preliminary examination of these parties has been car-
ried on to-day, in-order that they may be allowed to hold {ree com-
munication with their friends, as well as with this consulate, without
unnccessury delay.

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

" THOMAS SAVAGE,
Commercial Agent in charge of the Consulate General.

Sor Brigadier Don Jost: TaNacto pr EcnavARRIA,
. Governor of Havana, de., de., de.

ITAvaNa, July 19, 1858,

Names of persons composing the crew of the briy ‘ Nuncy,” of New
Orleans, lying in the port of Havana, so far as the same can be ascer-
tained from the ercw list and shipping articles.

]

John Williams. master or captain; ILouis Teosn, mate, Michael
Vedo, cook; Antonio Martin, steward; and John Collin, carpenter,
nation unknowu. Joseph IFerner, or Fermin, Thomas Benker, Charles
Bicerens,or Barnes, Lucindo Tornicio, John Davis, and Nicholas The-
odore,

There is nothing in the crew list and shipping articles of the brig
to show the nationality of the six last named persons; and, indeed,
there is no evidence that any of the said six persons, or Louis Teoso,
were shipped according to the laws of the United States. It appears
that after the brig had been cleared or despatched at the custom-
house in New Orleans, the majority of the crew, whose names appear
in the official crew list deserted, and that a number of other men
were shipped in their places 5 but there is no evidence that this last
shipment of men was in any way legalized. The captain never
brought to the consulate (as he ought to have done) the ¢ shipping
articles,”’ or contract with the crew, certified by the custom-house at
New Orleans ; and he ought to have procured from some notary pub-
lic in New Orleans, certificates expressive of the changes that occurred
in the crew after her clearance in the custom-house. —

The captain of the *Nancy’’ reported to me yesterday that An-
drew Agen, or Ogden, who came from New Orleans, had deserted the
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vessel some days since, and left the port in a Russian ship ; that one
of the men had died ; that two others were on shore; the names of
these three I do not know,

Among the men arrested on board yesterday was one that was act-
ing az cook, who obtained a passport from the government of this
island rome days since.  The commissary of the second district knows
the man, as I understood from said commisgary that he issued to the
man the certificate to enable him to get the passport. ,

The mate, Louis Teoso, came hers acting as second mate of the brig
on the 16th instant; he signed the contract as mate before the ship-
ping of Havana—Mr, Daniel Werren, In the same way, Charles
Burens, or Barnes, to go as second mate. Other men signed the
contract to proceed in the brig ¢“ Naucy,”” on the 16th instant. Their
names are Pedro Alvarado, Juan Perez, Juan Iichavarvia, Francisco
Fernandez, and Felipe Alvarado—all these appear as Portugucese sub-
jects, ‘

The two mates—Teoso and Burens, or Barnes—call themseclves

Amecrican citizens,
TIHOMAS SAVAGE,
Cominercial Agent in charge of the Consulate General.

No. 9.
{ Translation )

PrerrcTure oF Havaxa,
Havana, July 19, 1838,

Tn the prosccution of the official proceedings whichyhave been in-
stituted in regard to the American brig ¢ Nancy,’’ on account of the
confirmed suspicions that she is preparing for the trade in wild ne-
groes of Africa, as you aware, it would be very convenient to join to
them the roll belonging to said vessel ; and I request that you will be
o good as to furnish it to me, or at least an authenticated copy of it,
or, in case of your not having it, an intimation of where it is, in order
that it may be obtained.

God preserve you many years, .
© JOSI; IGNO. DE ECHAVARRIA.

The CommercIAL AaeNTt, in charge of (he business
of the Cunsulate General of the United Slates.

[sEAL.]

No. 10,

CoNSULATE GENERAL oF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, July 20, 1858,

St Anoccurrence took place a few days since, in this pert, that
has led to the imprisonment of the captain and crew (such of them that
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wore found on board) of the brig ¢‘ Nancy,”’ of New Orleans, From
information given me by tho governor of this city, it appears that
the authoritiee were advised that the ¢“Nancy’’ was fitting out for tho
slave trade ; that two lighters, with goods not entered at the custom-
house, were detected alongside the brig by the revenue officers; and,
when they wero performing their duty they were advised by parties
connected with the vessel not to interfero, as the governor, chief of
police, andc ommandant of the revenve guards were inlerested in the
expedition to go after slaves. The officers were not deterred from car-

"rying out their parpose, and afterwards made a report of all the cir-
cumstances to their commandant, who, on his part, communicated
tho same to the captain general.  Subsequently the vessel was searched
by the revenue officers, who reported that she not only had on board
goods not entered in the custom-house, but that there were effects
among them confirming the suspicions entertained that the brig was
fitting out for the slave trade. The hatches were closed and sealed
with the seal of the custom-house. ,

Last Saturday the governor requested me to call on him, when he
communicated all these things, and that it was uecessary to secure the
persons of the captain and crew of the brig—all of whom are said to
be implicated. As I had been watching the ‘“ Nancy’’ since her arri-
val, (for it was and is currently reported, though not in a tangible
form, that she, some time ago, brought a cargo of slaves from Africa
to Cuba,) and was awaiting her clearance for the purpose of assuming
the responsibility not to let her go to sea, unless I was perfectly satis-
fied that she was bound upon a lawful voyage, I consented to the
arrest of the captain and men. The governor desired me to place
some persons on board to protect the property, but there being none
unengaged that I could trust, I requested him to procure from the
admiral a warrant officer and some seamen for the purpose. On Sun-
day evening we went on board the brig, and placed the Spanish oflicer
and men in charge, and the captain and crew were taken to prison,
A Spaniard, named Don Ramon Guerediaga, accused of being inter-
ested in the expedition, has been, since Saturday, in solitary confine-
ment. The master and men of the “ Nuncy’’ being also (according
to the laws ot the country) confined in a state of incommuuication
with their friends and until their examination ig gone through, I
yesterday desired the governor to cause their examination to be taken
in order that they should be permitted, without unnecessary delay, to
have free intercourse with the consulate and their friends. Ialso told
the governor that I should require to be present at the opening of the
hatches and discharge of the cargo. The governor assured me that
he would have the captain and men examined immediately, so that
they could be allowed free communication; that I should be invited to
be present at the discharge of the cargo; and that not a single step
would be taken by the authorities, in the case, without giving me no-
tice beforehand, that I might be sure nothing was done which was not
in conformity to law. The examination of the parties is now going
on, I will, of course, give my most particular attention to the casc;
it is a complicated one, involving alleged violations of the laws both
of the United States and Spain; and, in the event of the American
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captain and men being brought to trial, will see that they are allowed
all the facilities for defence that they are entitled to under the treaty
between the United States and Spain. ;

If you could conveniontly come here with the ¢“Colorado,’’ I should
be glad indeed. You could then learn for yourself all the circum-
stances of the case, and act according to your judgment, or at least
aid me with your valuable advice,

The Jamestown was off the port yesterday—Captain Kennedy was
on shore; he told me sickness continued on board the ship, and that
two porsons were very ill. e expects to be back here on the 22d or
13d 1nstant.

* * * * * * * * *

I remain, very respectfully, yours,
‘ THOMAS SAVAGL,
Vice-Consul General,

TFlag-Officer James MoMcInTosi,
Commanding United States [lome and Gulf Squadron,
on board Steam IF'rigate ¢ (‘olsrado,” Key West,

No. 11,

Royarn Prison, Havena, July 20, 1859.

Dear Sir: T chartered my vessel for the coast on a legal voyage, as
per charter-party, bound to receive on board a cargo of gools, legal
as is understood, at Havana, to be delivered there. I am not aware
what goods or effects there have been sent on board of my vessel.
Neither do I consider myself to break open and examine packages
that are sent on board of my ship as cargo by the charterers, but
simply to take an account of their number and marks, if any. Iam
not aware if all packages on board of my vessel now are, or are not,
legally cleared by the custom-house. This is a matter that does not
concern me in any way at all. My duty as master is to report to the
custom-house officers when they call for it, and after all cargo is on
board, such number of packages there is on the ship, and their con-
teuts, for which we take the merchant’s note. I have signed no bills
of lading for any goods on board as yet, and consequently I am
ignorant, and desirous of ascertaining why, therefore, I am so arbi-
trarily removed from my ship into a public prison, together with my
mate and crew, Now, dear sir, as the representative of the United
States, you will take an interest in my immediate release from this
place, and also of my mate and crew Let me impress upon your
mind that I consider myself most grossly insulted, and beg of yot to
protest, in my name, against whom it may concern, for the insult, in
the first place, and indemnity and damages that may result out of such
rash and arbitrary act. Pleasc sce to my release as soon as possible, -
in order that I may be able to appear at your office, and make a full
and complete statement of all. Expecting you will not delay in
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attending to this my request. My charter-party the commissary has
got, which he promised to return last evening, which he has not done,
I beg of you to demand for me.

Dear sir, I remain your obedient servant, o
JOHN WILLTAMS,
Master Brig Nancy.

The CoNSULATE of the United Stales of Aierica.

N. B.—I wish myself, mate, and crew present at the discharge of
my vessel.

No. 12

[ Translation ]

[SEAL. ] PrerECTURE oF TTAVANA,
Havana, July 20, 1858,

I have given an appropriate direction to the information relative to
the crew of the American brig ¢“ Nancy,”’ which you have been pleased
to furnish to me in the communication that I received from your con-
sulate yesterday afternoon; and as, in your opinion, it would be
proper to have a conference with the captain of said vessel, who is in
‘the royal prison, I wish you to know that he can be communicated
with to-morrow morning ; and as soon as the respective examinations
shall have been made, you can proceed, in the same manner, to con-
for with the rest of' the scamen of the aforesaid brig: once accomplished
the precautionary object with which you know this measure is adopted
with o view of facilitating the clucidation of the facts which it is
necessary to inquire into,

Glod preserve you many years.

JOST: IGNAO. DE ECHAVARRIA.

The CoMMERCIAL AGENT

In charge of the business of the Consulate General
of the United Stales at this place.

No. 13.

CoNSULATE GFENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
- Havana, July 21, 1858.

Sir: I have at this moment, 3.10 p. m., received a communication
from the administrator of maritime revenue, informing me that the
discharge of the brig ¢ Nancy’’ will commence to-morrow (22d) at
6 o’clock in the morning. v

As you stated to me verbally this morning that there is no objection
on your part in according to the captain’s petition, for himself and
mate, to be present at the discharge, and believing that there will be
none on the part of the administrator of the revenue, I ask of you to
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be so good as to give orders that the said captain and mate be con-
ducled on board at the hour fixed, I have understood that the admin-
istrator has gone, for the day, to his home in the Cerro; for this reason,
it will not be possible for me to see him to ascertain his views upon

this point,
I have much pleasure in subscribing mysolf your attentive and

obedient servant, :
THOMAS SAVAGE,
- Vice-Consul General.

Sor Brig. Don Jost TaNo. pE IicIIAVARRIA,
Grovernor of Havana, de., de., de.

No, 14,

[Translation.]

GENERAL OFrIcE OF RoYAL MARITIME REVENUES OF ITAVANA,
Havana, July 21, 1858,

In compliance with an order from his e\ccellenoy the superior civil
governor and captain general of the island, this office of maritime reve-
nues will proceed to unload the American brm' ‘“Nancy,” and to com-
pare the articles which she has on board with the permits of shlpmcnt
1ssted by the custom-house. This operation will begit at 6 o’clock
to-morrow morning, the 22d instant ; and by order of his excellency
the superior civil governor, I make it known to you, so that, if you
wish, you may be present at said unloading and compm‘lson as com-
mercial agent in charge of the comsulate ﬂeneml of the United States.

God preserve you many years.
BONIFACIO CORTEZ,

The CoMMERCIAL AGENT
In charge of the Consulate General of the United States.

No. 15.
[Translation.]

[SEAL.] PreFrcTURE oF HAVANA,
Hovana, July 21, 1858.

Being in possession of your communication of this date, in which
you reiterate to me the wishes you have verbally e\preqqed that the
captain and mate (piloto) of the American brig ¢ Nancy '’ might be
present at the unloading and examination of said vessel, I musb agree
with you that T do not consider such a course improper, and supposing
this opinion will be concurred in by the office of maritime revenues,
whose report it is not possible for me to obtain now, ag, owing to the
lateness of the hour, that office is now closed, and as the examination
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is to take place early to-morrow morning, I give the suitable orders
to the chief of police that said captain and mate may be accompaniod
by a policeman to the place of unloading, for the purpose which you
indicate to me; and I make this notification thus direetly, and in
consideration ot the short time afforded to the superintendent of mari-
time revenues, 1 think by this means everything will be arranged,
as it was not possible for you to come to an understanding with snid
chief, for  the reason that he had already retired from his office ; and
I state this to you in answer to your polite communication, which I
have just received,
God preserve you many years,™
| JOSE IGNO. DE ECHAVARRIA.
The CoMMERCIAL AGENT
In charge of the Consulate General of the U. S. ut this place.

No. 16.

Frag-surr ¢¢ Cororano,”’
ey West, July 21, 1858,

Sir: I have received your communication of the 20th instant,
detailing the occurrences in relatiou to the brig ¢ Nancy,’” her captain
and crew. :

I hope, if the captain is proved to have been engaged in tlie slave
trade, that he may be fully punished ; for the prostitution of our flag
is now so common a thing that it is disgraceful to the country. v

The bark ¢ Liyra’’ has just been seized here on strong suspicion of
being engaged 1n the slave trade, and her captain and crew have all
deserted her,

I have asked from the honorable Secretary of the Navy more par-
ticular instructions in relation to vessels so suspected, and I trust soon
to be able to render you some efficient aid in your duty on this subject.

I am gratified by the conduct of the governor in relation to your-
self in this matter; and if an opportunity offers, you will oblige me
by so stating to him.

I have every confidence in your exertions to have justice done in
this case. At present it ig impossible for me to say when I shall be
off Havana. :

With very great respect, your obedient servant, -~

- JAMIES M. McINTOSH,
Flag-Qpicer, Commodore-in-Chicf Lome Squadron,

Tromas Savaay, lisq., ,

Vice-Consul General of the United States, Havana,
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No. 17.

Prrson, Havana, July 22, 1858,

Drar 8 : I do not see any necessity for me and my mate to go on
board of the American brig *“ Nancy,”” which I lately had charge of,
as her hatches have been opened since my imprisonment, I do not
consider that I have anything to do in regard to her discharging on
account of what has occurred. Pray, Mr. Savage, do not forget the
treatment of my men and myself; by doing so, you will confer a

favor on your humble servant,
- JOIIN WILLIAMS.
The CoNsULATE of the United Stales. .

No. 18.

Prison, Havana, July 22, 1858.

Drar Siz: From the time you ordered me out of my ship and al-
Jowed me to be conveyed to & Spanish public prison by the authorities
of this place, thus leaving my ship and part of her cargo then on
board under your guidance I thought, but to my surprise [ find that
you did not take charge of her ; neither did you place an officer or a
responsible person on board to sce that there was nothing taken out
or put into the ship until such time as she might have been ordered
to be discharged either by yourself or the government, for I really
don’t know by whom I am placed in this situation; I don’t consider
that my presence is at all required to sce to her being discharged, since
they have taken off the hatches during my absence, and must be
known to yourself, as you stated to me this morning, and consequently
they may have taken out or put in the ship anything they so chose.
Here you allow me to remain just where 1 am if you consider it proper
and just until such time as you see fit, and out of this if ever, I shall
see to my own affairs and try to obtain justice,

Dear sir, I remain your servant,
JOHN WILLIAMS.
o the CoNsurnaTe of the United Slates of America.

No. 19.

[Translation,]

[sEAL.] PrerrcTure or IHAvANa,
Havana, July 22, 1858.

I have the pleasure of rcplying to your communication of yester-
day’s date, which I was able to peruse after midnight, and state to
you, in view of all you have been pleased to say to me in it, in conse-
quence of what the captain of the American brig “Nancy’’ has in-
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formed you, that the official proceedings to which you refer are going
on by dotermination of his excellency the superior governor and cap-
tain general of the island, from whom I have received the most posi-
tive orders that they shall be conducted with all possible activity.
This is being done with subjection to the strictest legality, and you,
from your great experience and long residence in the country, may
have been convinced of the fact, seeing that the government, antici-
pating your wishes, has informed you of everything, and hay invited
you, from a politeness which it takes pleasure in observing towards
you, to be present at all the acts which were directed to be performed.
The affuir is proceeding with all the rapidity which could be desired,
and will shortly be sent to the proper judge, who will decide on the
design and position of the captain and crew of the brig ¢“Nancy,’’ to
whom has been and will be extended all the consideration compatible
with the fulfilment of the Iaws,

God preserve you many years.:
JOSE IGNO. DI ECHAVARRIA.

The CoMMERCIAT, AGENT
In charge of the CUonsulate General of the United States.

No. 20.

CoNSULATE GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
4 Havanea, July 22, 1858.

Sie : I have the honor to acknowledge thie receipt of your official
communication of this date, on the subject of the brig ‘¢ Nancy,”’ and
am much gratified at the assurances therein given me of the intention
on the part of the authorities to bring this unfortunate affair to a
prompt termination; of their dogire to show me all possible deference,
and to render the situation of the cuptain, mate, and men of the brig
as comfortable as consistent with their safe-keeping while the case is
pending. I avail myself of this opportunity, however, to state my
surprise on discovering this morning that the seals pleced the other
day upon the ““ Nancy’s’’ hatch by the custom-house authorities had
veen broken yesterday without my being present. This was done at
about 12 o’clock m., (according to the acknowledgment of the officers
who did it,) and was a violation of the understanding betwixt you
and me, thus giving Captain Williams cause to enter a complaint and
protest, as he has done, against the act, and some foundation to plead
a non-accountability for eflects of a suspicious nature that may have
been or be hereafter found on board. ,

You will, I am certain, easily understand the position in which I
am placed in this business. At the same time that I am not disposed
to throw obstacles in the way of' the authorities of the island which
might prevent their ferreting out the alleged infringement of the laws
of Spain and bringing the guilty parties, if any there be, to condign
punishmer ¢, and that I have to ascertain it' the evidence produced
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against the master, mate, and erew of the brig be suflicient to clearly
prove an intent on their part to violate the laws of the United States
by using our flag for a nefarious traffic, I am also in the obligation of
rendering to these parties all the aid and assistance in my power to
insure their prompt release from imprisonment should the charges
against them rot be sustained, I am thus placed in the double posi-
tion, I may say, of prosecutor and defender of the accused ; therefore
it is my duty to bring before you all and everything that, in any
measure, may tend to their benefit.

I do not wish to, and certainly do not entertain the belief that the

authorities of the customs meant to disregard the consulate when they
proceeded to open the brig’s hatch yesterday without first inviting me
to attend the act, but you will, I believe, come with me to the con-
clusion that such a proceeding was, under the circumstances, a mis-
take. ,
I have been from 6 a. m. till nearly 4 p. m. with the officers of the
customs deputed for the services on board the Nancy, attending to the
discharge of her cargo. Notwithstanding the diligence employed, the
whole was not put out to-day, We must therefore be again on the
vessel to-morrow morning early. Captain Williams and his mate do
not wish to be present at the discharge any more.

I have received your letter of this date respecting the bark ¢ TLiyra,”
seized by the authorities of Key West, and will endeavor to return
you an answer in the course of to-morrow.

I reiterate to you the assurances of respect with which I am your

obedient servant,
THOS. SAVAGE,
Commercial Agent in charge of the Consulate Gencral.

Sor Brigadier Don Jost Ienacio pE EcHAVARRIA,
Governor of Havana, ¢e., dc., de.

No. 21.

CoNSULATE GENERAL OF TIE UNITED STATES,
Havana, July 21, 1858.

Smz: I beg leave to call your particular attention to the following
remarks tuken from a letter addressed to me this day by Captain John
Williams, master of the brig Nancy, now detained in the public jail.

Captain Williams asserts that his vessel was chartered to proceed
from IHavana to the coast.of Africa on a lawful voyage ; that he was
bound by the terms of the charter-party to receive on board a cargo
of goods (lawful as he understood) at Havana to be delivered in Arica
to the agent of the charterer ; that the charter-party was handed by
him yesterday to the commissary, who took his examination, at this
functionary’s request, and received the assurance that the document
should be returned to him in the evening, which (Captain Williams
says) has not been done, and that he needs the same. Upon this
point, if I remember right, you gave me to understand this morning
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there would be no difficulty, as the document in question would cor-
tainly be returned to the captain after the object for which the author-
ities required it had been accomw plished. e .

Captain Williams continues saying that he was not aware what
goods or effects had been sent on board of his ship, nor did he con-
sider himself authorized to open and examine packages sent as cargo
by the charterer, his duty being simply to take a note of their number
and marks; that he is ignorant it all the packages put on board
had been entered or not at the custom-house, this being a matter
of no concern to him ; that it is the duty of a shipmaster to report
to the custom-house officers when called upon for it, and after all the
cargo is on board, the number of packages received and their contents;
to effect which, he must, in a great measure, depend upon the mem-
oranda furnished him by the shippers; and that as the time had not
come for him to make his report to the custom-house, and he had not
as yet signed any bills of lading, there could be no reason to accuse
him of an intent to infringe any law. Captain Williams, therefore,
exprerses himself very much at a loss to understand the reason why he,
his mate and crew, have been taken from their ship and subjected to
the hardship and degradation of an imprisonment in a jail, as it they
were convicted of a heinous crime ; and consequently he requires of
me to use my best exertions to obtain their immediate release, and at
the same time requests me to receive his protest against what he con-
siders an arbitrary act on the part of the authorities of this island.

The foregoing observations are laid before you in compliance with
Captain Williams’s wishes.

As you have given me the assurance that the government have
evidence to sustain the charges brought against the parties connected
with the ¢ Nancy,”” and that the authorities have no intention to
take any steps in this matter without fully apprising me of them
beforehand, 1 will abstain from making, at present, any comments
upon Captain Williams’s assertions. I do, however, confidently enter-
tain the hope that no unnecessary delay will be allowed to occur in
bringing the case to a prompt termination, in order that, if the ac-
cused are really innocent, they shall be declared so, and relieved {rom
their painful situation.

With great respect, your obedient servant,

THOS. SAVAGE,
Commercial Agent, in charge of the Consulate General,
Sor Brigadier Don Josi Tunacro,
De Behavarria, Governor of Havana, &e., de., de.,

No. 22,

[Translation ]

[spAL.] Prurecrure or HAVANA,
Havana, July 23, 1858,

Having been conducted with the greatest possible activity the
official proceedings ordered to be instituted by his excellency the

H. Ex. Doc, T—11



162 AFRICAN SLAVE TRADE,

governor captain general respecting the American brig ¢ Nancy,”
they were terminated and put in my possession yesterday afternoon
and, conformably to the orders which his excellency gave me in con-
sequence of being informed of them, they were delivered on the same
afternoon to the judge of the royal superior court, freal audiencia
pretorial,) Don I'rancisco Paldu, named by the higher authority
aforesaid to take charge of the effects referred to by the penal law of
1845, and before the said judge the intendant general will also have
to send the proceedings conducted by the royal treasury.

Thenceforward, thercfore, the intervention which [ exercised in
said affair has terminated ; and on this account I shall send to his
excellency the governor captain general your communication of yes-
terday’s date, which I received at a late hour of the night, as well as
its forerunners, ;

In saying this to you in reply, I gladly avail myself of this oppor-
tunity to say to you, consistently to what I have expressed to you
verbally, that if the captain of the brig ¢“ Nancy’’ wants the original
of the charter-party, which is among the papers forming the official
record, I doubt not it will be furnished to you whenever you may
claim it of the said Judge Paliu, who, I am persuaded, would so
order, leaving on the record due evidence of it, by which your wishes
may be accomplished, and the necessitics of the suit reconciled ; and I
ought to add that, for my own part, I did not decide to do so for the
reason that it was my duty to deliver the proceedings entire.

Grod preserve you many years,

, JOSHI IGNO. DE ECHAVARRIA.
The COMMERCIAL AGENT,
In charge of the Consulate General of the United States.

No. 23.

[Translation.]

In the cver-faithful city of Havana, on the twenty-second of July,
one thousand eight hundred and fifty-cight, in virtue of the official
communication of the superintendent general of maritime revenues,
who forms the head, the individuals named having assembled, viz:
Don Tgnacio Alvarez y Urrutia, inspector of wharves, warehouses, and
bay ; Don Pedro Castellanos, licutenant of the revenue guard; and
Don Manuel Gaztelumendi, officer of the custom-house, appeared Mr.
Thomas Savage, in charge of the consulate general of the United States,
accompanied by the captain of the vessel, John Williams, and the
mate, Luis Jeose, when an inventory wag taken of the articles of the
cargo on board the American brig Nancy, beginning with the articles
on deck, which are as follows :

Five bags of salt ; ten pipes of fresh water ; two half pipes of fresh
water ; half pipe of spirits (which was afterwards placed in the hold;)
half a lighter load of wood ; two depositories of meat, (one empty and
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the other containing three picces ;) four barrels of potatoes ; various
articles emploved in the working and service of the vessel. ,

Subsequently the raising of the hatches was proceeded with, which
were found sealed, at which act the captain of the vessel stated that
the seals which were found on the hatches were not the same as those
which had been put on in his presence ; that he protested against the
act, on account of its not being done in the presence of his consul, and
against all the consequences which might result from it.

After this the nnloading of the articles in the hold was proceeded with,
which operation lagsted until after four o’clock in the aftérnoon, when
the hatches were sealed in order to continue on the following day,
which scaling was done with the seal of the royal treasury and that
of the consulate general of the United States, which we, the individu-
als appointed for this act, did through diligence. '

IGNACIO ALVAREZ Y URRUTIA.
THOMAS SAVAGI,

MANUEL GAZTELUMENDI.
PEDRO CASTELLANOS.

On the 23d day of the same month and year, having reassembled
the individuals who composed this commission, with the consul, but
the captain and mate not being present, the seals on the hatches were
examined and were found in the same condition in which they were
left., The hatches were apened to continue the unloading, which was
concluded at ten o’clock in the morning, with the articles hereinafter

expressed, viz :

6 boxes of vermicelli of various
qualities.

7 half pipesofred wine,are seven.,

2 large iron boilers. ‘

‘1 hogshead containing strings of
garlic and boxes of sardines.

41 bags of rice.
41 large tin pots.
26 small tin pots.
2 wooden hand-mills.
2 bagsof'coffee of six a. [arrobas. ]
15 quarter barrels of vinegar.

4 bags of Indian corn of about
four a. [arrobas.]
5 boxes. jerked beef.
1 short box of tobacco.
2 boxes of white sugar,
2 boxes of medicines,
2 bags of peas.
6 bags of chick peas.
6 boxes of Scotch codfish.
1 box of salt fish,
2 kegs of English nails.
1 cask of beer.
1 box of sardines of Nantes,
20 barrels of ship biscuit.
1 small open box of potatoes,(this
wason deck.)
20 barrels of dry wine,

1 keg of lard.

2 boxes of pickles,

9 barrels of meat from the north.

1 barrel of iron frying pans.

2 barrels of brown sugar.

4 barrels of white sugar.

1 barrel of pointed knives and
tin buckets.

2 boxes preserved tomatoes and
other substahces.

1 box of candles.

1 box of pipes for smoking.

1 box of liquors.

8 barrels ot white beans.

1 box of soap.

8 barrels of white corn meal,

2 half barrels of white corn meal.
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1 barrel of cigars in very small 31 quarter barrels of meat from

boxes. the north.

2 boxes of Cognac of a dozen 3 bundlesof fine tree-nails,
bottles. 32 barrels of ship biscuit,

1 box of cheese and other pro- 24 beams of pine,containing 1,374
visions. feet.

1 basket of Champagne. 170 boards, containing 4,000 fect

4 boxes of preserved tomatoes. according to mark,

Articles in the cabin.

1 box of ordinary dishes, 2 boxes of composition candles.

3 jars of fat. 8 kegs of paint,

8 ‘empty jars, b barrels of anchovies.

2 jars of almonds. 1 box of liquor.

2 jars of annise-seed, . 3 barrels of wheaten flour.

4 demijohns of gin. 1 box of preserves,

1 demijohn of spirits, 4 kegs of lard.

29 jugs of oil. ~ 10 hams.

1 box of soda biscuit. 1 bag of Indian corn,

5 barrels of ship biscuit. 1 box of codfish.

2 boxes of soap. 1 bag of dried peaches.

1 barrel of rice. I bag of flour,

2 barrels of corn meal, b pieces of cotton canvas.

Some unimportant articles are in the cabin, as well as elsewhere on
board, not belonging to the cargo.
16 pipes of spirits. 65 pipes of fresh water.
15 half pipes of spirits.

The demijohns of spirits have remained in the hold, as they could
not go to the depository. In this manner the unloading of the pro-
visions was completed, and they were sent to the warehouses of the
mercantile depository, nothing else being noticed on board, it being
unknown whether anything was hidden under the pipes. The fore-
castle and galley were examined, but there was nothing in them but
articles belonging to the crew and to the working of the vessel ; where-
upon this operation was concluded, and the cabin, hatches, and bulk-
heads of the whole vessel were sealed with the seals of the royal trea-
sury and consulate general of the United States.

‘Which we, the members of this commission, subseribe, at Havana,
on the twenty-third of July, one thousand eight hundred and fifty-

eight. o ‘
IGNACIO ALVAREZ Y URRUTIA.
THOMAS SAVAGE.
MANUEL GAZTELUMENDI.
PEDRO CASTELLANOS.
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No, 24,

ConsurATE GENERAL OF THE UNITED StATi,
Havana, July 24, 1858,

Str: The brigadier governor of this city, in an official letter under
yesterday's date, says to me that on the previous afternoon he had
passed to your hands the governmental procoedings carried on by him
by order of his excellency the superior civil governor of the island, to
investigato if the American brig ¢“Nanoy '’ was fitting out for the slave
trade; and, furthermore, that to said proceedings was accompanied the
original charter-party of the said vessel which was taken {rom the
captain thereof when the commissary of police commissioned for the
preliminary proceedings received his examination, |

Being in need of the charter-party to make a report thereupon to
my government, I would esteem it a favor if' you could detach the
same from the process and place it at my disposal, for which I will
leave the corresponding acknowledgment,

I avail myself of this occasion to earnestly recommend to you the
promptest despatch in this cause; thecrew are suffering in the prison,
and if they should be found to be innocent it would be painful to us to
keep them there longer than is absolutely necessary for the substantia-
tion of the cause, ,

Your just and upright character and kindness of disposition, which
arc well known to me, have encouraged me to address you this recom-
mendation in behalf of the accused belonging to the ¢¢ Nancy.”’

I have much pleasure in offering you the assurances of respect with

which I am your obedient servant,
THOMAS SAVAGE,

In charge of the Consulute General.
Sor Don F'raxcrsco Pardv,
One of the Justices of the Superior Court
of Judicature of this Island, dec., de., de.

No. 25.

Cowrrcror’s OrFICE,
Key West, July 17, 1858,

O : The American bark “Liyra,”” W. C. Dickey master, arrived
here on the 8th instant from your port, under a sea letter, for the pur-
pose of obtaining a temporary register, and to proceed from here to
Africa; the master reported at this office, and entered his vessel.
Suspecting that all was not right with her, I caused an examination of
the vessel, and found that the cargo on board did not agree with*her
manifest given to this office: instead of aguardiente, there werc 86
casks water, and hut very few casks of aguardiente or wine, and a very
large number of articles not manifested, consisting ot beef, oil, swords,
rifles, powder, wooden spoons, iron in bars, one large boiler and fur-
nace, a larger supply of provisions than reported ; the master appeared
to be much surprised at the result, and pleaded ignorance; said he
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was sick when the cargo was taken in, &o. Being satisfied that she
was intended to be engaged in an illegal traffic, viz: the slave trade,
I seized her, and before 1 could arrest the master he absconded with
the money on board, say $7,000 which he reported.

Since the seizure, Licutenant Hartstene informs me that you had
suspicions of her, and requested him to put ni: officer and men on
board of her to see that she came to this port.

Tho Spaniards and part of her crew leave this for Havana in this
vessel.

I will be obliged to you for any information that may be in your
possession relative to this bark and cargo, or of her owner, Captain
James Gage, and if he is still in Havana,

I have the honor to be your obedient servant,
JOHN TP. BALDWIN, Collector.

TromMAs SAVAGE, Iisq., .
United States Vice-Consul General, Havana, Cuba.

No. 26.

CoNSULATE GGENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, July 19, 1858,

Sir: I am in possession of your official letter of the 17th instant,
advising the seizure of the bark ¢ ILyra,”” and asking for such in-
formation as I may have respecting that vessel.

I believe the papers she carried contained all I knew concerning her,
But from the fact of her intending to go on an African voyage, and that
many vessels have been sold in this port, which were provided with
sea letters to proceed direct to a port of the United States, there to
procure the requisite papers, instead of which they are known to have
gone direct to Africa, I deemed it my duty (not having evidence to
justify me in detaining and overhauling her) to apprise our cruisers
(and I did apprise the commanders of the United States vessels
¢ Plymonth’” and ¢ Arctic’’) that the ‘‘Lyra’’ was bound, by the
terms of the sea letter issucd to her by me, to go direct to Key West,
and that it was proper for them to follow her and see that she actually
went to that port.

The report made to you by Commander IHartstene, in respect to
placing an officer and men from his ship on board the Lyra to make
sure that the vessel should go into your port, is, in the main, correct.
The plan was discussed between us, but there being some doubt as to
the consequences of such a proceeding on his part, if the bark was
subsequently ascertained to be in order, I belicve the plan was aban-
doned ; and 1 understood that the ¢“ Arctic’’ not being a fast vessel,
he would see if Captain Dahlgren could follow the ¢ Lyra’ to Key
West,

As to the owner of the bark, Captain James Gage, he is a resi-
dent of Charleston; South Carolina. He was here in command of the
ketch ¢¢Brothers,’” of Charleston, when the bill of sale of the ¢“Lyra”’
was executed in his favor. IHe at first intended to take command of

-
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the bark himself, but afterwards changed his mind, and appointed
Captain William C. Dickey master. Captain Gage sailed with the
“Brothors’’ for Africa on the 2d instant; and entertaining the same
suspicions in regard to her as I had of the Lyra, I wrote on the first
to Captain Levy, commanding United States ¢“ Macedonian,’’ to board
her at sea, and treat her as he should think proper after examining
her papers. In my letter to Captain Levy (who with his ship was off
the port) I informed him that the ¢‘ Brothers’’ would probably sail
that same afternoon, but she did not till the next morning, when the
“Macedonian’’ was no longer signalled at the Moro., Whether Cap-
tain Levy overhauled her or not, I am not informed, as the ¢ Maéedo-
nian’’ has not returned.

I have known Captaing Gage and Dickey for a long time, the
former much longer than the other, and had a very good opinion of
them. I know nothing of their pecuniary circumstances, My ac-
quaintance with them was merely from secing them here repeatedly
in command of American vessels.

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
THOMAS SAVAGE,
Vice-Consul General.

Joux P, BArpwiN, Lsq.,
Collector of Customs for the District of Key West.

No. 27.

[Translation.]

[SEAL.] Prerrcrure or HAVANA,
Havana, July 22, 1858,

In the prosceution of the official proceedings which have been in-
stituted for the purpose of ascertaining the design with which the
American brig ““ Lyra’ left this port, which vessel is now detained
at Key West by the authorities of the Union on suspicion of being
devoted to the traflic of negroes, it becomes necessary to show the true
name of the captain who commanded her, aud who, it appears, was
called Wilkins, according to the answer made by Don Ramon de Gue-
rediaga, now a prisoner, and said to be the person who fitted out said
vessel for the purpose of bringing to the island wild Afriesn negroes,
and to learn at the same time whether it is true that the said Guere-
diaga has, in due form, demanded, before your consulate, from the”
said captain, the payment of eleven thousand dollars in specie, which
he says he gave to him in the character of a loan or mortgage.

Therefore, I hope you will be so good as to infurm me all that you
know on both sides, as well as anything that your intclligence may
deem conducive to the end above communicated, which is of so much
interest to the government of her Majesty as well as to that of the
Union.

God preserve you many years.

JOSE IGNACIO DI ECHAVARRIA,

The CoMMERCIAT AGENT, .
In charge of the Consulate General of the United States.
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No. 98.

ConsurATE GENERAL oF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, July 23, 1858,

Sir: Cther pressing duties and bedily indisposition have prevented
me from giving you, at an early hour, a reply to your attentive letter
of yesterday’s date in respect to the bark ¢ Lyra,”’ seized at ey
West by the United States authorities on suspicion of being bound
for Africa after slaves, and for having rendered an incorrect manifest
of her cargo to the collector of customs,
~ The ¢ Lyra’’ arrived here from New York, with cargo, on the 1st

ultimo, and the same day her commander deposited her papers in my
office, according to Jaw ; a few days afterwards I learned that Don
Ramon Guerediaga, of this city, held a deed of hypotheeation upon
the ship, executed by George Wiggin, sole owner and master, (ag per
register,) in New York, for the sum of ¢leven thousand dollars,
($11,000,) advanced to him by Guerediaga’s agent in New York,

The terms of the instrument were, that George Wiggin was to pay
to Guerediaga the amount above mentioned on arrival in Havana, other-
wise the latter would have the right to seize the ship and sell her for
Wiggin’s account, and pay himself both principal and interest ; ac-
counting to the hypothecator for any excess there might be over his
(Guerediaga’s) claim, or demanding any deficiency there might be.

On or about the 14th of June he applied to me to demand from
George Wiggin the amount of the mortgage, and, in consequence of
such application, I addressed to Captain Wiggin a letter, of which
the accompanying document is a true copy.

Captain Wiggin appeared almost immediately before me ; seemed
to be in great distress; said that he was in treaty to sell the bark,
and expected to close a bargain seon; and if he were not disappointed
in his expectations, Mr. Guerediaga’s claim would be paid without
delay. On the 17th of June the ship was sold to, and a bill of sale
exccuted in favor of, James Gage, a citizen of the United States, and
a shipmaster. DMr. Guerediaga was, I presume, paid his claim, for
he executed, in my presence, an instrument acknowledging receipt of
his advance, together with the interest, and cancelled the mortgage
upon the ““ Lyra.”” All these things, as well as the subsequent ap-

pointment (on the 26th) of William C. Dickey to the command of the
bark, were noted on the vessel’s register, to which was also attached
the bill of sale and the sea letter granted her by me, under which she
was obliged to proceed direct to Key West to procure a new register,
&e., and to obtain which the new owner gave Captain Dickey the
requisite power of attorney. . ,

1 am not aware that Don Ramon Guerediaga had anything further
to do with the ¢“ Lyra,”” except, perhaps, the settlement of her port
charges and freight money, according to arrangement between him
and Wiggin, The freight money I allude to is that upon the cargo
of the ‘“ Lyra’” brought here from New York.,

I have the honor to be, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

THOMAS SAVAGE,
In charge of the Consulate General.

Seiior Brigadier Don Jost Iayacio bi JSCHAVARRIA,

Governor of Havana, dc., &e., dc.
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My, Appleton to My, Hillyer.,

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, July 28, 1858,

Stz I transmit herein, for your information, and with a view that
such instructions may be gwen to the United States attorney in New
York as the case may require, copy of a despateh, No. 23, received
from the United States vice-consul general at I[uvunu also a despatch,
No. 19, with its enclosures, relating to the brig C. Pu‘kmq, of New
York, which vessel is alleged to have been en wwcd in the slave trade.

I will thanlk you to return despatch No. 19, with OI]ClOSUI(‘b, after
having made such use of it as yon may think proper.

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
JOHN APPLETON,
Assistant Secretary.,

Dr. Dallas to Mr. Cass.

[Extract ]
No. 118.] Lrcarion oF THE UNITED STATES,
L0ndon, .fulg/ 30, 1858.
E3 %k * b3 *

SIR :
The note from her I\ItlJGSf)’ 8 principal seuetm'y of stutc for foreign

affairs, of which a copy is subjoined, reached me late yesterday eve-
ning. It refers to a communication received by Lord Malmesbury
from Lord Napier respecting the instructions by which our naval force
on the West India station is to be guided, and specially adverts to
so much of your No. 117, (read to his lordship by me agreeably
to your desire,) as relutes to the President’s views on’ the expediency
of annulling the cighth article of the treaty of 1842, I presume that
a copy of this note Will conclude the series of papers developing the
actual position of our relations on the topic of visit and search which
Lord Malmesbury, at the call of Lord Lyndhurst, promised to lay
before Parliament. I shall take steps to procure this bluc book as
soon as it appears, and will, of course,_ forwm d 1t to you by the earliest
opportunity. * * *

I have the honor to be, sir, your most obedlent servant,
G. M. DALLAS.

The Earl of Malmesbury to 3r. Dalles,
Troreran Orrice, July 29, 1858,

Rrr: Her Majesty’s government have heard with pleasure from
Lord Napier that General Cass had informed him that the United
States ships despatched to the Cuban waters had been furnished with
the usual instructions hitherto given to the commanders of the United
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States squadron on the coast of Africa. It appears to be in that part
of the world that the assumption of the American flag by vessels not
entitled to bear it, and who use it solely to cover their participation
in the iniquities of the slave trade, has been most frequent and most
glaring ; and her Majesty’s government view with the greatest satis-
faction the arrival in those waters of' a force able to put down this
odious traffic, and prevent thig abuse of the flag of the United States,

Her Majesty’s government have, however, learned with regret from
the despatch of General Cass, of which you communicated to me a
copy on the 19th instant, that the government of the United States
have under their consideration the uestion whether it may not be
advisable for them to give notice of their wish to terminate the eighth
article of the treaty of the 9th of August, 1842, between Great Britain
and the United States, by which the respective governments engage
to maintain squadrons on the coast of Africa for the suppression of the
slave trade.  Her DMajesty’s government feel convinced that such a
step on the part of the United States could not fail to encourage the
hopes of those who are engaged in a traffic for the suppression of which
Great Britain has made such onerous sacrifices,

With reference to that portion of General Cass’s despatch in which
Lie states that the President is under the impression that if the United
States squadron were withdrawn from the African coast the vessels
composing it might be ¢rdered upon service elsewhere to much better
advantage, in the suppression of the slave trade, her Majesty’s gov-
ernment, although they have expressed the regret with which they
should see the squadron of the United States entirely withdrawn from
the coast of Africa, would suggest as a satisfactory arrangement be-
tween the two countries that the United States should maintain a
preponderating force in the Cuban waters, with which a smaller British
squadron might co-operate; and similarly, that a smaller United
States squadron should assist a larger British armament on the African

coast,
I have the honor to be, with the highest consideration, siv, your

most obedient, humble servant,
MALMESBURY.

My, Appleton to Mr. Hillyer,

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, dugust 2, 1858,

Sir: Referring to the communication from this department, ad-
dressed to you on the 15th ultimo, respecting the bark Lyrva, I have
now to transmit, for your further information on the same subject, a
copy of copies of letters received at this department from the United
States vice-consul general at Havana, viz .

Mr. J. P. Baldwin to Mr. Savage, July 17.

Mr. Savage to Mr. Baldwin, July 19.

Mr. Savage to the governor of Havana, July 23.

I am, sir, your obedient servant, o
JOHN APPLETON,
Assistant Secretary of State.
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Mr, Savage to Mr. Cass.

No. 25.] CoNsuLATE GENERAL OF TIIE UNITED STATES,
Havona, August 9, 1858,

Sir : I had the honor to receive last cvening your despatch of the
16th ultimo, and am highly gratified at the good opinion entertained
by you of my industry and manner of discharging my official duties.

I now beg leave to lay before you the following documents bearing
upon the case of the brig Nancy, viz: ) o

No. 1. The original charter-party entered into on the 14th of July,
1858, between John Williams, master of the brig Nancy, on the one
part, and Don Ramon do Guerediaga, on the other part, for a voyago
to the coust of Africa. ;

No. 2, Copy of an official letter to me, dated 25th of July, from the
justice of the superior court, charged with the investigation of the
case,

No. 3. Copies of two letters to me, dated, respectively, 26th and
28th of July, from Captain Williams, of the brig Nancy.

No. 4. Copy of a communication from the judge of the cause, dated
80th ultimo, advising me of his intention to inspect the Naucy on the
next day, and requesting me tu be present at tho act,

No. 5. Copy of a letter from Captain Williams to me, of date 31st

of July,
No. 6. Copy of a letter from this office to Captain Williams, dated

2d instant. ,

No. 7. Copy of the proceedings of discharge and examination of the
_brig Nancy, showing the cargo she actually had on board ; the articles
“for which she had permits from the custom-house ; effects found in the

lighter that was detected by the revenue guards alongside the vessel ;
ditto for which permits had been obtained but not found on board ;
and, finally, the effects on board for which no permits had been taken
out, This document also contains important remarks of the admin-
istrator of customs.

No. 8. Copies of letters, dated, respectively, 6th and 7th instant,

from Captain Williams to me. :

No. 9. Of an official letter from the judge of the cause, dated Gth

instant, advising me of the releasc from arvest, or rather imprison-
ment, of the mate and crew of the brig, on their own recognizance.

No. 10. Copies of two lotters, dated, respectively, 7th and 9th

instant, from this office to the master of the Nancy. ,
There is one complaint upon which Captain Williams lays great
stress. I have reference to the breaking open and examination of
what he calls his private locker. You are awarc that Captain Wil-
liams and his mate were present at the discharge of the brig on the
first day. He had agreed to be present, also, to the termination of
the discharge, but on the same evening he wrote me a note positively
refusing to attend the next day. The custom-house authorities, in the
scarch, opened everything in tho cabin. On the day that the judge
inspected the vessel, Captain Williams behaved in a very violent
manner, and used very disrespect{ul language ; and had it not been
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for my forbearance I do not know what the consequences might have
been to him, of his insulting behavior to the Spanish officials,
Nult.hing was taken from his lockor by the custom-house officers or
myself, , N e
If you will be so good as to turn to my despatch of the Tth August,
1867, No. 61, you will see what I say therein respecting the brig
William 13, Miller, of New Orleans, The person who owned and
fitted out said vessel was Don Ramon de Guerediaga, the identical
one now concerned in the brig Nancy, the bark Lyra, (seized nt Key
West,) and 1 have good reason to believe, also, in the schooner Liydia
Ghbbs.  When the federal authorities in New Orleans were prosecu-
ting the bonds there on account of her register, I was called on by
Don José Maria Morvales, (co-purtner and manager of the comnmercial
house of Drake & Co., of this city, and now chief of the same house
under the name and style of T'. M, Morales & Co.,) to receive his affi-
davit respecting the transfer of the brig William D, Miller. Mr Mo-
rales dechared on oath that this vessel had been sold to Don Ramon
de Guerediaga, a Spanish subject that he had left to the master;
(Captain Roberts) to do everything that was requisite and proper,
but the master, instead of secing to the register being retained at the
consulate, did not make known to this office the sale of the vessel, and
merely transferred the command to his mate. I regret that I have
not in my possession a copy of the aflidavit to send you. I presume,
however, that you can easily obtain one, or the original itself) from
the United States district attorney in New Orleans, The declarations
of the witnesses, George Williams and Edmund Bennett, sent by me
to New Orleans in- August last, and of Mr. Morales, leave no doubt
that the William D, Miller did, under American colors, and though
cleared for Montevideo, proceed to Africa and-bring a cargo of slaves
to Cuba, after which she was destroyed, and that Don Ramon Guere-
diaga had, previous to her departure from Havana, become her owner,
Now, we find Mr, Guerediaga making a charter-party with the brig
Nanay, of New Orleans, to proceed to Africa on alawful voyage, ag he
and others connected with this vessel want to mako us believe, Be-
sides his connexion with the Miller, 1 have other veasons to ¢ntertain
the belief that this charter-party was intended as a ““blind’’ or
““cover,””  Please compare the handwriting of the Nanoy’s charter-
party with that of the Lydia Gibbs scnt you with my former commu-
nication, I know whose hapdwriting ¢t ds, 1f this person could be
compelled to speak the truth, I doubt not we should discover that Juan
Campa, the charterer of the Lydia Gibbs, is Don Ramon Guerediaga
himself, I know from whom' came anonymously the charter-party
and bill of lading of the Lydia Gibbs, which I sent you with my de-
spatch No, 24, Ho is the same person who, if his own statement to
me i8 to be believed, placed on board the Lyra the $7,000 that the
master of this vessel absconded with from Key West, He told e that
the money was intended for the purchase of' oil, &e., &e.  Whether
this was really the object for which the money was shipped, I have
no means of knowing, but I am not inclined to believeit. e is the
same person that, on the 5th instant, gave me the following informa-
tion in regard to the Lydia Gibbs, This vessel was capturcd on the
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coast of Africa by a British war steamer. It appears that she was
hoarded by the commander of the man-of-war, who examined her pa-
pers, and finding them in order, after many friendly courtesies, retired
from the schooner,  That same day a difficulty occurred on board with
oue of the crew, who was put on shore. This man succeeded in get-
ting on board the man-of-war, and reported that the Lydia Gibbs was
a slaver ; that sho had the slave deck prepared, and the negroes were
already on shore to be put on board the next day, which led to her
capture. I do not know what became of Captain Watson and the
crew, nor whether she had her papers on board at the time of capture,
or these had been made to disappear. :

Subsequent to the date of my despatch of the 25th instant, T was
confidentially informed by a gentleman holding a prominent position
here, that the Lyra was loaded by Gueredinga; that she was cleared
by him-under a fictitions name., The permits for shipping the cargo
were, it appears, obtained under fictitious names. This seems to bo
also the case with the permits of the brig Nancy., Add to the forego-
ing the reports current here, that the Nancy had once before, in com-
mand of her owner, M, N, Roderich, brought to Cuba a cirgo of slaves.
This is a subject of public conversation on the wharf of Havana, and I
hear it has also been reported in New Orleans.  Still, though morally
convinced, [ am not able to produce evidence to sustain this fact, Krom
the foregoing remarks, I judge there is more than ““probable cause of
belief”” that the Nancy was really intended to proceed upon a slaving
voyage, and more specially when we consider ths nature of the cargo
she had on board, such as: seventy pipes of sweet water, two large
iron pots, knives, a large quantity of lumber, &e., &e.

Thoe case is still pending before the court. In the event that the
court should decide there is no canse to detain tho vessel and crow any
longer 1or violation of the Spanish laws, (and I am advised by promi-
nent lawyers here there is a law that forbids the fitting out of yessols
under any flag in Spanish ports for the slave trade,) I will take the
responsibility, in the absenco of instructions from the department to
the contrary, of not permitting the vessel to go to sea with her present
cargo, This is my positive determination, [ mnst, however, regu.
late my conduct according to the evidence the Spanish authoritics may
furnish.  The captain was released from the jail on the 26th, and the
crew on the 6th instant, The judge told me on board the Nancy
that he had releused the captain illegally, on his own responsibility,
in courtesy to me, and gave me the assurance that he would have the
crew released as soon ag it could be done.  Don Ramon Guerediaga is
still in prison. The court ordered his reloase on bail, but he is retained
on account of his connexion with the Lyra,

The mate of this vessel, who came in here in a sloop from Key
West, has also been in prison for several days. I wrote to the gov-
ernor of Havana, requesting him to inform me on what grounds the
mate, whose name is Peter William From, had been put in prison,
and how long he was to be kept there, The governor promptly re-
plied that Mr. From was detained for the investigation into the object
oflthe Lyra’s voyage, and that he hoped he, the mate, would be soon
released, '
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In the matter of the brig C. Perking, in my communication of the
25th ultimo T advised that Mr. Durafiana was in prison. That was
a mistake. He has absconded. I accompany a copy of the summons
to him, through the official gazette, to present himselt bofore the
court,—[No. 11.] His factotum, Don Joaquin de Lequerica, who
loaded and cleated the brig, has been and is still in prison. I also
enclose a document showing the result of the discharge of this vessel,
The case is still pending before the court.—[No, 12.] ‘

I carnestly beg of you to send me instructions upon these matters,
I have no precedents in the office to be guided by.

I have the honor to bhe, with high respect, sir, your obedient

servant, ,
THOS. SAVAGE,
Vice-Consul General,
Hon. T.ewis Cass, ‘
Secretary of State of the United States, Washinglon.

No., 1.
Charter-party.

It is this day mutually understood and agreed upon, between John
Williams, in behalf of the owners of the American brig Nancy, of
219 tons, whereof J. Williams is master, now lying in the port of
Havana, on the first part, and Don Ramon de Guerediaga, merchant,
on the second part, as follows: , ,

That the said vessel being tight, staunch, strong, and in every
respect fitted for the intended voyage, Captain Williams shall receive
on board said vessel:a full and complete cargo, to consist of such legal
goods or merchandise as the charterer may see proper to send, inclu-
ding ninety empty casks or pipes, which shall not excced what she
can reasonably stow and carry, over and above her tackle, apparel,
provisions, and room suflicient for the accommodation of the officers
and crew, and which cargo the said parties of the second part hereby
agree to furnish at Havana, G ,

The said vessel being so laden, Captain Williams shall, with all
possible despatch, make sail for the Port of Rio Lagos, on the coast of
Atrica ; call first at Porto Seguro, Popo Chico, and Ayuda, and de-
liver his cargo, if requested hy the charterer’s agent, at either of these
places, or so near thercunto as she may safely get; and, on his arrival
at the port of discharge, make a true and faithful delivery of the
cargo, according to custom and the bills of lading, to charterer's agent,

In consideration whereof, freight shall be paid on_ unloading and
right delivery of the cargo at the rate of seven thousand five hundred
dollars before the: departure of this vessel, and the balance on her
return to New York, provided she is not detained on the coast over
three months’ time ; and ¢f over, Captain Williams will receive forty-
five dollars per day,

The lay days shall be as follows : ten days for loading ; after the
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eéxpiration of which time demurrage shall be paid at the rate of
twenty-five dollars for cach and every day, as it may become due,

The cargo shall be taken in and discharged accoraing to custom of
the respective ports of loading and discharging at the expense of
charterers. o -

The vessel shall be consigned at Rio Lagos, &c., to the order of the
said merchants, paying no commissions,

It is further understood and agreed upon that, on arrival of the
vessel to the coast, Captain Williams will receive on board a cargo of
oils, &e., and thence proceed to New York; and should he require the
use of tho empty casks or pipes for ballasting his vessel outward, he
may fill them with water, binding himself to deliver them in a fit
condition to be filled with oils; and if otherwise delivered, he is to
pay all expense of repairs, &o., &e.

And for the due performance of the several articles of this agree-
meunt, the respective parties do hereby bind themselves each unto the
other to the penal sum of four thousand dollars. Restraint of rulers,
the ncts of God, fire, and all and every of the dangers of the secas,
rivers, and navigation, of whatever nature and kind, always excepted.

In testimony whereof, the respective parties have hereunto set their
hands, at Havana, this fourteonth day of July, in the year one thou-
sand eight hundred and fifty-eight,

Witness to the signatures : , g

RAMON DE GUEREDIAGA,
JOHN WILLIAMS.

No. 2.

[Translation.}
Court under o special commission ; clerlks, Don José Soroa.

Under yesterday’s date was delivered to me your communication to
the end that there should be transmitted to you the original charter-
party of the Amevican brig Nancy which her captain delivered to the
commissary of police in tho aoct of giving his declaration to that
functionary ; and as there appears in the process e translation of the
said contract, attested by the government interpreter, by Williams
himself, by the judge and notary who were acting, I have deemed it
in order to acceds to your request, and consequently accompany the
aforementioned original contract, ,

L also deem it proper to inform you that Captain Williams having
on yosterday petitioned for his rolease from the jail, I have acceded
thersto, placing him at your disposal, with the object that he shall
present himself in my court whenever the summarial proceedings that
I'am carrying on shall require him to be present for some personal act.

I likewiso have the satistaction of assuring you that all and every-
thing that is legally possible will be done by this court to attend to
your recommendation, relieving the crew of the imprisonment they are
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undergoing, in the understanding that it shall not exceed the time
absolutely necessary, as is done with all persons accused, as a general
rule, '
God preserve you many years.
Havana, July 25, 1858,
MARIANO PALAU DF MESA.
The Cuaraf or THE CoNsULATE GENERAL of the United States,

No. 3.

Havana, July 26, 1858.
Dran Siz: I have the honor of reporting to you I have been re-
leased by the Spanish judge before whom my case was brought, with-
out the consular intervention in my behalf, to which T was entitled. I
think such a case has never before occurred; that if you had remon-
strated against my being taken from my vessel and to prison until
investigation of the vessel was made, I should not have had eight
days of unnecessary detention in the Tacon jail. I have also to ad-
vise you that seven of my crew are still unjustly detained in prison,
one of them being in the hospital, against which I must continue to
protest,
Dear sir, I remain your obedient servant, ,
JOHN WILLIAMS.
Tionmas Savaar, Esq.,
Vice-Consul and Aeting Consul General
of ths United States for the Island of Cuba,

Havawa, July 28, 1858,

Drar St I have the honor of reporting to you that the crew of
the American brig “Nancy’ yet remain in prison, I called on the
Judge yesterday with a memorial for their release, when the judge ad-
vised me that you had reported the men as foreigners, not as citizens
of the United States, 1f they are foreigners, I do'not perceive why
they should be detained in prison at yonr suggestion,, But I am com-
pelled to advise you that the mon woere shipped nccording to law by a
shipping master in the port of New Orleans, who is under ten thou-
sand dollars bonds for tho correct performance of his duty. If there
is any question as to tho legal shipment of my crew, it must be de-
termined in New Orleans between the collector of that port and the
shipping master there, and cannot be consfructed as evidence against
the brig Nancy, nor is it ovidence of any criminal intent against
Spanish law or custom jurisdiction; wherefore there is no right either
with the consul general of' the United States or the Spanish executive
authorities to cause their incarceration, and I therefore earnestly
protest against this action of their imprisonment, and beg you to
cause their immediate release, I must further advise you that the
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brigs Tallulah and Chase, which have just entered this port, have the
same defect in their articles which you have charged against those of
the brig Nancy and many other vessels, from the impossibility at the’
very instant of sailing of conforming precisely to the letter of the law
while the spirit is not violated, and has been often sanctioned in the
same way by the collcctor of New Orleans, on the part of the shipping
master, who is a sworn officer and under bonds, as before stated, I
have still further to advise that John Collin, carpenter, and Louis
Teoso, second mate, have their protection papers. You will also
please remember that one of the crew now in prison, who wished to
be discharged from the,brig, and to which I assented, you positively
refused to discharge him, and ordered him back tv his vessel. One of
ths crew, who died in Belot’s hospital, was a protected man ; the mate,
who went in the Russian brig, was also protected, This desertion
was reported to you at the time., Two of the crew also deserted, as I
reported to you in prison, one named Charles Barnes and the other
not recollected, were also protected men, one born in the United
States and the other a naturalized citizen of the United States, and
others of the crew were protected, or else they would not have been
shipped by the shipping master in New Orleans, I have still to ad-
vise you, to save you from making any further inquiry, that I was
born in Boston, in the State of Massachusetts, of' the United States,
which you represent, on the 20th day of December, 1820 ; that my
father, John B, Williams, is or was lately residing in Concord, New
Hampshire, and aged 68 years, and if you want any evidence as to
the tact, it can be procured for you, Also, I beg to refer you to the
custom-house ip New Orleans, where probubly you can obtain more
reliable information than is to be had in the strects in Ilavana from
strangers, Being aware that you have the charter-party of the brig
““Nanoy,”” I have to request that you will return it to me, where it be-
longs, for the proteotion of the interests placed in my charge,
Dear sir, 1 remain your obedient servant, '
' JOHN WILLIAMS.

Tuomas Savagy, Lsq.,
Vice-Uonsul and Acting Consul General
of the United Slates for the Island of Cuba,

No. 4.

[Translation.]

Havana, July 30, 1858,

Consequent to your communication of yesterday’'s date, I have de-
cided to effect an examination on board the brig ‘‘Nancy’’ on tho 31st
instant, at 7 a. m., during which act thie wearing apparel belonging
to Captain John Williams may be delivered to him,

And I advise you thereof in order that you may be pleased to at-

H., Ex, Doe, 7—12
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tend the aot, and take off the seals of the consulate under your
charge, placed on the said brig’s hatches,

God preserve you many years. 3
MARIANO PALAU DE MESA,
The CHARGE of the Oonsulate General of the United States.

No. 6.
Havana, July 31, 1858,

Sir: I have been much mortified as well as surprised by the dis-
coveries of this morning on board of the brig Naney, that you had con-
descended from your elevated position to cause, or to permit in your
presence, the violation of my private desk containing my papers and
olothing, Why did you have my desk broken open when the key,
which was in my possession, would have been given to you at any
moment? for I have nothing to conceal from you, and less from justice,
This proceeding shows that you were actuated by some secret motive
and object that you feared openly to avow, and which was inconsistent
with the due course of an upright, honorable, honest mind in the dis-
charge of duty under a sense of justice, It seems that you have hoped
sentence upon the Nanacy, and are now anxious to construct testimony
to bare your actions open. You might as well have taken a pocket-
book {from my person as to have abstracted from my private desk, or
as to retain my charter- artg; against all of which I call upon you to
protest, in my name and behalf, against the acting consul general of
the United States and all implicated in said violation of my personal
and officic1 rights.  You have said, too, that nothing was taken from
. my desk, I cannot refer confidence where you acknowledge that you
permitted or caused it to be broken open when there was no necessity
therefor, unless you had some secret motive inconsistent with justice,

Dear sir, I remain your obedient servant,

_ JOHN WILLIAMS,

TroMAS SAvaax, Esq., ;

Vice-Oonsul, acting Consul General for Island of Cuba.

No. 6.

CoNSULATE GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
- Havana, August 2, 1868,
S1r: To the several letters you have addressed me since your arrest,
I have (xietu'rned no written answers, because I did not think any were
required.
our conduct on board the Nancy last Saturday morning was quite
disrespectiul to the Spanish judge and officers of the customs that were
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resent, and especially to myself, but no notice was taken of it; and
if your letter of the same date were less 8o, I would, perhaps, deem it
not improper to give you some explanations in respect to the course I
have considered it my duty to pursue in your unfortunate affair. But,
under the circumstances, I will give explanations to none but my
government. , , S , ,

Your protest against me and whomsoever else it may concern, is on
file, and a copy of your letter will be forwarded, together with the
original charter-party, to the government at Washington. A certified
copy of the said charter-party is herewith enclosed.

Your obedient servant, o
THOMAS SAVAGE,
Vice-Consul General.
- Captain JouN WILLIAMS,
Master of the Brig Nancy, of New Orleans.

No. 7.

ADMINISTRATION GiENERAL OF RovArL MARITIME REVENUES,
. Havana, July 26, 1858,

I transmit to your lordship the original expediento of the discharge
and examination of the American brig Nancy; and therein your lord-
ship will see, not only the whole cdrgo of the vessel and the effects
composing the same, but also such as were embarked without permis-
sion of this custom-house, and likewise those that were not found on
board, notwithstanding they were included in the policies numbered
one and two, fulfilled by the resguardo, (corps of revenue guards.)

The consequences that may be deduced from the nature of the en-
tire cargo of the brig Nanoy are no longer within the jurisdigtion of
this custom-house, whose sole duty is to propose to your lordship the
confiscation of the effects fraudulently s*‘lip‘ped, and a fine of equal
value to bo exacted from the vessel’s consignee, The articles 175 and
176, reformed of the custom-house regulations, presoribe these two pen-
alties for all articles that are an excess of the clearance manifest or
permits taken out; and as all the effeots not included among the arti-
cles that are in trarsitu and the policies numbered one and two are in
this case, they have incurred the penalty of confiscation, and for the
same reason has only inourred the fine the consignee of the vessel,
without whose permission they could not have been carried on board,

It would be unnecessary for mo to say any more to your lordship
were it not for the protest that the captain of the brig Nancy made
on the 22d of this month, predicated upon the fact that the seals upon
the main hatch were not the same that had been placed thercon.by
me on the 17th, o , ; : S

That the seals were different is undeniable; and, in my communi-
cation of the 21st instant, I made known to your lordship that [ had
taken them off, being accompanied in this act by the commander of
the revenue guards and the inspector of wharves, for the purpose of
examining the cargo, that was necessary to put on shore to ascertain
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all that the vessel had, pursuant to the order of his excellency the
superior civil governor and captain geneml of this island,

The first seals had been put on by meon the 17th;, not as a guarantee
to the captain, but against him, and to defend e‘coluswely the interast
of the exchequer of the revenue, injured by the fraudulent shipments
that had been made upon the brig Nancy, and, as admmmlrator, I
was authorized to raise them without taking the captam into account,
in the same manner that I am authorized to raise, and as I do raise,
whenever it is necessary, seals that are placed upnn the hatches of the
greater part of vessels entering the port against which suspicions of
frand are entertained,

The seals are likewise put on and raised repeatedly by the resguardo
(revenue guards) without protest from the captains of the suspected
vessels, they having no legal intervention in these acts, as no suéh
right is granted them by the articles 115 and 119 of the regulations
govermnv the revenue guards, And with greater a reason am I
authorized to do it, because the administrator “of the customs is chief
of the force of revenue guards, which is under his admitted orders, ac-
cording to the ninth article of the custom-house regulations of 29th
August, 1845, This authority not being questionable, and having
not merely suspicions, but a certainty of the fraud committed in the
brig Nancy, 1 proceeded, on the 21st, in company with the com-
mandant of revenue g,uards,to open the main hatch, and to examine the
whole of the vessel in the form prescribed by articles 10 and 11 of the
rcgulatmns aforesaid, wherein the administrator of the custom-house
is authorized to effect visits, examinations, and search (fondros) of
vessels entering and leaving the port; to prevent their departure, and
to order their total dmclmrge, even ab the extraordinary hours, when-
ever he shall have well-grounded suspicions that any frand has been
committed in them against the exchequer,

These biief considerations are sufficient to demonstrate how ground-
less is the protest of the brig Nancy’s captain aguinst an act practiced
by the administration goueml in the use of ity lwrummte authority ;
and still more so, when it is considered that the principul effects
shipped without the permission of the custom- house, and wh! ich more
seriougly involves the consignee and captain, consists of seventy-five
pipes of sweet water, five thouqand three hundred and seventy feet of
lumber, and three bundles of iron of tree-nails, (eabillas de hierro,)
which the administrator, the commandant of the revenue guards, and
the inspector of wharves could not carry aboard or introduce in tho
hold of the vessel during the four minutes that the hatch was opened
on the 218t instant.

Therefore,on the part of this administration general, have been
carried out the directions that both his excellency the superior oivil
governor and your lordship wers pleased to give; and 1 have only
to add that the effects discharged are in the mercantile deposit, and
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wait your lords}kii‘f)"s orders to piOCeed','pursﬁant to regulations, in
respect of those that appear fraudulently shipped.

God preserve your lordship many years. i
BONIFACIO CORTEZ.
The INTENDANT GENERAL of the Army and Royal Fxchequer.

MANUREL MARIA CARBAJAL.
CORTEZ,

Correct.

No, 8.

HAvaNA, August 6, 1858.

Sir: In the certified copy of a protest made on my behalf on the
24th of July, ultimo, which you scnt to me enclosed in a letter under
date the 2d instant, it is expressed, to wit: that you did not olject to
my imprisonment, because the Spanish authorities, both verbal and
written, were in possession of evidence to sustain the charge; and
second, that in the protest against my imprisonment notliing is said
about my private desk having been broken open without my knowl-
edgo and in your presence, and I desire this part to be mentioned in
the protest aforesaid. , '

Besides that, my mate and crew have been released to-day, and I
have immediately presented them to you, requosting your protection
for them and for me.  Your answor was, that yon did not sco that you
could do anything for me or for.my crew ; and I want this fact to be
mentioned, also, in-the protest, Both fucts having occurred, I think
you will have no objection to my request ; and I hope you will be kind
" enough to give me u certified copy of the additional protest, with the
foregoing explunation, ;

Rcspect('ul‘y, your obedient servant,

, JOHN WILLIAMS,

Tuos, Savaar, lisq.,

° Vice-Consul and Acting Consul General

of the United States for the Island of Cuba.

Havana, dugust 7, 18560,

Sir: I have your official letter of this date, and note contents.
Yesterday, when my crew were'released from prison, T accompanied
them to your office, as I thonght duty required me to do s0. I asked
of you protection or disposition of the men, and you stated to me, in
their presence, that you could do nothing for them, I accordingly
did the best in my humble power to provide for them for the moment.
I am most happy to find that reflection and moro mature deliberation
has had its effect with you, and that you have assumed jurisdiction in
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the matter of their case. If the brig Nanocy had not been wrongfully
taken from my command, and I was permitted to proceed with my
lawful and honest business, I should protest against the discharging of
my crew ; but as power beyond my control has deprived ‘me of the
brig and interrupted my business, I can have no responsibility as to
the crew ; and the cause why I cannot have has already been suffi-
ciently explained in previous protests, They are with you.

I beg leave respectfully to refer to my letters of July 28, instant,
in relation to shipment of my crew.

Most respectfully, your obedient servant,

"’ JOHN WILLIAMS.
THos. SAvaceE, Esq.,
Vice-Oonsul and Acting Consul General
of the United States for the Island of Cuba.

No. 9.

[Translation.]
Court by special commission,—Notary Don José Soréa.

Havana, dugust 6, 1858,
On this day have been set at liberty, on their own recognizance
(caucion juratoria), the mate Mr. Louis Teoso, and the seamen Don
Antonio Martinez, Don Miguel Vidal, Mr. John Collins, Vicente
Ferreinu, Mr, John Dervis, and Nicholas I'othe, in consequence of
_ the summarial proceedings I am carrying on upon the detention of
the Am, brig Nancy.
Which I communicate to you, consequent to your official letter of
the 24th of July last. '
(Gtod preserve you many years,
MARIANO PALAU DE MESA.

The Crarafk o}" the Consulate Gleneral of the Uniled States.

NO. 10. ')

CoNSULATE GGENERAL oF THE UNICED STATES,
Havana, August T, 1858,

Stk : The persons named, respectively, John Collin, Michael Vedo,
Nicholas Theodore, John Davis, and Vicenzo Toreno, who came to
this port, forming a portion of your crew, have on this day requested
mo to discharge them from the brig Nanocy. I make this known to
you in order that you may, without unnecessary delay, show cause
why the petition of the above-named seamen should not be granted.

From an examination of the brig’s shipping papers, I can find
nothing to show that the men Nicholas Theodore, John Davis, and
Vicenzo Toreno, were legally shipped in New Orleans, The mate,
Mr, Teoso, does not appear legally shipped either, but he has not
claimed his discharge.
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The other two men, Collin"and Vedo, appear on the crew list issued
by the custom-house at New Orleans.
Your obedient servant,
"THOS. SAVAGE, ;
, Vice- Consul General,
Capt. JouN WILLIAMS, ,
Master of the Brig ¢‘ Nancy,’’ of New Orleans.

No. 11,

UNITED STATES CONSULATE GENERAL,
Havana, August 9, 1858.

Sir: Your letter of the Tth instant, in answer to mine of the same
date, reached me on that evening.

For reasons stated in my said letter, which I now reiterate, I do on
this day discharge the seamen Nicholas Theodore, John Davis, and
Vicenzo Toreno,  You will please pay, or cause to be paid, into this
office the balance of wages due to said seamen, it any thero be,

The mate, Mr, Teoso (who, though not legally shipped, has not
asked for his discharge), and the seamen John Collin and Michael
Vedo, must remain attached to the brig Nancy until they shall pro-
duce sufficient cause to demand their discharge.

Your obedient servant,
THOS. SAVAGE,
Vice-Consul General,

Capt. Jonn WiLLIAMS,
Muster of the Brig ‘‘Nancy,’’ of New Orleans,

No, 12,

ADMINISTRATION G'ENERAL oF MARITIME REVENUES,
Havana, July 21, 1858,

To-morrow, 22d instant, at six o’clock a. m., your lordship will
proceed to discharge the American brig Nancy, so far as necessary to
ascertain all the effects she has on board and compare the samo with
the permits of embarcation issued by the custom-house, You will
commence this operation by drawing a statement of the condition in
which the vessel is and of the effects that may be upon the deck, send-
ing ashore all such as belong to the cargo, and causing them to be
immediately conveyed to the mercantile warchouse, the requisite orders
being issued for their admittance therein, You will next proceed to
open the hatches, which are sealed, and to discharge the provisions
and other articles in the hold, and which are also to be conveyed to
the warehouses, excepting the rum and lumber that must be on i;oard,
and which are to remain in the place to be designated to-morrow,
To aid your lordship in these operations I havo appointed the officer
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of this administration, Don Manuel Gastelumendi; and the command-
ant of the revenue guards will, on his part, appoint a lieutenant of
the corps. You will, besides, have at your disposal an oversecr with
his gang, for the operations of discharging the effects and conveyance’
of the same to the warchouse. I have only to add that the commer-
cial agent of the United States wishes to be present at these operations,
and, for the same reason, you will not commence the same until he
arrives at the place where the vessel is hauled to.

God preserve your lordship many years. ,

BONIFACIO CORTEZ.
The Insrrctor of Wharves and Harbor.

In the ever most faithful city of Havana, on the twenty-second day
of July, 1858. , -

By virtue of the communication from the administrator general of
maritime revenues, at the head hereof, the persons therein named
being assembled, to wit: Don Ignacio Alvarcz Urratia, inspector of
‘wharves, warchouses, and harbor; Don Pedro Castellanos, a licuten-
ant of the revenue guards ; and Don Manuel Gastelumendi, an officer
of the'custom-house ; the chargé of the consulate general of the United
States, Mr. Thomas Savage, presented himself, accompanied by the
captain of the vessel, Sam Williams, and the mate, Lewis Tio, we
Eroceede(l to form the inventory of the cargo on board the American
lrig Nancy, commencing by the effects upon deck, which are as fol-
ows ! .

Five sacks of salt; ten pipes sweet water; {wo half pipes,
empty ; onc half pipe rum, (which was subsequently placed under
deck ;) half a lighter load of wood ; two beef barrels, one empty and
the other containing three picces of beef'; various effects belonging to
the gear and service of the ship, ,

We next proceeded to take off the hatches, which were sealed, at
which act the captain of the vessel stated that the seals upon the
hatchgs were not the same that had been placed thereon in his pres-
ence; that he protested against that act not having been done in the
presence of his consul, and also against all consequences that might
accrue to him therefrom,  After this, we proceeded to the discharge
of the effects in the hold, which operation lasted until after four
o’clock p. m,, when the hatches were sealed, to continue the opera-
tion on the following day. This was effected with the scals ot the
royal exchequer and of the consulate general of the United States,
which we all certify to. All the persons engaged in this act signing

the same, . .
IGNACIO ALVAREZ URRUTIA.
THOMAS SAVAGE,
PEDRO CASTELLANOS,
MANULEL GASTELUMENDI.

On the twenty-third of the same month and year, the individuals
composing this commission being assembled, with the consul, and
without the presence of‘the captain and mate, the scals upon- the
hatches being inspected and found in the same condition in which
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they were left, the hatches were opened to continue the dischargo,
which terminated at ten o’clock a. m., with the effects hereinafter
expressed : ; _ ; o

Forty-one sacks of rice; forty-one large tin pitchers; twenty-one
small tin pitchers ; two small wooden mills; two sacks of coffee, of 6
arrobes ; fifteen quarter barrels of vinegar; four sacks of corn; five
boxes of jerked beef; one box of chewing tobacco ; two boxes of white
sugar ; five boxes of medicines ; two bags of peas ; six sacks of Spanish
peas ; six boxes of codfish, from Scotland ; one cask of salt fish; two
kegs of Kinglish nails; one cusk of ale; one box of Nuntes’s snrdines;
twenty barrels of ship bread ; one little box of potatoes, (this little box
was upon deck ;) twenty barrels of dry white wine; one barrel of
paper cigars; two boxes of cognac, (12 bottles each ;) one box of
cheese and.other provisions ; one box of spices ; one basket champagne
wine; four boxes with tomato preserves; six boxes vermicelli, of
various classes; nine and a half pipes of red wine; two large iron
pots ; one cask, with strings of garlic and tin boxes of sardines ; one
tierce of lard; two boxes of pickles; nine barrols of American salt
beef; one barrel of gridirons; two barrels of muscovado sugar; four
barrcls of white sugar ; one barrel of pointed kuives and tin plates
and buckets ; two boxes tomato preserves and other substances; one
box caudles ; one box of smoking pipes ; one box of cordinls; eight
barrels of white beans ) one box of soap; eight barrels white corn
flour ; two linlf bairels and thirty-one gharter barrels American salt
beef ; thirty-two barrels of ship’s bread ; twenty-four scantlings of
pine, with 1,364 feet, according to their marks; one hundred and
geventy boards, with 4,000 fect, according to their marks;

Lffects in the cabin.—One box common plates; three demijohns of
whale oilj three demijohns, empty ; two demijohns of almonds; two
demijohns of anisado, (anis runi ;) four demijohns of gin; one demi-
john of rum; twenty-nine jugs of oil ; one box soda  biscuits ; five
barrels of pilot bread ; two boxes soap ; one barrel of rice; two bar-
rels of corn flour ; two boxes composition candles ; cight kegs of paint;
five barrels of mackerel ; one box of cordial ; threo barrels of wheat
flour; one box of preserves; four kegs of lard ; ton hams ) one sack
of corn ; one box codfish ; one sack of dry fruits; one sack of flour ;
five pieces cotton duck. ;

There remain in the cabin some insignificant effects that do not
appertain to the cargo, There likewise remain on board sixteeu pipes

—of aguardiente, (rum ;) fifteon half’ pipes of aguardiente; sixty-five
pipes ot sweet water. ;

Tho demijohns of rum have remained in the hold, as thoy cannot
go to the mercantile warehouse, S

Thus concluding the discharge of the provisions, which have been
sent to the stores of the mercantile deposit. We do not stato that
anything clse remains on board, betng ignorant if there is anything
concealed under the pipes. . , :

The forecastle and cook’s galley were also examined, and they con-
tained nothing but eoffects belonging to the crew and vessel’s gear,
With which these operations were concluded, sealing the cabin,
hatches, and booby-hatch of tho vessel with tho seals of the royal
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exchequer and the consulate of the' United States. And the officers
attending the same hereto subscribed their names at Havana, on the

23d of July, 1868. e :
IGNAOIO ALVAREZ URRUTIA.,
THOMAS SAVAGE.,
PEDRO C'STELLANOS.
MANUEL GASTELUMENDI.

Note of the goods that this vessel mani)f‘ested in transitu on her arrival in
this port, and of the permits for embarcation issued by this adminis-
tration,

EFFECTS IN TRANSITU,

10 barrels of pork; 10 barrels of beef; 6 barrels of flour; 24 barrels
of ship’s bread. ‘

EFFECTS CONTAINED IN THE PERMITS,

Policy No. 1, fulfilled by the resguardo, (revenue officer.)—16 pipes of
cane rum ; 8 half pipes of cane rum; 40 quarter pipes of cane rum
2 boxes of white sugar, with 32 arrobas ; 2,000 cigars londres, weigh-
ing 26 pounds gross, 20 pounds net ; 26 barrels of sherry wine; 4 half
pipes of red wine; 6 barrels of vinegar; 1,000 sacks, with 800 arrobas
of rice ; 7 boxes, with 100 arrobas of jerked beef ; 40 barrels of ship’s
bread ; 16 barrels of corn flour; 10 barrels of beans; 1 box, with a
caboose, , ,

Polioy No. 2, fulfilled by the resguardo.—20 barrels of salt beef; 4 half
pipes of red wine; 2 boxes cognac; 9 demijohns gin; 2 sacks coffee,
with 13 arrobas; 6 barrels of sugar, with 50 arrobas; 6 barrels pota-
toes; 1 cask of ale; 1 barrel of white wine; 1 box, with tin boxes ot
fruits ; 1 barrel of lard ; 6 kegs of lard ; 30 jugs oil; 6 boxes Scotch
codfish ; 6 fanegas of salt; 2 boxes of preserves; 6 bags of Spanish
peas ; 8 boxes of vermicelli; 2 barrels of onions; 1 demijohn of whale
oil; 8 hams, (Westphalia;) 4 boxes of raisins; 6 kegs of olives ; 4 sacks
of corn ; 6 sacks of rice; 1 bhasket of champagne wine ; 4 boxes tomato
sauce ; 20 barrels of ship’s bread; 2 sacks of peas; 2 tin boxes of
chocolate ; 4 tin boxes of species of sausage. ,

Policy No, 8,not fulfilled by the resguardo, (and tlie effects therein should
not have been on board the vessel,)—2,000 feet pitch pine lumber; 2 boxes
of medicines ; 10 quintals of iron bars; 98 empty hogsheads or casks,

From the comparison of the cargo the vessel had with the effects she
manifested in transitu and the two policies numbered one and two, (the
only ones that were fulfilled by the resguardo,) results that the following
articles were frandulently embarked :

2 half pipes, empty ; half a launch load of wood; 41 large tin
pitchers ; 26 tin pitchers, small; 2 small wooden mills; 1 box of
chewing tobacco ; 2 sacks of peas; 1 cask of fish; 2 kegs of paint;
1 box of Nantes’s sardines ; 1 barrel paper cigars; 1 case cheese and
other provisions ; 1 box of spices ; 2 large iron pots ; 1 hogshead, with
garlic and tins of sardines ; 2 boxes of pickles; 1 barrel of gridirons;
1 barrel of pointed knives, tin plates, and buckets ; 1 box of candles ;
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1 box of smoking pipes; 1 box of cordials; 1 box of soap; 1 box of
common plates ; 3 demijohns, empty; 2 demijohns almonds ; 2 demj-
johns anis rum; 1 demijohn aguardiente; 1 box of soda biscuits; 2
boxes of soap; 2 boxes of composition candles; 8 kegs of paint; b
kegs of mackerel ; 1 box of cordials; 1 sack of dry {ruits; 1 sack of
flour ; 5 pieces cotton duck; 1 sack of corn; 5 barrels of flour; 9
barrels of vinegar ; half a pipe of red wine; 6 cases.codfish ; 2 hams;
1 barrel of rice ; 1 box potatoes; 2 boxes of medicines ; 5',3270 — of
pine lumber ; 3 bundles of iron bars; 75 pipes of sweet water.

" Notes.

First, Although the last four numbers seem to correspondto the
policy No, 3, as this was never fulfilled by the resguardo, those articles
result to have been shipped fraudulently, in the same manner as all
the rest not included among the effects in transitu and in the policies
numbered one and two.

Second. According to the note inserted by the resguardo on the
memorial for opening the register of the policies numbered one and
two of the brig Nancy, all the articles that were mentioned in those
documents should have been on board. It is observed, however, that
the following are missing ; that they either were not put on board or
left the vessel without the permission of the custom-house:

2,000 cigars ; 13 barrels of meat; 10 arrobas of beans; 22 barrels
of flour ; 7 barrels of ship’s bread ; 6 pipes of aguardiente; 6 barrels
of white wine; 2 boxes of jerked beet’; 66 sacks of rice; 2 barrels of
potatoes ; b demijohns gin; 1 jug of oil ; 6 barrels codfish ; 2 boxes
vermicelli; 2 barrels of onions; 1 demijohn of whale oil ; 4 boxes of
raising ; 6 kegs of olives; 4 tins of sausages; 2 tins of chocolate; 1
case, with a caboose, , ;

Suoh is the result of the aots of discharge of the American brig
Nancy, and of the proceedings on the clearance of the same vessel,
which have been before us for the purpose of making the comparison
referred to in the first paragraph of the official letter from the admin-
istration general of maritime revenues, wherewith these proceedings
commenced. :

Havana, July 26, 1858, , PR
IGNACIO ALVAREZ URRUTIA,
PEDRO CASTELLANOS,
MANUEL GASTELUMENDI,

It is a [aithful copy from the original existing in this office, and
which I attest as contador general of maritime revenues,

Havana, July 26, 1858,
MANUEL MARIA CARBAJAL,
GORTEZ,

Correct.

Don Manuel Maria Carbajal; a knight of the Spanish royal order
of Charles the Third, honorary intendant of province, and contador
general of maritime revenues, and her Majesty’s appointment: I cer-
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tify, likewise, that t.llé"Or’iginal expediente af this vessel has been
transmitted to the intendancy general of the army and exchequer,
with the following communication :

Ay, Appleton to Mr. Hillyer.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washinglon, August 16, 1858,

Stk ¢ I transmit herewith for your informatlon, and in order that
such instructions may be given to the proper officers as the cases may
require, two despatches, Nos, 24 and 23, together with the enclosures
accompanying them, received from the United States vice-consul gen-
eral at Huvana, respecting the cases of the Lydia Gibbs, the C. Perkins,
the Liyra, and the Nauncy, which vessels are charged with a violation
of the laws of the United States in regard to the slave trade. The
vice consul general states that having no precedents to gnide him in
these cases, and especially in those of the Nancy and O, Perkins, he
is in doubt whether his course has been entirely correct. In the event
of the release of the brig Naney and her crew by the Spanish anthor-
ities, I should be pleased to learn from you whether the evildence which
hag thus far been adduced is such as to authorize instructions to be
given to the vice-consul general to send the captain and crew, with the
vessel, to the United States for trial,

I will thank you to return the accompanying papers when you have
made such use of tham as you think proper.

I am, sir, your obedient servant,
JOUIN APPLETON,

o Assistant Seorclary of Slate.
J. HiLuver, lsq.,
Suticitor of the Treasury.

My, Appleton to Mr. Savage,

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, August 18, 1858.
Sir: I transmit licrewith for your information, copy of & communi-
cation, dated the 17th instant, received from the Solicitor of the Treas-
ury, to whom your Nos, 24 and 25, with their respective enclosures,
were referred, R ; o o
In view of the opinion of the Solicitor upon the evidence thus far
presented in regard to the case of the ¢“ Nanoy,”” the department does
not consider it expedient to instruct you to send that vessel to the
United States for trial,
I am, sir, your obedient servant, i
JOHN APPLLTON,
Assistant Secretary.
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Mr. Appleton to My, Hillyer.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,

Washington, August 18, 1858,
Sir: I am directed to acknowledge the receipt of your communica-
tion of the 17th instant, respecting the cases of alleged violation of
the laws of the United States concerning the slave trade by certain
American vessels at Havana, and to inform you that a copy of the
same has been transmitted to Vice Consul General Savage for his in-

formation. ,
I am, sir, your obedient servant,
JOHN APPLETON,
Assistant Secrelary of State.

BMyr. Savage to Mr, Cass.

No. 28.] CoNsuLATe GENERAL or THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, August 24, 1838,

Sir: Since the date of my despatch No. 26,1 have examined several
of the erew of the brig Nancy. Some of the affidavits clearly indicate
that this vessel was really fitting out for the slave trade, with the
knowledge of her captain and officers, I have not, ay yet, acted upon
this evidence, becanse it was taken in private, without the presence of
the accused,  After obtaining the information I would have examined
the witnesses under oath, in the presence of the captain and mate, and
allowed the two officers the privilego of cross-examination, weroe it not
that T felt cortain it would lead to the necessity, on my part, to have
thoem committed, which would, no doubt, cause further delay in tho
settlement o' the caso before the superior court, 1 would not volun-
teer to furnish the superior court evidence to the prejudice of American
citizens ; my calling upon the Spanish authorities for the arrest of
the partics would put them on the alert, and perhaps induce them to
ask mo for the reasons upon which I based my action; and Ushould
certainly refugo to enter into particulars, This might create a disa-
greeablo feeling, which I prefer to avoid; my intention is to await-the:
result of the trial before the superior court, which I expect will not
be far off; and then proceed to the formal investigation into the
charges against the vessel and officers for the violation of the laws of
tho United States; and, if tige evidence to be taken betore the acoused
should bo suflicient, send them all to Now Orleans to be there dealt
with according to law. I have no time to-day to prepare copies of
the affidavits taken, and of other papers bearing upon the subject; I
will forward them by the next mail, ; o

The summarial proceedings having terminated, the case was bronght
by Justice Puldu before the superior court, and by them placed in the
hands of the IFiscal de la Real Audiencia (attorney general) for his
opinion thereon.
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In my last communication I forgot to state my belief that the char-
ter-party of the schoouer COortez, seized a few months since by the
British gunboat Jasper, is in the same handwriting as those of the
Lydia ('ibbs and Nancy. , , v . ,

The cases of the Lyra and Charles Perkins are still pending, The
second edict summoning Durafionia, the owner of the U, Perkins, hag
appeared in the Official Gazette ; it is believed that he is concealed in
this city, - —

The )b,mail steamer from New York, due yesterday morning, has not
yot arrived. I trust she will bring me your views upon these impor-
tant subjects. By the next mail I will send you some interesting in-
formation respecting vessels that have sailed from this port under
American colors, bound on slaving voyages.

I have just received a letter from Lieutenant Maffit, commanding
United States brig Dolphin, advising me of the capture by him, on or
about the 218t or 22d instant, of the brig Hcho, (A.) Putnam, of New
Orleans, under American colors, with three hundred and twenty-eight
slaves on board, and a crew of twenty men—half Spaniards and half
Americans ; the prize has been sent to Charleston,

I have the honor, sir, to be your most humble, obedient servant,

THOS. SAVAGE,
Vice-Consul General,
Hon, Lewis Oass,
Secretary of State,

Biblioteca de Legislacion Ultramarina, por Don Jost M. Zamora y
Coronado, vol. 4, page 103, section b.

[Translation,]

For the present and until some law has conveniently established the
guarantees securing the oivil liberty of all the Spaniards, no tribu-
nals or judges shall have the right of lodging or retaining any one of
them in prison without some rational and sufficient cause, and free
from any arbitrariness,—(Section 6, same page.) 1

Bvery individual arrested or imprisoned, unless it be for correctional
punishment or by virtue of a judgment already rendered, shall, witl-
out fail, be examined within the twenty-four hours of his imprison-
ment or arrest, as provided by the compiled code; and should any other
pre-eminent exigenoies of and pertainingsto the publio service prevent
this from being done, the motive thereot shall be stated in the judicial
record, and the judge shall care that the individual thus imprisoned
or arrested be informed, within the above specified delay, of the cauve
of his imprisonment or arrest, and of the accuser’s name, if any; ex-
amining him as soon as possible,—(Same work, page 467.)
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Penal law of 1845, for the suppression of the slave trade,

Arricte 1. The captains, supercargoes, mates, and second mates
of vessels captured by the cruisers investerl with the right of search,
with bosal negroes on board, coming from the coast of Africa, shall be
condemned to six years’ imprisonment in the penitentiary, (presidio,)
if they made no resistance; to eight years, in case they made resist-
ance, without it resulting in death or serious wounds; and to penalties
provided for by law for this class of crimes, if their resistance results
in any death or serious wounds, e .

- ArT, 2. The geamen and other persons belonging to the crew of the
vessel captured with bosal negroes on board, coming from the coast of
Africa, shall be sentenced to four years’ imprisonment in the peniten-
tiary, (presidio,) should they make no resistance; and to six years in
case of resistance; besides the penalties they might incur should they
occasion any death or serious wounds. ,

Arr, 3. The captains, mates, supercargoes, and second mates of a
vessel destined to the slave trade, but on board whereof no slaves be
found, shall suffer the following punishments: six years in the peni-
tentiary, if the vessel is captured on the coast of Africa, anchored or
at a distance of less than three miles from the coast, engaged in the
purchase of slaves; four years, if the vessel is captured on the high
sea sailing towards that point; and two years in case the vessel is ar-
rested in the port she intended to sail from, , v

ARt, 4, The seamen and others belonging to the crew of the vessel
shall suffer half of the punishments mentioned in the preceding article,
according to the respective circumstances, ,

Art, b, The owners of the vessels, the persons who fit them out,
the owners of the cargo, and those for whose account the expedition
shall have heen undertaken, shall be condemned to banishment at
more than fifty leagues from their residence for the same number of
years for which the captain shall have been sentenced to the peni-
tentiary, (prosidio.) There shall, besides, be imposed a fine of one
thousand dollars to ten thousand dollars, (pesos fuertes,) according to
the seriousness and circumstances of the crime, In case of insolvenoy
on their part, the penalty of banishment shall be increased by one
year for every thousand dollars, (pesos f'uertes“.?\ They shall be, ex-
onerated of all responsibility only, if they prove that they have taken no
part, knowingly, in the uso the captain and the crew have made of
the vessel for this illioit traffic, " ,

Art, 6. Besides the penalties mentioned in the preceding article,
the guilty parties shall suffer that of confiscation of the vessel and of
all the goods found on board. The vessel shall be broken in pieces
and the sale thereof proceeded to by separate parts, contormably to
the provisions of the treaty of 1835. ;

ART. 7. The crimes committed on board a vessel against the bosal
negroes of' Africa shipped therein shall be punished as provided for by
the common law. ,

ART. 8, In case of reiteration, the penalties specified in the fol-
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lowing articles shall be increased from one-third to one-half part.—
(Title 2, art, 12, 2d part, page 408.) ;

Itor substantiating said causes and qualifying the proofs of the
orimes #lluded to in said law, the provisions of the laws of the king-
dom relative to ordinary erimes shall be observed, |

AxrT. 13, The tribunals within the jurisdiction whereof full the
cognizance and judgment of these causes are: in the peninsula, those
of first instance, with appeal to the territorial audiencias or superior
courts) in the Canary islands, the tribunals of the first instance of the
city of Palmas, with appeal to the territorial aundiencia or superior
court; and in the islands of Cuba and of Puerto Rico, their tribunals,
viz: territorial audiencias in the first and second instance, - All pre-
rogatives are derogated in the trial of causes carried on upon such

erimes,

Mr, Dallas to Mr. Cass,

[Extract.]
No. 121.] LEeaaTioN oF THE UNITED STATES,
London, Auguat 27, 1858,
* * * * * *

Str: The claim of Messrs, Ellis & Cobb, of Boston, to be redressed
for the outrages and injuries incident to the flagrantly unjustifiable
arrest, seizure, and detention of their brig ¢¢ Caroline’’ by the British
war steamer ‘¢ Alecto,”’ off the Rio Nunef, during the month of May
last, has been addressed to the Iarl of Malinesbury, A copy of my
note to him is subjoined, Tho evidence is yet limited to the protest
of the master; and I presume Messrs, Cobb & Ellis will sen the expe-
diency of early forwarding those details to which they referred in their
letter to the department of the 2d June, 1858, It would be well also
that they shonld furnish transcripts of the register, olearance, crow-
list, and shipping articles authenticated by the collector, and under
notarial seal, together with the affidavit of the supercargo, Mr, Horace
Tufts, in special reference to the estimated amount and immediate

cause of damage or loss,
* * *

* * * o
I have the honor to be, sir, your most obedient servant,
G. M. DALLAS,

Hon, Lewis Cass,
- bdecretary of Slate.
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Mr. Dallas to the Earl of Malmesbury.

LroarioN oF THE UNITFD STATRS,
- London, August 24, 1858,

My Torp: T have the honor to transmit for your lordship’s con-
sideration copies of certain documents received by me from the De-
partment of State, accompanied by special instructions to found thereon
a claim of redress for the outrages and damages incident to the nnjus-
tifinble seizure and detention of the American brig ¢ Caroline,” of
Boston, Bradford Gibbs master, by her Majesty’s eteam sloop-of- war
‘“ Alecto,’’ off the Rio ‘¢ Navez,”’ in May, 18568, , ;

Without labored recapitulution at ,ﬁresent, it may be stated that
the features of this transaction are marked and uncquivoeal,

1. The ¢“ Caroline’’ was a fully and regularly documented vessel of
the United States, owned and navigated by citizens of known respect-
ability, frequent traders to the coast of Africa, and in no manner by
her equipments, cargo, or appearance, justly giving rise to the remotest
sugpicion of being eugaged in the traffic ot slaves, . o ,

2. The “ Caroline,” with this official and irreproachable character,

and with the flag of her country constantly flying, was hailed from
the ‘“ Alecto’’ and ordered to heave to; was boarded by British naval
officers and crews; her captain was subjected to a course ot insolent
interrogatory ; her pupers were demanded ; her hold was violently
opened and examined ; her master taken on board the ¢ Alecto,’’ re-
ceived the customary artful and intimidating-hints that he had bettor,
throw his papers overboard, or, as expressed on the present occasion,
that ho had better let them and his flag ““swim ;" she was seized,
}mb into the possession of a prize erew, taken into Sierra Lieons, and
iberated at the expiration of four days’ detention, at o distance from
the port to which sho was destined, and with langunge which could
ouly have been suggested by a consciousness of baffled cupidity and
arrogance, _ o e

8. The nceessarily ¢ disastrous effects’’ of this unwarrantable seizure
of the ¢ Caroline’’ arve adverted to by her owners, Messrs, Kllis &
Cobb, of Boston, in their letter to Mr, Cass, of the 21st of June, 1858,
All the plans of her voyage were frustrated, aud the sale of her out-
ward cargo, valued ot $20,388 40, was precipitated at a place for
which it was not designed. e o -

Calling your lordship’s candid and sorutinizing attention to the
accompanying papers, I cannot withhold the expression of an earnest
hope that her Majesty’s government will recognize in the ciroum-
A st?jnccs detailed a just and impressive ground for adequate aud early

redress, o ,

I beg your lordship to aceept the renewed assurance of my highest

consideration ; and have the honor to be your lordship’s most obedient

servant,
G. M. DALLAS,
The right honorable the EARL oF MALMESBURY,
do., d&o., do.

)

H, Ex, Doc, T——13
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My, Savage to My, Cass.

No. 30.] CoNSULATE GENERAL oF THE UNITED STATES,
, Havana, August 29, 1858,

Sir: The mail steamer Daniel Webster, that arrived three or four
days since from New York, brought'me nofavors from the department,

I beg leave to lay before you the following copies of communications
having reference to the case of the brig Nancy, of New Orleans, viz :

Of u letter addressed to me by the master of said vessel, dated 9th
instant, ,

Of an officinl letter, dated 12th instant, from the justice of the su-
perior court of Havana, Don Mariano Paldu de Mesa, requesting me
to cause the master of the Nancy to appear before him on the next
day for re-examination of said master, e

Of a letter, dated 14th instant, from Captain Williams, of the Naney,
to me directed, - This letter is a peculiar one, and unless I am greatly
mistaken, like the greater part of those received {from him, not the
composition of Captain Williams, but of Mr, Francis D. Newcomb,
the defaulting surveyor general of Louisiana, The contemptible in-
strument alluded to in Captain Williams's letter as the suborner of
his crew is entirely unknown to me, That I did call his crew, and
examine them for the purpose of eliciting from them such information
as I could in regard to the affuir of the brig Nancy, is undeniable,
I deemed it my duty to do 8o when I learned, as [ did learn, that some
of them were willing to state what they knew of the doings on board
of said vessel. o

Mr. Newcomb has not beon the only adviser of Captain Williams,
He had the weakness to become the instrument of a certain sef, of slave
traders in this city, who have been, for some time pust, making use
of our flag for théir nefarious purposes, and whose exponent and abet-
tor is Don Antonio Cabarga, a shipchandler, who has made so much
money out of our mercantile marine, and also of the American and
British men-of-war that have visited this port for some years past.
This is the man whose handwriting is in the charter-party of the
schooner Cortez, and in those of the schooner Lydia Gibbs and brig
Nancy, He is the same man who informed me on the 5th instant of
the capture of the Lydia Gibbs on the coast of Africa, and the same
who claims to be the owner of the $7,000 that the captain of the bark
Lyra absconded with from Key West, He exhibited to me this morn-
ing the bill of lading signed by the master of the Lydia for these very
$7,000, written in the same hand of those three charter-parties; he
asked and obtained of me a certificato, to-day, to the effect that a note
had been taken in this office un the 5th ultimo of these §7,000 being
a portion of the cargo that the Lyra cleared with; he gave meto
underderstand that he would send this certificate, together with the
bill of lading, to Senator Mallory, of Florida, said to be now in Wash-
ington city, for the purpose of recovering by some moans this sum
ot money, and, it need be, of claiming it from the ship, even in the
- event of her being condemned by the admiralty court in Key West,
Would there be any diffienlty in obtaining from Senator Mallory this



AFRICAN SLAVE TRADE, 196

bill of lading, for the purpose of comparing the handwriting thereof
with that on the charter-parties above mentioned? |

I also enclose & copy of a letter from Captaina Williams, dated 25th
instant, accompanying what he oalls a copy of a letter addressed to him
by the crew of the Nancy. This letter, purporting to have come from
the crew, was concocted, on the evening of the 23d instant, in a pri-
vate room in the store of Mr. Cabarga. 1 became aware of this on the
next morning ecarly ; after some consideration I decided to await the
result, On the evening of the 26th I received these precious communi-
cations. I became convinced that the parties interested were tamper-
ing with the crew; I conscquently concluded that the forbearance
exercised by me to that day in behalf of the captain and mate had
ceased to be a virtue, and immediately summoned John Williams,
master, and Luis Teazo, the mate, to appear before me the next
morning at ten o’clock, at which time I proceeded to examine, in their
presence, ns well as in the presence of other respectable gentlemen,
the crew of the brig Nancy.

‘'he persons who witnessed these proceedings will, I have no doubt,
testify to the fairness with which the same were carried on. The
testimony obtnined would be sufficient to justify me in securing the
captain and mate ifi prison, also the steward of tho vessel, as perjurer,
It is evident that the crew have been tampered with, and induced to
withhold the truth,  As to the letter concocted at Mr, Cabargu’s store,
the evidenco of the crow reduced it to nothing at all, = ‘

Still, I have not put the culprits in prison; I have deemed it more
expediont to await tho result of the trial before the real audicnoia ;
the case is still in the hands of the fiscal, I have used some en-
deavor unofficially to have the matter brought to n termination, and
I have somoe reason to believe that the decision of the court will be
rendered during this week, In the event of the court releasing the
vessel, officers, and crew, I will seize and send her, together with the
persons thereunto belonging, to New Orleans, at the disposal of the
United States authorities, A ' ;

In this matter of the brig Nanoy, I have, in a previous communi-
cation, stated my belief that she had already, at least onco before,
brought a cargo of slaves from Africa to this island in command of
her owner, Mr. M, N, Radowich. There is an item of information I
havo to-day received which may be of somo importance to consider.
I understand that she was at Pensacola in tho month of Junuary of
this year, whero she was fined for not having her papers in order, L
know sho was at that port, from whence she proceeded to Yucatan,.
then camas here, from hence went to New Orleans, and {rom there
came back here,  Would it not be well to call upon the collector of.
Pensacola for the necessary information upon this point?

It is impossible for me to send by this conveynnce (for want of time)
copies of the two sets of depositions taken from the crew, I will
endeavor to have them preparcd and forwarded by the next mail,

The affuir of the ¢¢ C, Perking’’ is still before the Spanish court,
Mr, Peter William From, mate, and David White, scaman, of the
bark ¢ Lyra,”” both of whom were retained in prison here, and in
whose behalf T have interceded, have been released from prison and
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placed at my disposal. I enclose & copy of the communication, dated
yesterday, to me from the judge charged with the investigation to
ascertain whether the ¢“ Lyra’’ was actually fitted out in this port to
engage in the slave trade 'There are two or three vessels under
American colors now lying in this port that appear under rather sus-
picious circumstances, I understaud it is their intention to fit out,
whether in this port or elsewhere in some out-of-the-way place, for a
slaving voyage. I have my eye on them, _

This is such a lengthy despatch that I feel Joath to further tax
your patience with this disagreeable subject; still, I erave your in-~
dulgence to call your attention to the enclosed list of vessels which,
under American colors are known or believed to have engaged in or
been fitted out for the slave trade,

I have the honor to be, sir, with high reapect, your obedient servant,

‘ THOMAS SAVAGE,
United Sleles Vice-Oonsul General,

Hon, Lewrs Cass, , )

Seoretary of Sltale of the United States, Washington.

ITavana, August 9, 1858,

Str: T have your letter of this date notifying me that you have
decided upon discharging tlie scamen of the brig Nancy, Nicholas
Theodore, John Davis, and Vincent Toreno, avd calling upon me to
pay wages. if there be any due to them, When I am placed in
chargo of the brig Naney and her ercw 1 will meet all obligations of
the vessol incurred by my acts or agreements,  As long as [ remain
illegally deprived of my vessel 1T have no means to meet any linhilities,
especially of contracts that were not intended to be matured in
Havana, as those who have charge of the brig and erew must provide
all else, ,

I remain your obedient servant,
JOHN WILLTAMS,

Tromas Savaur, Lsq., ‘

Vice-Consul, and Acting Consul General of Cuba,

[Tranalation,)

Court by commission ; notary, Don José Soroa,

In the proceedings by me instifuted fur the seizure of the American
brig Nancy, which was about sailing for Afvica, 1 hiave resolved ujon
dirccting you this letter, so that you may please give timely order to
Captain John Williamns to appear on the morning of IMriday, the 13th
instant, before this ‘‘real audiencia’’ to complete a certain act of
Justice.

God preserve you many years.

Havana, dugust 12, 1868,
MARIANO PALAU DE MESA.
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Havana, August 14, 1858,

Str: Asin duty bound, in protection of my own rights, and the
interests of others placed in my care, I am compelled to protest
against the action now taking place in your office to my prejudice,
and to the prejudice of the interests of the brig Nauney, in examining
the crew of the said brig without notice to me, after they have been
duly examined, tried, aud set free of prison by the Spanish authori-
ties. ‘I'he men of iny crew, ever since they were taken ottt of prison,
have been dogged by a creature procured and pald for to drink and
tamper with my meu, and by him they have been, one or more of them,
conducted to your oflice, where, with closeld doors, you are holding a
consulur requisition in the presence of the secret suborner and only
contriver, The man used for this degrading business all honest men
of this community woulil blush to be seen associated with, which I
merely mention that you may not be in ignorance, if you are s, of
the quality of the tools in your service, Let me be present with you,
or let me know what further violation of my rights and justice are
contemplated, that T mny defend myself, Secret night assassins may
geb advantage of me, but truth will defend me from all other pursuits,
At your exawmination of the crew of the brig Nancy now, ov at any
time, I believe there will o no impropricty in my being present; for
which consideration, for reason of the seeret and unduoe inflnonce
attempted to bo practiced upon my men, and for the general interests
in promoting the eause of justice, I do most solemnly protest against
your proceedings as cx parte, unlawful, and in violution ot the juris-
diction of tho country, after the actions of its tribunals, ‘

As faras younre concerned personally, if you would avoid the inevita-
ble conclusion that you arestriving to prove or construct u case to meet
your first denunciation to me on the deck of the brig Nancy, it would
be better to have open doors in the United States consulate general,
instead of secret sessions, giving perinission to those interested to be
present.  lixcuse an humble man’s advice; the now lights of law
breaking through the bars of the Tacon prison and the windows of’
the United States consulate Iam not yes fully familinr with, but have
seen cnough to sincercly pray for deliverance therelrom,  You will
please understand that 1 state fucts, und would do so without inton-
tion of" disrespect,

Your obedient servant, .
- JOHN WILLIAMS,
Tiomas Savaen, Tsq.,
Vice-Uonsul, and dcting Consul General, Cuba,

HAvaNA, August 25, 1858,
Sme: T hand you a copy of a letter received from several of the
crew of the American brig Nuocy, of New Orléans, late under my com-
mand, for your advice, and the files of your office, Protesting aguinst
your proceedings, as represented by them, as being caleulated to pro-
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judice wronm‘ul]y the cause of the owners of the brig Nancy ; induc-
ing a spint ‘of insubordination among the crew, which would be i incon-
sistent with good order and discipline, should 1 have further occasion
for their services, or should they be shipped on board of other Amer-
ican vessels ; as well as for other moral reasons, apparent to you and
others on reading their statement. The proud spirit which will not
recetve, should alike scorn to throw temptation in the way of more
humble worth,

With due respect, your obedient servant,

JOHN WILLIAMS
Tros. Savaar, Esq.,
Vice-Consul, and Acting Consul General in Cuba.

HAvaNa, Adugust 23, 1858,

Dear Sir: We, the undersigned, seamen of the brig Nancy, con-
sider it our duty to inform you that the American consul has sent for
us several times to sustain his charge, as regards the seizure of said
brig ; which charge we knew nothing of. He stated to us if we would
state the truth that he would provide for us; we told him we would
statc nothing but trath ; which we did, He then said he would im-
prison us for one or more years, as we did not coincide in his opinion,
Not only that, he has kept us in the comulate of the United States,
with cldsed doors, for several hours in succession, When we would
not testifv falsely, he ordered us out of' the office, He further stated
that you would do nothing for ns, And, if such is to be the result
of this, we beg of you to inform us of faots so that we may try to get
away from this port, after you pay us what wa(rcs are due to us ; and,
at the same time, our discharge, that we may be entitled to ship in

the ﬁrst vessel that may offer,
NIOOLAS TEODORE,
VINCENT TORENO,
JOHN DAVIS,
JOHN COLLIN,

I, the underslgned cook of the American brig Nanoy, do say that
the contents of this letter are all correct, excepting that the consul
never told me that I had no business to look to my captain for any
assistance ; neither did he offer to imprison me ; but he offered to pay

my board, and pay me one dollar per day whilst detained in this port.
MICHAEL VIDALL.

HAavANA, August 23, 1858,

We, the undermgned were called upon by the persons who have
signed the foregoing letter to witness the signatures of Nicholas
Theodore and Michael Vidall, and to sign for Vicento, John Davis,
and John Collin, who made their marks in our presence, saying that
the lotter was tr ue, and conveyed what they desired to know from
the captain, We were also requested by Captain John Williams, of
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the brig Nancy, to comply with the request of his crew ; and therefore
witnessed the signatures and marks as made to the document herewith,
- A. CABARGA.,
A. ORFILA.
Captain JoHN WILLIAMS.

CoNSULATE GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, August 26, 1838, at 6 30 p. m.

Sir: I have just received your communication of yesterday, with
its enclosure, contents of which are noted. I hereby require of you
to appear at this office to-morrow, at 10 o’clock a. m., when I will
proceed to examine, in your presence, the crew of the brig Nancy, to
investigate certain charges alleged against you of being concerned
in fitting out this vessel for the slave trade.

Your obedient servant, , ;
THOMAS SAVAGT,
' Vice-Consul (eneral.

Captain JouN WiLLIAMS,

Master of the brig Nancy, of New Orleans— Present,

CoNSULATE GBNFRAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, August 26, 18568, at 6,30 p. m.
Sir @ You are hereby required to appear at thig office to-morrow, at
10 o’clock a. m., when I will proceed to examine, in your presence, the
crew of the brig Nancy; to investigate certain charges alleged against
you, as one of the officers of said brig, of being concerned in fitting
her out for the slave trade,
Your obedicent servant, , '
THOMAS SAVAGE, Vice-Oonsul General.,
Mr, Luis Trozo,
Mate of the brig Nancy, of New Orleans— I’resent. B

[I'ranslation.]
DN. JOSIt SOROA, Es'no.

I have this resolved upon, setting free, under oath, the American"
seamen, David White and Peter Williams Lonis, whom I have also
informed that they are to remain at the disposal of your honour, and
amenable for the cause I have instituted, to ascertain if the American
brig Lyra sailed from this port to go to tho coast of Africa and fetch
bozal negroes,

Which I make known to you for your own knowledge and further
consequences, , ;

God preserve your honor many years. Iavana, August 28, 1858,

MARIANO PALAU DI MESA,
The Cuarai or THE CONSULATE of the United States.

Judged in committee,
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List of vessels which, under American colors, are known or believed to
have engaged in or been fitled out for the slave trade.

The following were reported by Mr. Thomas Savage, then in charge
of the United States consulate general, in his despatch to the State
Department numbered 61, dated Angust 7, 1857,

Bark Minnctonka. This vessel lunded a cargo of slaves in Cuba,
then proceeded to a port unknown, but believed to be Yucatan, where
she refitted, procceded again to the coast of Africa, and was there
captured by a British cruiser,

Schooner Joseph R. Record, captured September 4, 1857, in the
Big 1t of Benin, by the British cruiser Antelope, with 191 slaves on
bourd,

Brig Rebert B. Lantonlanded 450 slaves on the north side of Cuba,
and is reported to have been afterwards burnt,

Schooner Abbott Devereux, captured August 1, 1857, by the British
cruiser Teazer, with 270 slaves on board, ,

Brig Telegraph landed a cargo of sluves on the south side of Cuba
near the Isle of Pines; this vessel in snid to have bronght a number of
American capteing whose vessels had been captured on the coast of
Africa, This expedition is reported to have proved a disastrous one
from the great mortality sustained on the passage,

Schooner Niagara, It is understood that she was captured on the
const of Africa. I'rancisco Martinez, one of the witnesses sent on to
New York. told me he was one of her crew,

Brig Braman, captured by the British war steamer Vesuving,

Schooner James Buchanan is believéd to have brought a cargo of
slaves to Cuba, after which sho proceeded toa portin Yucatan, where
Mr. Francis D. Newcomb, as attorney for her apparent owners, had
her s0ld. , .

Buwik Clara B, Williams was captured up the Congo river waiting
for slaves at the same time that three or four other vessels were
captured, o B

Brig Windward, captured by her Britannic Majesty’s ship Alecto,
with 630 slaves on bourd. Iler master, Charles Rauch, is now in Ia-
vana as owner (apparently) and master of a brig under American
colors, called the Crimea,  Of this vessel, more under her heading,

Schooner Wintermoyeh, captured by her Britannic Majesty’s ship
Conflict, on the coast of Africa. The master of this vessel was recently
at Havana, attempted three or four times to obtain command of Ameri-
can vessels here, ut T refused my consent, for very good reasouns,
He finally went to Matanzus, where he took command ot an American
vessel.  The Wintermoyeh was sold in this port, and cleared on the
18th of Deceniber, 18567, with a sea letter for Boston,

Brig C. Perkins_cleared 26th of October, 1857 ; brought a cargo
of slaves ; transhipped them off Mariel ; went to Yucatan ; returned
to Havana ; fitted out again for the slave trade; detuined at Havauna,

Brig R. M. Charleton sold at Havana; cleared 6th of January,
1858, with n sea letter for a port of the United States. No account
has been received at this office of a reliable nature,



AFRICAN SLAVE TRADE. 201

Schooner Angeline, It is believed that she landed a cargo of ne-
groes at or near Punta Gordu (juriadicetion of Matanzas,) on the night
of 26th-27th of June. It is not known what beeame of hér after-
wards, This vessel was sold at Havana, and cleared on the 14th of
Tebruary, 1868, with a sca letter for o ]mrt of the Umited States,

Bark Guvernor Parris was sold at Havavna; cleared 25th of Feb-
ruary, 1858, with a sea lotter for a port of the United States. No
relinble account has been received at this office of her, It i under-
stood, however, that she was captured on the coast of Africn..

Schooner Lydlu. Gibbs, captured off Widah by the British war-
steamer Trident,

Brig St. Audvew, sold at Havana; cleared 27th Mar ch, 1858, with
a sea letter for Clmr]u«t(m No relinble account of her yet,

Bawrk Venus, of New Orleans. This vessel is understood to have
been chartered for a lawful trade on the coast of Alrica, but little
donbt exists that the real object of her voyage was the slave trade.
Cleared April 6, 18568. No account of her yet,

Bark Liyra, sold at Havauna ; clcmcd 5th of July, 1858, for KKey
West, where ‘she was seized,

Ketch Brothers cleared 80th of June, 1858, No account of her yet.

Schooner Cortez, sold at Havana, as it is believed, though no deed
of sale was made, Cleared 13th of April, 1858 ; cn])tmud off the
coast of Cuba by her Britannic Majesty’s gnnbout. Jmpvr.

Brig Mary Elizabeth cleared 19th of April, 1858. No account of
her ycb.

Brig Nancy, of New Orleans, now detained at Havana,

Brw l’utnam of New Orleans, This office is not nware from what
port sho sailed (or the coust of Africay captured the 21st or 220 ——,
1858, with 328 slaves on board, off the Double-headed Short Keys, by
Umted States brig Dolphin.

DBrig Adams (xmy, of New Orleans, captured 15th of April, 1857,
by the Dritish man'of-war Prometheus. '

Brig William D. Miller, of New Orleans, landed 450 slaves at
Sierrn Morena sanequontly destroyed.

Barle Almeida, hﬂl(l to have gone from 8t Jago de Cuba, and to
have been captured in Africa.

The barks Pions, Petrel, Vesta, and Texington, were eaptuved off
the coast of Cuba, with slaves on lmuul by a Spanish maun-of- war,

The ship Iydra, brigs General Scott, Henry Cole, General Gieene, .
Juliette, ICate Hellen, Rufus Soule, and scliooner Allsbln, are also szu‘l
to huve pr()ccudcd to Africa for slaves.

Brig Crimea landed at Guanimar 514 slaves,  This is supposed to
be the same vessel now in Liavana.
 The bwk E, A, Rawlins, reported in the newspapers of the United
States as hzwmg landed a cargo of negroes at or near Texny, is re-
ported in this city as having disembarked her cargo at n place on the
north side of Cuba, called Punta de la Teja,

The Mr. Frederick A. Drinkwater, at the time he became the ap-
pareut purchaser ot the Minunetonka, G. I Record, R, B. Luwton,
Niagara, and Braman, was in the employ of, or in some way con-
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nected in business with, Mr, Antonio Cabarga, the person mentioned
in the communication to which this is accompanied,
Havana, August 29, 1858,

My, Cass to Mr., Dallas.

No. 129.] - DBPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, September 6, 1858,

St : I have caused a copy of that part of your despateh No. 111
which has reference to tho establishment of the existence and authen-
ticity of the American papers of the ¢ Cortez,”” to be communicated
to the vice-consul general of the United States at Havana, in order
that an opportunity may be afforded him of carrying out your sug-
gestions on the subject. The number of aggressive outrages com-
mitted upon our comimerce by Bntlsh cruisers on the coast of Cuba
and in the Gulf of Mexico last spring, as reported in the newspapers
of this country, considerably exceed the number of those officially
reported to this department; but I have, I believe, communicated to
you from time to time, cither in o printed form or in manuscript, all
the reports of such outrages as have thus far been officially made to
me. Should others of a like character reach me, they will be duly
communicated to you, if their importance renders it neeessary - or
desirable.

I am, sir, respectfully, your obedient servant,
LEWIS OASS.

Grorar M. Darnas, Hsq., de., de., de.

Lord Napier lo My, Appleton,

Her Britannie Masesty’s LegATioN,
Washington, September 7, 1858,

My Dear Sti: T enclose an extract from a report addressed by the
British consul at St. Jago de Cuba to the officer commandme; her
Mu]esty g naval forces at Jamaica, contmmng a description of a certain
- brig called the ‘¢ Juliet,”’ umlcr American colors, which has gone
to the African coast, appm‘ently to embark a slave Cargo.

I have thought that these indications might be useful to the United
States officers cruising on the coast or in the Watexs of Cuba,

Believe me, yours, very truly,
NAPIER.

Hon, Joux AvrritoN, te., diw., o,
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Extract of « letter from her Majesty’s consul at St. Jago de Cuba to the

senior officer of her Majesty’s naval forces at Port Royal, Jamaica,

e JuNnEe 28, 1858,

¢ have the honor to acquaint you that a black painted brig, called
the ¢Juliet,” of about two hundred tons burden, under American
colors, arrived at this port from New York a few weeks ago, The
master is an American, and the reputed owner or supercargo, whose
name i8 Bautista, is a Portuguese, and who, I am credibly informed,
is an old slave dealer. ,

“The said brig has loaded with sugar and rum, (supposed to be
bisenit and water,) and sailed hence on the 25th instant, er clear-
ance hag been kept recret; but it is currently reported here, and I
have no doubt in my own mind, that she is bound for the African
coast, and destined for the slave trade.”

Mr. Appleton to Mr. Savage.

DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, September T, 1858,
Sir: I trangmit herewith an extract from despateh No, 111, received
from the United States legation in London, in which it is suggested
that, in establishing the existence and anthenticity,ol the American
papers of the ¢ Cortez,”” ““the statement of the consular officer at-
Havana should be made with all just particularity, and take the form
of solemn and positive affidavit,’”’
You are accordingly requested to transmit to this department such
an affidavit, for the purpose indicated by Mr., Dallas,
I am, sir, your obedient servant,
: JOHN APPLETON,
Assistant Secretary of State.
Tuoma§ Savaar, Iisq.,
[nited Stlates Vice-Consul General, Havana,

Mr. Dallas to Mr. Cass.

[Extract,)
No. 111.] Luaation or Tug UNITED StTATES,
London, June 18,~1858,
Sir; * * * * * * * ¥

The report of the United States consul at Mavana suggests that it
is competent to himself personally to establish the existence and au-
thenticity of the American papers of the ¢ Cortez,”” 1t that be so, then
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it would bo well that his statement to that point, with all just particu-
lurity, should take the form of solemn and positive affidavit, .
* * * * * * *

I have the honor to be, sir, your most obedient servant,
G. M. DALLAS.
Hon. Lewrs Cass,
Secretary of Slate.

Mr. Cass to Mr. Dallas.

No. 131.] DepArRTMENT OF STATE,
Washington, September 10, 1858,
Sm: Having communicated to Mr. John A, Machado a copy of that
part of your despatch No. 97, of the 9th of April last, which suggests
the propriety ot his furnishing vou with certain papers in suppors of
his claim against the British government in the cise of the bark
“Mary Varnoy,” I now transmit to you a copy of his reply of
yesterday, through his rolicitors, Messrs, Benedict, Burr & Benedicet,
of New York, with the documents which acconipanied it,
I am, sir, respectiully, your obedient servant,
LEWIS CASS.

Grorar M, Dannas, 13sq., die., de., de.

SEVENTY-FouR WaLn Strerr New Yonr,
September 9, 1858,

S We are the solicitors for Mr, John A, Machado, having charge
of his cluim for indemnity against the British government for the
sciznre o the bark Mary Varney, and as such, in pursuance of the
snggestions contnined in an “lxtract from a despateh of Mr, Dallas
to General Cass, dated London, April 9, 1858, and nambered 97,
transmitted to Mr, Johu A, Machado with your letter ol the 27th April
lust, we herewith enclose the papers referred to by Me., Dallay, via

1. The original charter-party of the bark Mary Varney, for the
voyage in question, with receipt for the charter money indorsed
thereon,

2, Copy of the register of the Mary Varney at the time, daly au-
thenticated under the seal of the United States custom-house for the
district of New York,

3. Copy of the list of the erew for the voyage in question, duly au-
thenticated in same wanner, , ‘

4. Cupy of the colicctor’s certificate of authentication of the crew
list given at the time of clearance, duly authenticated in same
munuer, o -

6. Copy of the collector's cortificate of protection to the crew as
Amerfcan citizens, duly authenticated in like manner,
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. Copy of the manifest with the master’s oath on clearing, duly
authenticated in like manner, ;

7. Certificute of clearance under the seal of the United States custom-
house for the district of New York,

8. Copy of the shipping articles for the voyage in (uestion, duly
aluthehtic‘alod under the officiul seal of the public notary who shipped
the crew,

We transmit them to you to be forwarded to Mr. Dallas as a part
of the pupers on which the claim of Mr. Machado may be urged upon
the British government, B

We are, respectfully, your obedient servants, o
BENEDICT, BURR & BENEDICT.
Hon, Lrwrs Cass,
Secretary of State.

[The papers referred to were forwarded to T.ondon.]

Mr. Appleton to Mr. Hillyer,

DErARTMENT oF STATH,
Washington, September 11, 1858,
Sir ¢ I transmit herewith for your information copy of despateh No.
30, together with the enclosures accompanying it, received from tho
United States vice-consul generfal at Havava, relating to American
vessels alleged to be concerned in the slave trade, and more especially
the ¢ Nancy,”” the ¢ Lyra,”” and the ¢“C Perking.”’
[ will thank you to return the papers alter having made such uso of
them as you may think expedient,
I am, sir, your obedient servant,
JOHUN APPLETON,
Assistant Secretary.
J, Inuyer, Esq.,
Solicitor of the Treasury.

My, Savage to Mr. Ayplelon,

No. 32.] ConsuLATE GENERAL o i1t UNITED STATES,
) Havana, September 14, 1858,

Sin: T have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your dexpatch
of the 18th altimo, with its c¢nclosure, and to express my acknowl-
edgment of the gratification its contents afforded me, for it conveyed
to me the intelligence that the course I decmed my duty to pursue,
in the aflair of the brig “Nancy,’’ as well as in other matters of the
same nature, had obtained the approbation of the department.

1 regret that T have it not in my power to report progress in the
brig Nancy’s case, nor in that of the U. Perkins, The master of the
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first-named vessel having prescuted to the real audiencia (superior
court of judicature) a petition for the return to him of said brig,
the court decided, a few days since, that the petition could be granted
only upon satistactory bonds being entered into by the captain for the
surrender of the vessel, when demanded by the court, in the event of
her condemnation. I understand that the captain intends to ask of
the court for a modification of their judgment, 1 strongly doubt,
from conversations held by me with and reasons alleged by officers
connected with the audiencia, that Captain Williams’s wishes will be
acceded to. - In fact, this vessel's connexion with Lon Ramon Guere-
diaga, agninst whom proceedings are carried on at the same time, be-
fore the same tribunal, for having fitted out the bark Lyra, to be also
~engaged in the slave trade, renders it very doubtful that she will not
be condemned; or that at any rate, if' acquitted, this result will be
attained without delay, ;

I find that I have, unintentionally, omitted to send before a copy of
the law upon which the Spanish authorities based their action against
the parties accused of outfitting the Nancy, Perkins, and Lyra for the
slave trade, I now enclose a copy of the penal law of 1845 for the
suppression of the slave trade (with translation thereof.) T'his enclo-
sure, also, containg a few points of the Spanish criminal code, which
you will have perceived, in my first despatch bearing upon the
““Nancy’s’’ case, I did not neglect to ask in behalf of the officers and
crew of that vessel when they were placed in prison,

In my despatch No, 80 I promised to send you copies of the two
sets of evidence obtained from the crew of the ¢ Nancy.” I accom-
pany them herewith, A ‘

I think that all comment, on my part, upon this evidenco would be
supererogatory. In respect to the aring declared, by the witness,
Michel Vidal, cook of the ¢“ Nanoy,”’ to have been concealed in the
captain’s cubin—this part of the vessel, ag well as her hatches, being
- sealed with the seals of the andichein and eustom-house, besides that
of this consulate—I have not had the opportunity to ascertain if the
cook's nssertion may be corroborated or not,

1 likowise heg to enll your attention to the enclosed original docu-
ment, (o copy whercof was sent you with my despateh No, 30,) which
was also made a subject of investigation 'wKe‘n the brig ¢ Nancy's”’
orew were publicly examined, I beliove the evidence of the crew, &,
&e., will clenrly indicate the source from which this documontsprung;
the handwriting of the letter to Captoin Willinms is unknown to me;
the note at toot, signed by Michel Vidall, was written, and so admitted,
by Don Antonio Cabarga, whose handwriting appears on tho charter-
parties of the Cortez, Lydia (/ibbs, and Nancy, The certificate attached,
and bearing tho signatures of A, Cabargn and his clerk, N, Orfila,
was written by Captain Willinms himself.

In my despatch No, 30 I stated that I was watching other vessels,
wearing American colors, in this port, against which very strong sus-
picions were entertained, I had reference, principally, to the brig
¢ Crimea’’ and schooner ¢ Bnterprise,”’ of Brunswick, Georgia; the
first named is incladed in the list aceompanying that despatch, and
although appearing as the property o’ Charles flauch (the commander
of the © Windward ™ at the time this vessel was captured on the coast
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of Africa, with upwards of six hundred negroes on board,) she is be-
lieved to belong to Don Francisco Labandeira, a Spanish subject, well
known here as a sharcholder in several expeditions for African slave
trading, - ;

The Enterprise is now under the command of John W, Disney, the
same man who went from this port as commander of the schooner
¢ Niagara,”' with a sea letter to proceed to a port of the United
States—instead of which he took her to Africa, The ¢ Niagara® is
also mentioned in the list referred to, Antonio Martinez, one of the
witnesses sent by me to New York, in the affair of the ¢ C. Perking,’”’
told me liere that he was one of the ‘¢ Niagara’s’’ crew on that voy-
age; and that, after leaving her, he shipped upon the ¢ ¢, Perkins’’
at Longo Bongo. I presume Martinez is in New York, and his evi-
dence ‘upon thig point may be obtained, I am informed that the
schooner ¢ Iiuterprise”’ has heen sold here, under a private instru-
ment, fo Gregorio T¢jedor, a Portuguese, and notorious slave dealer,
on the following terms, viz: five hundred dollars in cash, two notes
of three hundred and fifty dollars each, payable at three and six
months, and two thousand dollars’ worth of scrip in some mining
company in the United States, said to be worth little or nothing, The
schooner is small, and requiring great repairs; the purchaser is put-
ting them on. 1 have learned, also, that the charter-party was made
between Mr, Dangud, the husband and attorney of her former owner,
and a Mr, A, Pelletier, (who is connccted with G. T'ejedor,) for six
months, at three hundred dollars per month, te trade with Savannah;
this charter-party being intended as'a cover or blind, This informa-
tion first reached me from an ontsider, and was subsequently confirmed
by the very person through whose instrumentality the sale was effected,
and whose handwriting, ns he assured me, is on the documents drawn
up.

lI suppose there is not sufliciont evidonce to justify me in seizing the
Enterprise and gending her to the United States j but [ will, unless
instructed to the contrary by the department, refuse to allow her to
proceed to sea under American colors,

Tidings have reached this office in respect to two of the vessels men-
tioned in the list above stated—I mean the brigs St. Andrew and
Mery Idlizabeth, 1 have understood that the St, Andrew (and this I
consider reliable) was captured with a cargo of slaves by a British
cruiser, and taken into St, Helenw 5 her master and erew arrived here
about a fortnight ago from that island in a Dutch ship that hronght
coolies, ; N

Of tho “*Mary Elizabeth,”” it is rumored here that she has been
captured on the coast of Africa; but another rumor has also been
brought to me that u cargo was lnnded last week in the neighborhiood
of Sugua, said to have been brought by the ¢ Mary Lilizabeth,”
Should any relinble accounts bo obtained by me relative to this case
I will communicate them to you, o

I have the honor to be, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

TIHOMAS SAVAGLE,
Fice-Consul General.

Hon. Joun Arrriron, ,

Assistant Secretary of Stale oy the Uniled States, Vashinglon,
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CoNcULATE GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES, ISLAND oF Cuna,

Proceedings had in the investigation upon certain charges alleged
agninst John Willinms, master, Luis Teozo, 2d mate, and acting chief
mate, and Joseph Ferrer, (or Iferrem or [Permin,) scaman ol the brig
Nancy, of New Orleans, of heing concerned and implicated in fitting
out the said brig Nancy at the port of Havana, to proceed to the coast
of Africa to engnge in the slave trade. Said investigation being com-
menced by me, Thomas Savage, vice-consul general of the United
Stutes of America for the Island of Cuba, residing at Havana, on
this 27th day of August, A, D, 1858, in the presence of said John
Williams and Linis Teozo’y the said Joseph not being present, because
his whereabouts had not been discovered,

NrciionAs Turopore, being first sworn to tell the truth, the whole
truth, and nothing but the trath, was examined as follows :

1. My name is Nicholas Theodore.

2. T am one of the erew of the brig' Nanoy.

8. 1 know the persons now present. I know one for the captain,
and the other for the second mate of the brig,

4, I engaged for the brig in New Orleans, the last minute she left.

5. I understood that tho vessel was going to Iavana, and from
Havana back to the States, ; ,

. Neither during our passage nor after our arrival at the Iavana
did I learn anything to the contrary, ; ,

7. I had one hunired and thirty dollars, which T gave to the mate
three or four duys after we left New Orleans; I got thirty dollars
back o few days ago, I asked the mate for my money several times,
I was answered that T could not get my money, beeause he was afraid
that I would ran away., 1 told him I had not come here to run away ;
that I had come here to return to the States,

R, 1 did not learn that the vessel had changed her destination in
this port 3 I learned, three days after I had been taken to prison,
when I was in the hospital, that the vessel was goiug to Africa.

Captain Willinms and Mr, Luis Teozo having atated that they had
no question to propound to this witness, ho sizned his name, ,

NICHOLAS THEODORI,

Joun CoLrins, being first sworn to tell the truth, the whole truth,
and nothing but the truth, and being next examined, deposed and
said:

The examination of this witness has been made through Mr, ITenry
Paul Cairve, who was first «worn true and faithful translations to make
of all questions propounded to the witness in the Koglish langunge
into the 'rench langnage, and ot all answers and statements given
and made in the I'rench language by the said witness into the Iinglish
language.

I. My name is John Collins,

2. 1 am a vaturalized Awmerican citizen, and now produce my cer-
titicato of naturalization,
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3. T am a ship-carpenter,

4, I do not belong to any vessel in this port at present,

b. I came here in the brig Nancy,

6. I was carpenter on said vessel,

7. I shipped in New Orleans. ,

8. T understood that the vessel was going to Havana, and from there
to New Orleans, _ 4

9. I had noinformation, either in New Orleans, during the voyage,
or in Havana, that the vessel was going to the coast of Africa,

10. I did not know on the day I was taken to prison that the vessel
was going to the coast of Africa,

11. I did not sign my name to the shipping articles, not knowing
how to sign. The shipping master signed the same, and I made my
Cross, '

12. The shipping master told me that we were going to Havana,
and from there were to return to New Orlecans. -

13. I was working aloft when the custom-house officers came on
board ;1 saw them, and also saw them scal the hatches,

14, A few days before the custom-house officers came on board, one
night I asked ono of the stevedore’s gang what was this cargo they
were taking on hoard; he answered me, Go to hell—this is none of
your business, This man was one of the gang.

16. I was working all the time alott, and could not sce what was
brought into the hold,

16. There were three officers on board—that is, captain, mate, and
second mate,

17. 1 saw no other officer on board on the voyage from New Orleans
to Havana, . , . ; _

18, There was a man called Pepe, a Spaniard, who came from New
Orleans before the mast, He worked as asailor, but he belonged aft;
said Pepe lived altogethor aft ; said Pepe was treated as a sailor on the
voyage from New Orleans to Havana; said man slept aft, (in the
cabin ;) snid man acted like a sailor during the voyage from Now
Orleans here, , ) ,

19. Said Pepo became second mate when in Havana,

20, When the vessel first began to load, the mate having left her,
said man Pepe came on hoard and was made second mate,

21. When the vessol arrived from New Orlcans said Pepe did re-
main on board. ,

22, When we arrived from New Orleans, I saw Pepe come ashore
dressed like a gentleman,

23. Pepe was not on board during the operation of unloading the
cargo brought from New Orleans, i :

24. I nover asked Pepo, after he was made an officer, where the
vessel was bound to; he was too proud. Nor did Pepe tell me, of his
- own accord, where the vessel was bound to. ,

26. I have not met Pepo ashore since I came out of the jail,

26, I never had any conversations nor any disputes with Pepe on
our voyage from New Orleans here,

27, Since I left the jail I have had no conversations either with the

H. Ex. Doo, {—14
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captain or the mate, Mr, Teozo. When I meet them I only bow to
them, that is all. ,

- 28, A gentleman with blue spectacles signed for me. I had author-
ized him to write my name, ;

29. The gentleman with blue spectacles asked me to sign this letter,

30. I thought that the letter was for the consul,

31. I understood very little of the letter. The portion which I
understood was referring to our going to the consul’s office, and there
being refused the door by him, and having to leave his office.

32, It was up stairs that this letter was signed—in the store of the
gentleman who signed my name to the letter, on the Plaza de Armas.
The persons then present in the room were the captain, the gentleman
who signed my name to the letter, and a gentleman who was sitting
at a desk writing, -

33. I recognize the gentleman who signed my namo to the letter ;
he is now standing before me ; it is the same gentleman who read me
the letter in Tinglish, ,

34, The letter was already written, The mate told me, in Italian,
what the letter contained, All I understood of the letter was the
portion referring to our going to the consul’s office, and being refused
the door of the consulate.

36, Lverybody on board called Pepe second mate, and recognized
him as such, I did see and hear this man Pepe give orders on board
as second mate, ~

his
JOHN x COLLINS,

mark,

Mronzen VipArL, being first sworn to tell the truth, the whole truth,
and nothing but the truth, did depose and say, as follows:

1. My name is Michel Vidall,

2. T am a Maltese,

3. T am a cook, ,

4, I belong to the ¢ Nanoy.,”

b. I shipped in New Orleans,

6. 1 was shipped by the shipping master,

7. At the time of shipping I knew that the vessel was going to
Havana, but was ignorant as to where the vessel was going from
Havana, , . \ o

8, When in New Orleans I heard that one sailor refused to come in
the vessel, stating that he was scared, as there were plenty of’ men-of
war, . « '

9, On our passage from New Orleans to Havana I had conversa-
tions with the steward. The steward was a Spaniard, and his name
was Antonio, These conversations had reference to the brig ¢“Naney.”’
The steward told me that the vessel was going to the const of Africa;
he said, further, that between him and me we could invest some money
and make some business, I said I had no money; where should I
find the money? He answered, Never mind, by und by we will make
another bargain in Havana,

10, There were two officers on the vessel besides the captain,

11, The persons living in the cabin were the captain, the two mates,
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the steward, the carpenter, myself, and another man, This other
man was a sailor on the vessel, and his name was Pepe, To the best
of my knowledge and belief, said man was a Spaniard,

12. I saw the captain, the second mate, and Pepe, hold consulta-
tions together sometimes, To the best of my belicf and knowledge,
these conversations were into the rigging of the vessel, ‘

13. Said Pepe took his meals in the cabin; he took them with the
steward, the carpenter, and myself, _

14, Said Pepe never spoke to me about the object of the brig
¢ Nancy’s’’ voyage, and I do not know that he spoke to anybody else
on board. ,

15. I never saw Pepe talk with the consignee of the vessel here. I
do not know the consignee of the brig, nor could I know him if I saw him,

16, There were plenty of people who came on board to look at the
cargo, such as stevedores, &c., &o, There was a person who came on
board, looked about, and left, without speaking to anybody, I saw
several persons come on board, one of whomn was about thirty-five or
forty yearsold; I cannot tell his age exactly, Thesteward pointed him
to me, and said: This is the man who is to be captain in this trip
from Havana to Africa. Said gentleman looked like a Spaniard ; he
was on board the vessel four or five times._ I have also seen him
ashore a number of times, I have seen the person alluded to at the
store of & gentleman who was heroe a little while ago, with blue spec-
tacles, ; ot

17. I saw some men working on board the vessel in port that looked
like sailors, These men were Spaniards; there were six of them,
I spoke with ono of them, and he told me the vessel was going to the
coast of Africa. This man had been working in the hold, The
steward told me, Now we arve going to have good meals, becanse this
captain is fond of good living, (pointing to the person above alluded to.)

[There is no 18 in the original.] /

19, The steward told me that the vessel had gone to the coast of
Africa before, and that the crew had been well paid, one thousand
dollars to each man,

20, The steward did nof give me to understand that the gentleman
above alluded to was on board of the vessel during said trip,

21, I remember when the custom-house officers came on board of
the vessel and took a list of' the cargo.,

22. Three persons came on board of the vessel after the officers
went away. - I have heard the name of one of them as being Don
Ferlando, T-could recognize said men if I was to see them again,
Said Don Ferlando had a conversation with a person on board, and
said person was the custom-house officer, This conversation lasted
about three-quarters of an hour, ~ Whilst this conversation was going
on between gaid Don Ferlando and the custom-house officer, the other
two gentlemen went down into the hold, At that time the officers of
the vessel on board were the second mate, Mr, Teozo, and the Spaniard
Pepe ; the captain was not on board,

23. The two gentlemen in the hold had a box broken. I do not
know whether they broke it themseclves, or had it broken by other
persons ; an empty box was brought on deck,

)



212 AFRICAN SLAVE TRADE.

24, Before this, T heard these gentlemen direct-Pepe to look for a
box; I heard them say number one, ;

25. I saw the contents of the broken box on the deck; the contents
were muskets, pistols, knives, handeuffs, and something else that
looked like cords, The muskets, the pistols, and the knives were
taken into the captain’s room, I saw them taken into the cabin,
The handcufls were thrown overboard. There was about a dozen of
- muskets, the pistols were wrapped up in paper. I cannot say how
many pistols there were. I do not know the number of handeufly
there were ; thoere were a great many,

26, Pepe remained in the hold and brought up on deck a keg of
powder.

27. Pepe broke the keg and threw the powder overboard.

28. Whilst this was going on, the mate, Mr, Teozo, was on deck.

29. After having thrown the powder overboard, Pepe remained on
deck.

30. Whilst these operations were going on, the persons on deck
were George, John, myself, aud Nicholas; the carpenter also was on
deck,

31, When the powder was thrown overboard, there was nobody on
the side of” the deck where 1 was, but My, Teozo, the second mate,

32. I saw tho powder and the handcuffs thrown overboard,

83. Whilst all these operations were going on, the steward was
part of the time at the door of the cabin and part of the time inside,

34. One day, whilst the vessel was being loaded, tho captain called
me into the cabin, The captain asked me, How much do you want in
advance? I answered, What advance do you want to give me? Ho
gaid, 1 will give just the same as to the other men, I asked him,
Where is the vessel going?  He answered, She goes where she goes,
You will have forty dollars advance. __—

36, The captain called all his men into the cabin,

86, None of them told me what had passed between the captain
and themselves,

37, I had conversations with the steward and others of the crew in
relation to advances given to Spaninrds ghipped on board. The
steward told me that the Spanish crew had received four ounces in
advance, ‘

38, I have not received the advance that was offered ine,

39. The chief mate, who cume on board from New Orleans, left the
vessel after she was discharged and before she began again to load,
After the chief mate went away, I do not know if there wus any one
appoiuted first mate; there was a person appointed second mate; this
person was Pepe  When the vessel began to load, Mr, Luis Teozo
made Pepe known to the crew as the second mate, and stated that ho
liimself was first mate, , L

40. When the vessel arrived from New Orleans, said Pope did not
remain on bonrd attending to his duties; he went ashore dressed like
a gentlernan, He went ashore openly., Said Pepe came on board
three or four times whilst the cargo was being brought on board of
her on this side of the harbor, and he came again about the time the
casks of water were put on board. Said casks of water were put on -
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board at the place where the vessel was lying on the day we were
taken to prison, : -

41, Notwithstanding all these things, I cannot state positively what
was the object of the vessel’s intended voyage,

42, When I was examined by the Spanish officers, I did not state
all these things to them, becauso T was scared.

43. I never was instructed nor advised by any one what I was to
say to the Spanish officers,

44. I signed the letter the other night. I signed it at the store of
Mr. Cabarga the other night up stairs. The persons present when
I signed the lettor were the gentloman with the blue spectacles, that [
suppose is Mr, Cabarga, and another person that appeared to be a clerk,
The captain had beon there before, but he was not present when [
signed the letter. ,

45, The captain sent tho carpenter for me. It was about halfpast
seven or cight, a little before the music began on the square, I wont
to the store of Mr, Cabarga, in the Plaza de Avmas, There I met the
captain down stairs, who called the gentleman with blue spectacles;
then tho gentleman with bluo spectacles told me, Go wp stairs, they
have sent « letter, I want to show it to you, ttis for the disembarkation
and the payment of your wages, T'hen L went up stairs, when the gen-
tleman with the blue spectacles asked me if I understood well the
Iinglish language: I answered, I.do not; then he read me the letter
in Spanish, I protested against the beginning of the same, and ob-
jected that the consul had not told me such things; then he went on
reading. I stopped him again and said, This the consul did not tell
mo., Then said gentleman wrote at the pottom of the letter a few
words stating my objections, and what I intended to say. These fow
words written by the gentleman with the blue spectacles were in tho
Iinglish language; he read them to me in the Spanish language, and I
signed my name, believing he had told me the contents; whether he
stated them correctly or not, I do not know, for I cannot read English,

Cross examinalion by Caplain Williams,

When I called you into the cabin, did I not ask you how much
advance you wanted? , ,

Answer, The more you give moe the better for me, ;

Did you not state to the mate that you had no clothes, and that
you wanted forty dollars ? |

Answer, No, siry I never had any conversation with the mate in
relation to clothing or wages; my conversation was with the captain,

I did tell the captain that I had no clothes.

Questions by the mate, Mr, Luis Trozo :

How many custom-house officers or revenue guardsg were left on
board of the vessel on the day that sho was visited by the custom-
houso officers ? ; ;

Answer, I do not know how many were on the top of the house.
There were plonty of the custom-house boatmen who went into the
galley to got fire, There was only ono day, the Sunday when we
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were taken to prison, that there was a watch on deck, excepting the
carabinero, or revenue guard; and I saw only one—there was one
custom-house guard that was steady on board of the vessel.

To a question of the CoNsuL witness answers :

The conversation mentioned by me as having taken place between
one of the three gentlemen and the carabinero, or revenue guard,
occurred in the captain’s room. - I saw them there, conversing.

MICHEL VIDALL.
Avcust %8, 1858.

Micner. Viparn recalled, by request of Captain Williams, being
first sworn to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
truth, and being cross-questioned by Captain Williams and Mr. Luis
Teozo, doth depose and say, as follows:

1. Question. Have you been in the office of the consulate of the
United States yesterday, after your examination ?

Answer. I was. ;

2. Did you receive any money from the American consul ?

Answer, Yes, sir,

3. Do you know with what I am charged by the American consul ?

Answer., No, sir,

4. What do you know, of your own knowledge, of my going to the
coast of Africa after slaves?

Answer, I know nothing about it, of my own knowledge.

6. Were you told by any person or persons yesterday that if you
would get another to swear, both the captain and mate would be put
in prison?

Answer, I was told by one person yesterday that we all would be
put in jail, and answered that I would try to put them in jail, for 1
would tell the truth. ‘

6. Do you know the person that told you this?

Answer, Yes, sir; that is Nicholas Theodore.

7. Did you tell any person or persons that you would receive two
hundred dollars from the American consul and one hundred dollars
from me, as wages to go to Matanzas and buy fruits, as regards the
giving testimony to the American consul ?

Answer, No, sir.

8. Where were you at the time you saw those guns and pistols taken
into the cabin?

Answer, 1 was standing on the deck, close to the hatch,

9, Did you sce them stored away in my room ?

Answer, 1 did not see them stored away, but 1 saw them taken into
your cabin,

10. On what day was that?

Answer. The day before the hatches were sealed.

1 1? How many carabineros or officers were there on board at the
time

Answer, Only one, and the custom-house boat was close to the
vessl,
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12. Have you had any conversations, when in the jail, with the
crew of the brig Nancy in relation to this vessel ?

Answer, Yes, sir,

13, Did you say to any one of the men that if you did not get two
hundred dollars from the owner, and two hundred dollars from the
captain, you would fix them?

Answer. No, sir, - ,

14. Did you have any conversation with any one of the crew in the
boarding-house in relation to the affair of the brig Nancy ?

Answer, No, sir, The conversation was about the timc we were
going to be detained hero, until the question was finished.

15, Did you not say that the captain had received three thousand
dollars ? ,

Answer, One of the crew came to me and asked me for ten cents,
and [ told him, Why don’t you go to the captain and ask him for
your money ? The captain has got three thousand dollars.

16. Did you not say afterwards that you would fix him ?

Answer. No, sir,

Question by the CoNsur:

I received forty cents from the American consul, I received them
yesterday, I received them to go to the other side of the bay. 1 went
to the other side to tell the steward that the consul wanted him this
morning at ten o’clock, '

MICHEL VIDALL.

Nrcroras Trnronore being recalled, and sworn to tell the truth, the
whole truth, and nothing but the truth, did depose and say, as follows :

I signed a letter a few nights ago. I do not know to whom this
letter was dirceted. I signed this letter at a house—a sort of ship-
chandlery, opposite the square. I signed this letter in the room up
stairs.  T'he persons present when I signed this letter were the cap-
tain, the mate, a gentleman with blue spectacles, and two or three of
the crew. I cannotread English, This letter was read to me by the
man with the glasses, I could know that man if' I saw him again, 1
saw him heve yesterday, I do not know his name. I have heard
that he is the owner of the store, but I do not know it of my own
_knowledge, The contents of the letter, so far as I understood it, was
that we were all called up to ask for our discharge I had several
times spoken to the mate about our detention here, and he said he
would make it all right, This is all the letter contained, I signed
my first name myself, and also my second name halfway, and the
balance of my second name was written by the man with blue spec-
tacles, T was called up to sign this letter by the mate, and I signed it.

Chross-questions propounded by Mr. Teozo,
1. When you were in jail did you have any conversations with the

cook ?
Answer, Yes, sir,
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2. Did not the cook ask you if you wanted to make some money
this voyage?

Answer, Yes, sir, o

8. What way did he tell you he wanted to make this money ?

Answer, He said he wanted three or four hundred dollars from the
owner and two hundred dollars from the captain; and if he did not
get this money he would fix the captain. '

4. Have you had any conversations with the cook when you were
in the boarding-house ?

Answer, Yes, sir.

6. What were these conversations about ? ,

Answer, They were about our discharge, and I told-him it was his
own fault. Then he answered, The captain has got three thousand
dollars from the owner, and I want to fix him because he did not give
me anything.

6. Were you always well treated on the Nancy whilst I was second
mate?

Answer, Yes, sir. v

7. Were you on deck the day the custom-house officers examined
the vessel and put a man on board ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

8. How many officers were put on board ?

Answer, Two or three men,

9. Do you know if they were regular custom-house officers, or from
men-of-war ?

Answer, One of them was a custom-house officer ; the other was a
man-of-war’g-man,

10. Were you on deck working all that day?

Aunswer, Somctimes I was on deck, about ; sometimes 1 was at rest,
lying down,

11, Were you in the hold on that day?

Answer, Ixcept at such time when the officers came and went down
the ladder,

12, Did you sce any box, any wocd come from the hold on the deck
that day?

Answer, No, sir.

13. Did you see anything go into the cabin that day that came out
from the hold?

Answer. No, sir.,

14. Have you been in this oflice before without the mate or the
captain being present?

Answer, Yes, sir,

16, About what?

Answer, The consul called me and asked me if I knew anything
about the box. I told him no; that I would tell the truth—that I
knew nothing about the box, .

16, Did not the consul call you again, with the cook present ?

Answer, It may be about the same day, and he examined my arms,

17. Tid not the consul ask you some questions when he examined
your arms? ,

Answoer, Ie asked mo some questions, and if I had not cut my arm,
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Questions by the Carrary:

1, How many times have you been in the consul’s office since I
brought you there for your protection and your examination of yes-
terday ? - , ,

Answer. About five times, I believe, ,

2. Who sent for you to go to the consul’s office ?

Answer, I went there twice by myself, and afterwards the consul
sent for me,

3. What did the consul call you for? v .

Answer, It was for something about that box; I do not know exactly,

4, Did you undergo an examination in the consul’s office with
closed doors ?

Answer. No, sir,

5. What was the conversation between you and the consul ? -

Answer. The consul asked me what I had scen on board the ship,
and I answered what I knew about it.

6. Did not the consul tell you that you were the man who broke
the box open? ;

Answer. The consul asked me if I recollected the day I had been
in the hold, and something concerning the box. The cook was stand-
ing by, and told me to tell the truth, -

7. Do you know if this gentleman now before you was present at
the timo you signed the letter? [The gentleman present is Mr,
Francis D. Newcomb.] .

Answer, I did not notice him,

8. Did not the consul tell you thet you were the man that broke
the box ? \

Answer., What the consul asked me was, whether I recollected the
day 1 went into the hold, if I did not see & box broken, aud some-
thing brought on deck; and I said that I did not know,

9, Did you come to this oflice of your own accord, or did the consul
send for you?

Answer, He sent for mo when I was discharged, I camo with all
the croew ; the mate was also present. I reeollect the consul asked
me if I wounld take my dischargo ; I answored, Yes, sir. [This last
question is by the consul _

10. What did the consul tell you before you left this office on the
day you were all taken to the consul’s office, about your discharge ?

Answer, The consul said that we would all be discharged and all
go away together,

11, Did not the consul tell you, Clear out of this office ?

Answer, No, sir,

Question by the Consur:
I have had no conversation with the captain or mate since Ileft this

office yesterday. NICHOT.AS
A : 4 .

Vicexcio ToreNo, being first sworn to tell the truth, the whole truth
and nothing but the truth, did depose and say:
1. My name is Vicencio Toreno,



218 AFRICAN SLAVE TRADE,

2. 1 was born an Austrian subject.

3. I am a sailor. I came here as an ordinary seaman on the brig
Nancy. , ;

4, I shipped on her in New Orleans.

5. When I shipped on board the Nancy in New Orleans I under-
stood the brig was coming to Havana,

6. I did not know positively where the brig was going to from
Havana, tliough I entertained the opinion that she was going either
to New York or New Orleans,

7. I did not learn on the voyage from New Orleans to Havana any-
thing of the destination of the vessel from Havana.

8. I did not learn anything since my arrival in Havana about the
destination of the brig from Havana,

9. 1 did not ask anybody here in port, on board of the vessel, where
the vessel was going to from here, K

10. I have had no conversations with the stevedores; I have had
no conversation with anybody.

11, As 1 was all the time kept at work aloft, I had no opportunity
of seeing what was going on in the hold. ,

12. The captain called me once into his cabin, and he asked me if
I wanted some money., I answered that [ wanted thirty dollars to
buy clothes. ,

13. On board the vessel there was a man called Pepe; I do not
know what country he belonged to. Said man was a sailor before the
mast ; he took his meals in the cabin, and slept sometimes in the
cabin, sometimes on deck, I do not know exactly where sometimes
he worked ; sometimes he did not work, I never saw this man
talk with the captain, ,

14, T believe it was Saturday the custom-house officers came on
board and examined the vessel 5 I am not certnin about this, Said
officers spent & considerable time down below in the hold, and n con-
siderable time on deck., Pepe, I believe, was down with the officers,
but I have not an exact recollection of this.

15, Sometimes Pepo directed me in my work, as I am not a com-
etent seamnan ; he sometimes worked with the other inen; I do not

now whether he dirceted them, as they were good sailors.

16, Since tho vessel arrived here in Havana, and began unloading,

Pepe went on shore, saying that he wasg unwell, and conld not work.

17. I do not remember when Pepe returned on hoard.

18, When Pepo returned on board he went to work just as before,
like a sailor before the mast ; I do not know whether he was an offi-
cer or not, or whether he was made an officer or not.

19. Sometimes at night Pepe went ashore,

20, The day the custom-house officers came on board and examined
the hatches, after they went away 1 do not know if any person came
on board,

1 211. I saw nothing taken out of the hold that day and placed upon
deck,

22, I do not know if the secaman Nicholas had any cut on his arm.
I signed a letter the other night ; I made my cross, and another per-
son signed my name ; the person who signed my name to the paper
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isnow present. The honse where I signed this paper is a grocery store,
situated opposite the Plaza de Armas; it was up stairs, I did not
read the paper myself, because I could not ; this paper was read to me
by the same person who signed my name to it. Said paper was a let-
ter; I believe it was directed to the captain ; I did not know much
what the letter contained ; I have forgotten what the purport of the
letter was, I believe T was called by the Greek, Nicolas; 1 do not
‘remember well, The persons present when I signed the letter were
the captain, the mate, the g‘endeman' now present with the blue spec-
tacles, and a gentleman whom I do not know.

Cross-questions by the Captain.

I signed the letter voluntarily ; I was not forced to it. The letter
wag read to me by the same gentleman who signed my name ; when
the letter was read to me I understood a portion of it; another por-
tion I did not understand. I did not know, of my own knowledge,
that the vessel was going to the coast of Africa for slaves, and no-
body told me about it.

his )
VICENCIO + TORENO.

mark.

Jonx Davis, being first sworn to tell the trath, the whole truth,
and nothing but the truth, did depose and say, as follows :

1, My name is John Davis,

2, I am an Austrian subject.

3. T am a sailor,

4, T came to Havana as one of the crew of the brig Nancy.

5. I shipped in New Orleans ; I was shipped by the shipping-
master, ; ;

6. When I shipped in New Orleans I understood that the vessel
was coming to Havana,

7. 1 understood she was going from Havana to another port in
America, ;

8. I did not learn, cither on the passage from New Orleans to Ha-
vana, or in Havana, where the vessel was going to,

9. I never asked the captain or mate about the destination of the
vessel, and they told me nothing about it,

10. I never was offered any advance in Havana, nor did I ask
for it, ; o

LL. T worked generally up aloft in the rigging, or on top of the gal-
lant top forecastle forward, whilst in the harbor,

12, There was o man on board called Pepe; he was n sailor, like
myself, on the passage from New Orleans to Havana ; he lived aft ;
lie took his meals with the cook, carpenter, and steward, in the cabin
he worked like every other sailor, and took his trick at the wheel as
well as any other seaman ; I do not know what country this Pepe be-
Jonged to,

13. 1 recollect when the custom-house officers came on board and
examined the eargo; I was working forward when they came,
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14. After these officers had left the vessel, upon my truth as a man,
I saw no person come on board, o

156, On the day the custom-house officers came on board and sealed
the hatches, I refused to work because I felt sick, »

16. I remember the fact of a sailor belonging to the custom-house
boat coming on deck on the day the custom-house officers first came
on board and examined the cargo ; I saw this man come into the gal-
ley and ask for some fire, I did not throw the cook any parcel of
linen. ;
© 17. T did not see the cook cover anything with cloth.

18, When the sailor was on the deck I did not sco anything elso
but wood and the materials of the vessel.

19. There were men on board eniployed working ; I do not know
whether they were stevedores or sailors, B

20. I signed a letter the other night., Another person signed my
name to it, and I made my crogs. This letter was directed to the
captain. 1 did not read said letter, becanse I cannot read. I signed
this letter in Mr, Cabarga’s store, up stairs, I bclieve it was Mr,
Cabarga himself that signed my name to the letter, 1Mr. Cabarga
read e this letter. Ile read it to me first in Knglish, and then in
Spanish,  Ihelieve T understood what the contents of the letter were,
1 understood the contents of the letter to be to have the difficulty of
the brig brought toa termination, or to give me my discharge, 1 do
‘not remember what the remainder of the letter was, The persons
present when I signed the letter were the captain, the mate, the per-
son that signed my name, and, I believe, & few others,  The mate,
Mr, Teozo, was the person that called me into the store to sign tho
letter.

Cross-cxamined by My, Teozo,

There were two or three officers on board. There was a man-of-
war's boat alongside ot the vessel, I signed tho letter voluntarily,
without being forced to do it, The mate told me that tho letter was
good for me, and to sign it.

hin
JOIIN x DAVIS,
muark,
Avaust 29, 1858, '

Axroxto MartiNez, being first sworn to tell the truth, the wholo
truth, and nothing but the truth, did depose and suy, as follows :

1. My name is Antonio Martinez,

2. I belong to Palma, in Mallaria.

3. L am a stoward or a cook,

4. 1 camo to Havana in the brig Nancy.

5. 1 was steward of the Nancy,

6. When T shipped in New Orleans, I was told that the vessel was
going to Havana, and going back from Ilavana to New Orleans,

7. L did not learn anything to the contrary on our voyage from
New Orleans to Havana.,
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8. During our voyage from New Orleans to Havana I had no con-
versations with the cook, All my conversations. with him were in
reference to the prepurations for dinner, or something respecting the
cahin service. , o

9, I had no conversations with the cook in reference to husiness
hefore leaving New Ovleans.  The eook asked meif I was a Spaniard,
I told him yes; and he then said that if T wanted, we conld by some
fruits here and sell them in New Orleans, I told him that T had no
money, and that upon our arrival in IHavana we would ascertain it we
could do it or not,

10. I recollect having had no other conversation with the cook in
relation to the Nancy, ; ;

11, There was on bhoard a man called Pepe, I thought he was a
Spaniard, but I do not know it for certain,  This Pepe worked as a
railor on the voyage from New Orleans to Iavana, but he took his
meals in the cabin at the second table, with the cook, the carpenter,
and myselt.  Ihave not scen Pepe give any orders on board, he worked
as the balance of the crew. He slept in the cabin and Lad his dun-
nage in the forecastle.  When he was not working, he sometimes
spoke to the erew forward, and sometimes conversed with the eaptain
and the mate,  Tho captain and Pepe sometimes spoke and conversed
together alone. I never heurd what they said,

12, 1T did not notice whether any alterations were made in the
rigging or any other portion of the vessel, as I gave my exclusive
altention to my own business,

13, I could not make ont whether there was intimacy between the
captain and Pepe, beeause I could not understand what they conversed
at all, ‘

14, All the time tho vessel was discharging Pepe remained on
hoard, working with the rest of the erew. e did not absent himself
during the discharge of the vessel, Pepe used to come ashore at
night, after the work was over,

15. After the vessel begnn to lond T never asked the captain where
the vessel was going, nor did he tell me,  Nobody ever told me where
the vessel was going. I did not know where she way going, I knew
nothing, o

16. While the vessel was loading, there were several persons em-
ployed on board, who appeared to be laborers of this country,

17. A great many persons used to come on board the vessel in the
parlov.  Lanignorant it any one of them wag o Spanish captain,

18, T never made any remarks about any persons that had been on
board,

19, Whilst T wag in the jail T never had any counversations about
the vessel,  Whilst there, some persons who appeared to me to he
suilors and prisoners, amongst whom there were Spaniards, Portnguese,
Linglish, and of all nations, agked mo the vessel to which I belonged,
Isaid I belonged to an Ameriean vessel, and that we had eome trom
the north,  1'did not tell them the name of the brig, nor did T give
them the description of her.  No ono of them made any remarks rela-
tive to the brig Nancy in my presence.

20, 1 remember the circumstance of the officers of the custom-house
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coming on board and examining the vessel, The officers of the custom-
house left two carabineros in the cabin, two boats at both ends of the
vessel, and subsequently they placed a sailor on each side of the vessel.
After the officers went ashore, I'.saw no person come on board. In
the morning I went to the market in Havana, and returned on board
by the way of Regla. Previous to getting to the wharf at Regla I
saw nobody there that I knew., When I got to the wharf I hailed
the boat to fetch me on board. When I was getting to the wharf I
saw Pepe there, When I reached the wharf the boat had already
started, but I hailed her, and Pepe and myself went on board together.
I do not remember if any persons came on board shortly after we got
on board, When we got on board that day the captain was ashore,
The mate, Mr, Teozo, was on board. The chief mate had left the
Nancy and gone off in a vessel, either Russian or Dutch, I am not
certain.

21, I am not sure if any gentleman came on boad the vessel after
the first visit of the custom-house ofticers. ,

22, I do not recollect having seen any arms brought into the cabin,
I am quite certain that I have not seen any arms brought into the
cabin,

23. I received no advance here, and did not learn that any other of
the crew had received any.

24, I am ignorant if' any more men were shipped or to be shipped
here ; 1 never learned that the Spaniards employed on board ha(i re-
ceived any advance,

25. I was here in Havana yesterday morning to get medicine for
the fever I was suffering from ; the fever came on and I went back
home, Yesterday I was on the Plaza de Armas, and whilst there I
met Mr, Teozo at the door of a store, and we went together to get a
glass of refresco in the coffee-housd at the corner, I did not go any
distance inside of the store, |

26, During my permancncy on board of the vessel here in the har-
bor [ did not know of any change in tho destination of tho vessel.
I was in doubt about it, and as the captain was on shore I did not ask
him,

27, This morning I passed and saw tho captain and mate in the
same store where 1 was yesterday, shook hands with the mate and
captain, and the mate and myselt” went into a coffee-house and took a
cooling drink ; from thence we came here to the office, 1 have had no
conversation either with the captain or the mate ; I have not been paid
my wages yet; I am entirely destitute of means,

Cross-examination by Mr, Teszo,

There i3 a particion in the cabin j the back room is occupied by the
captain, and when he was on shore 1 had the key of his room’; my-
self and the mate were tho only persons that had tfle privilege to enter
the captain’s room, The captain had told me to let the mate go in
when he wanted to  I'he first day the custom-house officers came on
board the captain’s room was locked, and I had the key. A person
standing at the galley door necar the hatch, it is quite difficult that
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such a person can see from there into the cabin, the mainmast and
the boodie hatch being in the way, Since the chief mate ran away
I knew nobody except Mr., Teozo giving orders on board. [ came
here, besides this time, once with the captain, mate and crew, and
another day I was here myrelf. That day the persons present were
the consul, the gentleman now acting as clerk, and the cook of the
Nancy. The cook came with me to the office; I came here having
been sent for by the consul. The consul made me a series of ques-
tions, as that day I was quite unwell ; I do not remember what passed;
the clerk told me, after the consul had put his questions, that I had not
sworn to the truth,

When the custom-house authorities first came on board there were
left on the vessel two custom-house guards, one boat at the stern and
one alongside of the vessel, and then one sailor on each gangway of
the vessel, When I came to the office of the consul with the mate
this morning, I saw the clerk now writing conversing with the cook
outside of the office. The mate then said: The consul is not here}
let us go away ; we will return, There was no fixed hour when I used
te come to market for the vessel; sometimes I would come at four,
sometimes at five, or thereabouts, 'There was one custom-house officer
on board when I returned from the market on the morning after the
custom-house officers had been on board, When I returned from the
market there was a government boat at the stern of tho Nancy.

Questions by the CoNsvuL:

I say that on the day I was in the office, and consul put a series of
questions to me, his clerk, now present, told me that I had not sworn
to the truth, I answered him that I had said everything I knew, and
knew nothing more; I had a fever on me, and I did not know much of
what I was doing; the door of the room was closed, and I made somo
remarks in regard to my having told the truth, being in fear when
the consul went out of the room, and shortly after came into the room
again, nccompanied by a sergeant, When the consul was putting a
sories of questions to me there was no sergeant present; I believe I
did make a mark to a paper on that day ; when 1 made my mark the
sergeant was not present ; I answered voluntarily to the questions pro-
pounded to me by the consul on that day ; the consul did not usc any
threats unto me on that day.

Questions by the CarTAIN

The consul had sworn me previous to propounding his questions ;
the doors of the room were shut on the day I gave my testimony ; 1
do not remember who shut the door. Atter I left the office in the
Plaza de Armasg, the cook and the carpenter were together, and the
cook told me then and there that the consul had had him shut up in
his office, and made him sing out what he knew and what he did not
know; and that the consul had threatened him that if he did not tell
the truth he would have him put for two years in prison, The
sccond time I came here this morning the clerk was walking outside
of the office; I did not know whether the oflice was shut or open ; it
was outside of the office that the clerk was walking with the cook.
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Questions by the ConsurL:

I was on this side of the town yesterday afternoon, and remained
until about prayer hour, I did not see the captain or mate or any
one of the Nanoy.

his L
ANTONIO 4+ MARTINEZ,

mark.

Havana, August 31, 1858,
Captain John Williams, of the brig Nancy, having this day signi-
fied to me his desire that I shoulc. examine upon oath two witnesses
to be produced by him, viz: Don Antonio Cabarga and Don Nicholas
Orfila, both residents of Havana ; and having so produced said wit-
nesses, I now proceed to take their examination :

Don ANTtonio OABARGA, being first sworn to tell the truth, the whole
truth, and nothing but the truth, doth depose and say, as follows:
Being questioned by the CarTain, he answered :

1, T recognize a document which was signed in my presence by the
crew of the brig Nancy. v

2. I read the document to the crew first in English and then trans-
lated it to them in Spanish, and finally requested the mate to read it
to them in Italian, which he did, and they said that the contents
corresponded with their feclings.

Questions by the Consur:

1. T do not know where the first part of this letter was written, nor
do I know who wrote it. ,

2, I found this letter on the desk up stairs in my office, Captain
Willinms came down stairs in my store and requested mo to read,
translate the letter to the crew, and witness their signatures thereon,

3. All this, viz: the rcading and translating of this lotter, took
place in my store up stairs,

4. All those who signed this Jetter were, with the exception of the
cook, present at tho time tho letter was read and signed,

6. The captain and tho crew asked me to read them the contents of
the letter and explain it to them, which I did ; and having asked thom
if they understood it, they said yes,

6. Mr, Orfila, my clerk, wag in the room when T got there with the
captain, o

7. Tho note at the foot of the letter, over the signature of the cook,
is in my own handwriting ; it was written by request of the cook,

8, 1 do not know in whose handwriting is the cortificate attached to
the letter,  T'he certificate was produced at the same time as the letter,
This signature, A. Cabarga, appearing on the certificate, is my own,
The other signature is that of my clerk, and was put thore by himself,

A, CABARGA.
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NiCOIas‘\Orﬁla', being first sworn to tell the truth, the whole truth,
and nothing but the truth, did depose and say as follows:

1. I saw the men sign the document and put their marks to it, ..

2. I heard Mr, Cabarga read them this letter, first in English and
then in Spanish,

3. I heard them say that they were satisfied with the translation of
the letter.

Questions by the CoNsuL:

1. I did not see this document before the sailors came in the office
to sign it, \

2. I read the document first myself, and then the sailors came in
and signed it. ;

8. I do not know the handwriting on the letter signed by the sailors,

4, The letter was placed in my hands by Captain Williams, who
requested me to read it to the sailors, ,

b. When the sailors came into the office I did not see the letter in
the hands of either one of them,

6. I am certain that Mr, Cabarga gave to the crew a true and faith-
ful translation of the letter, Both Spanish and English were used in
reading and translating the letter to the crew—no other language was
used.,

7. The note above the signature of *the cook is in the handwriting
of Don Antonio Cabarga. The note was there written by request of
the cook, , o }

8. I do not know the handwriting of the certificate attached to the
letter, but do recognize the signatures thereunto affixed as being my
own, and that of Don A, Cabarga. :

' N. ORFILA.

CoNsuLATE GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, IsLAND or CuBa.

On the day of tho date hercof, before me, Thomas Savage, vice-
consul general of the United States of America for the island of Cuba,
residing at Havana, personally came and appeard John Davis, sailor
of the brig Nancy, now in this port, who, being sworn by me to tell
the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, did declare and
deposo as follows: I am a sailor beforo the mast; I shipped in Noew
Orleans ; I understood at tho time of shipping that the vessel was
going to IHavana and returning from Havana to some port of the
United States ; I heard nothing to the contrary on the passage from
Now Orleans to Havana; I never heard, since arrival in Havana, of
any change in the destination of the ship ; I nover asked the captain
or officers tho destination of the vessel, and they told me nothing about
ity I nover was called in the cabin by the captain and offered advance,
and I do not know that any was ever offered to others of the crew ; I
never formed any opinion about the destination of tho vessel. When
the officers of the custom-house came on board to search and examine

H. Ex, Doc, T—15
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the vessel, I was working aloft and saw the officers; there was on
board a Spaniard that acted as second mate ; I was all day long work-
ing sloft on the day the custom-house officers came on board and saw
nothing ; I did not go into the hold, nor did I see on the deck any
box or keg ; I saw nothing thrown overboard that day ; after the cus-
tom-house officers had gone ashore, some seven gentlemen came on
board ; I do not know whether they were Spauniards or not; I did not
see on deck any muskets, machetes, pistols, or handcuffs; there were
on board some Spaniards employed in the hold; I do not know whether
they were sailors, stevedores, or stevedores’ aids ; when the officers of
the custom-house came on board I was working aloft with my ship-
mates, and Pepe was forward attending to some work of the rigging ;
T do not know whether Pepe went into the hold or not, I did not see
him ; I can recollect nothing further pertaining to this matter, and I
make my ordinary mark,

his
JOHN + DAVIS.

mirk,

Witness to his mark —
I1. Paun CAIre,

In testimony whereof I hereunto set my hand and affix the seal of
[ 5] my office, at Havana, this 14th day of August, A. D 1858,
o THOS, SAVAGHE,

Consurate GENERAL oF e Unrrep Srates, Isnann or Cuba.

On the day of the date hcreof, before me, Thomas Savage, vice-
consul general of the United States of America for the Island of Cuba,
residing at Havana, personally came and appeared Antonio Martines,
steward of the brig Nancy, now in this port, who, being sworn by me
to tell the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth, did de-
clare and depose as follows: I shipped in New Orleans. When I
shipped T was told that the vessel was going to IHavana, and was
coming back from Havana to New Orleans, I did not learn on the
voyage what was the destination of the brig; I had some conversa-
tions with the cook, and said to him that on arrival at Havana wo
could buy some fruits, &c , to take to New Orleans. 1 do not recol-
leot what the cook said to me in answer,  There was a man on board
belonging to the ecrew named Pepe.  When I came on board he was
there, and I understood that he was an assistant second mate ; after
we had gono to sea, without recollecting whether it was the first or
second day, the captain ordered me to call Pepe to take his meals
‘with me in the cabin. Pepe is a Spaniard. He lived and slept in
the cabin, On the passage to Havana, Pepe worked with the other
seamen, though generally he was among the officers, 1 saw the cap-
tain and Pepe conversing together sometimes, either in the cabin or
-on top of the house, as if secret. But as they talked in English, and
{ am not sufficiently familiar with the language, I could not under-



AFRIOAN SLAVE TRADE. 2217

stand what they said. Theso secret conversations between the captain
and Pepe, both on the passage and here, and the changes made here
in the rigging of the vessel, led me to suspect that something secret
was going on, as I could not account for the great intimacy between
the captain of an American vessel and a man in the position that Pepe
held in the vessel. Pepe used to come ashore when he pleased at
night, by himseélf, dressed asa gontleman. After the vessel had com-
menced loading, I one day asked the captain where we were going,
he answered we were going to Europe. I told him I would not go
to Burope. Irom the nature of the cargo, from remarks made around
me and other various causes, my suspicions were aroused that the
vessel was not going on a lawful voyage, There were some four or
five men, Spaniards, who came on board and were put to work in the
hold. Several Spanish gentlemen came on board and had conversa-
tions with the captain in the cabin. I do not know whether one of
them was a Spanish captain or not ; and I do not remember having
made any remarks about such a Spanish captain. When we were in
the prison I was asked by some Spanish sailors, imprisoned there for
slave trading, to what vessel I belonged, and one of them, after learn-
ing the vessel’s name and her description, remarked that the Nancy
had, once before, been to the coast of Africa and brought a cargo of
slaves. I remember the day on which the custoin-house officers came
on board the Nancy and searched and examined the vessel. That night,
about two o’clock, when the custom-house officer was placed on board,
I was sleeping on the honse-top. The next morning Pepe and the
Spaniards that werc on board went ashore, and I afterwards went to
shore to market. When I came back I found Pepe on the wharf in
Regla, hailing the vessel, 1le went on board in the vessel’s boat,
and the boat came back to fotch mo aboard. Subsequently three
gentlemen who spoke Spanish came on board ; they appeared to be
Spaniards. One of them only went into the cabin, The captain was
not on board, The mate, Louis Teozo, and Pepe, who had heen made
known to the crew as the seccond mate, were on board at the time ; the
former chief mate had gone away some days before in a Russian brig.
The three gentlemen above mentioned held some conversation in a
low voice near the cabin door; I was in the pantry room and could
not make out what they said. The gentleman that came into the
cabin went out by the back part and entered into conversation with
the custom-house officer who was there. [ did not see where the other
two went, but I inquired and was told that they had gone into the
hold. Pepo was also down in the hold. I was at work in the cabin,
when I saw brought into the cabin and carried into the captain’s
room some seven or eight muskets, bayonets, and machetes, 1 could
not sce what was taking place on the deck, because I was in the cabin
and there was a big pile of wood in the way, which prevented me
from seeing what was going on, I received no advance beyond what
was paid me in New Orleans. I was offered no advance here, and
I understand that none was paid here to the regular crow of the hrig.
One morning I was ashore, and I was informed that the Spaniards
that were on board had received advances, and when I went on board
I intended to ask the captain whether he was going to give me any
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money, but on the same day wo weroe all arrested,and I had no chance
to speak to the captain on the subject,
I can recollect nothing further pertaining to this matter, and make
my ordinary mark, y
us
ANTONIO X MARTINIEZ,

i . mark,
Witness to his mark—
H, PaAvr CAIRE,

In testimony whereof I hercunto set my hand and aflix the seal of
my office, at Havana, this 14th day of August, A, D, 1858,
(L. 8.] THOMAS SAVAGE.

CoNSULATE GENERAL or THE UNITED STATES, IsLAND or Cusa,

On the day of the date hereof, bofore me, Thomas Savage, vice-
consul general of the Island of Cuba, residing at Havana, personally
came and appeared Vicente Torena, seaman of the brig Nancy, now
in this port, who, being sworn by me to tell the truth, the whole
truth, and nothing but the truth, did declarc and depose as follows :
I shipped in New Orleans ; I knew the brig was coming to Havana,
and I understood she would return to the United States, either to
New Orleans or New York ; I did not hear or learn anything on the
passage from New Orleans to Havana about the destination of the
vessel j T did not hear on our arrival at Havana, or during our stay
there, where the vessel would go to, although I was induced, by the
nature o the cargo, to inquire from the stevedores, but they could
not or would not tell me, and the mate never permitted us to look -
particularly into the hold ; the mato I rofer to is Mr, Teoso ; myself
and the rost of tho brig’s crew were always kept at work aloft ; I was
once called into the cabin by the captain, while in port here, when he
promised me thirty dollars advance, but he did not tell me where the
vessel was going to ; I was on board when the custom-house officers
came on hoard and scarched and examined the cargo; I did not re-
ceive the advance offered me by the captain ; I understood the vessel
was going from here to New York, and from New York to New Or-
leans ; we had on board & man by the name of Pepe, (a Spaniard, 1
believe,) who, althongh engaged as sailor, did no work at all, or very
little, at which the crew got very discontented ; said Pepe used to
dine in tho cabin together with the cook, carpenter, and steward j he
lived in the cabinj I often saw him conversing with the captain ;
when the custom-house officers came on hoard the vessel and went
down into the hold, 1 and others of the crew were on the deck ; I saw
the officers 5 the Spaniard called Pepe was down in the hold with the
officers ; the man Pepo gave many orders on board to the crew, jusb
as if he was an oflicer 5 but during the voyage to Havana and in port
there scemed to be on board as many officers as there were men ; said
Pepe used to go ashore when he pleased, and return on board when
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he plens‘ed 3 T can recollect nothing further pertaining to this matter,
and make my ordinary mark, )
. : 18]
VICENTE x TORENA,
mnrk,

Witness to his mark—
H., P, Carmun.

In testimony whereof I hereunto set my hand and aflix the seal of
[1. s.] my office, at Havana, this 13th of August, A, D, 1858,
' ' THOMAS SAVAGI.

ConsurATE GENERAL oF tHE UNrtip Strares, IsnAND or Cuba,

On the day of the dato hereof, before me, Thomas Savage, vice-
consul general of the United States of America for the Island of Cuba,
residing at Havana, personally came and appeared Michael Vidall,
cook of the brig Nanoy, of New Orleans, now lying in the port of
Havana; said appearer not speanking the Knglish language very
fluently, and understanding that he speaks French well, 1 employed
Mr, H. Paul Caire to act as interpreter ; said Caire was firgt sworn
by me to make true and covrect translations of all and everything
asked by me of said Vidall, and of all the answers and statements
given by said Vidall j the said Vidall being first sworn to tell the
truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, did declare and
depose as tollows, to wit: I am a native of Malta; I shipped in New
Orleans on board of the Nancy ; at the timo of shipping I kuew we
were coming to Havana; I was not told where the brig would go
from Iavana ; 1 know that several sailors refused to ship on the brig
because it was currently roported in New Orleans that the brig was
going to Africa from ITavana ; on the passage {rom New Orleans to
Havana the steward and myself used to have conversations togethor ;
the stewnrd told me that we were going to Afvien ; that it I wanted
to put three ounces, he would put the same amount, and we would
enter into some trading operations; the steward said we could buy
handkerchiofy, and such articles ; I asked the steward where T shonld
get tho three ounces; he replied, on our arrival at IHavana we can
make arrangements with the owners ; after arrival in Havana the
second mate and a Spaniard who was shipped as a sailor in New Or-
leang used Yo have n good deal of consultations together regarding
the chango to bo made in the rigging ; this Spaniard was called
Joseph, und, thongh shipped as a gailor, neted as an officer, and lived
in the eabing he took his meals with the carpenter, steward, and my-
self'; he never spoke to me about the object of the voyage, and very
seldom spoke to any one of the erow; this man had great influence
with the brig’s consignee here j the latter nsed to go very often on
voard ; I do uot know the consignee’s name, but would know him if
I saw himj there wore three persons from the shore that had to do
with the cargo put on board the brig at Ilavana, Whilst the vessel
was in port there came on board a gentleman of about thirty-five
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years, whom tho steward pointed me as being the captain who was
going lo take charge of the vessel on her voyage from hero to Africa;
this gentleman was o Spaniard; ho came threo or four times on board,
and I saw him on shore several times ; saw him yesterday at Cabar-
gas,  Whilst the vessel was in port five sailors were shipped on board;
two or three days afterwards another was also shipped on board, (all
six of them being Spaniards,) and I heard from them that some more
were coming on board ; one of the five who were embarked first, and
who was attending to the filling up of the barrels, told me that they
were going to tho const of Africa, After this gentleman had been
three or four times on board, the steward told me, Now we will have
plenty to eat and be very well fed, because this gentletnan is very fond
of good living, Tmst time tho vessel wont to the coast of Africa all
the men on board were very well fed and received one thousand dol-
lars a piece,  On the 14th or 15th of July, on Wednesday or Thurs-
day, the officers of the Spanish government ecame on board the vessel
and took an-inventory of all the goods on board; on the same day,
after tney had left the vessel, there came on board three gontlemen,
ono of whom was pointed out to me as Don Ternandez ; although I
do not know exactly the names of said gentlenien, I could recognize
them vary easily were I to meet them; upon their arrival on board,
the gentleman pointed out to me as Don Iernandez went to the
revenue guard, who was on board, and had with him a conversation
for about hall an hour; whilst this conversation was going on be-
tween said gentlemen and the revenue guard, the other two gentle-
men went down in the hold with the above-named sailor, Joseph, and
once there, ordered him to look for and find out a box numbered one,
and a keg of powder; the said Joseph went immediately to work and
succeeded in finding out said box ; said box was then broken open by
said two gentlemen and said Joseph, and the contents thereot’ were
taken on the deck ; said box contained aboat a dozen of muskets,
several pistols, (revolvers, 1 believe,) wrapped up in paper; several
very large knives, with their scabbardsy copper thread, thread, and a
very large number of handeufls; said handeufls were thrown into
the sew ; as to the other articles, into the box j they were preserved,
and they have been carefully hidden in the captain’s cabin, behind
the drawers of his bunk,  Whilst the articles in said box were being
brought up on the deck 1 was present, together with the steward, the
mate, and one of the sailors named Jokn, the said above-named two
gentlemen and Joseph remaining in the hold, together with two of
the sailors, one of whom was named George and the other Nicolas,
alter they had all left the hold, said Joseph went on looking for the
keg of powder, and, having found it in o barrel of lime or flour, took
it on deck and threw the contents thereol into the sen y this was done
in presence of all the persons on board, to wit, myself, the steward,
the mate, and said Joseph, said above-named three gentlemen having
already gone ashore.  On the day the vessel was being londed, the
eaptain took me down to his cabin, and the following conversation
took place between us: Well, said he, how much do you want in ad-
vance ? In advance, said 1 well, T have alveady taken twenty dol-
lars in New Orleans ; where is the vessel going to? She is going
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where she is going, was his answer. How much will you have?
Well, I'l1 have the same amount you have given to the other hands
on board, Then, snys he, you will get forty dollars in advance, The
captain took down to his cabin all the men on board, onc aftor the
other, The steward told me that the Spanish sailors on board had
received four ounces a piece ; that he would not go for less, and he
advised-.me to do tho same, I have not yet received the amount
promised me by the eaptain,  Whilst the vessel was being loaded,
- the mate pointed to said Joseph, and speaking to the hauds on deck,
said that ho was from that day appointed second mate, and thut he
was to perform the daties incumbent upon said officer duving the
voyage from here, Irom the conversation on board among tho men,
the naturo of' the cargo, and the other circumstances above related,
he verily belicves that the object of the voyage of the brig Naney to
the coast of Africa was to bring a cargo of slaves, In tho decluration
I gave to the Spanish officials here in the prison 1 concenled all the
above facts; I did not deem it for my interest to state the truth to
them ; 1 was not instructed or advised by tho captain or mate as to
what T was to say to the Spanish officers ; there wis no opportunity
of conversation between them and me, I can recolleet nothing fur.
ther pertaining to this matter, and subseribe my namo,
MICHELE VIDELL,
H. PAUL CAIRL, Interpreter,

In testimony whereof the said appearer, Michael Videll, und the

said interpreter, 11, P, Caive, have subscribed theiv respective

.1 hames hereto, and I, the said vice-consul generul, have here-

[ 8.1 nto set my hand and aflixed the geal of my office, at Havana, -
the L3th day of August, A, D, 1858,

THOMAS SAVAGE.

' ConsurAre GuNerAL o Tl UNriep Srares, Isnann or Cona,

On the day of the date herveof, before me, Thomas Savage, vice-
consul general of the United States of Amerien for the Island of
Cubn, residing at Havana, personally enme and appeared John ol
lins, seaman and enrpenter of the brig Naney, lying at this port, who,
being by me sworn aceording to law, solemnly declared as follows, to
wit: 1 amn citizen of the United States and now produce my certifi-
cate of citizenship by naturalization, and my protection. [ shipped
in New Orleans to come to Havana, ab twenty-five dollars per month,
and with tho understanding that we were to return direct from Havann
to New Orvleans, I had no information, either in New Ovleans or
Havana, that the Nancy was going to Africn, 1 was not aware she
was going on such a voynge the day that the eaptain, mate, my ship-
mates, and myselt’ were taken to prison, I would, upon no consider-
ation, huve consonted to go to Africa, as 1 am too old for such a
voyage (about fifty-three years), and have children in New York, I
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did not sign my name to the shipping artioles in New Orleans; the
.shipping master wrote down my namo and I made a oross, I repeat
that I understood the Nanoy was bound on a voyage from New Orleans
to Havana and back, direct from Havana to New Orleans. One or
two days before the custom-house officers came on board and sealed
the hatches, when the water was brought on board, I became suspi-
cious that something was wrong, I asked an old Spaniard who was
then on board, und who 1 took for a stevedore, what sort of cargo that
was ; after one or two reinarks, he said something about it being re-
quired for ballast, and the pipes to be filled with oil in case the vessel
wont to Africa. This kept me somewhat suspicious, and on the Sat-
urday (17th July) when the ocustom-house officers came on board I
wanted to go on shore and see the consul to ask for my discharge,
and spoke of my intention to the rest of the orew ; but I was taken to
prison the next day, Sunday, and had not the chance to carry out my
wish. I had so much work to do on board all the time that I had no
time to look much about me to ascertain what was going on.

hi
JOHN X COLLINS.

) mark.
Witness to his mark—
H., Paur CATRE,

In testimony whereof I hereunto set my hand and affix the seal of
my office, at Havann, this twelfth day of August, 1858.

L s.] THOS. SAVAGI,

Coxsurare Guverarn or e UNreep Stares, Isnanp or Cuna,

On the day of the date hercof, befors me, Thomas Savago, vice-
consul goneral of the United States of Amerien, for the island of
Cuba, residing at Havann, personally came and appeared Nicholas
Theodore, one of the crew of the brig Nanoy, of New Orleans, now in
this port, who, being by me sworn aceording to lnw, solemnly declared
ng follows, to wit: I was engaged for tho brig Nmm‘{ at the last
moment when she wag about leaving New Orleans, with the under-
stonding that I wag to be taken back in said vessel from Havana to
New Orleans.  About three days after I had been on board, I handed
to tho then second mate, Mr, Louis T'eozo, the sum of one hundred and
thirty dollavy requesting him to take care of them forme; said Teozo
hauded them to tho captain on arrival here; on a Sunday., I asked
Mr, T'eozo first, and then Captain Willinms, to give mo my monoy,
which the captain declined to do, saying that as soon as I got the
money 1 should run away ; to which I answered that 1 had not come
here for that purpose, but to return to New Orleans ; he then prom-
ised to give it to me the next Sunday ; when this Sunday came he did
not comply with his promise, as 1 was then very sick ; in the evoning
wo were all taken to prison, Since we came out of prison I have
rsked tho mate, Mr, Teozo, for my monoy several times; each time
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ho has answered, ¢ there is no uso in asking the captain, he has no
money now.,’” 1 was not aware until three days after being taken to
prison, I was then in hospital, that my vessel was going to Afrion,
I belioved wo were to return to New Orleans. Nothing was said to
mo to the contrary,

hi
NICHOLAS X THEODORE.

.. . mark,
Witness to his mark—

H. Pavrn CAIRe,

In testimony whereof I hereunto set my hand and affix my official
seal, at Havana, this twelfth of August, 1858,

(L, s.] ~ THOS. SAVAGE.

CoxsurLATE GENERAL oF THE UNITED StATES, ISLAND 01 CUBA,

On the day of the date hereof, before me, Thomas Savage, vice-
consul general of the United States of Amerioa for the Island of
Cuba, residing at Havana, personally appeared and came Michol
Vidal, cook on board the brig Nandy, of New Orleans, who did declare
and say as follows, viz: That he desired mo to take his affidavié
upon an important matter relating to the examination of the crew of
sald brig before the tribunal of the real audiencia,

And said appearer being first by me sworn to tell the truth, tho
whole truth, and nothing but the truth, did deposo and say—

My namo is Michel Vidal, ;

I was u cook on board of the brig Nancy, of New Orleans, Intely
seized by the Spanish authorities under suspicion of being fitting out
for the slave trade, . ‘

On Thursday lasgt, 16th instant, I received from the real audiencia
an order to appear before said tribunal to give my testimony in the
case of the brig Nancy. ~

Ou the appointed day, Saturday, 18th instant, I presented myself
before tho tribunal, when and where I met in a room My, Antonio
Cabarga, and several gentlemen who appeared to mo to be clerky em-
ployed in the office ; several of them were occupied writing.,

A gentleman who was at a desk, writing, made mo several ques-
tions in Spanish, I told him that I conld not speak this language
well enough to undorstand what he moant,

Mr. Cabarga then said that I spoke the Spanish as well as he ; but,
upon my remarking unto the gentleman at tho desk that it was im-
possible, ns he was a Spaniard and I was a Maltese, Mr. Cabarga
gave me o translution into lnglish of the questions thus propounded
unto me,

The clerk at tho desk asked me if I was a cook on board of the
Nancy. Mr, Cabarga answered that 1 was,

) []

Mr, Cabarga asked me ify when in prison, I had not stated that tho
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captain had told me he was going to Africa, I answered this was not
the caso ; that I had never said such thing,

I refuscd to sign the declaration taken down by the clerk unless it
was read to me, and unless I had a fair translation ot tho same. Mr,
Cabarga told me then that this declaration was only a similar one to
that I had made when in the jail,

When called upon to give my testimony in this case I was not
sworn, and all the questions were asked me by Mr. Cabarga,

MICHEL VIDAL,

In testimony whereof I liereunto set my hand and aflix the scal of
(5] ™ oflice, nt Havana, this twentieth day of September, A. D,
-2l 1868,

THOS. SAVAGE,

Havana, August 23, 1858,

DrAr Siri We, the underaizned, senmen of the brig ¢“Nancy,”’ con-
gider it our duty to inform you that the Ameriean eonsul has sent for
us several times to sustain his charge as regards tho seizure of said
brig, which chargo we know nothing of; he stated to us if' we wonld
tell the tenth that he would provide for us,  We told him we would
stato nothing but facts, which we did, He then said he would im-
prison us for one or move years, as we did not coincide in his opinion,
not only that he has kept usin the consulate of the United States with
closed doory for several hours in suecession, when we could not testify
falsely ho ordered us out of tho offico; he further stated that you
would do nothing for us, and if such isto be the result of thig, we bog
of you to inform us of facts, so that we may try to get away from this
port, alter you pay us what wages are due to ug, and at the snme timo
onr discharges, that we may be entitled to ship in the first vessel that

may offer,
NICHOTLAS THEODORT,
) his
VICENTE |- TORENO.

mirk,
Hx
JOIN | DAVIS,
sk,
hix
JOMN -} COLLINS.

mark,

I, the undersigned, cook of the American brig Nancy, do say that
the contents of this letter is all correct, excepting that the consnl never
told me that I had no business tolook to my captain for any assistance,
neither did he offer to imprison, but he offered to pay my board and
pay me one dollar per day whilst detained in this port.

MICHELE VIDALL.

Captain Joun Wirrrams,
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HAVANA, August 28, 1858,

. Wao, the undersigned, were called upon by the persons who have
signed the foregoing letter to witness the signatures of Nicholag Theo- .
dore and Michael Vidall, and to sign for Vicente Toreno, John Davis,
and John Collins, who made their marks in our presence, saying that
the letter was trio, and conveyed what they desired'to know from the
captain, We were also requested by Captain John Willinms, of the brig
Nancy, to comply with the request of his crew, and therefore witnessed
the signatures and marks as made to the document herewith,

A. GABARGA.
N. ORFILA,

My, Dallas to My, Cass,
(lestract.)

No. 123.] LraaroN or i UNITED STATES,
London, September 16, 1858,

Sir: The despatehes from the department to No 128, inclusive, have
been received., -

You will recollect that in your No, 103, of the 12th of May, 1858,
I was instructed to bring to the atfention of the Tarl of Malmesbury
the cirenmstances reported by our consul general at Havana, indieating
the exerciso, by British armed vessels, of a sort of espionago over our
merchant ships in that harbor,  This instruction was fulfilled, partly
ab a personal interview with his lordship on the morning of the 81st
of May, and partly by sending him, in the afternoon, at his request,
a copy of your despateh, T received the day before yesterday, on this
special topie, the note of his ]m'dsh’iy, and its annexes, copies of which
are subjoinett,  Mr, Crawford, her Britannic Majesty’s consul general,
under date of the 3d of August last, gives the “ representation the
most positive denial,”” adducing no evidence except that which may
be drawn from his retwrn of the British ships-of-war that were at the
Huvane during the years 1857 and 1838.  Now, our consul genceral,
Mr. A, R, Blythe, under date of tho 20th of April, 1858, speaks of
many complaints by American masters, and specifies several by nameo;
and it is curious to note that among these ho mentions the brig AL A,
Chapman ; o brig which, by the narrative of her eaptain, A, I, Lau-
rent, (transmitted to me in your No, 106,) was, on the Y0of April,
when she left the port of Havana, pursued and fired at by the < For-
ward,”” o orasier, which this very retnrn of My, Crawford shows to
have been in that harbor on the 814 of April, and after-leaving it tem-
porarily, to have ro-entered it on the 12th of April, T do not propose,
without your rencwed direction, to reopen this subjeet, after what has
passed, but it is obvious that Mr, Crawford, though designing to keep
an acemnte register of the arrivals and departures of the Britis‘x
cruisers, conld not know all that was done Dy their respective crows
wllile in the harbor,

b 1 g'.‘

y
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With my No. 121 I transmitted a copy of the lettor addressed by
me on the 24th day of Augustlast to her Majesty’s principal secretary
of state for foreign affairs, written solely to found a olaim of redress for
the outrages and damages incident to the capture of the American brig
“(Caroline,”’ of Boston, by the British steam sloop-ot-war ¢ Alecto.”’

On tho 8th instant Mr, Seymour Iitzgerald sent to the legation,
during my absence at Tunbridge Wells, the reply of his lordship,
dated at Potsdam, 28th August, 1858, It was forwarded to me, and,
I must confess, excited equal surprise and indignation, Of course I
forebore acknowledging it while under the influence of these senti-
ments, which are always bad counsellors ; but, the day after my return
to London, the 11th instant, with as much dispassionate composure
as wag possible, and serupulously avoiding the example set me, I pre-
pared the answer, These several papors are annexed in copy. The
motive and meaning of this sudden explosion it is useless at this mo-
ment to analyze. I might be tempted, in that process, to be unjust,
personally as well as politieally. It is quite obvious, however, that
if the American minister cannot bLe allowed, while exhibiting the
utmost deference and respeot towards the British government itself,
and each of its functionaries, to depict in their truoe colors the wanton
insults and outrages inflicted upon his fellow-citizens by naval officers
of this country, ho might as well cease to make reclamations on that
score. If, instead of viewing with especial displeasure, and as open
to tho widest remark, those who abuse their commissions by violating
orders, oppressing the helpless, and endangering national peace, this
government thrusts before them the shield of its protection nt the very
outset, and insists upon their conduot being only drily and delicately
touched, the promise of amplo reparation for illegal injuries is an illu-
gory one, I have heretofore often spoken ag these indefensible aggres-
sions deserved.  Whether T must 1xet'euftcr be tamed down depends
not upon this government, bt npon my own; and, while as an inde-
pendent representative agent, [ hope, if' permitted, to do all things
fuirly ag well ag firmly, 1 will aceept o lesson on tho subject from the
President and yourself alone,

I have the honot to bo, sir, your most obedient servant,
(. M. DALLAS,

Hon: Lizwis Cass,

Secretary of Stale,

My, Iilzgerald lo My, Dallas.

Forrtan Ovrrcr, Seplember 14, 1858,

Sir ;. With reference to the despateh from the United States consul
general at IHavann to his government of the 29th of April last, of
which o copy wag enclosed in a note which yonu did me the honor to
address to me on the 81st of May, representing that Aiwnorican vessels
in tho port of Havana ave subjected to w system of ¢ egpionnge’” and
annoyance by the boats belonging to the British cruisers, I have now
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the honor to transmit to you an extraoct of a despatch, with copies of
its enclosures, which I have received from Mr, Orawford, her Majesty’s
consul genoral in Cuba, upon this subject, which appears satisfactorily
to answer tho statement made by the United States consul general at
Havana., -

I have tho honor to Le, with the highest consideration, sir, your
most obedient humble servant, o

WILLIAM SEYMOUR V. FITZGERALD,

in the absence of the Farl of Malmesbury.

G. M, Daruas, Esq., dc., c., do.

Extract of a despatch from Mr, Crawford, her Britannic Majesty’s
consul general at Havana, to the Larl of Malmesbury, dated August

““ With reference to that part of your lordship’s despatch No, 4, of
this series, of the 11th June, and consequent letter to the admiralty,
upon tho subject of the representation made by the United States con-
sul general ot this place, to his government, that American vessels in
the port of Havana are subjected to a system of ¢ espionage’ and an-
noyance by the boats belonging to British cruisers, I procecd to give
that representation the most positive denial,

“I beg leave to lny belore your lordship the copy of a despatch and
of its enclosure whicli I addressed to Commodore Iellett, at Jamaica,
in answer to his inquiry as to the truth of the American’s statement ;
and your lordship will see, by the return of her Majesty’s ships-of-war
at Havana in 1857 and 1858, that none of our cruisers were in port,
for any period of time, to permit the exercise or practice of such sys-
tem of espionage if it ever had been intended or thought of.”

Mr. Crawford to Commodore Kellett, C. 13,

Havana, July 28, 1858,

Str: Ier Majesty’s government having directed my attention to
statement mado by the United States consul general at this place to
his governmont, dated the 28th April last, representing that Amevi-
can vessels in Havana are subjected to o system of espionage and an-
noyance by the boats belonging to British cruisers,

The American consul's complaint appears to be founded upon the
afliduvits of several persons, as to the truth of which the consul gen-
eral did not trouble himself to inquire, and it will be my duty to show
to her Majesty’s government that the statement referred to is devoid
of all foundation, -

I enclose herewith, for your information, a return of all the British
ships-of-war which came to Havana during the years 1857 and 1858.

In 1867 you will observe that there were no cruisers, The line-of-
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battle ships and the frigates cannot be looked upon as occu]l)ied in the
suppression of the slave trade, The smaller vessels only touched
here on their way to other places, In 1858 a roference to the return
will show that the British vdssels-of-war employed for the suppression
of the slave trade were seldom in this port, and then only for the
purpose of coaling, the shortest time possible, and their time fully
occupied in other matters, so that, had they been so disposed, they
could not have exercised any such “‘espionage’’ as is reported to have
been carried on by them over the ships in harbor. o
Under these circumstances I can have no hesitation in assuring her
Majesty’s government that, whatever the American masters may have
had to conceal, they were neither watched nor interfered with {y the
boats belonging to the British men-of-war in any way whatever,

I have, &o. ;
T J. T. CRAWFORD,

.

DBritish ships-of-war at Havana in 1857 and 1868,
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Nore.—Tho *¢ Forward’’ called the 12th April to report the acei-
dent to the Swedish brig ¢“ Sydpolon,””

The ¢“ Styx '’ sent in o boat for despatches twico or thrice,

Tho ¢ Jasper’’ also sent a boat in to inquire for the commodore.

The ¢ dArachne’’ called off the port and sent a boat in, 'but all such
boats came direct to and returned direct from the landing place at the
Machina,

Havana, July 28, 1858, ,

J. T. CRAWI'ORD,
Consul General wn Cuba.
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Mr. Fitzgerald to Mr. Dallus.

Mr. Seymour Fitzgerald presents his compliments to Mr, Dallas,
and has the honor to forward to him, herewith, a noto from Lord
Malmesbury, the transmission of which, owing to his lordship's
journeys from Prussia to London, and again to Scotland, has acoi-
dentally been delayed, , :

ForeiaN OrrioE, Seplember 8, 1858,

The FEarl of Malmesbury to Mr. Dallas,

PortspaM, August 28, 1858.

Stk It is with great regret that I have to acknowledge the receipt
of the note which you did me the honor to address to me on the 24th
instant, calling the attention of her Majesty’s government to the
account which the owners of the American vessel ‘“ Caroline’’ give of
the capture and detention of that vessel by her Mujesty’s ship
““Alecto,’”’ and expressing the hope that they will recognize, in the
oircumstauces of the case, a just and impressive ground for adequato
and early redress, :

I have now the honor to inform you that theso statomonts will bo
immediately forwarded to the Lords Comnmissioners of tho Admiralty,
in order that Captain Hunt may have an opportunity of explaining,
and, if possible, of repudiating these charges, which, if correctly re-
orted by the master of the ¢ Caroline,’”’ wonld undoubtedly exposoe
}lim to the serious displeasure of her Majesty’s government, and to
the consequences incidental to an unlawful act on his part,

The previous language and conduct of her Majesty’s government
ought to convinee tho governmont of the United States that thoy will
not permit the American or any other ilag to be causclessly offended
by British officers, At the same time, it is & duty which her Mnjesty’s
government owo to these officers carefully to investignte any accusa-
tions which may be brought against them before reproof ho adminis-
tored or compensation be granted,

When I allude to the spirit and conduct which her Mujesty’s gov-
ernment have so lately shown towards the United States upon tho
question of the right of search, I cannot but observe upon and regret
tho expressions used by you with respeet to the supposed languago,
which, if true, I admit to be inexcusable, of tho officers of tho
“Alecto,””’ ;

You speak of it as ¢“tho customary, artful, and intimidating hints,”’
and again ay that of baflled ¢* oupidity and arrogance,’”’

The firat expression infers that to make a proposal to sink flag and
papers is the usnal course pursued by her Majosty’s captaing who
hoard suspected vessels, and 1 cannot lose a moment in repudianting,
in the most unequivoeal manner, this unproved assortion

Tho latter phrase assumes the misconduect of tho officer acensed
before ho has had a chance of reply, or before her Majesty’s govern-
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ment has had the time for investigation, It imputes the basest mo-
tives for an act which, even if correctly described, a friendly minister
might have been expected to attribute, in the absence of further evi-
dence, to indiscretion and a mistaken sense of duty, N ;

I would therefore impress upon you that, in a diplomatic appeal to
justice between two powerful States, whose servants are anxious to
promote mutual concord, and to represent the civilization of which
they boast, offensive expressions can only tend to diminish the respeot
with which such complaints ought always to be received,

I have the honor to be, with the highest consideration, sir, your
most obedient, humble servant,

MALMESBURY.

G M. Daruas, Esq., do.

Mr. Dallas to the Farl of Malmeshury.

LreaTioN oF ik UNITED STATES,
London, September 11, 1858,

My Lorp: Treceived, on the 8th instant, the note which your lord-
ship did me the honor to address to me, bearing date at Potsdam,
August 28, in reply to my communication of the 24th, respecting the
American brig ¢ Caroline,”” captured by her Majesty’s steam sloop-of-
war ¢“ Alecto,”” on the 8th of May last, and dotained as a prizo until
the 11th of that month ; and I am happy in being informed that your
lordship will forward the statements accompanying my letter to the
lords commissioners of the admiralty for investigation, .

In this note it has also been deemed necessary by your lordship to
condemn as “‘ offensive’” certain expressions employed by moe in rofor-
ing to the deportment and languago of those who scized the Caroline,
To grome minds, my lord, few things are less welcomo than tho sup-
position of being wanting in respect where respect is certainly and
eminently duo,  Had it occurred to your lordship, in the light of the
““friendly minister’’ spoken of, to intimate the existence of supposed
unfortunate words in my letter, I am freo to declare that, though t'ioy
might seem to mo just in reference to the persons to whom they apply,
I should have felt great pleasure, while pursuing on the particular
occasion an almost mechanical duty, in expunging, without moroy,
every ill-considered, over-zealous, or misconceived phrase, rather than
incur the hazard of disturbing the intercourse which, as a public agent,
it has been my happiness to maintain with her Majesty’s government.
The tone of your lordship’s note, however, precludes such an impulsive
sacrifice of diction, and constrains me, with overy sense of deferonco,
to remark upon the foundation and hearing of the expressions to which
such earnest exception has been taken, with a view of ascortaining
whether in their real character (perhaps misapprohended) they bo un-
called for and inapposite, ,

During his short residence in Tondon, and especially during the
last two or three months, it has unhappily been the duty of the min-
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ister of the United States to trouble the department of foreign affairs
with a large number of reclamations similar to the ono presented on
behalf of the owners of the brig Caroline, All of these have rested
upon allegations, more or less grave, of illegnl conduct on the part of
British naval officers, in pursuing, overhauling, arrosting, and gon-
orally illtreating, American vessols engaged pencefully in lawful trade,
That these aggressions should be charged upon those who hold her
Majesty’s commissions is as painful to mysolf as to your l’ox“dslalp. The
truth compelled it, and I make no doubt that the possession of an hon-
orable public trust would always be regarded as deepenin g rather than
effacing & wrong, In some, in nearly all, of these cases, numnbering
now twenty-two, tho aunthority to commit the alleged injuries has been
disavowed ; and, in two or three, the culpable officers have been with-
drawn from their commands or otherwise censured, I beg here to dis-
claim for the government at Washington the slightest discontent with
the course which her Majesty’s government has pursued in rogard to
this whole subject. On the contrary, it was mads my pleasing duty
to convey to your lordship, at the interview with which I was honored
on the 19th of July last, the satisfaction with which the President
hailed what he esteemed to be a termination to the controversy that
had so much disturbed the relations of the two conntries,

~These reclamations, wiien submitted to hor Majesty’s governmont,
have, it is belioved, withont exception, been accompanied by com-
pressed statemonts of their substantial points; showing with conveni-
ont brovity the faots relied upon and the inferences deducible from
those facts in favor of each claim, T'his was a burden believed to be
devolved on the minister who had them in charge. As to the Caro-
ling, the snme form was, it has been already observed, almost mechani-
cally pursued, Txuact copies of the documents transmitted to this lega-
tion from the Department of State, containing all the information
possessed here, accompanied my letter, and to these,as the foundation
of tho call for veparation, your lordship’s ¢“ candid and serutinizing
attention’” was specially invited,  With mo, my lord, the narrative,
made under the sanction of an onth, not, as iy been inadvertently
supposed, by the interested claimants themselves, but by their intoli-
gent agent, tho master of the brig, the very day aftor the incidents
closed at Sierra Ticone, had to be aceepted as prime facie true. Ag-
suredly, and as a mattor of course, that nurvative would bo tested, and
might, except in some of its fundamental positions, bo wholly dis-
proved ; but while unimpeached, uncontradicted, sotting forth facts,
too, singularly coincident with those which marked the conduet of
Licutenant Robson, who has been punished, I should havo felt myself
untaithinl if' I weakened tho claim by affecting to doubt, without an
reason, the solemn evidence on which it reposed,  Your lordship is
just enough to admit, in roference to a part of the grievance to which
my ““offensive expressions’” apply, that, if true, it was ¢ inexcusablo,’’
I havo said that to adopt the whole as true, for the origination of' tho
demand, was imperative upon me,

But this is to nct upon ew parte proof! Certainly, my lord, that
i3 80, It is so, I conceive, from both necessity and fairness 3 from
necessity, beeause as yet nothing but ex parte proof exists ; from fair-

I, Kx, Doo, 7—16



242 AFRICAN SLAVE TRADE,

ness, because it is duc to the officer implicated and to her Majesty’s
government that they shoul be apprised at the very outset of the
gimple or aggravated form really given by the claimant to his griev-
ance, The principle may, at the first blush, seem distastetul, but
reflection vindicates it ; and, as the wisest and fairest rule of proceed-
ing in adjusting controversies 'of every sort, it has very long been
embalmed in the practice of a people whose administration of justice,
criminal or civil, 18 the special pride and ornament of their sociel sys-
tem, That both sides must be heard is an instinct of right, but they
cannot boe heard simultaneously, One must precede the other, and
he to whom is logically awarded the affirmative or opening should
fulfil its obligations by unfolding his complaint, even with 1its possi-
ble exaggerations, unreservedly, ;

Your lordship specifies two ¢¢ offensive expressions,’’ the one being
““the customary artful and intimidating hints,”’ the other ‘¢ cupidity
and arrogance.”’ ;

To the first a construction is given that it ¢“infers that to make a
proposal to sink flag and papers is the usual course pursued by her
Majesty’s captains who board suspected vessels,’”

Your lordship will pardon me for saying that this breadth of infer-
ence does not obtain my assent., The sense of words is best established
by the context in which they are placed, and on the present occasion that
context had no sweeping and indiscriminate reference to ¢ her Majesty’s
captains who board suspected vessels,’” though it certainly had to, hap-
pily, a much more limited class, namely, that class of reckless ofticers
who, even by the judgment of their own government, had been pro-
nounced capable of pursuing a line of conduct like the one desoribed.
For what was the case of the ¢ Caroline?’” A case in which no sus-
picion existed or was in the remotest manner warranted ; a case in
which the officer, by arresting, boarding, demanding papers, and
breaking open hatches, flagrantly violated his own instructions, which
expressly prohibited visit or search, ¢“ unless from positive information
or from strong grounds of suspicion thero may be reason to helieve
that such flag has been fradulently assumed, in which cases the utmost
caution and circumspection must be used 3’” & case in which the genu-
ineness of the American flag was incontestible and not contegted ; a
cense in which every document to verify national character existed ; in
fine, o case so entirely without excuse that the vessel could not be,
and was not, proceeded against, These are the features of the trans-
action, as desceribed by the only witness whose testimony wo possess,
Officers who proceed In this manner incur heavy responsibilities, as
well to their own government as te those upon whose rights they have
trespussed,  To suy of such officers that it is customary or usual to
make, as was done in this case of the * Caroline,”” a proposal to sink
flag and papers secems hardly open to objection,  Your lordship may
possibly remember that this alleged stratagem of alarming by the
terrors of American law has made its appearance in ingtances hereto-
fore submitted to her Majesty’s government,

Your lordship adverts ulso to the phrase characterizing certain lan-
guage used by the officer in his letter, at the moment of surrendering
the vessel, as ‘ languago which could only have been suggested by a
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consciousness of bafiled cupidity and arrogance.”” These words are
certainly of unusual emphasis, but are they unjust? Your lordship
agrees that if the letter be genuine, its language is “ fnexcusable.”’
It is unnecessary to introduce here that entire letter, a letter addressed
by a person clothed with power to the humble, helpless, yet honest
countryman of mine, whose rights and remonstrances he had disre-
garded, a letter written, too, as the prize illegally captured left his
grasp. That lettor is before you, my lord, and if it be not a forgery,
does it not, must it not, convey to every generous and discerning mind
the very thought I have embodied ? ;

Such are the conclusions in which a critical review of my ‘¢ offen-
sive expressions’’ terminates. A high sense of what is due to the
public position and interests confided to me by my government, has,
for a second time, held under firm subjection a sentiment awakened
by your lordship’s language. But, while deeming it of the utmost
importance that the equal representatives of ‘¢ two powerful states’”
should keep steadily in view ¢“ concord *’ and ¢‘civilization,’”’ no one
can be better aware than yourself, my lord, that the respect necessary
to this, in order to be permanent, must be mutual and sincere.

Unaffectedly apologizing for the length to which these remarks
have extended, and renewing the assurance of my highest considera-
tion, ;

I have the honor to be your lordship’s most obedient servant,

G. M. DALLAS.

Mr, Cass to Mr. Dallas.
' DEPARTMENT 0T TATE,
Waskington, September 17, 1858,

Sir: No time having been lost by me in communicating to Messrs.
Ellis & Cobb, of Boston, a copy of that part of your despatch No.
121, of the 27th ultimo, which suggests the expediency of their fur-
nishing you with certain papers in support of their claim upon the
British government in the case of the brig ¢“Caroline,”’ I now trans-
mit to you a copy of their reply of the 156th instant, with the docu-
ments which accompany it.

I am, sir, respectfully, your obedient servant,

No. 132.]

LEWIS CASS.
Grorar M, Darnras, Lisq., de., de., de.

-

Messrs, I7llts & Cobb to My, Cass.,

Bosron, September 15, 1858,

- Drar Sir: We have to acknowledge due recoipt o your favor of
the 11th instant, covering extragts from your letter of the United
States minister at London, and take due notice of his suggestion con-



244 AFRICAN SLAVE TRADE,

cerning our furnishing documents and details to show amount of our
loss caused by the seizure of the brig ¢ Caroline,’”’ by her Majesty's
steamer ‘‘Alecto,”’ , ; ,

We beg, herewith, to hand you a statoment of Mr. Tufts, transcripts
of the register, clearance, crew lists, and shipping articles, also state-
ments showing our loss by the seizure. - y

The forwer, we trugt, will afford abundant proof that the enclosed
estimata of the probable result of the voyage, had the ¢ Caroline’’.
procceded without interruption, is fairly made, and that our actual
foss by the unwarrantable interference of the ‘“Alecto’” is not less
than shown, say, $18,820. -

In onr market the advance in price of African hides was nine cents
per hide, from 24 cents to 33 cents, during the five months absence
of the ‘“Caroline;’’ this rate of hides upon 13,600 hides amounts to
about $12,700. Anticipating an advance in this article, we instructed
Mr, Tufts, at the time he left, to obtain, if possible, # full cargo of
hides, and subsequently advised him at Matacony more urgently to
the same effect. DBt in consequence of his detuntion by the ¢‘Alecto”’
he failed to get our advices until after he had fully completed his ne-
gotiations at Sierra Leone. Mr, Tufts was compelled at Sierra Leone
to take nuts, ivory, &o , in payment for more than half his outward
cargo, and our statements will show that on some of these articles
we were obliged to suffer serious loss, taking away the larger part of
the handsome profits realized upon the hides, -~ , ;

Thus you will see that notwithstanding our caleulations were cor-
rectly made, our instructions judiciously given, and the unusually
favorablo state of the market, both for purchasing at Matacony and
selling here, we have been, by the unjustifiable interference of the
¢ Aleoto,”’ entirely deprived of the profits which this voyage of the
¢¢ Caroline’”’ would have yielded, hed she been allowed to proceed to
her destination unmolested, o

We place the accompanying statements and proofs in your hands,
trusting that you will urge the matter forward to a speedy sottle-
ment, and place us in funds for the serious loss which we have sus-
tained, with as little delay as possible, ,

We are, very respectfully, your most obedient servants, ;

ELLIS & COBB.

Hon, Lewis Cass, Washington.

[The enclosures referred to sont to legation at Liondon, ]

My, Savage to Mr, Appleton.

No. 84,1 ConsurATE GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES,
Havana, September 20, 1858,
Sir: I had the honor to receive last night your despatch of the 'fth
instant with its enclosure, answer to which will be forwarded per first
steamer leaving this port for Charleston or New York,
I now hasten to lay before you copies of affidavits taken from three
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seamen, showing that the ship Haidee, of New York, of about 400
tons burdeny sailed from New York in January last, for Cadiz and
Gibraltar, at which port she fitted out for the slave trade, and that
she actunlly brought a cargo of African nogroes to Cuba, after which
she had gone to Yucatan or Curagao, i »

I also accompuny copies of my letters to United States district at-
torneys at New York and Boston. That to the attorney in New York
gives my reasons for sending the witnesses to Bostonj I have had to
allow the master of the schooner ‘¢ L., O, Watts,”’ conveying them,
$26 for the passuge of each one, as the vessel had no accommodations
for seamen in the forecastle, other than her regular crew, and this
consists entirely of negroes—thus requiring that tho witnesses should
go in the cabin. [ have also had to pay $25 50 due here for board
by Clark, and $8 50 due by the other two—besides boat hire and
other expenses. ‘ ,

By the Spanish steamer ¢ Pajaro del Occano,’’ to sail on the 2¢d for
St. Thomas, and the British steam packet on the 23d or 24th for
Mexico, I will address oircular to our consuls at Sisal and Campeche,
(Yucatan,) and St, Thomas, and Curagao, in order to have the Haide
seized and sent to New York, provided my advices reach in time,.

The cases of the Nancy, U. Perkins and Lyra, still pending before
the court, The curgo ot the Nancy, or at least the provisions, are
now heing returned to Guerediaga by inventory, he having given
security for the full value of the goods, ‘ o

I have the honor to b, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

THOS. SAVAGIL,
Vice-Consul General,

Hon, Joux APrLETON,

Assistant Secretary of Slate of the United Stcetes, Washington.

CoNsuLATE (RENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES, IsLAND oF Cuna,

On the day of the date hereof, before me, Thomas Savage, vice-
consul general of the United States of America for the Island of
Cuba, residing at Havana, personally appeared Manuel Felipe, who,
being by me sworn according to law, solemnly declared and deposeid
as follows : N

I shipped in February last, in this port of Ilavana, upon the
Amorican bark Governor Parris, under the name of Manuel Gomez,
At the time of shipment T undersiood we were going to Charleston,
and from thence to Chinaj I had no reason to believe the contrary
when we sailed out of the port,  When we reached tho latitude and
longitndo of Charleston, I discovered the bark was not going thero,
some disptite had occurred between the captain and second mate; the
captain gnid something about going into Charleston, when the second
mato and others, amongst them a Spanish captain, told our captain
that ho could not go into Charleston ; so the bark was taken to Africa,
When sho reached the land, after a passage of ninety-three days
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from I{avana, a Spaniard, who had gone in the ship, went on shore,
taking with him money to buy negroes—it was at a place a few miles
to lecward of Loango—afterwards we put to sea again and remained
out about one month, Upon retnrning, the same day we expected to
make the land again, a British brig, whose name sounded to me like
Heron, came and captured our vessel. I did not sce any papers ex-
hibited by our captain to the British officers, American colors were
flying at the peak for a little while, but our captain ordered the flag
to be taken down and gave up the vessel without opposition, The
bark, with the captain, mate and cook, were sent to St. Helena,
Myself, and ‘all the other persons on board, were put on shore in
Loango—1I remained in Loango eight days—from there, myself, Edwin
Boston, the Spanish captain, the second mate of the Governor Parris,
and another man, who subsequently died at sea, proceeded in a launch
to a place called Chilunga ; we were two days going down ; on arrival
at Chilunga, I went ashore and met a person named Antonio Viera,
who asked me if I was going in the ship Haidee, of New York, which
was there at anchor with kedge anchor and hawser. I did not know
what to do, but he persuaded me to go on board. I went on board
in a launch full of negroes, Edwin Boston wentin a steamboat before
I did, We arrived at Chilunga during the night, and the next
morning the negroes were put on board the ship; there were upwards
of 1,100 negroes put on board—by 10 o'clock a. m. they were all on
board, Same day cut the hawser and went to sea. The passage
from there to Cuba occupied fifty-one days, or thercabouts, The
mortality on board was upwards of 200 negroes—also onc man that
had gone from Havana in the Governor Parris died, - Our second
mate of the Governor Parris from Havana remained at Chilunga.
Came to an anchor between Cayo Picdras and Cayo Blanco, entrance
of the bay of Cardenas, and sent on shore to a place called ‘‘ Almacen
de Machadv’’—tho negroes, 908, were landed—also two persons that
had come on board there to pay the crew, Mr. Botella, the Portuguese
captain, Thomas, the supercargo, Antonio Viern, and the American
captain, Whitney, Captain Whitney clearcd the Haidee in Cadiz, as
I understood, to go to the Western Islands for passengers for Rio
Janeiro; about twenty days before reaching the coast of Africa, it
appears that he discovered from Botella, from the supercargo and the
Portuguese captain, that the vesscl was not intended to go to the
Western Islands, but to Africa for negroes ; he refused to go there,
when a quarrel ensued; he threw his quadrant overboard, and gave
up the command to the mato ; since which time he had nothing to do
with the vessel; this, I was informed, and I know of my own know-
ledgo that he had no control of thoe ship which I was on bonrd, Tho
Portuguese captain commanded her from Africa to Cuba, and took
the chronometor from Captain Whitney, who was treated with great
disrespect by the others, so much so, that he once had to go to the
galley and roast a piece of chicken for himself, After the negrocs
were landed the ship went off to sea. On the passage out I under-
stood she would go to Campeche, but after the negroes were landed,
I heard that she would go to Curagao ; she left in charge of her chief
mate and hor original crew, every one of whom received six ounces
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to take the vessel to the port she was ordered—this, besides $800
paid to each man for their services in bringing the negroes. On the
passage they painted on her stern ‘¢ Eliza’’ or ¢¢ Liouisa,”’ of New

Orleans.
MANUEL PHILLIP,

In testimony whereof I hercunto set my hand and affix the seal of
(. 5.] my office at Havana, this eighteenth day ot September, A. D,

1858,
, THOMAS SAVAGE,
United States Viee-Consul General,

CoNSULATE RENERAL oF TiiE UNITED STATES, IsLaND oF Cuba,

Ou the day of the date hereof, before me, Thomas Suvage, vice-con-
sul general of the United States of America for the Island of Cuba,
residing at Havana, personally came and appeared an individual who
gave his name to be dbreo Clark, and desired me to take his affidavit
upon an important matter relating to the slave trade under Awerican
colors; snid person being therefore first sworn upon the Holy Ivange-
lists of Almighty God to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing
but the truth, doth depose and say as follows: ‘

My namo is Abreo Olurk; I was born in Lisbon, Portugal; T am
now about 35 years of age, and have lived in the United States sinco
I was aged about 165 T am & sailor; I have generally sailed in Ameri-
can vessels ; I shipped in New York about the middle part of Decem-
ber, 1867, on the ship Hydeo, (or & name so sounding, I cannot spell
it, as I do not know how to read or write,) of New York, to proceed
from New York to Gibraltar and a market, and to return to a port of
the-United Stutes; the commander’s name was Whitney, This W-hit-
ney, together with one of the owners named  Botella, are now in
Havana, I have not seen the captain, but [ saw Botella yesterday,
and he spoke to mo, desiring mo to call on him next week., We sniled
from New York on the Tth day of January, 1858 went to Ca